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expressed by contributors to The Quakteelt.

THE STATE FINANCES OF TEXAS DUEING THE CIVIL
AVAE^

E. T. MILLER
'

Texas was perhaps ilie most fortunate of the Confederate States

during the war. Her territory was not a battleground and was

free from devastating invasion. That part of her population which
was not in the armies was free therefore to follow agriculture and
other pursuits unmolested. Proximity to Mexico provided a com-

paratively safe outlet to a market for cotton and inlet for needed

supplies of various kinds. The possession, too, of a large amount
of disposable assets in the form of United States bonds obviated

the need of an early resort to high taxation or an extensive use of

the state's credit. Full advantage of these favoring circumstances

or geography and assets could not, however, be taken. Transport-

ation of products to the Mexican frontier proved to be slow, ex-

pensive and dangerous, while the United States bonds were only

partially productive and served but to stay temporarily the evil

day of financial disorder. In the end the financial story of Texas

was the same for this period as that of the other Southern States,

though the details are less direful. It is one of trast funds vio-

lated, of debt accumulated, and of receipts and expenditures,

swollen fictitiously by the depreciation of the paper money in which

^Tlie period of wliicli this is a study extends from August 31, 1860,
to June 8, 1865. Tlie fiscal year eTidino: Aug^ust 31, 1861, has been in-

eluded not because the finances reflect the war but on account of the
legislation which made the initial financial provision for the struggle.



2 Texas Historical Association Quarterly.

they were payable, mounting large to meet a growing desperate sit-

uation. •

\

Expenditures

The expenditures of 1861 do not reveal the state of war except

those for the Constitutional Convention and for the regiment order-

ed raised by the convention. Total warrants drawn for these pur-

poses amounted to $79,870.33 of which only $2,139.35 was for the

regiment. The total net expenditures for the year were $577,593.51.

The total net expenditures for the war period proper, or from

August 31, 1861, to June 8, 1865, were $4,863,790.55.^ The por-

tion of this that was of a military character is $3,180,375.97.

This ar.;ount does not represent fully, however, the expenditure

attributable to the war. To obtain this amount there should be

added to mililary expenditures those for hospital facilities and for

the support of the needy families of Texas soldiers. In 1862 and

1863 warrants drawn on account of the hospital fund were $104,-

493.58, for the soldiers' families, $306,305.74; in 1864 and 1865

the amounts were $107,446.02 and $1,127,814.73 for the respective

services,—or a total for the four years of $1,646,060.07. There

were refunds of $41,950.77, leaving a net amount of $1,601,109.30.

The amount of these warrants that was paid cannot be stated.

Since after May 28, 1864, civil appropriations and those for the

support of soldiers' families were payal)le in treasury warrants, it

may be assumed safely that the warrants drawn in 1862 and 1863

were paid and were therefore included in tlie Comptroller's items

of expenditures. Because of this element of conjecture, however,

no attempt is made to state the absolute amount of expenditures

incident to the war, but to rest content with the statement that

more than three-fourths of the expenditures were attributable to it.

A part of the military expenditures were chargeable to the Con-

federate States' government, and for such the state had a claim

for refund. The reports do not indicate that there were any such

refunds, but at the close of the war the Confederate government

was indebted to the state in the sum of $399,751.90 for ordnance,

quartermaster, medical, and such stores.^

'For annnal E;ross pxpenditiirps, pee Appendix A, p. 20.

^Report of Coniptrolltr, 1803-18G5, p. 14.
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At the beginning of the war all expenditures were made through

the State Comptroller and the State Treasurer and were pursuant

to specific legislative appropriations. In December, 1861, Judah

P. Benjamin, Secretary of the Confederate Treasur}^, proposed to

Governor Lubbock the exchange of the United States bonds then in

the State Treasury to the credit of the school fund for Confederate

bonds. ^ The need of secrecy about such a transaction and the neces-

sity also of some organization to superintend the defence of the

state of a more continuous and adaptable character than the legis-

lature led to the creation on January 11, 1862, of the Military

Board.^ This board was known as the Old Board and was com-

posed of the Governor, the Comptroller and the Treasurer. It was

reorganized on April 13, 1864, in accordance with the act of De-

cember 16, 1863, to be composed of the Governor and two ap-

pointees, and was known as the ISTew Board. ^ The duty in gen-

eral of the boards was to provide for the military defence of the

state by securing supplies of arms, ordnance, ammunition and other

stores.

The two boards drew from the treasury a total of $1,651,621.85,

divided as follows:*

In Confederate treasury notes $257,191.90

In specie 7,729.95

In State treasury warrants 25,000.00

In 8 per cent State bonds. 595,000.00

In United States 5 per cent bonds 634,000.00

In coupons of United States bonds 132,700.00

With these receipts as a basis the boards carried on the varied

and complex operations of purchasing, exporting, and selling cot-

ton, of purchasing and importing supplies, of manufacturing arms

and munitions, and of working the salt deposits in Van Zandt

County.

The Old Board purchased, so far as can be ascertained, 5736

'MSS. Record of Militry Board, No. 101, p. 5.

-MSS. Record of Military Board, No. 101, p. 14; Gammel, Laws of
Texas, V, 484, 499.

^Gammel, LaiDs of Texas, V, 680.

^Report of Pease and Palm, 1865, p. 1. This published account is con-

densed. For the full report see Executive Record, No. 281.
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bales of cotton for which $544,438.23 was paid mostly in Confed-
erate notes and 8 per cent State bonds. One hundred and twelve
bales were burned or otherwise lost, and 5551 sold for $134,454.38.
The New Board purchased 266 bales, 211 of which are accounted
for by sale. The disposition of 128 bales of the total pui'chased by
both boards is unaccounted for. Besides these direct operations in

cotton, contracts were made with individuals for the export in the
name of the board of cotton owned by them. These contracts

contemplated some benefit to the state, as for example, the return
of suTjplies v.-jhich would be subject to purchase by the board.
There is little to show, however, that any important amount of

supplies was introduced as a result of these private contracts. The
direct operations in cotton, though, resulted in the securing of such
needed supplies as arms, cartridge boxes, powder flasks, powder,
shoes, cotton cards, quinine, etc.

Most important of the funds turned over to the board were the
United States 5 per cent bonds belonging to the school fund. On
January 13, 1862, an agent of the Confederate States' government
received from the Military Board 100 of the bonds of the denom-
ination of $1000 each. In accordance with the plan proposed in

Secretary Benjamin's letter, a like amount of 8 per cent Confed-
erate bonds were to be given in exchange. Secretary Benjamin
shortly decided, however, that he had ]io authority to make this

exchange, but that he would purchase of the State any arms or

munitions of war which might be procured for the bonds. The
failure at this time to negotiate the bonds for supplies terminated
the whole matter between the State and the Confederate govern-
ments, and the bonds were returned to the Military Board.'

Of the 634 bonds the Old Board received 364 with 3311 interest

coupons of $25 each,—a total par value of $516,775.00 These
bonds and coupons were sent to Mexico and Europe for disposition,

but fear of their repudiation resulted in but few of them being
sold. Only 44 bonds and 310 coupons were sold by the Old Board.
Their par value was $49,750.00, and they were sold for $38,022.50.

The New Board was responsible for 139 bonds and 633 coupons.
Four of the bonds and 22 of the coupons were sold for $4550, and
136 bonds and 611 coupons were turned over to White and Chiles

'MSS. Report of Military Board, 1865 File Case No. 55.
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for cotton cards and medicines. The state did not receive the

supplies contracted for, as, according to White and Chiles, they

were destroyed in transit by disbanded troops.^ Nineteen bonds

and 80 coupons were turned over by Governor Murrah to an agent

to be disposed of for medicine and cotton cards. There is no evi-

dence of any such purchase, however, and the person to whom
they were alleged to have been given denied that he received them
of the agent.- The remainder of the bonds to the number of 109

and 959 coupons were returned to the treasury upon the institution

of the Provisional Government.

The. Old Board erected a state foundry in Austin for the manu-
facture of cannon, also a factory for the making of percussion caps.

The foundry cost, including expenses of operation, $172,725.12;

the cap factory, $100,292.29. The disappearance of the military

demand for the kind of cannon made at the foundry, and the

greater cost of public over private operation of the cap factory, re-

sulted in the abandonment by the New Board of the operation by^

the State of these enterprises and in their lease to private parties.*

The boards and their successors returned to the treasury a total

of $1,006,279. yO. There was returned for the most part in 1804

and in Confederate notes the sum of $513,958.28. In 1865, unused

TInited States bonds and coupons to the amount of $129,975.00 were

turned over to the Provisional Government, and during the period

from October 13, 1865, to August 13, 1866, $33,205.25 was re-

turned in specie. United States currency, 8 per cent state bonds,

and state treasury warrants. In 1876, a net amount of $298,-

825.22 was recovered by the state on account of United States

bonds and coupons of the par value of $357,175.00 entrusted by

the board in April, 1862, to Mr. J. W. Swisher for disposition and

which were committed by him to English and German bankers for

sale.*

The penitentiary was not a source of expense to the general

treasury during this period, but was self-sustaining. The expen-

'Texas v. White, 7 Wallace, 706. See also report of Pease and Palm,
p. 4.

-Report of Pease and Palm, p. 4.

•MSS. Report of Military Board,. March, 1865. File Case No. 55.

^The total of the returned amounts has been deducted from military
expenditures.
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ditures of the school fund were small, amounting to only $114,-

544.26 in the four years 1862-1865 as against $119,351.60 in 1861.

Tlie heaviest item of civil expenditures was the support of the in-

digent families of Texas soldiers.^ The county courts were the

agencies of distribution, and beginning in May of 1863 and ex-

tending to the close of the war the assistance extended was nomi-

nally large but really small on account of the depreciated value of

the notes and treasury warrants. After May, 1864, the medium of

payment was treasury warrants, but these soon became practically

worthless. The ordinary civil expenditures or those for salaries,

support of departments and state institutions, were on a moderate

scale. Salaries remained unchanged throughout the war period,

and their recipients were subject to the hardship of having to meet

with the same nominal receipts prices that were steadily increasing

by reason of scarcity of products and inflation of the currency.

Receipts

Texas entered upon the war period in an unsatisfactory financial

condition. In 1860 the means for defending the frontier against

Indian uprisings were largely provided by the use of Ihe United

States bonds belonging to the university fund. Despive the recom-

mendations of the governor no increased taxation was voted at this

time. By January 19, 1861, the treasury deficit was $817,827.00,

and the revenue which was to come in before the end of the fiscal

year was estimated to fall far short of the deficiency." Each sub-

sequent year saw deficiencies, and at the close of the war the

amount of treasury warrants outstanding was $2,068,997.90.

Net receipts in 1861 were $509,788.64, and the total net receipts

during the war period, 1862-1865, were $8,161,928.58. Roughly,

about 40 per cent was from taxes, 8 per cent from sale of bonds,

38 per cent from the penitentiary, and the remainder, 14 per cent,

from interest on the bonds in the school fund, the sale of land,

land dues, the sale of public ])roperty, and fees. The proportion

of receipts derived from the sale of bonds does not indicate, how-

'Act of March 5, ISfi:"!, Ganimel, Laws of Texas, V, 601: Act of De-
cember 15, 180.3, nifl., (i75.

"Message of Governor Houston, February 5, 1801. House Journal, 8th
Legislature, Extra Session, p. 17.
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ever, the extent to which the state used its credit, for it does not

show the extent of indebtedness to special funds for assets trans-

ferred, or the floating debt.

By the close of the war a complex tax system had been developed

consisting of property and poll taxes, salary and occupation taxes.

The Property Tax

The ad valorem rate of the general property tax remained, against

the counsel of the governor, at 12| cents in 1861, with an addi-

tional 4 cents, collectible in specie, to meet the interest and provide

a sinking fund for the <$1,000,000.00 loan authorized by the act

of April 8, 1861.1 j^^ i862 the rate for all purposes was raised to

25 cents, and in 1863 to 50 cents, which was the rate also in 1864.

At the above rates the taxes assessed were $465,494.00 in 1861,

$700,609.00 in 1862, $1,675,954.00 in 1863, $1,790,959.00 in 1864,

—a total of $4,633,016.24. Assessed values showed a decrease in

1861 and 1862, but in 1863 they were $335,190,700.00, and in

1864, $358,101,886.00 as compared with $294,315,659 in 1860.

The number of acres of land, of negroes and other objects of as-

sessment changed but little during these years, so that the increase

in assessed values was due to higher valuations which were the re-

sult mainly of the inflated state of the currency.

The act of April 3, 1861^ permitted non-residents of the coun-

ties to return land for taxation either in the county of their resi-

dence or in the county of its location, and the result was, as for-

merly, that a large amount escaped. Unrendered land amounted

to 34,659,321 acres in 1861, 29,320,425 in 1862, 47,854.029 in

1863,' 34,970,258 in 1864, and 56,821,220 in 1865.^ The lands

sold to the state for taxes for the years 1861-1864 were 7,100,000

acres. Since from the beginning of statehood to 1861 the total

sold was 17,594,229 acres, the forfeitures during the war were ex-

traordinarily large. The total number of acres redeemed during

the period 1846-1863 was only 1,065,600.*

'Gammel, Laios of Texas, V, 375.

-lUd., V, 369.

'Report of Acting Provisional Comptroller, 1866. "

.

"

'Comptroller's Report, 1868-9, pp. 110-111.
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Poll 1\ax

By the act of January 13, 186-2/ the poll tax was raised from
50 cents to $1.00, and was assessed throughout the war on all

male persons over 21 years of age. The assessments were as fol-

lows :

1861 $28,521.00

1862 66,776.00

1863 53,798.00

1864 75,204.00

1865 56,629.00

Business Taxes

An extensive system of occupation taxation was begun by the

act of January 13, 1862.= Some features of this act were the

reimposition of a license charge upon doctors, lawyers, and dentists,

—a practice which had been in abeyance since 1848; a tax of $50
upon insurance companies,—which marks the Ijeginuing in this

state of special taxes upon corporations; and the absence of any

occupation taxes upon mercantile establishments other than the

regular ad valorem rate upon goods purchased or received for sale.

By the act of March 6, 1863,« lawyers and doctors were exempted
from payment of a license charge, and in order to discourage the

conversion of corn into liquor, a tax of $1000 was laid on each

still. The still tax was repealed in December, 1863, but was re-

imposed in November, 1864, as were also the license taxes upan
doctors and lawyers.*

A system of taxes on the sales of distilled spirits, fermented

liquors and wines was adopted December 15, 1863.^ The taxes were

payable montlily, and the rates were proportioned to the value per

gallon. These taxes were described in the statutes and were pop-

ularly Imown as "income" taxes. By the act of December 16,

"Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 494. ^

^Ihid., V, 494.

'Ibid., V, 613.

'Act of Dpcember Ifi, 180,3, Gammel. Laivs of Texas. V, 702; Act of
November 15. 18fi4, Ibid., p. 813.

'^Gaiiiniel, Laws of Texas. V, 670.
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18()3, those engaged in tlie sale of merchandise were subject to a

tax of 50 cents on eacli $100 proceeds of sales, and merchandise

was subject to no other state taxation. This was known as the

"merchandise tax." Assessors and collectors were required to call

once in every three months and get returns of sales under oath.

The act of November 15, 1864, replaced the graded liquors income

tax by one that levied simply 5 per cent on gross sales, and modi-

fied and extended the taxation of gToss receipts. The several oc-

cupations and professions taxed were . classified and different fixed

charges and percentage rates applied. Wholesale merchants were

subject to a tax of $300 and 1 per cent on gross receipts; retail mer-

chants, druggists, and auctioneers, $100 and 1 per cent. Those

keeping a billiard hall or nine or ten pin alley, doing a storage busi-

ness, and cotton compressing and insurance companies, were subject

to a tax of - $100 and 2 per cent of gross receipts. Eailroad com-

panies were subject to a tax of one-fourth of 1 per cent on their

gross receipts; but no special provision was made for the determi-

nation of the amount of gross receipts or for the collection of the

tax. .

Income Tax

Under the amended constitution of 1861, as under the original

of 1845, the legislature had the power to lay an income tax. A
beginning of income taxation was made in the act of January 13,

1862, which imposed on each person having a fixed annual salary,

whether as a public officer or by private contract, 25 cents on each

$100 of such salary over $500.^ The 1ax was self assessed and

no penalties were prescribed for failure of returns. This salary

tax was not re-enacted in the act of December 16, 1863, which ap-

plied the principle of income or receipts taxation to the merchan-

dise business, as it had been applied to the liquor business in the

act of December 15, 1864. It was not until ISTovember 15, 1864,

that the principle was extended, though it was yet so restricted as

to make the tax an occupation tax rather than an income tax in

the accepted sense of the term. Dentists and lawyers became sub-

ject to a tax of 2 per cent of the gross receipts from their profes-

sions, and presidents, directors, conductors, engineers, secretaries

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 494.
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and clerks of railroad companies, and doctors to a tax of 1 per

cent. Those engaged in agriculture and mechanical pursuits and

those in general who enjoyed fixed incomes were not taxed on their

income as such. The income tax as thus levied was therefore a

partial one.

Receipts from Taxes

The financial reports of this period do not classify the receipts

from the several taxes, and for the general propery tax and tne

poll tax one must rest content with the assessments to get an idea

of their importance in the tax system. The amount received from

license taxes in 1861 was $43,097. No similar statistics are avail-

able for 1863 and 1863. In 1864 the tax on sales of merchandise

brought in $54,315.76; the liquor receipts tax, $67,423.35; while

tlie license tax on distillers produced $43,883.28, and the

taxes on other callings only $13,392.62. More than 62 per cent

of the taxes, other than ad valorem, in 1864 were thus obtained

from the liquor business. The act of November, 1864, was very

productive, the revenue in 1865 on account of it being $308,582.39.

The license tax on distillers and other callings contributed $172,-

279, the merchandise and income tax, $136,303.

The laws imposing the gross receipts taxes especially were not

strictly drawn and this fault and the disorganization of conditions

generally resulted in evasion and in the imperfect assessment and

collection of all taxes.^ As to the tax on professions, which is the

tax nearest to income taxation in the financial history of Texas,

Governor Throckmorton later said that its yield was small and

that it operated oppressively and unequally. He recommended a

minimum exemption with a graduated but moderate rate on the

remainder.^

In estimating the burden of taxation account must be taken of

the taxes levied and collected by the Confederate States' govern-

ment. In the administration of the Confederate taxes there was

a chief collector for the state and assessors and collectors for the

districts into Avhich the state was divided for purposes of tax-

^Message of Governor Miirrah, October 20, 1864. Executive Record,

280.

'Message, August 18, 1866. House Journal, lltli Legislature, Regular

Session, p. 79.
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ation. Texas was one of the two states, Florida being the other,

which did not permit their tax officers to serve in the same capac-
ity for the Confederate government. It was also one of the two
states, Mississippi being the other, which did not assume their

quota of the Confederate direct taxes.^ Confederate taxation was
much heavier and more rigorously collected than state taxes, and
amounted for the four years 1861-1864 to the huge sum of $37,-

486,854.43. Only $26,904.64 of this amount was in specie.^

Character of Receipts

The act of February 9, 1861, authorized the receipt of 10 per
cent interest warrants in payment of land and the 2 per cent sink-
ing fund of railroad bonds held by the school fund, and the act
of January 11, 1862, made all treasury warrants receivable in pay-
ment of land.3 After January 11, 1862, treasury warrants and
Confederate notes were receivable for taxes and all other public
dues, except for the specie loan tax, and for interest and principal
of the railroad loans by the school fund.* The act of December
16, 1863, however, made treasury warrants, bonds and interest

coupons of the state receivable in payment of railroad indebted-
ness to the school fund.^

The great depreciation of Confederate notes led in the spring of

1864 to the enactment that after the last day of June next and
until October 31, Confederate notes of the old issue of the denom-
ination of $100 should not be receivable for public dues except at

a discount of ^ and that no Confederate notes bearing interest

'Smith, The History of the Confederate Treasury, 25.

'Condensed account of G. J. Durham, Collector of Confederate Tax for
Texas, .m the Weekli/ Southern Intelligencer, August 11, 1865.
'Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 355, 466.

*Ihid., 481. The Tri-WeeUy Telegraph, December 2, 1861, noted that
state_ treasury warrants passed at a discount of from 50 to 60 per cent
and It dissented from Governor Lubbock's recommendation that Confed-
erate notes should be made receivable for public dues. This paper op-
posed also the fundinar of state warrants and urtred that the b-^st way ofmakmo; them approximate par was to make them receivable for taxes
and other public dues, and advised that to this end taxation should he
increased and expenditures decreased. iSee issues of December 16 1861
and October 26, 1864. ' '

^Gammel, Laios of Texas, V, 60] ; Act of M'ay 28, 1804, Ibid 767
Act of November 15, 1864, Ibid., 820.
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should be received after the last day ot Jime.^ The purpose of

this legislation was to compel the funding of the old issue into Con-

federate bonds and to sustain the value of the new issue.

The specie needed to meet the interest and sinking fund require-

ments of the $1,000,000 loan issue of 1861 was provided for by a

special specie tax.- This special tax began to fail in the early part

of 1863, and for the year ending August 31, 1864:, produced only

$1,352.77 in specie. By the act of March 3, 1863, it was provided

that the tax might be paid in other funds, and the Military Board

was authorized to obtain the specie required for interest.^ The
history of this special tax well illustrates the disappearance of

specie from general circulation. Eeceipts in 1862- on account of

it were $36,900.06, all of which was in specie; in 1863, $123,-

608.09, of which $57,549.18 was in specie; in 1864, $152,369.94,

of which $1352.77 was in specie. In 1865 the specie receipts were

not derived from taxation, but were provided by the Military

Board.

By the act of January 14, 1862, the disbursement of Confeder-

ate notes was restricted, except for about $30,000, to the payment

of military appropriations.* Other appropriations were payable in

specie or in treasury warrants. Inasmuch, however, as the revenue

was collected principally in notes and to a much larger amount

than military expenditures could absorb, the act of March 6, 1863,

provided that all appropriations should be payable in notes.'^

In the spring of 1864 the Confederate currency was rated in

specie at from 20 to 30 cents on the dollar." The state recognized

by the act of May 27, 1864, a depreciation of 33^ per cent, and by

the act of May 28, 1864, made appropriations for the support of

the civil departments of the government and for the indigent fam-

ilies of Texas soldiers payable in treasury warrants. These war-

rants, however, enjoyed no better credit than the notes had had,

'iGarnmel,Loirs of Texas, V. 7fi4. Act of May 27, 1864.

'Ibid., 376.

'Ibid., 596.

'Ibid., 496.

''Ibid., 611; Message of Governor Lubbock, February 5, 1863. Senate
Journal, 9th Legislature, Extra Session.

°Mes.9age of Governor Murrah, May 11, 1864. Executive Records, 280.
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and were quoted in the fall of 1864 at 8 and 10 cents on tlie dollar/
The constitutionality of the issue of treasury warrants which would
perform some of the functions of money was questioned, but a ma-
jority of the senate judiciary committee held that they were not
money and were not intended to circulate as money.-" This was
also the opinion of the Supreme Court of the United States in 1899
in the case involving the validity of the payments of warrants to
the school fund by the railroad companies.^

The bulk of receipts during the war period was in Confederate
notes and treasury warrants. During the five years 1861-1865,
$948,711.34 of treasury warrants was received, distributed as fol-

lows :

l^^l $ 12,278.21

1^^^ 27,654.15
1863 333,946.77
18*^4 393,544.57
1865 181,287.64

No distinction was made in the financial reports between Confed-
erate notes and specie until the year beginning September 1, 1862,
which would indicate that by that date the disproportion in the'

amounts of notes had begun to complicate the operations of the
treasury. During the three years 1863-1865, specie receipts
amounted to only $163,647.37, the most of which was credited to
the special loan account and was secured for this account by the
Military Board. The specie receipts were distributed as follows:

1863 $72,149.97
1864 2,323.42

1865 89,173.98

Receipts of Confederate notes were $957,137.96 in 1863; $3,652,-
813.91 in 1864, and $1,559,757.88 in 1865—a total of' $6^69,'-

709.75. In the Fox table of currency values, the average value of

$1 in gold was $5.88 in Confederate notes in 1863; $19.89 in

'Proclamation of Governor Murrah, September 13, 1864. Executive
xv6CorQSj 280,

''The Tri-Weekly Telegraph, December 9, 1864.
'H. & T. iC. R. R. Co. V. Texas, 177 U. S., 83.
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1864. On tlie basis of this scale of depreciation the receipts in

Confederate notes in 1863 were equivalent to $162,778 in specie;

the receipts in 1864 to $183,650 in specie.^

Besides the excessive amount of Confederate notes in circulation

which the receipts of tiie state and the Confederate government

would indicate, there were state treasury warrants, city and county

warrants, and the notes of individuals and corporations. The ef-

fect of this inflation of the circulating media, together with the

scarcity of commodities, was an enormous rise in prices. As early

as January, 1862, the currency became redundant, and before the

end of the year public meetings were called in various parts of the

state to consider the rise in prices. The depreciation of tlie cur-

rency was popularly ascribed to the perversity of "merchants" and

"capitalists," and tariffs of prices and other coercive measures were

suggested as remedies, but none were enacted.^

Public DeU

From the beginning of statehood to 1860 Texas had no public

debt other than that inherited from the Eepublic. The inadequacy

of the revenue system and the increase in expenditures due to

frontier defence led to a deficit in 1860, one consequence of which

was a practical suspension of payment of what remained of the

debt of the Eepublic. There was paid on this debt, however,

$8520 in 1861, $1783.80 in 1862, and $20 in 1863. Another re-

sult of the deficit was the appearance of a floating debt. The act

of February 14, 1860, authorized the issue of 10 per cent interest

warrants, when there was not money in the treasury; and the act

of March 20, 1861, authorized the issue of $300,000, 10 year, 8

per cent bonds for the purpose of funding the warrants issued for

the protection of the frontier from Indian and Mexican depreda-

tions.» Thl, funding act was repealed January 11, 1862, after

$16,000 of warrants had been funded.

The important loan act during the war period was that of April

Tor Fox Tables, see Appendix B, pp. 21-22.

-Thr: Tri-Wcpl:l'i Telpqmph, August 4, December 10, 1862; January 9,

January 2.3, May 2.5, 1863.

'Gamrr.el, Lwf's of Tc.Ta.% TV, 1477: Ihid., V, 360; Act of .January 11,

1862; Ibid., V, 488.
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S, 1861, which authorized a loan of $1,000,000, to bear 8 per cent

interest and to run 16 years.^ A specific tax of 4 cents on the $100
to pay the interest and maintain a sinking fund was also author-

ized by the act, but it was not until January 11, 1862, that it was
provided that this tax should be a specie tax.^ Under the provi-

sions of this act $917,000 of bonds were issued, $294,000 of which
were used in funding state warrants, $28,000 in paying debts con-

tracted under the authority of the Constitutional Convention of

186], and $595,000 were turned over to the Military Board. Sev-

enteen thousand dollars of the bonds given to the Military Board
were returned and $1000 mutilated, leaving a net amount out-

standing of $899,000. The net amount for which the Military

Board was responsible was $578,000.^

The act of December 16, 1863, authorized the issue of $2,000,-

000, 7 per cent bonds, payable 6 to 12 years after the close of the

war, for the purchase of cotton.* Certificates for these bonds to

the amount of $195,190.29 were issued, but only 45 bonds were

issued and delivered in redeeming certificates. This debt with in-

terest amounted at the close of the war to $211,130.83.'^

The only other bonds authorized and issued were 6 per cent

bonds to fund the treasury warrants received by the school fimd

for interest and principal payments by the railroads." Of these

'GaniiTiel, Laws of Texas, Y, 375.

mid., V, 481.

'The following is a statement of the disposition of the bonds held by
the Military Board up to January 1, 1863, the only period for which an
itemized statement is obtainable:

299 were sold for Confederate money. *

3 were sold for Nichols' guns.

3 were sold for sulphur and saltpeter.

20 were paid for the Steamer Bayou City.

21 were paid for alterations and repairs on the steamer and for remov-
ing obstructions from Buffalo Bayou and Galveston Ba3^

114 were used in the redemption of cotton certificates.

Total, 460'.

Par value $460,000.00
"

Premiums 16,422.60

Total value $476,422.60
MSS. in File Case No. 54, State Department.

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 663, 683.

. "Report of Pease and Palm, p. 8.

lAct of December 16, 1863. Gninmel, Laios of Texas, V, 691; Act of
November 15, 1864, lUd., V, 820.
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there was issued a total of $320,367.13, all of which was held by

the school fuud.^

The 8 and 1 per cent bonds Avere disposed of to citizens of the

state for cotton, currency, and military equipment and supplies.

The cotton purchased was transported to Mexico and either ex-

changed for military supplies or sold and the proceeds used to pur-

chase the supplies. .
After the organization of the Military Board

it issued a stirring circular address to the people of tlie state

calling upon them to take the bonds at par for their cotton. The

cotton growing part of the state was divided into districts and

agents were aj^pointed in each to take subscription to the loan in

either cotton or money. Upon the purchase of any cotton, or the

sale of bonds for money, the agent took a bill of sale and delivery

and executed a receipt or certificate to the seller, which certificate

entitled the seller to bonds of even date.^

The interest on the 7 and 8 per cent bonds was payable in specie.

Specie interest payments were $6009.61 in 1862, $46,586.11 in

1863, $40,502.90 in 1864, $72,696.61 in 1865. These amounts

Avere paid, though apparently somcAvhat irregiilarly, but despite

them the value of the bonds fell in 1864 to less than 25 cents on

the dollar.^ The provision in the 8 per cent loan act for a sink-

ing fund Avas not obsei'ved so far as regards a specie fund.

Treasury warrants outstanding at the close of the Avar amounted

to $2,068,997.90, about $180,000 of Avhich Avere 10 per cent inter-

est warrants. In 1863 and 1S64 these had a value in specie of 8

and 10 cents on the dollar.* There Avere at all times in 1863, 1864,

and 1865 enough Confederate notes in the treasury to redeem all

the outstanding Avarrants, biit the liolders held them back with the

expectation of ultimately getting something better in payment.^

'Couipt roller's Eeport, 1863-18G5, p. 7.

iM'SS. Record of Military Board, No. 101. On November 26, 1862, the

l>oard opened bids for $100,000 of the 8 per cent bonds. There were bids

for $136,000 or 136 bonds. For 23 bonds a premiinn of 12 per cent Avas

ofTered, for 2.5, 10 per cent and for 6, 12:} per cent. Tlie bids for these

54 bonds were in Confederate money and amounted to $59,995. On the

basis of the Fox table of $1 in gold for $3.75 of Confederate note.s, the

specie value of the bids Avas equivalent to $15,998.66.

"Message of Governor Murrah, October 20, 1864. Executive Record, 280.

*Message of Governor Miu-rah, October 20, 1864.

"MSS. report of Pease and Palm, Executive Record, 281. p. 118.



state Finances of Texas During the Civil War. 17

The state was indebted to special trust funds to the amount of

$1,455,913.86 on account of United States bonds and specie used
and for evidences of state indebtedness received in the collection

of revenue. The school fund was due $1,137,406.05, the univer-

sity fund, $383,514.23, and other special funds, $34,892.49.1

The amount due soldiers and for supplies was estimated at

$3,150,000; the unpaid debt of the Eepublic at $110,613.23; mis-
cellaneous debt at $199,176.76.2 The total debt was $8,110,832.58.
Ueductiug the debt of the Republic, there remains $8,000,219.35
which represents the debt incurred from 1860 to the close of the

war. '

.

The convention of 1866 declared the debt created in aid of the

war null and void, this being directed by the fourteenth amend-
ment to the Constitution of the United States. Excessive zeal led

it to go beyond this and to repudiate the civil debt contracted be-

tween January 28, 1861 and August 5, 1865.^ The constitution

of 1869 went still further and provided that "all unpaid balances,

whether of salary, per diem, or monthly allowances due to em-
ployees of the state who were in the service thereof on the said 28th
day of January, 1861, civil or military, and who gave their aid,

countenance or support to the rebellion then inaugurated against

the government of the United States or turned their arms against

said government" were forfeited. Also, "all the 10 per cent war-
rants issued for military services, and exchanged during the rebel-

lion, at the treasury, for non-interest warrants" were declared to

be fully paid and discharged.*

Under the above provisions the Reconstruction auditorial boards

recognized a debt of $251,048 to be due individuals. In 1876 and
1883-6 the school and university funds received $857,240.71 of the

amount to which they appeared creditors at the close of the war.

Of the $8,000,219.35 there was, therefore, $1,143,181.26 recognized,

leaving the repudiated portion $6,857,038.09.

'MSS. report of Pease and Palm, Executive Record, 281, p. IIG.

^MiSS. report of Pease and Palm, in Ibid., pp. 118-119.

'Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 887, 900'. - -

,'

*Art. XII, See. 34.
' •



18 Texas Historical Association Qtuirterly.

School and University Funds

The amoTint due the school fund at the close of the wax was

$1,137,406.65; $766,700 of this was for United States bonds and

interest coupons transferred to the Military Board in August and

November of 1862; $331,604.84 for state treasury warrants re-

ceived; $36,927 for specie used, and $12,173.93 for interest on

state bonds.

Eeceipts of the school fund from taxes, land sales, and interest

on securities amounted during the four years 1862-1865 to $643,-

525.81, while expenditures, exclusive of investments, amounted to

only $114,544.26. In 1862, $185,520 was loaned to railroad com-

panies. The railroad companies made no interest payments in spe-

cie during this period, but in accordance with the act of December

16, 1863, and November 15, 1864, paid in state treasury warrants

a total of $320,367.13 for interest and principal of bonds. The

state funded the warrants in 6 per cent bonds, and the latter re-

mained of doubtful validity until 1883 when they were paid. The

legality of the payments of the companies in warrants was subse-

quently contested on the gi-ound (1) that the warrants were issued

for the purpose of being circulated as money and so were in viola-

tion of the State Constitution; (2) that they were bills of credit

emitted by tlie state and were therefore in violation of the Constitu-

tion of the United States; and (3) that the acts under which they

were issued and paid were in aid of the Eebellion and were there-

fore void. The decision of the Supreme Court of the United

States was against the state on all three points.^

In 1876, $297,758.22, owt of a total of $357,175 in United States

bonds and coupons originally transferred, was recovered by tlie

state and returned to the school fund.

The indebtedness to the university fund at the close of the war

was $283,514.22. This was for United States bonds to the amount

of $100,000 and specie from interest and land sales transferred to

state revenue account in 1860-1862, and for treasury warrants and

Confederate notes received in payment of land sales. Receipts of

this fund from land sales during the four years 1862-1865 amounted

to $134,183.39. There were no disbursements other than transfers.

'H. & T. C. E, R. Co. V. Texas, 177 U. S.. nC-103.
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In 1866, 5 per cent state bonds to the amount of $134,472.26 were

placed to the credit of the fund to replace the United States bonds

and interest used, the balance of the debt not being recognized.

The bonds thus credited remained of doubtful validity until 1883,

when they were paid with accumulated interest; $10,300.41 of this

old debt of war wa^ also validated and paid in 1883, but without

interest.

The effect of the war upon the school and university funds was

to strip them of their sources of revenue, and as a result of condi-

tions brought about by the war education in Texas was set back by

more than two decades.

Condition of the Treasury at the Close of the War

On June 8, 1865, the total cash balances on hand amounted to

$3,368,510.07. TMs was made up of $2,908,038.34 in Confederate

notes, $445,074.37 in state paper, and $15,397.36 in specie. Only

$362,548.11 of the Confederate notes were actually in the treasury,

the remainder, $2,535,490.23, were old issues, and had been turned

over to the Confederate States' depository to be exchanged for new

issues. In addition to the above balance there was in the hands

of the Military Board $129,975 in United States bonds and interest

coupons. This latter and the specie were the only part of the

balance that was of value.

The finances of the war period which secession inaugurated ends

June 8, 1865. At this date the pen which traced the ledgers of the

fiscal department of the state government stops off shortly and

until October 13, 1865, when the work of accounting is again

resumed in a new handwriting, a gap of blank pages follow—mute

witnesses of the end of a disastrous struggle and of the temporary

dissolution of state government. Social disorder attended the

breakup of the Confederacy and on the night of June 11, 1865, the

state treasury was broken into and looted.- There was little of value

in it that was negotiable, so that the loss, except for something

less than $5,000 in specie, was not serious.

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found

http://stores.ebay.com/Ancestry-Found
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BIBLIOGEAPHY.

The Tri-Weehhj Telegraph under date of July 15, 1864, contains

the Fox Table of currency values. It says : "The following table

showing the fluctuations in the gold market here (Houston) has

been furnished us by Mr. Henry S. Pox, a reliable merchant of

this city. One dollar in gold has been worth the following amounts
in Confederate treasury notes at the times mentioned:

1861

Sept. 1-30 pai-

Oct. 1-31 1.05

Nov. 1-30 1.10

I^ec. 1-15 1.25

Dec. 15-30 1.50

1862

Jan. 1-Feb. 8 1.50

Feb. 8-Apr. 8 1.75

Apr. 8-20 2.00

Apr. 20-May 12 2.50

May 12-22 . 2.75

May 22-June 12 3.00

June 12-19

.

. 3.25

June 19-Aug. 9 3. 50

Aug. 9-Sept. 14 3.75

Sept. 14-Oct. 31 4.00

Nov. 1-30 3.75

Dec. 1-31 4.00

1863

Jan. 1-5 4.00

Jan. 5-18 4. 50

Jan. 18-Feb. 9 4.75

Feb. 9-Mch. 19 5.OO r

Mch. 19-Apr. 5 4.75

Apr. 5-14 5.00

Apr. 14-May 3 5.25

May 3-7... 6.00
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May Mr '^•00

May 17-June 20 8-00

June SO-Jnly 4 ^-^^

July 4-7 ;
8.00 ;

July 7-8 8.50

July 8-10 • 9.00

July 10-August 6 9.50

Aug. 6-Sept. 9 10-00

Sept. 9-34 11-00

Sept. 24-Oct. 5 12-00

Oct. 5-12 11-00

Oct. 25-Nov. 7 12-00

Nov. 7-13 11-50 -

Nov. 13-16 12-50

Nov. 16-17 13-25

Nov. 17-30 15-00

Nov. 20-35 15-50

Nov. 35-Dec. 6 16-00

Dec. 6-14 1^-50

Dec. 14-16 18-00

Dec. 16-31 19-00

1864

Jan. 1-3 •• 19-00

Jan. 24-31
24.2o

Feb. 1-4 24.00

Feb. 16-23 20.00

Feb. 23-Mch. 4 21.00

Mch. 24-Apr. 5 22.75

Apr. 20-May 5 26.00

May 25-31
^^-'^

-r 1 q 43.00
June l-o

June 30
28.00

July 1
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EEMimSCEKCBS OF HENRY SMITH '

HENRY SMITH"^

Brazoria 18th iSTovr. 1836.

To the Honble M. B. Lamar

Eespected Sir

In endeavoring to comply with your request, I find myself

greatly at a loss. The destruction of my office and papers at the

burning of San Felipe, during the invasion of the enemy, puts it

entirely out of my power to furnish you with such data as would

at once, not only satisfy your enquiries, but at the same time afford

me infinite pleasure. The only means left within my power is to

furnish you with such scraps and portions of official and other doc-

umentary proceedings as may be within my reach and draw on a

very treacherous memory to complete the chain. In doing this I

cannot descend to minutia or be particular as to dates, but only

give a general outline of the changes and rechanges, actions and

counteractions which have taken place in Texas, within the times

named. And as this is done on the principles of epistolary inter-

course, it will be laid on the plain basis of simple narrative, with a

strict adherence to truth, but without embellishment, and with,.,

perhaps, very little comment.—I will commence with a short bio-

^The autograph dociuiient presented herewith is not signed, but it is

written in the handwriting of Henry Smith throughout. It is found
among the Lamar Papers in the Texas iState Library. At the time that
it was written Henry Smith was secretary of the treasury and M. B.
Lamar was vice-president of the Republic of Texas. It is one of the
fruits of Lamar's project to write a history of Texas. While all must
regret that Lamar found it impracticable to complete this work, yet his
careful preseiwation of the data collected will place all future students
of Texas history under grateful obligations to him.

In 1887 John Henry Brown published his Life and Times of Henry
Smith, the First American Governor of Texas- In the preparation of
this work he appears to have had the direct and helpful assistance of
the descendants of Governor Smith, and a large and interesting mass of
information covering the period of Smith's public life in Texas is pre-
sented within the compass of its 400 pages. However, nowhere does he
indicate that he had the slightest clew to the existence of this docu-
ment, which makes important additions to our knowledge of the earlier
period of the subject treated by BroATO.

The spelling, punctuation, and capitalization are those of the original.
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graphical sketch—not by way of writing my life, a matter in which

neither you nor the world would feel any interest, but for the pur-

pose of making comparisons, and shewing when and from whence

I came to Texas. In doing this I will only trace back to the old

dominion.

My father James Smith emmigrated from Bedford County

Virginia at a very early period, and joined company with Col.

Daniel Boone, the great pioneer of the west, on his second trip

to the wilds of Kentucky where he settled with his family at a place

called Smiths Station [in what is] now Garrard County, where

he secured by his early introduction what was then termed a set-

tlement and preemption right and at which place he reared a large

family and died when I was about nine years of age. At that

place I was born on the 20th of May 1788, was the youngest son,

and was afforded such opportunities in my course of education as

the situation and newness of the country would at that time per-

mit, which by the by were quite limited, until I arrived to the age

of 17 years, from that time I was engaged in various business pur-

suits and traveling, exploring new countries etc until about the

close of the war [of 1812]. In the fall of the year [18] 15 I re-

moved to Missouri, which was then a Territory, and there I had

to suffer all the privations and inconveniences incident to new and

wilderness countries, which it is unnecessary to enumerate, for it

was proverbially called the land of milk and honey, and does realy

in some degree deserve the appellation. Though many seemed de-

lighted and pleased with the country, I must frankly acknowledge

I never was. I had many faults to find, lived in various parts of

it, and finally settled near a little Town called Chariton, in the

upper part of Howard County, where I lived for several years. I

would here remark that previous "to my emmigration to Missouri

and during my residence there, I had traveled over a great part of

Alabama, the Western District of Tennessee Arkansas Illinois, In-

diana and in fact very nearly all the new countries that were then

open for settlement, and was finally brought to this conclusion

—

that a man born and raised in the part of Kentucky that I was,

would be very hard to please in any new country, that was then

within my knowledge or at least which I had visited.

In the course of my rambles I had heard something said about



26 Texas Historical Association Quarterly.

Texas both for and against : very little however was known of the

country at that time for but few had yet visited it, and but few pub-

lications had been circulated respecting the country or the induce-

ments held out to emmigrants. Being however, dissatisfied and de-

siring a more mild and healthful climate and having a Geo.gi-aphi-

cal knowledge of the localities of the country I determined to iden-

tify my fortunes with it, be it for better or for worse. And having

met with some misfortunes and reverses in Missouri, was detormin-

ed to leave it, believing I had everything to hope for,—that I could

neither be worsted in climate, health or society, and as such de-

tei-mined in the spring of the year 1826 that I would in the fall of

that year set out for Texas; which I accordingly did early in the

month of November. I put my family and effects on board of a

flat-boat, and descended the Missouri and continued on to New

Orleans. The waters at that season of the year were very low

which rendered the trip both tedious and hazardous. I met on

the way and particularly at N Orleans niauy discouragements,

every person who pretended to know any thing of Texas, either

from personal observation or hearsay, depicted it in the most

shocking and horrid point of view—cannibals, savage wild beasts

of every hue and form were innumerable and in waiting to destroy

the deluded emmigrant, and if even they should be eluded—the

sword of civil war, then raging, famine or pestilence would surely

close the scene. This portraiture, combining so many great evils

unmixed with any seeming good, or even any proljable means of es-

cape, was certainly calculated to damp the spirits of any but a true

back woodsman. Indian stories and Indian depredations were not

new to me, for much had happened within my own recollection.

My Mother had been captured by them in her youth in Augusta

County Virginia, if my recollection serves me, and my Father

was 18 months a prisoner with them since my own recollection, so

that it may be fairly presumed that so far as Indian tales were con-

cerned they would be fairly appreciated. And as it respected the

innumerable beasts of prey and destruction, however inconvenient

and troublesome they might prove to be, I felt an assurance that

they would at least preclude the idea of starvation. It will be

recollected that about that time the Freedonian party, about

eighteen in number, raised the flag for Independence at Nacogdo-
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ches which created some little stir in Texas, and give rise to the

rumor, in New Orleans and elsewhere, of civil war raging in

Texas, which however was soon quieted and corrected. At that

time there was but little commerce between New Orleans and

Texas, the coast was but little known and it was with much diflB-

eulty I could procure a vessel to make the trip, but finally suc-

ceeded in procuring a good schooner, commanded by a worthy and

experienced seaman, had a favorable passage, found and entered

the mouth of the Eiver Brazos without difficulty and ran up and

landed at the place where the Town of Marion^ is now situated on

the Sth day of March [18] 27 making just four months from the-

time I embarked on the Missouri Eiver until I landed in Texas.

The arrival of vessels in those days were so seldom that the news

immediately spread over the country and the people collected for

many miles around to hear the news, see and be seen, and procure

such necessaries as might be within their power. This was the

case on our arrival, but there were then, comparatively speaking,

but few people in the country and them scattered over a large ter-

ritory. As I had just arrived in a new and wild country it is

natural to suppose I would spare neither pains nor opportunity in

making inquiries respecting the health and different localities of

the country. The first Texian citizen, with whom I became ac-

quainted, was a Captain his dress was the full, and fash-

ionable, uniform of the country—leather cap a pie—which was by

no means uncomly for it seemed to combine in an eminent degree

the grand prerequisites of elasticity, pliancy and duribility. I

very soon found the Captains disposition to be that of an open

frank and friendly backwoodsman—to speak freely and frankly

what he thought, and think what he pleased. I immediately com-

menced my enquiries with the Captain, during which time how-

ever, the bottle had been circulating freely, without producing any

deleterious effects, but on the contrary to brighten ideas, give scope

to the imagination and untrammel the organs of articulation and

emphasis. His replies to my enquiries were truly laconick, and

verbatim as follows. Well Captain, you have been in the country

some time and from what you have seen of it, and from your

^Marion, or Bell's Landing, was sitmated on the Brazos river, two miles
from Columbia.
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knowledge of new countries generally, I would have great confi-

dence in your judgement; in what part of the country would you

advise me to pitch my tent? I wish to combine the advantages

of health good land etc etc? Well . . • Sir, you must recol-

lect you are now in Texas, and it is large, and a d—d fine coun-

try, ask such a man, pointing to him, and he will tell you that

such a point combines more advantages than any other, because he

made his own selection, and lives there, ask such another one,

and he will tell you that some other point is the most desirable,

for the very same reasons, and so of all the rest, but, continued

he, throwing aside all jesting and joking, partialities and preju-

dices^ I'l . . . d—d if a certain section of country, nam-

ing it, does not only combine more advantages than any other por-

tion of Texas, but
'

. . • sir, it is the cream of the world. In

what section of the country have you located yourself Captain?

Wy ! right there as a matter of course . . . sir, where else would

you suppose ha ha. I soon found on pushing my enquiries, that

the Captauis replies, though laconick, were in the main correct,

that every man deenrd liis own judgment in selection preferable to

that of his neighbour, and all seemed mutually pleased, as every

man in the country seemed to be satisfied in his own mind

that his particular choice was preferable to all others.

Such was the happy state of feeling in the country at that time,

which is certainly not common to be met with in new countries.

Unfortunately however, this state of things did not continue to ex-

ist very long! For so soon as the hardy and adventurous pioneers

riad by dint^of industry and indefatigable perseverance pruned the

wilderness of some of its asperities, and by many a hard fought

skirmish dispersed the cannibal, and other savage bands, that in-

fested the country, and rendered its settlement hazardous, things

l)y degrees began to wear a new aspect. It was ascertained by

degrees that emmigrants to Texas, were not immediately eat up

by cannibals nor torn to pieces by wild beasts—that the sword of

civil war was sheathed, and that their bodies were not entirely

ematiated by famine—that they possessed a fine champaign coun-

try, with a mild and salubrious climate, soil inexhaustible in its

fertility, and that a kind and munificent Providence sent them

rain in due seasons—and isolated neglected, and despised, as Texas
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tlien seemed to be, without notice or commerce, that her hardy
pioneers, by working their own soil, and ranging their own forrests,

if they could not procure all the epicurean delicacies, and shine
forth in fine trappings, that they could at least, from their own
industry, abundantly produce all the substantial, and many of the
real luxuries of life independent of all other countries. Super-
added to this she possessed an extent of sea coast, indented with
many fine harbors bays and inlets, and pierced with many fine'

navigable Elvers extending far back into the interior of the "coun-
try; so that it required no great streach of imagination to i)lainly
see that Texas ere long was not only calculated from her peculiar
juxtaposition to become a land of agriculture but of commerce of
science and of laws—and would ultimately serve as a kind of en-
trepot to eradicate by degrees the gross errors and fast bound
superstitions which now enshrouds the whole Mexican Eepublic.

'

After a few years the character of the country became by degrees
better known abroad, and emmigration from the various parts of
the world began to set in more rapidly and its commerce increased
m an equal ratio. The country now being open and all the hazards

• and asperities removed—the bone-pickers began by degrees to make
their appearance, such as land jobbers, agents, proxies, company
agents, swindlers for themselves and others etc etc until the coun-
try by degrees became infested on every side. It was not who
should have this league, or that league, but who should have this
or that colony. Cupidity on the part of the land speculators and
swindlers continued to show itself in a greater or less degree, while
deep rooted jealousy evinced itself on the part of the Government,
by the passage of the law of the 6 of April 1830 prohibiting the
further introduction of colonists from the United States of the
Worth, of Avhieh more will be said hereafter.

As before observed, the settlers of Texas at the time of my ar-
rival were few and much scattered. All appeared to be well con-
tented and satisfied with their lot. Universal hospitality and
friendship seemed to prevail throughout the whole country, and
continued so for several years oweing no doubt, in a great degree
to their mutual dependence on each other for protection. The
Empresario then possessed the sole governing power over the colo-
nists, who established, for the time being, a set of colonial laws for
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their better Government. Laws however, were of but little use, as

their commerce was very limited, and crimes but seldom com-

mitted. . ^ n \
^

The colonial system prevailed until the Provmces of Coahuila

and Texas were joined together forming one state and a constitu-

tion adopted for its Government. An organization then took phice

under the constitution. All the country West of the River Trinity

including the Gaudaloupe formed but one jurisdiction, entitled to

one Ayuntamiento which was presided [over] by one Alcalde. To

make these terms a little more intelligible, suffice it to say, the

Alcalde is a judicial officer possessing great power, and is presi-

dent of the Ayuntamiento when in session—the whole body may

be compared to the Mayor and Aldermen of a city. The Ayunta-

miento is the petitioning authority-all petitions to the Govern-

ment must emanate from that body and pass through the Chief of

Department otherwise they would be deemed unworthy of atten-

tion It is unnecessary to say more on this subject as I conhdently

hope that we are now done with the use of those terms, and that

their names may be lost in Texas forever. They will however serve

to refer to as circumstances may require in the course of my nar-

rative. Population increasing the lower section of the colony in-

cluding Brazoria was laid off by the Ayuntamiento of San Fehpe

.into a precinct called Victoria, to be presided [over] by a Comis-

sario whose functions are somewhat like those of a justice of the

peace in the United^ States. I was elected to fill that office m

183^

It may be well to remark here that all the colonists we.e pi'e-

sumed to be Eoman Catholics, or bound to become such, as that

was one of the necessary prerequisites to become a citizen-and uo

marriage could be consummated by law without the presence and.

permition of a Priest and none as yet had thought proper to reside

amongst us, and as necessity is the mother of invention, the system

of provisional marriages by bonding was introduced requiring the

iudicial officers, who were by law ex oficio Notary Publics, to take

the acknowledgement of the parties to a bond conditioned m a suffi-

cient penalty to be married by a Poman Catholic Priest so soon

as an opportunity might offer. This however exceptionable it may

appear was certainly the most sensible and natural mode which
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could have been adopted under the existing circumstances, but

lacking the sanction of the law, it lacked everything calculated to

constitute a marriage in fact. Many couples however, not finding

the marriage state to possess all the alluring charms which they

had figTired in their fond imaginations have taken advantage of

this slip- [k] not plan—sought the bond, and by mutual consent

committed it to the flames—returned to the world as young as ever

and free as the air.

From the passage of the law of the 6th of April [I8J0O the

Genl Government had determined mischief against the colonies.

She feared their increasing power and intelligence and had

secretly determined to oppress or exterminate. And no doubt

remains witli me, but that much of the ill feeling possessed

by the Govt, against the colonies, which were now various, was

excited by the secret workings of unprincipled land speculators.

Be this however, as it may various Garrisons were erected com-

manding all the ports of Texas—and the inmates of all the cala-

booses of Mexico were turned loose upon us, as soldiers, to fill those

Garrisons comprising in all from 1000 to 1500 of certainly, the

most wretched and abandoned set of cutthroats and outlaws that

ever made a track on the soil of any country. The ostensible

purpose was, to guard and protect the colonies from Indian inva-

sion, protect the customs etc. These troops had been brought in

by degrees and their numbers not known, as they had been con-

centrated at so many different points. Customhouse officers were

at the same time introduced to enforce the collection of duties.

Their tariff was unreasonable, and many of the indispensible ar-

ticles used in the country were contraband, and the duties so high

on others that it would amount to a prohibition. They were verj''

industrious in erecting their fortifications, and the colonists for

the time being, remained in statu quo.

About this timie the Town of Brazoria was in a prosperous and

flourishing condition emmigration was pouring in rapidly not-

withstanding the interdict. Commerce was brisk and every

House and shed was filled up with emmigrants and their ef-

fects. The Merchants which were much more numerous than

at the present time, were frequently compelled to pile their

Goods on galleries and even leave them in the streets for weeks
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together, without guard or police to protect them; and permit

me to say sir, notwithstanding I well know the opinion that

prevails abroad respecting the inhabitants of Texas, that but

few thefts or depredations of any kind, were committed here, in

the time to which I allude—and during my administration as

Comissario in the lower precinct, but one or two only were com-

plained of, though opportunities and temptations were continually

to be met with, as the universal honesty which seemed to pervade,

had set at rest even suspicion. A few idle and dissolute vagabonds,

who pursued nothing but idleness and dissipation for a livelihood,

had become congregated and in order to have full scope at their

favorite employment concluded at night to remove a barrel of

whiskey from the street to a neighboring thicket to which access

could be had at pleasure. The barrel after some days was missed

by the Merchant, but search was made in vain. It was not long

however, until an unfortunate artizan received a stab from one of

the party and instantly died. The citizens allready tired of their

dissolute and idle habits became now greatly incensed, and called

on me to have the offending parties arrested which was promptly

performed before escape could be effected. The principal and one

as accessory was apprehended, and brought to trial. Our laws re-

specting criminal proceedings were very defective and like most

of the Mexican laws every thing was sacrificed to forms. I was a

constitutional officer and compelled to obey and execute the laws.

I had a right to arrest and if found necessary hold the prisoner in

custody, but could not try and inflict punishment. By the law it

was my province to take the testimony in the case and transmit it

800 miles to the seat of Government to be investigated and tried

by the Supreme Court. All this was required to be done in Span-

ish and in legal form, which but few if any in the country were

capable of performing. The slightest omission in form, even the

lack of a scroll below the signature of a name, was considered a

sufficient defect to vitiate the whole record, and it would be sent

back for correction. This was not only the case in criminal, but

civil suits when taken up by appeal. To return however to the

criminal—we had no jails or calabooses as in the interior, and it

was difficult to know what disposition to make of him. It was

evident he deserved punishment, and was then ixnder my controll
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as an officer. In order that he should have justice and to relieve

myself from the dilemma, I summoned twelve good and respectable

citizens as a jury of enquiry, in order that the testimony could be

made out. the testimony was examined—the proofs plain, and the

fact not denied. The jury retired and very soon served me with a

truly polite note, complimented me highly for my assiduity and
promptness in arresting and securing the prisoners, and concluded

with a notice that they had then no further use for my official

services—that I might consider the prisoners as arrested from my
charge, and that they would deal with them as, in justice, their

crimes merrited I could not resist the multitude and of course

was compelled to acquiesce. The jury very soon agreed in their

verdict and as good men generally will do, yielded to the calls of

m.ercy, as they were not willing to inflict death without a lawful

warrant, they substituted the lash. The culprits were taken to the

grave of the unfortunate who had been but recently hurried, and
there tied and whipped by the jury by turns, until an attending

physitian said they had enough. They were then set across the

Eiver, faced to the east, and ordered to leave the countiy forth-

with, they took up the line of march and I have not heard of them
since. As the ferr5™an was crossing them over the river, the

officer who had arrested them was in possession of the unfortunate

weapon, a kind of dirk, which had done the mischief—the bank
was crowded with people, and he threw it over the bank into the

river after them, and as from a kind of instinct, some twenty or

thirty followed the example and for ought I know, there was not

a dirk or dirk-knife in the possession of the bystanders that was
not committed to the deep. The balance of the party precipi-

tately dispersed and Brazoria had peace and quiet for a little sea-

son. I will here remark that no man probably has a greater re-

gard for law and order than myself, and none can more detest and
abhor arbitrary or mob laws as they may be termed, than I do, but

situated as we were at that time, necessity required it, and I am
proud to. say, with but few exceptions, that when that course has

been resorted to, that it has generally been managed with pru-

dence and discretion.

The government having determined to put the colonists to every

possible test, about this time, sent all the way from the City of
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Mexico, a Priest to reside among us and administer to our neces-

sities. He purported to be a man of great consequence if titles

could make him so, for it took up half a column of a newspaper to

contain them all, such as minister plenipotentiary, vicar G-eneral,

. . . He was an Irishman by birth, and had frequently licked

the blarny stone before he left the emerald Isle, he wore a wig,

or was white headed from age—grave gentlemanly and prepossess-

ing in his appearance and manners at first interview, but proved

to be as vain vulgar and very a scamp as ever disgraced the colony

. Thus much I can say for the venerable Padra whose

province it was to redeem the colonists from Herecy and infidelity,

and make them true Christians. His sage appearance and seem-

ingly good manners caused him to be kindly received by the colo-

nists, as a kind of necessary evil, which they could not well avoid.

Every courtesy and attention was paid to him, and for a time, him

and his parishioners got on very well together, he never troubled

them with church service, but confined his duties to baptism and

marriage ceremonies. This was a snug little money-making busi-

ness, two dollars for baptism and twenty five for marriage, wlien

it is recollected that all both old and young were subjects for bap-

tism, and all who wished to marry as well also as tho.je who ]iad

been bonded for years, had now to come forward and have the slip-

[k]not made fast, he immediately issued his edict forbidding pro-

visional marriages, which rendered it very inconvenient to the

people, who lived scattered over a district of country several hun-

dred miles in extent. They however, paid very little attention to

his edict except those immediately in his vicinity. It realy looked

dry and peculiarly odd to me to see those who had for years been

living together as man and wife, and had perhaps a large family

step forward to the marriage alter. It seemed to carry with it a

kind of aclcnowledgement of both, error and crime. Immediately

after his arrival a number of these old married people determined

to save trouble by having one grand wedding and give the Padra

an opportunity do a whole sale business. They accordingly fixed

on a convenient point and an arrangement made with the Padra to

meet them there at a time fixed. Every preparation was made

and a splendid barbecu prepared, with all the necessary exhilerat-

ing libations abundantly provided, so as to make it a day of rural
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felicity. I had taken it upon myself to attend to the reception and

comfort of the Padra and suit, and accordingly had a snug little

house fitted up for his reception, at a convenient distance from the

main crowd and bustle. The bed was comfortable and tastefully

caparisoned—the table groaned with its weight of the abundant

luxuries of the country tastefully arranged with a pyramid of the

most transparent and luscious honey comb in the centre. The day

was fine and every countenance seemed to brighten with the pros-

pect of the anticipated enjojmient, not for the pleasure of being, or

seeing, the old people married over again entirely, but the baptism,

the wine—the dinner, the dance and with many, the sight of a

Eoman Catholic Priest was equal to a rare show in Texas—a thing

of which they had long heard, but never seen—and realy with some,

having heard much said about them, they were at a loss to con-

jecture whether the Priest could be a natural man, or some kind

of a beast. Expectation was on tiptoe—the Padra arrived and

was conducted to his mansion, and it was soon discovered, that he

looked like a man, and talked like a man, and finally concluded that

he was nothing but a common man—and an Irishman at that.

The Padra seemed to be well pleased with the provision made for

his comfort passed many encomiums on the taste displayed and

seemed much surprised to tind so many of the real luxuries of life

in the wilds of Texas. So soon as he had become rested and taken

the necessary refreshments with a few glasses of generous wine, I

was called on, being generally acquainted with the people, to act as

a kind of precurser, and requested to go and take down the names

of the candidates for matrimony, in order that the necessary certifi-

cates be prepared and in readiness. This I complied with and

returned with a muster roll of twelve rank and file, no new candi-

dates having offered. While these things were in preparation I

was requested to return and make out a roll of the names of all the

candidates for baptism, now the test was to be made, though no

religious societies were tolerated in Texas, yet prejudices deep rooted

by early education rose up in strong opposition, and with many
the idea of being baptised by a Eoman Catholic Priest carried

with it an everlasting stigma and disgrace. I applied to those who
seemed the elders among the people, and I found very few with-

out some kind of excuse, either that they had been baptised when
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they were young, or that they had belonged to some religious order

before they came to the country and that they by no means

considered a second baptism necessary, as such I met with

jDOor success and immediately returned and made my report I

told the Padra that fortunately for the good people of Texas they

had generally emmigi^ated from Christian countries and had many

of them, been baptised before they came here, and some had re-

ligious scruples respecting the propriety of a second baptism. I

never had been baptised myself and as such was a willing candi-

date because necessity required it, but was anxious to draw him

out on that point. He requested me to go and tell his good parish-

ioners, that tliey need have no scruples on that account, that he

did not consider a second baptism necessary provided they had

evidences that they had been baptised in the true faith. Well

Padra there are so many different faiths now in the world I am

entirely at a loss to know which is the true faith? You will ex-

cuse me for the enquiry, what do you call the true faith ? the true

faith is the Eoman Catholic Apostolic, all other is herecy.

I returned to the company with my explanations, still there

seemed to be great unwillingness, with much exertion and argu-

ment as to the absolute necessity; but with very many, the pill

could not be so gilded as to be tamely swallowed, and I only suc-

ceeded in procuring a list of about forty, out of a company of per-

haps two liundred. I reported my list, and told the Padra that I

had proljably enrolled as many as he could conveniently get through

with that evening, and the balance would have to wait another

opportunity. I did not wish to let him know that any persisted in

refusing after being informed that if they had previously been

baptised that he would baptise them conditionally. Everything

now being arranged, I Avas requested to muster my forces. I im-

mediately issued orders for a general parade. During this time

however, the brides and grooms being used to married life, did not

feel that intense interest that is common for young expectants and

they had become scattered and separated so that it was with much

difficulty they could be paired, and a complete burly burly com-

menced, have you seen any thing of my wife ? have you seen any

thing of Jim ? I cant find him. I cant tell what in the plague has

become of him. have you seen any thing of Polly I cant find her
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to save my life, all was hurry scurry and one hour at least was

spent before they were ready to fall into line, and even then one

poor woman had to march without her husband, for find him she

could not. I comforted her however, by telling her she should not

be disappointed, that if he did not come in time she should cer-

tainly have another. They were marched up in solid column and

formed a hollow square around the Priests table. The delinquent

had not been found though many were in search of him.

The ceremony now to be performed was by a Catholic Priest

. . . something new in Texas, eyes, years [ears] and mouths

were all open, the baptism commenced first, as heretics could not

be lawfully joined in matrimony until they were baptised in the

true faith. Next commenced a kind of liturgy—that finished, the

marriage ceremonj^, which was short and a mere conjoining in

lawful wedlock closed the scene. They had all been conjoined but

one couple and the lone woman, when her husband made his ap-

pearance quite out of breath, his hair flying his eyes walling with

a wild and frighted look. He did not know how much harm he

had done nor realy what it all meant, for he had been raised with

hue and cry and told to hurry, or the Priest would take his wife

from him. Tlie scene take it all in all, was truly ludicrous in the

extreme. Most of them had children and some five or six. To
see brides on the floor, and while the marriage rites are perform-

ing, with the bosoms open and little children sucking at the breast,

and others in a situation realy too delicate to mention, appeared to

me more like a burlesque on marriage than a marriage in fact.

It was a fine scene for a painter and afforded much for amusement,
and much for serious and sober reflection.

The reign of the Padry among us was however, a short one, and
his conduct soon brought him into contempt ... I know not

whether he was a fair sample of the Priesthood of that order, and
as such would not be understood as aiming to cast reflections on
any but himself. .

The military had now become pretty strongly fortified in their

various Garrisons, and began to shew us their true intentions by
making us feel their power. The civil arm was paralized, our cit-

izens incarcerated for slight and trivial offences, and trial by the

civil authorities refused. This state of things could not long be
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borne by those who considered themselves freemen. The com-

mandant of the post of Anahuac had by his arbitrary and unprin-

cipled conduct become odious to the colonists, and the reduction of

that post was first contemplated. Public meetings were got up,

committees appointed and resolutions adopted with patriotic ad-

dress [es] circulated calling for volunteers to rally and release from

arbitrary confinement their fellow citizens and redress their public

wrongs. It was not long until from four to five hundred volunteers

were concentrated on the plains of Anauhuac. A demand was

made for the release of the prisoners and a conference was had and

a treaty entered into. The stipulations were formally drawn up

and signed, and on the faith of which many of the volunteers had

returned to their homes. As soon as this was ascertained, the

Mexicans, as they are very capable of doing, committed a breach of

faith and the treaty went for nothing. This greatly exasperated

the volunteers and runners was despatched to the various parts of

the country to recruit, and also to procure some small pieces of

artillery which were at Brazoria. There happened to be a fine

American Schooner in the Eiver at that time. She was immedi-

ately pressed to take the Guns ammunition etc to Anauhuac.^

It will be recollected that there was a strong fortress at the

mouth of the river Brazos [Velasco] garrisoned by about one

hundred and fifty men, well armed and provisioned with one long

brass nine mounted on a carriage and one iron four pounder on a

pivot. This fortress had to be passed, and whether the command-

ant would permit the vessel to pass out was questionable. The cit-

izens, and the officer of that garrison were at a good understand-

ing, but he was subordinate to the commandant of Anauhuac. A

public meeting of the citizens was called and a consultation had. I

urged the reduction of that place first, and to take it by surprise.

This however was opposed and a committee sent to see if permi-

tion could be had for the vessel to pass out, but as might have been

expected, permition was refused. I then urged the immediate re-

duction of that post, and a committee was raised to take the matter

into consideration and recommend to the meeting what course

should be pursued. The committee met in consultation, of which

'For an account of the disturbances at Analiuac, see The Quaeterly,

VI, 2G5-299. •
:

'
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I was one, and still eontiaued to urge the propriet}' and necessitj^

of reduemg the fort at Telaseo, hy strategem if possible, or other-

wise by storm, and with much pursuasion and argument a majority

of the committee eoneured with me in opinion, and we so reported.

This was now evening and 10 oclock the next morning was the time

appointed to rendezvons on the east side of the rirer armed and

equipped for the contest. At the time appointed about one him-

dred men and boys were assembled with such outfit as the short-

ness of the time would permit them to procure. Officers were

elected and the line of march immediately taken up for Velasco.

We arrived in sight by 10 oclock the next morning and encamped

on the river about two miles above the fort where we were well

sheltered by an intervening point of timber. Here we had to re-

main several days to make the necessary preparation for a storm,

as we found the garrison was advised of our approach and designs,

and the commandant being an energetic and efficient officer could

not be taken by surprise. The vessel which had been procured

was now intended to cooperate with us in the attack. She was

mounted with four six pound carronades and one swivel. But

few round shot could be procured, and balls were made of draw-

ing chains wound up to suit the caliber, and slugs cut of square

bar iron and junk bottles filled with buck shot. This was the best

preparation that could be made to storm a fort in which a breach

could not have been made by the heaviest mettle. The men on

board was protected b}^ a breastwork of cotton bales During the

time our vessel was getting in readiness, we had prepared a kind

of breast work for the land forces which was made of c}^ress planlv

ten or twelve feet in length nailed on battons to the widths of about

four feet which were to be set up with props. During this time

scouts were ranging every night to surprise their picket, but none

could ever be found and as such the fort was closely reconoitered

every night, and such observations made as circumstances would

permit. The enemy during this time were not idle. Every vigi-

lance was used to strengthen their works and secure provisions.

All things being in readiness the plan of attack was agreed to. The

vessel was to be furnished with a sufficient number of men to man-

age her guns. She was to drop down the river and moor herself

at a certain designated point, distant from the fort one hundred
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and sixty yards. From our place of encarapment it was much

further by water to the fort than by land. The vessel was to drop

down to a certain point and there await a signal. We had also a

keel boat, on board of which was put our palisadoes, spades, hoes

axes etc. One company consisting of about twenty men was or-

dered to strike the Gulf east of the fort and follow the beach

down to a certain point, and lodge themselves in the drift logs,

within about one hundred and fifty yards of the fort, and bring

on the attack by opening a fire on the foi't at a given hour. It will

be recollected that we had a bayou, called east union, to cross

wMch was within about half a mile of the fort—was a deep and

muddy tide water bayou across which a bridge had been thrown

previously, but the Mexicans had anticipated us, and removed the

planks, though they had not time to get away the sleepers, which

however, were narrow and full of long iron spikes, which rendered

a passage on them not only tedious but dangerous. We well knew

they had the bearing of that bridge and if they could only find us

out in crossing, that we must suffer severely from the effects of

their nine pounder, but this we were obliged to hazard. The bal-

ance of the men were divided into two companies. One a select

band of about twenty whose duty it was to act as pioneers to march

in front and afford protection to the others who bore the palisadoes

and other implements, and to serve as a breast-work to them, and

protect them from any sally that might be made from the fort

until the breast-work was planted and the ditch made, and then to

take shelter behind it. This select band I had the honor to com-

mand, and Captain John Austin took command of the other. So

that the land forces were divided into three companies, but with a

view that all would ultimately cooperate at the breast-work so soon

as it could be planted. It was believed that the company sent round

to the east to bring on the action would employ the attention of the

Garrison until the vessel could drop down to her moorings and

then she was to open her battery, and under the two fires it was

presumed that the palisades could be planted and the breast-work

made and remain unobserved until daylight, when every shot would

tell, and if they would not then surrender that a sufficient number

would jump into the ditch, which siiirounded the fort, with spades

hoes axes etc and cut their way thrugh while the remainder af-
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forded tliem protection from the breast-work. This was the con-

templated plan of attack, and every thing ordered and prepared

accordingly. All things in readiness we took np the line of march

about eight oeloek at night, and reached the bayon and their

awaited the arrival of the vessel. The wind being high and con-

trary she conld not get down so we were compelled to return to our

encampment which took up very nearly the whole night. The
next night however, was a calm clear star light night, and the

second attempt was made with success. The company ordered to

bring on the action marched in front and crossed the bridge first

and continued on to their destination, the balance crossed over and

obliqued to the left halted and lay down on the grass awaiting the

time for further action. Our vessel presently rounded the point

and hove in sight, all was yet as still as the grave, as soon however

as she had cleared the point so as to be discovered from the fort,

it was ascertained that the enemy was not asleep, they let off their

nine pounder and threw a double headed shot through her rigging,

but she sustained no injury. We were lying directly in a range

between the fort and vessel and the shot passed immediately over

our heads. The stillness of the night, the ilash and report of the

gun, and the peculiar noise of the ball, caused thoughts to hurry

through the mind, the pulse to vibrate and the blood with an un-

usual flow to thrill briskly through the veins. This was the sig-

nal, not only that there was an enemy there, but that he would

fight. It was not long however, before our own company opened

a full volley on the fort. Issue was now joined and the battle

commenced. The tide was setting out and the vessel soon got to

her moorings and opened her battery also. The sight was truly

sublime and the effect thrilling. The fort was a complete circle

enclosing but a small area^ so that it was full and completely

manned. The nine pounder was planted on an elevation in the

center of [or] perhaps, ten feet above the musquetry. As soon as

our company opened on the fort it seemed to ig-nite instantaneously

and flame like a volcano. And from that time until the battle

ended, the fort seemed to emit one continued blaze of fire—directed

to all points. They had burned all the houses but two, one was

^For a description of tlie fort at Velaseo, see The Quaeteely, I, 282-284.
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used as a custom house, and the other a small office, everything

else had been burned and the whole coast was cleared for action.

Our keel boat has quietly slipped down under cover of the bank

and lodged in behind the custom house, to which point we were

immediately ordered to repair. It may well be supposed from

their mode of firing that the bullets were cutting the air in every

direction. We had however by this time learned one thing, and

that was in some measure to escape the shot of the nine pounder.

She was so much elevated above the musquetry that we could all-

ways distinguish her flash and immediately fall flat to the ground

until she fired and then up and on again—by this means we fre-

quently saved ourselves from destruction. Captain Austins com-

]nand took shelter behind the custom house in order to prepare

for carriage the things necessary for the breast-work, and my own

command halted some fifty yards to the left in the open plain all

lying close to the ground and waiting tbe movements of the other

company. So soon as I found them in motion I immediately took

up the line of march direct for the fort with a brisk step, and

marched in front of the other company. We were then within one

hundred and fifty yards of the fort. Captain Austin had from some

unfortunate neglect put his company in motion too soon and was

compelled to call a halt and at the same time halted very nearly all

of my company without my knowledge. Never having looked back

from the time I took up the line of march I did not know what

had happened, until I halted within a few feet of the ditch, where

I expected to form the line, when to my surprise I foimd I had

but five men, what had happened I could not tell, 1 stooped low

to get tlie light of the Gulf and river but could see nothing in

motion. I concluded that they had received a destructive fire and

were killed and dispersed. The fire during all this time was tremen-

duous, and the place I occupied was tndy a warm one, and [my

men being] too few in number to efi'ect any thing I retreated back

to the keel boat where I soon found out what was the matter, had

some little altercation about it, but proceeded to rejoin the com-

pany took up the line of march under a tremenduous heavy fire,

and without sustaining the slightest injury planted the palisades

within thirty paces of the fort so t? at their nine pormder could not

be depressed enough to bear upon us, but [we] were compelled to

stand the four poimder and musquetry. It was understood that
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we were not to fire a gun until dayliglat unless a sally from the

fort compelled it, but unfortunately for us, before we had time
to brace the palisades one of our men from being too highly ex-

cited fired his gun which notified the garrison of our presence and
they threw in one of the most destructive fires upon us that can
be imagined. The unfortunate man who fired his gun immedi-
ately fell, with many others. We soon found that our breast-work
without a ditch and embankment afforded little or no protection.

Every exertion was used in tlir-owing up sand by one part while
the others were fighting, and we finally succeeded in getting our
situation a little more secure. Our company who brought on the

action did not come to our assistance as was expected. And what
we had suffered from desertions, deaths, and in wounded rendered
our number of effective men contemptible in numbers by the time
day light appeared, but the little band could not be discouraged,

though greatly fatigued and exhausted, as they had then been two
nights without sleep and a long time without water or any sort of

refreshment. After day appeared a Mexican dare not shew even
his eye or it was [k] nocked out if only a finger it was shot off,

and even the hair of the head would be shaved, tmtil they became
alarmed at our perseverance and determination and their battery

was very nearly silenced. The morning was lowry and about eight

oclock there came on such a heavy storm of wind and rain as is

seldom to be met with and we were literally drownded out and
compelled to retreat without sustaining however any injury.

Most of the effective men took shelter on the vessel and all the

wounded that were able made tlieir way to the camp, of which
number I was one, though not very serious, and but few at the

breast-work that escaped entirely except those who fled at the onset.

Immediately after the storm had subsided, the white flag was seen

flying at the fort which led to a capitulation and surrender and a

treaty [was] entered into, and on the next day they marched out
and gave us possession and they had permition to leave the coun-
try, which was all we wanted.

The Garrison lost thirty two killed and a great manr vvounded.

We lost seven killed in battle and three more who soon died of

their wounds, some badly woundeu and a great many slightly. Our
company located in the drift [had] done the enemy no injury nor
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did they receive any. Our vessel [had] done the enemy no injury

but had one man killed and one wounded.

Our breast-v?ork was riddled literally to pieces and it would

seem impossible that a man could possibly escape death who was

behind it. Take this battle all together, . and History in the most

chivalrous times cannot equal it—the number engaged, the hurry

in which they were called, totally undiciplined, badly armed, and

under a heavy fire to march up cooly and deliberately within

thirty paces of a strong fortress of disciplined troop& well armed

and very nearly double their numbers, with a determination to

succeed, realy seems to savor more of wreckless hardihood than of

true courage^

So soon as it was ascertained that the fort of A^elasco was re-

duced the commandant of Anauhuae deserted his post at night and

fled for New Orleans and the Garrison surrendered. The people

of the vicinity of Nacogdoches raised in arms and reduced that

post, and finally the troops were glad to get out of the country

and the old Padra with them. Texas was now cleared of custom-

house officers, the military and Priesthood and we then had peace

for a little season. Much might be said here of the acts of our

famous Ayuntamiento of San Felipe about that time, how strongly

they opposed us, and called us rebels, called on the militia to put

ns down etc all of which should be matters of History, but in as

much as they could effect nothing, and their acts not very credit-

able to themselves, I hope they may be forgotten and for ever

buried in oblivion. It will be recollected that at this time Busta-

'

menta [Bustamante] was in power in Mexico and had abandoned

the constitution and was aiming to establish a central or military

Government and Santa Ana was in opposition to him and batling

for the constitution. We had declared in favor of Santa Ana, not

that we had any choice in names for we had no more confidence

in one Mexican than another, but we had been sworn to support

the constitution and were willing to redeem our pledge, the fact

is we were determined to protect ourselves from insult and injury.

We could not be called rebels, because we were battling for our own

constitution and too, imder the Mexican flag which we had nailed

^Accounts of the battle of Velasco have appeared in The Quarterly,

IV, 36-39; VI, 288-292.
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fast to the mast head, with Coiistitntion in large capitals marked
upon it, so that it could not be mistaken. Proper representations
having been made to the Government, things went on smoothly for
a time, the Government found that though we were young and
feeble, still we would not easily submit to imposition and abuse
how specious soever might be the pretexts. Our remonstrances,
though courteous and respectful, were bold manly and spirited,'

and calculated from our bold and dignified manner, to show to the
Mexican ISTation, that our constitutional and vested rights should
not be infringed with impunity and that if we were not respected
by them, that we at least respected ourselves as freemen
The Congress of the State of Coahuila and Texas had now

divided the country west of the Trinity into two Jurisdictions and
Brazoria was made the capital of the lower one, and in [18] 33 I
was elected the Alcalde for that Jurisdiction. This was an office of
high trust and responsibility, and rendered more particularly so
owing to our great distance from the seat of Government of the
state which was then located at Monclova and the Political Chief
for the Department of Texas was located at the Town of San An-
tonio de Bexar. The Jurisdiction over which I was elected to pre-
side was a commercial one, and business of great importance and
involving large amounts were daily to be adjudicated and settled.

The entire want of laws and precedents, rendered the discharge
of the duties of that office one of ardent solicitude. I feel proud
however to say that my administration, though one of arduous
labor and solicitude, received from my fellow citizens that ascent
of universal approbation, which is ever grateful to the feelings of
a man who felt the responsibilities of the trust reposed and dis-

charged his incumbent duties with an honest zeal commensurate
with his abilities

I will remark here that immediately after Texas was rid of the
military and before the excitement had entirely subsided, Texas
considering herself as possessing all the prerequisites required by
the Federal Constitution to form a state Government, had deter-
mined to be separated from Coahuila, who had ever treated the
colonies like a stepmother, and form a separate state Government,
Primary meetings were called committees raised and a convention
of all Texas met at San Felipe and framed a constitution. I was
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elected a member to that convention but owing to indisposition

did not attend. The Government was ably and respectfully me-

morialized and petitioned on the subject and an agent despatched

to Mexico to procure a ratification. He was thrown into a dun-

geon and our memorial treated with contempt. These efforts on

the part of the colonies had caused our own state Congress to

treat us with a little more attention and some laws were passed for

our benefit. Texas heretofore composed but one Department, and

it was now divided into three as follows—the Department of

Bexar, [of] Brazos and [of] Nacogdoches each to be presided by

a Political Chief, and in addition to the Alcaldes we were allowed

primary judges in the several jurisdictions and also a superior

judge possessing appellate jurisdiction. By his Excellency the

then acting Grovernor of the State I was commissioned the Polit-

ical Chief for the Department of Brazos. This was the highest

trust that could be conferred on an adopted citizen by the Con-

stitution, and one that I had neither sought nor anticipated. I

entered on the duties of that office in the fall of the year [18] 34.

During all this time emmigration continued to flow in rapidly

and the cupidity of land speculators to increase in an equal ratio.

The name of Empresario had long since incorporated itself with

that of swindler, and every thing connected with tlie settlement of

the country seemed to be objects of barter and sale and speculation.

I had allways been viewed by tlie speculating mania as their evil

genius, and as being ever in opposition to their swindling inter-

ests. They were now strong, united, unprincipled and managing,

ruled elections and had all appointments made to suit, and be sub-

servient to their own purposes. The office I then occupied was a

kind of intermediate one, everything to and from the Government

had to pass through my hands and in a great measure suljject to

my controll, hence it was necessary that they should use their com-

bined efforts to remove me and have my place filled »vith a ma-

terial which would yield more readily to their purposes as they

had then in contemplation large and important speculations. Coa-

huila had now become divided herself, the cities of Saltilo and

Monclova were contending for power and each had their own Gov-

ernor, and all was confusion. It will be recollected that Santa

Ana by this time had succeed[ed] and put down and banished
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Bustamenta [Bustamarite] and instead of restoring the constitu-

tion had determined on centralism. Saltilo had declared in favor

of the plan and Monclova opposed or rather waived a declaration.

The State Congress sat at Monclova in the spring and the land

speculators taking advantage of the confusion went on prepared to

buy up the Congress to sell them land and pass such laws as they

might dictate all of which they effected without any great cost or

trouble/ for money will do any thing with a Mexican, . . .

These things greatly incensed the Saltilians who had got no share

of the booty and they determined to put down the Governor who

had shared some of the benefit, and united with a few military

troops they compelled him to desert the Capitol. All was then

entire confusion—the Ayuntamiento was immediately convened

and with all the pomp and parade imaginable declared the Execu-

tive chair vacant, and immediately proceeded, in conjunction with

a few military officers and a few bystanders, in all about fourteen

in number, to elect a new Governor for the State, and the individ-

ual elected was a military officer who was formally conducted to

the Executive chair under the ringing of bells and the roar of

artillery. The State of Coahuila and Texas then had one consti-

tutional Governor one military Governor and one factional Gov-

ernor all however resident in Coahuila. This really seemed like

confounding confusion itself.

The constitutional Governor being removed I ceased my corre-

spondence with the Executive Department until it again seemed

to be organized Constitutionally. About this time I wrote a piece

called Security for Texas which T herewith transmit marked A.^

It was hastily drawn up and thrown before the people under the

then reigning anarchy and confusion. I would remark here that

the convention had created a Central Committee at San Eelipe

and Sub Committees in every jurisdiction as a means of dissemi-

nating information on any emergency as we were much scattered

and had no mails. When this piece was thrown into circulation

the Central Committee met in San Eelipe, which however had un-

dergone many changes in its members since its first creation, oweing

^For an account of this land speculation, see The Quarterly, X, 76-95.

'Dated October 20, 1834, and printed in Brown, lAfe and Times of Eem-y
Smith, 30-44. -
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t(i deaths removals etc and at that time were in a great measure

subservient to the views of the speculating party, and as such they

made strong opposition to my publication in one of their own
which they circulated throughout the country, and which I here-

witJi transmit marked I immediately replied to them in an-

other communication which you will find marked which piece

they never answered. The truth was the speculators had not com-

pleted their business and they were determined that Texas should

make no move until their objects were completed. The General

Government not being sufficiently settled down on the new plan

and wishing to keep the colonies lulled, the President usurped the

power and ordered a new election for Governor and that the mil-

itary Governor should hold his seat until the Governor elect should

be installed. The speculating mania were in waiting to get the

new Governor to confirm and complete their unfinished business.

The military were not however pleased with the choice of new

Governor and determined to oppose him. The Congress was in

session and had appointed a Governor ad interim until the new

one could be installed the roads were guarded by the military to

prevent his approach to the Capitol. They finally succeeded in

getting him there by stratagem but his reign was a very short one.

the speculators endeavored to get him into Texas in order that

their business could be completed. The Congress was dispersed

the Governor overtaken and sent a prisoner to a foreign Calaboose,

and the speculators scampered for life and fled into the colonies.

About this time communications were received from an anonymous

writer in the City of Mexico signed 0. P. Q. informing us that

mischief was planned against us by Santa Ana, and that Col. Al-

monte would soon be among us for the special purpose of spying

out the country preparatory to operations against us, and strongly

recommended to us to detain him as a prisoner.

We soon found that 0. P. Q. had not deceived us, Almonty ar-

rived in Texas as we had been advised. He was however received

and treated with every courtesy—had seen the correspondence of

0. P. Q. but disavowed the charge, and the balance of his history

you Imow from personal observation.

^Printed in Edward, History of Texas, 225-231.

^'Printed in The Texas Republican (Brazoria), December 13, 1834.



Reminiscences of Henry Smith. 49

All Government had now ceased, and Texas was like a vessel on
the rolling billows without compass or helm, and anarchy and eon-

fusion reigned without controll. The speculating party were anx-

ious to raise troops and rally to the rescue of the Governor and bring

him into Texas. In this however they were opposed for it was easy

to fatliom their motives The inhabitants were so scattered and the

means of disseminating information so limited that it was very

> difficult for U.S to act in unison on any general principle. The
Government had previously sent one company of troops which were
stationed at the post of Anauhuac. Col. Ti-avis having been once

maltreated at that Garrison raised a small company of volunteers

in the neighborhood and took them prisoners without opposition^.

This seemed to have been done without consultation and was by
many disapproved. Genl. Cos was at this time recruiting an army
at Mata'moris, and at the same time endeavoring to lull the colonies

into security by his deceitful publications and was greatly incensed

at the reduction of Anauhuac and demanded the ringleaders in

the matter to be given up. The act had been disapproved by many
and excitement run very high. Myself with a number of others in

the lower jurisdiction had determined to sustain the act, and if

possible get up a convention. A public meeting was called a com-
1
mittee appointed resolutions adopted and again by designing per-

sons defeated and many efforts were made before we could get the

people united on any thing definitively, and only by dint of indefat-

igable perseverance could we succeed.^ We had allready called one

convention which proved abortive and the people seemed to dread

the name. I therefore substituted what seemed to them a softer

term which I have ever since regretted and that was Consultation

in the room of Convention. Confusion jealousy and prejudices

prevailed to a great extent and it was very difficult to get any
thing done. We however continued our imceasing perseverance

and raised a committee of fifteen persons entered up resolutions

and drew up a patriotic and spirited address calling on our fel-

low citizens to send representatives to meet us in general consul-

'For an account of Travis' capture of Anahuae, see The Quarterly,
II, 22-26. and IV, 199-202.

=For an account of the eflforts to call a convention, see Publications of
the Southern History Association, V, 464-474.
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tation at a point and time designated.^ To not be disappointed

we despatched at our own expense confidential agents to every

jurisdiction in Texas, and our plan was concurred in by all of the

jurisdictions. During this time Genl. Cos had entered Texas with

his army and taken post at Bexar, and before the consultation met
we had an army in the field and Bexar was besieged. The con-

sultation met passed many decrees necessary to the sustentation

of the arm}^—closed the land offices, which had become corrupt,

decreed that a Convention should be called with powers to form

a constitution, and created a provisional Government to act in the

interim in conformity with the organic law which was adopted.

I was elected Governor of the provisional Government. There

was also a Lieutenant Governor and a Legislative Council, and
Genl. Sam Houston was at the same time elected commander in

chief of the army. The reduction of Goliad and Bexar and the

circumstances connected with it are known to you and need not

be recited.

The provisional Government went on harmoniously until the

Mexican troops were driven out of Texas.

The speculating faction found me as their evil genius still in

their way, and things had now become sufficiently quiet for them to

commence their operations in some way or other, and allways in

the habit of controlling the authorities to suit their purposes, and
having bribed the congress the year before, determined to controll

the provisional Government to suit their own unprincipled and
corrupt purposes. They had conspired against the commander in

chief and determined to have the army headed by a man to suit

their own purposes. There was nothing of patriotism in the wa)^,

it was all sordid self interest. They had collected themselves into

a mob, that is, their minions, subs, and understrappers, and threat-

ened to mob the Council, until by degi'ees the members vacated

their seats until they had not a lawful quorum, this was what
they wanted a bare quorum and no more, they had no wish to

break up the Council entirely, for they wanted to use them. There
was unfortunately but few practical men at that time in the body,

The resolutions and address are printed in Publications of the Southern
History Association, VII, 200-206.



Reminiscences of Henry Smith. 51

and they from a natural predisposition were easily corrupted^
Whether they had received a bribe in money or vain promises I

am not advised, but that they had become basely corrupt I have no
doubt, for I had many and strong proofs of the fact It is not

necessary to say here what their objects were. I could allways

anticipate and often defeated them, before they were matured.
They had now concentrated their strong forces about the Council,

the business [being] all done by the lobby members, exceptions

taken by me amounted to nothing, the power was concentrated

against me and my office was but nominal. They were attempt-
ing to swindle the Government out of two or three hundred thou-

sand dollars by false commissions, with many other base and im-
reasonable acts. They were determined to have controll of the

army and passed an ordina[n]ce centering unlimited power on
one individual as a general army agent and commissioned another
to the command. The general agent was to have also the controll

of the Navy and in fact, of the whole Government. I well knew
as an officer I would be screened from censure by taking honest
exceptions to these measures, but I was as well assured that I

would be over ruled, and the country situated as it then was, would
be greatly injured. I therefore determined to strike at the root

of all the evil at once, and either dissolve the Council, or paralize

them until the convention would meet. I was influenced to this,

from the most pure and patriotic motives, as I had no interests to

subserve other than what I deemed to be, the true interests of

the country. Their conduct had been bad, and could not be jus-

tified or paliated, and I accordingly sent them one of the most
severe and cutting communications" that was perhaps, ever ad-

dressed to a deliberative body. This communication was put under
a sealed envelope and addressed to a secret session, with a polite

note to their president informing him that the enveloped commu-
nication was intended for a secret session, and to call one for that

purpose. I am proud however to say, that there were but three

^In connection with the following: remarks about the General Council
should be read W. Eoy Smith, "The Quarrel between Governor Smith
and the Provisional Government of the Republic," in The Quaeterlt,
V, 269-346; and Brown, Life and Times of Henry Smith.

'Dated January 9, 1836, and printed in Journal of the Proceedings of
the Oewral Council, etc., 290-293.
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members that I at that time, suspected for down right corruption,

but the others not being practical men, were easily led astray. At

the same time I sent in this communication, I served all of the un-

suspected ones with a private note couched in kind and deckerous

[decorous] language informing them what I had done and that

they were not included or aimed at in the commimication. The

faction was deceived, I had detained all their important ordi-

na[n]ces in the Executive office and instead of sending them back

with my objections as they had expected, I sent in this communi-

cation. They discovered that their deep laid plans and favorite

projects were blasted and they became quite infuriated. All they

could then do was to try and break me down, both with the people

and the army. They tore open the seals of secrecy published the

document to the world with a long written tissue of falsehood,

made another Governor, Mexican like, and notified me that I was

removed from office, and then preferred many heavy charges with

a notice that if I did not appear and plead that all would be taken

for confessed etc etc. They endeavored to make as much con-

fusion as possible. It however had very little effect with [the]

public. I published a short communication to the public marked

D^. and am proud to say however great may have been my error,

that both army and people were on my side. The troops stationed

at the post of Bexar became infuriated at the conduct of the Coun-

cil called a meeting and addressed a communication to the new

Governor and Council couched in terms of liold and manly decla-

mation informing them that they would not recognize their author-

ity and concluded by resolutions condemnatory of their proceed-

ings and that they would sustain me with their arms—copies of

which were sent to the new Governor and Council and also en-

closed to me copies addressed to each of the editors of newspapers

which were then published in Texas.^ I however suppressed the

publication, and as they had beged pennition to come to San

Felipe to give me protection as they had understood they were en-

deavoring to organize a mob against me, I was compelled to send

an agent forthwith, to quiet them and prevent their march to the

'Dated January 22, 1836, and printed in Brown, Life and Times of

Henry Smith, 257-264.

'See Appendix I, pp. 55-.58.
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Capitol. Notwithstanding they were using every means in their

power to raise a mob against me, the people in the various sections

of the country had notified nie, that they were ever ready to obey

any call that I might think proper to make on them, and as such

I feared the consequences which might result to the country from

the uncontrolled conduct of an infuriated soldiery. The faction

had done and continued to do every thing in their power against

me, even to personal insult and abuse, and I at the same time using

every means within my power to restrain the people and soldiery

from inflicting upon them, that punishment which their crimes

justly merited. I was well aware of the situation of the country

—

that we were in a state of rude nature a number of vague loose

individuals, tied together by no compact, and that necessity re-

quired the sacrifice of all personal ambition, to the promotion of

the public good. The situation of the country then was truly

critical. Want of union on the part of the general mass was taken

advantage of by the unprincipled speculators who were linked to-

gether for evil purposes. Wliilst men are linked together they

easily and speedily communicate the alarm of any evil design.

They are enabled to fathom it with common counsel, and to op-

pose it with united streng-th. Whereas, when they lie dispersed,,

without concert, or discipline, communication is uncertain, coun-

sel difficult, and resistance impracticable. Where men are not

acquainted with each others principles, nor experienced in each

others talents, nor at all practiced in their mutual habitudes and

dispositions, by joint efforts in business, no personal confidence, no

friendship, no common interest subsisting among them, it is evi-

dently impossible that they can act a public part with uniformity,

perseverance, or efficacy. In a connexion, the most inconsider-

able man, by adding to the weight of the whole, has his value and

his use; out of it, the greatest talents are wholly unserviceable to

the public. Ko man, who is not inflamed by vain glory into en-

thusiasm, can flatter himself that his single, unsupported, desul-

tory, unsystematic endeavors are of power to defeat the subtle de-

signs and united cabals of ambitious and unprincipled factionists.

When bad men combine, the good must associate ; else they will fall,

one by one, an unpitied sacrifice in a contemptible struggle.

It is not enough, in a situation of trust in the commonwealth,
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that a man means well to his country—it is not enough that in his

single person he never did an evil act, but always acted according

to his consicence, and even harangued against every design which

he apprehended to be prejudicial to the interests of his country.

This innoxious and ineffectual character, that seems formed upon

a plan of apology and disculpation, falls miserably short of the

mark of public duty. That duty demands and requires, that what

is right should not only be made known, but made prevalent, that

Mdiat is evil should not only be detected, but defeated. When the

public man omits to put himself in a situation of doing his duty

with effect, it is an omition that frustrates the purposes of his

trust, allmost as much as if he had formally betrayed it. It is

surely no very rational accoimt of a mans life, that he has allways

acted right, but has taken special care to act in such a manner,

that his endeavours could not possibly be productive of any conse-

quence. Where duty renders a critical situation a necessary one,

it is our business, if possible, to keep free from the evils attendant

upon it; and not to fly from the situation itself. I did not, nor

could I, be driven from the situation assigned to me, but kept my
post and redoubled my dilligenee and kept the faction at bay until

the convention met, when I formally entered my protest marked

I will remark here that the Mexican Governor which the

speculators had been so anxious to get on to Texas, and who had

been thrown into a foreign calaboose, had by some means or other

escaped and shortly after my inauguration made his appearance at

San Felipe, with his secretary, confessor, and escorted by a Colonel

and full company of cavalry well equipped. The speculating fac-

tion hailed him as Governor, and they used every means to put

him in possession of the Executive chair. He was notified how-

ever, that notwithstanding he had been the Constitutional Gov-

[erno]r of the State of Coahuila and Texas, that he had been un-

able to sustain himself in the Gubernatorial chair and that he

could not now be recognized as the Govr. of Texas. The party

found they could not succeed and his Excellency retired. Much
might be said on this subject, but it would only serve to disgust

and sicken the mind, at the base and unprincipled conduct of the

'See Appendix II, pp. 58-73.
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parties concerned. From the time that the consultation adjourned,

in the month of November, until the convention met on the first

of March was certainly the most difficult and critical time that

Texas has ever experienced. Many plans were concocted and aimed

at, which if carried into effect, would have proved, not only m-

jurious but ruinous in their effects to the prospects of the country.

I was well aware of all this, and did not pursue, so far as I was

individually concerned, what would be termed a politic, but a

patriotic course, and this the peculiar and critical situation of the

country at that time required. All of the misfortunes which have

befallen us—the massacres of Bexar and Goliad, can be fairly

traced back as having originated from that corrupt source, and

still most of those base scoundrels live and continue to exercise

their baleful influence in the public affairs of the Nation. The

troops at the post of Bexar, particularly, were restive and clamor-

ous, and anxious to have an opportunity to make a public example

of the ring leaders of that unprincipled faction, and only awaited

my assent to do so. I used every possible remonstrance and suc-

ceeded in keeping them quiet and preventing their march to the

Capitol, and this my dear sir I have long since regretted, and con-

sider it as the greatest error of my past life.^

APPENDIX

I

BEXAR BESOLUTIONS^

At a large and respectable meeting of the citicens and soldiers

of this place, held this 26th day of January 1836, to take into con-

sideration the recent movements at San Felipe, J. C. NeilP was

called to the chair, and H. J. Williamson appointed secretary. The

object of the meeting having been stated by the chair, on motion

of Col. J. B. Bonham, a committee of seven was appointed to draft

^The document ends here without signature.

=This document -bears the original signatures of the chairman and sec-

retary of the meeting', hut is" written by some unknown hand. It is

found among the Lamar Papers.

'Commandant of the post of Bexar.



56 Texas Historical Association Quarterly.

a preamble and resolutions for the consideration of the meeting;

whereupon the following were appointed by the chair. :

Chairman of Committee J. B. Bonham.

Jas. Bowie.

G. B. Jameson.

Doctor Pollard.

Jesse Badgett.

J. W. Seguin.

Don Caspar Flores.

Preamble.

Whereas, we have been informed from an undoubted messenger

that the Executive Council and its President, a subordinate and

auxiliary department of the government, have usurped the right

of impeaching the governor, who, (if we would imitate the wise

institutions of the land of Washington) can only be impeached by

a body set forth in the constitution, which constitution must have

been established by the people through their representatives assem-

bled in general convention. Moreover, the said council and its

president, whose powers are defined to aid the governor in fulfill-

ing the measures and objects adopted by the general consultation,

have taken it upon themselves to annul the measures of the said

general consultation. They are about to open the land offices,

Avhich were temporarily closed until a general convention of the

people should take place, thereby opening a door to private specu-

lation, at the expense of the men who are serving their country in

the field. Moreover the said council have improperly used, and

appropriated to their o^vn purposes a I'lA^E HUJSTDEED DOL-

LAE LOAN, from a generous and patriotic citizen of the United

States intended to pay the soldiers in the garrison of Bexar.

Moreover, that private and designing men are, and have been em-

barrassing the governor, the legitimate officer of the government,

by usurping, contrary to all notions of order and good government,

the right of publicly and formally instructing and advising the

governor and the people on political, civil and institutional mat-

ters subject. Moreover, that a particular individual has gone so

far as to issue a proclamation on the state of public affairs, and to

invite volunteers to join him as the commander of the Matamoros

expedition, when that particular individual must have known that
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General Houston the commander in chief of all the land forces in

the service of Texas, has been ordered by the government to take

command of that expedition. This particular individual is also

fully aware, that all officers under the commander in chief are

elected by the volunteers themselves, and that therefore there was

neither room nor necessity for another appointment by the coun-

cil. Still, in the possession of these facts, he has issued his procla-

mation, and continues to aid all those who are embarrassing the

executive. Therefore, be it Eesolved 1st That
we will support his Excellency Governor Smith in his imyielding

and patriotic efforts to fulfill the duties, and to preserve the dig-

nity of his office, while promoting the best interests of the country

and people, against all usurpations and the designs of selfish and

interested individuals.

Eesoked 2nd That all attempts of the president and members
of the executive council, to annul the acts of, or to embarrass the

officers appointed by the general convention, are deemed by this

meeting, as anarchical assumptions of power to which we will not

submit.

Eesolved Srd That we invite a similar expression of sentiment

from the army under Genl Houston, and throughout the country

generally. •

.•
^

Eesolved 4th That the conduct of the president and members
of the Executive Council in relation to the FIVE HUNDEED
DOLLAE LOAN, for the liquidation of the claims of the soldiers

of Bexar, is in the highest degree criminal and unjust. Yet under

treatment however illiberal and ungrateful, we cannot be driven

from the Post of Honor and the sacred cause of freedom.

Eesolved 5th That we do not recognize the illegal appointments
of agents and officers, made by the president and members of the

Executive Council in relation to the Matamoros Expedition; since

their power does not extend further than to take measures and to

make appointments for the public service with the sanction of the

governor.

Eesolved 6th That the Governor Henry Smitlr will please to ac-

cept the gratitude of the army at thi(5 Station, for his firmness in

the execution of his trust, as well as for his patriotic exertions in

our behalf.
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Eesolved 7th That the Editors of the Brazoria Gazette, the Nac-

ogdoches Telegraph, and the San Felipe Telegraph be requested,

and they are hereby requested to publish the
.

proceeding of this

meeting.

Bexar, January 26th 1836

Signed J. C. Neill Prs

[Superscription:] H J Williamson Scty.

Ed. of Brazoria Gazette (or

Texas Eepublican)

Brazoria

Texas

II

PROTEST^

of the Governor of Texas against the recent unconstitutional, or

illegal proceedings of the General Council—

To the honorable the President and members. Representatives of

the free and sovereign people of Texas in General Convention as-

sembled.

Gentlemen.

It appears by the published proceedings of the General Council

of the provisional Govt, of Texas under date of the 11th of January

1836, that a certain article of private correspondence, addressed to

a secret session of that body, from the Executive Department, on

which the following preamble and resolutions has been predicated,

.[has been published] and become of record in the public Journals

of that body ,2 which renders the present appeal necessary from the

Executive Department, over which I have had the honor to pre-

side : Wliich preamble and resolution reads as follows*

'Your special committee to whom was referred the communica-

tion of Governor Smith report. That they are unable to express

This doeiiment is in Oovernor Smith's handwritirio- and bears his

fii^ature at the end. It is undated. In all probahility^it is the copy

cited above as marked E; it bears this endorsement: "Documents pre-

sented by Gov. Smith."

^Printed in Journal of the Proceeding.^ of the General Council, etc.,

290-293.

*im., 294-295.
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any other views to this House, than indignation at language so re-
pulsive to every moral feeling of an honorable man, and astonish-
ment that this community could have been so miserably deceivedm selecting for the high oflfice of Governor a man whose language
and conduct prove his early habits of association to have been
vulgar and depraved, and his present disposition that of a disor-
ganizer and tyrant; that they repel the infamous charges prefered
against this Council, and its members, as false and untrue in
every part, and contemn the style and language as low black-
guardly, and vindictive, and in every way unworthy of and dis-
graceful to tlie officer whence it . emanated, and as an outrageous
libel on the body to whom it is addressed ; and therefore advise the
return of the paper with the following resolutions:

1 Eesolved, that the members of the Genl Council are the im-
mediate representatives of the sovereign people, and are charged
with the safety of the country and amenable only to the people for
the faithful discharge of their duties.

2 Eesolved That each member individually, and as a body
col ectively, will sustain at all hazards, the dignity of this Govt
and the rights of the good citizens of Texas whom they have the
honor to represent.

3. Eesolved that Henry Smith Governor of the Provisional
Government of Texas, be ordered forthwith to cease the functions
of his office, and be held to answer to the Genl. Council upon cer-
tain charges and specifications, prepared against him, agreeably
to the provisions of the 4 section of the Federal Constitution of
Mexico of 1824, and the 11 article of the organic law of the Pro-

TTto^''''^ f Texas as adopted in Convention on the 13 Novr.

I'^'l li""^^ '^Py ^^"^ '^'"^ ^^^^ge^ specifications
be furnished to the Govr. Henry Smith within twenty four hoursirom this time.

f-^ ^'fl^'^
that the secretary of the Executive be forthwith

notified of these resolutions, and that he be held responsible to theGenl Council of the Provisional Government of Texas, for everyand all records, documents and archives of his office
5 Eesolved That the Treasurer, Commanding Genl. foreicm

SnS; of n " other officers of this Govt., be notified of the sus-
pension of Henry Smith, of the powers and functions of Governor

sPml5!/'P''ff^fIf P^*^?^' Texas in Genl. Council as^embled and that they and every of them, hold themselves respec-

6 Eesolved. That a committee be appointed to draft an ad-

reSons'wHcr'^'' Tf '''''^ circumstanc" andreasons which compell their representatives in Genl. Council.
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Signed E. E. Eoyal Chairman and nnanimoiTsly adopted by the

Council, and the address^ signed by Jolm McMuUin as president

pro tern of the Council and ten others as members, two. of whom

were from the same jurisdiction contrary to the organic law, and

one who had received a commission by which he was rendered in-

eligible as a member of the Council by the ordinance in such cases

made and provided, leaving but eight members eligible to the

council, when at the same time it required thirteen to form a

quorum to do business.

Having had the honor, through the voluntary suffrages of the

Texian people, bv their representatives in Convention assembled,

to fill the office of Governor of Texas, during the provisional or-

ganization ; it is clearly evident, as my name is incorporated in

the above resolutions, that the censure they inflict, was intended

and directly aimed at myself. Without notice, unheard and un-

tried, I thus find m.yself charged on the records of the Genl Coun-

cil, and in a form hitherto unknown in the History of Eepublican

Go'vernments with the high crime of violating the laws and con-

stitution of the country. '

It can seldom be necessary for any Department of the Govt,

when assailed in conversation, or debate, or by the strictures of the

press, or of popular assemblies, to step out of its ordinary path,

for the purpose of vindicating its conduct, or of pointing out any

irregularity or injustice in the manner of the attack. But when

the "chief Magistrate is, by one of the co-ordinate branches of

the Government, in its official capacity, in a public manner

and by its recorded sentence, but without precedent, competent

authority, or just cause, declared guilty of a breach of the laws

and constitution, it is due to his station, to public opinion, and to

a proper self respect, that the officer thus denounced should

promptly expose the wrong which has been done.

In the present case moreover, there is even a stronger necessity

for a fair and proper vindication. Even admitting the right of

the Council to impeach, try, and depose the Governor. Their act

in the present case would have been illegal and arbitrary for want

of a constitutional quorum. But it is evident and clear that no

such right exists, or is guaranteed, by the organic law The oath

'Journal of the Proceedings of the General Council, etc, 297-302.
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prescribed, requiring the Governor, as a special duty, so far as in
Mm lies, to protect and keep inviolate the constitution, or organic
law, which would indeed, have resulted from the very nature of his
office, but by expressing it in the official oath, or affirmation, shews
the importance which the framers of that instrument attached to
it by giving it a peculiar solemnity and force. Bound to the per-
formance of this duty by the oath I have taken, by the strongest
obligations of gratitude to the Texian people, and by the ties which
unite my every eartlily interest, with the welfare and prosperity of
my country

;
and perfectly convinced that the publication of the

correspondence, and passage of the resolutions were not only a breach
of faith, but unwarranted and entirely unauthorized by the or-
ganic law, and in many respects repugnant to its provisions, and
subversive of the rights secured by it to other co-ordinate Depart-
ments. I deem it an imperitive duty to maintain the supremacy
of that secred instrument, and the immunities of the Depart-
ment intrusted to my care, by all means consistent with my own
lawful powers, with the rights of others, and with the genius of
Eepublican institutions. To this end I have caused this my solemn
Protest against the aforesaid proceedings to be recorded in the
Executive office, and now tender it to the Honorable the President
and representatives of the people of Texas in General Convention
assembled, with a request that by an act of their body they order it

to be enrolled and entered on the Journals of the General Council
of Texas.

It is alike due to the subject, to the Convention, to the Council,
and to the people of Texas generally, that the views which I have
taken of the proceedings refered to, and which compell me to re-
gard them in the light in which I do, should be exhibited at length,
and with the freedom and firmness which are required by an occur-
rence so peculiar so dangerous and unprecedented.
Under the law creating a provisional Government for Texas,

the powers and functions of the several Departments of the Govt
and their responsibilities for violation or neglect of duty are clearly
defined or result by necessary inference.

The Legislative power, subject to the qualified negative of the
Governor, is vested in the General Council composed of one mem-
ber from each Jurisdiction of Texas requiring two thirds of the
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whole Bnmber elect to form a quorum competent to pass any ordi-

nance or resolution. The Executive power is vested exclusively m

the Governor, except that in the conclusion of treaties and m ap-

pointments to office he is to act with the advice and consent o the

Council, and holding also the commissioning power exclusively 1

deem he has the right to except to appointments made by the Genl

Council holding in all cases a qualified negative on their acts. He

is also made commander in chief of the army and Navy. The

Judicial branch of the Govt, under f'^-^VvT^rl^Smv
Lation is but nominal. The Commander m Chief of the army

having originated from the same source, with some qualifications,

forms a coordinate branch also of the provisional Govt. And as

it respects the impeachment of the Govr. under the existing organ-

ization, I consider the General Council as possessmg the accusatory

power by preferring specifications and charges, and the representa-

tivrofthe peopleVconvention assembled, the legitimate triei-s.

But although for the special purposes which have
"^^f^^'f^^^^

there is an occasional intermixture of the powers of the different

Departments, yet with these exceptions, each of the three Depaii>

ments is independent of the others in its sphere of action and

when it deviates from that sphere, is not responsible to the others,

further than it is expressly made so by the Constitution, or organic

law In every other respect each of them is the coequal o the

other two, and all are the servants of the Texian people, without

power or fight to control or censure each other in the service of

the'r common superior, save only in the manner and to the degree

which that superior has prescribed.

The responsibilities of the Governor are numerous and weighty.

He is liable to impeachment for high crimes and misdemeanors,

and on due conviction subject to removal from office, and perpe -

ual disqualification; for as the law now stands his P-^^Bhmen

not clearly defined, and must be drawn from mierence or subject

alone to the decision of his triers. And notwithstanding such con-

eviction, he may be endicted and punished accordmg to law. ^He

is also liable to the private action of any party who may have been

iniured by liis illegal mandates or instructions, in the same man-

ner and to the same extent as the humblest functionary. In ad-

dition to the responsibilities which may thus be enforced by im-
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peachment, criminal prosecution, or suit at law, he is also account-

able at the bar of public opinion, for every act of his administra-

tion. Subject only to the restraints of Truth and Justice; the

free people of Texas have the undoubted right, as individuals, or

collectively, orally, or in writing, at such times and in such lan-

guage and form, as they may think proper, to discuss his official con-

duct, and to express and promulgate their opinions concerning it.

These are considered and believed to be the proper and only modes,

in which the Governor of the Provisional Govt, of Texas, is to be

held accountable for his official conduct.

Tested by these principles, the resolutions of the Council are

wholly unauthorised by the organic law, and in derrogation of its

entire spirit. They assume that the Council as a Department of

the Government may for the purposes of a public censure, create

excitement and breed disorganization and confusion for the pur-

poses of promoting vile injurious and vindictive party strife, and

promoting the injurious and unlawful views of individuals, to the

manifest injury of the public good. And by passing such public

censure, and by such unlawful injurious and disorganizing pro-

ceeding, vainly attempting to cover their own faithless and fraudu-

lent acts as will abundantly appear in certain specifications and

charges prefered against various members of that body, but by far

too prolix to be incorporated in this instrument. And as it will

evidently appear on a refference to the organic law that the Gov-

ernor is subject to no such responsibility; and in no part of that

instrument is any such power conferred on the Genl. Council.

The justice of these conclusions will be illustrated and confirmed

by a brief analysis of the powers of the Council, and a comparison

of their recent proceeding.s with those powers.

The functions assigned by the organic law to the Council are

in their nature either Legislative or Judicial. It is only in the

exercise of their judicial powers when sitting as a court for the

trial of impeachments, that the Council ip expressly authorized and

necessarily required to consider, and decide, upon the conduct of

their own President, one of their own members, or other public

officer. And then by their proper Legislative action recommend
to the Governor by their condemnatory sentence a dismissal of the

individual from office. Whose duty it is in the regular discharge
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of his Executive functions to carry into effect, as will clearly appear

in the 11th article of the organic law But to do this they must

have a constitutional quorum of their body present. To dismiss

their President, one of their own body or other public functionary,

their constitutional right to do so, is cheerfully conceded. But to

declare the Executive office vacant, without the casualties having

happened, contemplated by law, deposing or attempting to depose

the legitimate Governor as expressed in said Eesolutions, is on

the part of the Council clearly an outrage unauthorised by the or-

ganic law, which they were solemnly sworn to support.

The whole phraseology and sense of the preamble and resolu-

tions seem to be judicial. Their only essence, true character, and

only practical eifect, are to be found in the conduct which they

charge upon the Governor, and the judgment which they pronounce

on that conduct. But nowhere do they set forth the reasons which

induced the Message from the Executive Department addressed to

a secret session, that called forth from the Council those resolu-

tions. The message refered to I am willing to admit, was couched

in language uncourteous and severe, repulsive in its character, and

keen and pointed in its remarks, but was not more so than I deemed

the occasion required, as will be clearly manifested by a refference

to the specifications and charges before alluded to. And in as

much as the members of the Council was acting as public func-

tionaries, I was bound to presume would by their oaths, be com-

pelled, to act in good faith, I had no right to expect that document

would ever meet the public eye. It will be found on examination of

the organic law, that the Council were limited, both in their powers

and duties. In the 3rd article of that law their powers and duties

are clearly defined, which reads as follows. "The duties of the

Genl. Council shall be to devise ways and means, to advise and

assist the Governor in the discharge of his functions." Acting in

their Legislative capacity as the divisors of ways and means, the

Governor does, clearly, by law, hold a qualified negative over all

their legislative action, and none of their acts can become laws, or

valid, without his concurrence or approval. It is evident and

clear, that no legislative action on the part of the Council could

remove the Governor from office, or lawfully interfear or conflict

with him in the discharge of his Executive functions. The Coun-
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cil, by inference or construction of law, under Eepublican princi-

ples, I am willing to admit, should possess the accusatory power,

and as such, I have acknowledged the receipt of the specifications

and charges which they have prefered against me; but the people

of Texas, by their representatives in General Convention assem-

bled, and from whom I emanated, I recognize as my peers, and
legitimate triers; and to whatever decision they may think proper

to make, I bow in humble submission. "To advise and assist the

Governor in the discharge of his functions." In what way advise

and assist the Governor in the discharge of his functions ? Clearly

by their legislative action, by placing the means at his disposition

to aid and assist him in the constitutional discharge of his Exec-

utive functions, as the exigencies of the country might require.

It will be discovered on a perusal of the 3rd article of the organic

law, as alluded to, that the Governor and Council, as co-ordinate

branches of the provisional Govt, cooperate together for the pro-

tection of the public good. The Governor possessing the right of

veto, on all of their legislative action. But in no part of that ar-

ticle, which prescribes the duties of the Council, will it appear

that the Governor was bound to advise with them, without he

thought proper. It will no where be found in the organic law,

that they were otherwise, than by legislative action, made his con-

trollers—that they were not made by law his Constitutional ad-

visers, without whose consent, he could not act; but each depart-

ment bound to discharge their own duties, with the qualification

before alluded to, each independent of the other, as before stated.

Each could recommend to the other, the passage or adoption of

measures; but possessed no compulsory powers except such as are

defined in the organic law The duties of the Council, as will ap-

pear on an examination of tlie said article, defining them, shews

that they were limited and confined to certain - objects, that the

bounds were set, over which they were not permitted to nass

—

that their continued presence in the Council Hall is no where

rendered necessary—that after performing all the essential duties

designated in the law which created them, an adjournment of that

bod}?-, by the supreme Executive authority, who by that notice of

adjournment, acknowledges that for the present, he needs neither,

their legislative action, or assistance as counselors, renders such
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adjournment neither injurious to the individuals or to the public.

In as much as they were at the same time notified that if the

emergencies of the country required it, ihat they would be imme-

diately convened by proclamation. The right in the Governor to

adjourn that body, without their co-operation or consent is no

where expressly given in the organic law, nor is it any where

forbidden. On an investigation of the article above alluded to,

it will clearly appear that the Genl Council could do nothing with-

out the sanction of the Executive Department. And on examina-

tion of the ordinances passed by them, it will be seen that every-

thing contemplated by the organic law has been acted on by that

body, long before their adjournment, and many also of a disor-

ganizing and injurious tendency, for which they had no warrant.

And being well satisfied that their presence in the Council Hall

would be productive of no good to the public, but daily increasing

the public debt; and being well satisfied that base intrigue and

corruption had become the ruling passion of that body, induced

me to pursue the course of which the Council so much complains,

and for which they passed, and acted on the resolutions alluded

to. As a public officer I was well aware, that I could screen my-

self from public censure, by taking honest exceptions to all of their

acts, having an evil and injurious tendency. I was also well sat-

isfied, that by intrigue and management, that the Genl. Council

had concentrated so much power over the Executive Department,

that the Governor would be rendered as powerless as he would be

useless—the shadow of authority after the substance had departed.

It will be seen on examination of the 4th article of the organic

law, defining the powers of the Governor etc which reads as fol-

lows

"The Governor for the time being, and during the existance of

the Provisional Government, shall be clothed with full and ample

Executive powers ; and shall be commander in chief of the army

and Navy, and of all the military forces for Texas, by sea and

land."

The law certainly would not be thus full and positive, if it were

intended, that he should be trammeled in the discharge of those

functions by the dictates of an unstable and fluctuating Council.

Pursuing that article throughout in its proper spirit, it will clearly
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appear, that the Council could have no controU over the Governor
in the discharge of his Executive functions, or as commander in

chief of the army and Navy, any further than their Legislative

action vi^as necessary to place the proper means at his disposition.

After enumerating all the powers delegated to the Governor, the

article concludes as follows. "And that the Governor be clothed

with all these, and all other powers, which may be thought neces-

sary by the Genl Council, calculated to aid and protect the country
from her enemies." So that it evidently appears, that all the
powers delegated by the organic law to the Governor was clearly

under his own immediate controll, but if circumstances should
render it necessary to use extraordinary powers, he was not per-

mitted, without proper concurrence of the Council To shew the

inconsistency and illegality of the action of the Council as set forth

in their resolutions, even admitting them to be the competent
tribunal, before whom the Governor could be tried on impeach-
ment: Their conduct if not highly criminal, will clearly shew
illiberality and want of principle. As the first intimation to the

accused is their resolutions containing his condemnatory sentence.

Thus converting themselves into accusers, witnesses, counsel, and
judges, and prejudge the whole ease. Thus presenting the appall-

ing spectacle, in a free Government, of judges going through a

labored preparation for an impartial hearing and decision by a

previous exparte investigation, and sentence against the supposed

offender. It is the policy of our benign system of jurisprudence

to secure in all criminal proceedings, and even in the most trivial

litigations, a fair, unprejudiced, and impartial trial. And surely

it cannot be less important that such a trial should be secured to

the highest officer of the Government. And it is not too much to

say of the whole of these proceedings, that if they shall be approved
and sustained by an intelligent people, then will that great con-

test with arbitrary power, which had established in statutes, in

bills of rights, in sacred charters and in constitutions of Govern-
ment, the right of every citizen to notice before trial, to a hearing

before conviction, and to an impartial tribunal for deciding on the

charge, liave been waged in vain. But the evil tendency of the

particular doctrine adverted to, though sufficiently serious, would
be as nothing in comparison with the pernicious consequences which
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wonld mevital)lv flow from the approbation and allowance by the

People, and the practice of the Council of the unconstitutional

power of arraigning, censuring, and attempting to depose the Ex-

ecutive, even by force, in the manner recently resorted to by the

Council. Such proceedings are eminently calculated to unsettle

the foundations of the Government; to disturb the harmonious

action of its different Departments; and to break down the checks

and balances by which the wisdom of its framers sought to ensure

its stability and usefulness.

The honest differences of opinion which occasionally exist, be-

tween the Governor and Council, in regard to matters in which

both are obliged to participate are sufficiently embarrassing. But

if the course recently adopted by the Council shall hereafter be pur-

sued, it is not only obvious, that the harmony of the relations be-

tween the Governor and Council will be destroyed, but that other

graver effects will ultimately ensue. If the censures and conduct

of the Council be submitted to by the Governor, the confidence of

the people in his ability and virtue will be impaired, and the char-

acter and usefidness of his administration will soon be at an end,

and the real power of the Government will fall into the hands

of a body ever changeable and" fluctuating and who from that cir-

cumstance feel but little responsibility, not elected directly by the

people, and not to them directly accountable. If on the other

hand, the illegal censures and conduct of the Council should be

resisted by the Governor, collisions and angry controversies would

inevitably ensue, discreditable in their progress, and in the end

compelling the people to adopt the conclusion, either that their

Chief Magistrate was unworthy of their respect or that the Council

was chargeable with calumny and injustice. Either of these re-

salts would impair public confidence in the system of Government,

..md lead to serious alterations of its frame work, or to the practi-

cal abandonment of some of its provisions. The resolutions of the

Council removing the Governor from office, and their subsequent

notice, accompanied with their specifications and charges, that if

he did not appear in three days and plead to the charges before

that body, that the trial would go on exparte before the Council.

First clearly shewing by the passage of their resolutions, that their

condemnatory sentence had allready been passed against him, by
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that body, who -usurped the authority to become his constitutional
triers. It is clearly evident however, that they possessed no such
authority, and it is only necessary to look at the condition in
which the Council and Governor have been placed, by this pro-
ceeding to perceive its utter incompatibility with the provisions
and the spirit of the organic law, and the plainest dictates of com-
mon sense, humanity and justice.

The resolutions at all events shews clearly by their passage by a
imanimous vote of the Council, that the Governor is considered by
tliat body guilty of an impeachable offence. As such it is spread
upon the Journals of the Council—published to the nation, and
to the World—made part of our enduring archives—and incorpo-
rated in the History of the age. The punishment of removal from
office and future disqualification does not it is true follow this de-
cision, because they were not the constitutional triers. But the
moral influence of a solemn declaration by the unanimous vote of
that body, that the accused is guilty of the offence charged upon
him, has been as effectually secured as if the like declaration had
been made upon an impeachment, expressed in the same terms
Whether the resolutions expressly alledge that the assumption of
power and authority, which they condemn, was intentional and
corrupt, is no answer to the preceding view of their character and
effect. The act thus condemned, necessarily implies volition and
design in the individual to whom it is imputed, and being unlaw-
ful in its character, the legal conclusion is, that it was prompted
by improper motives, and committed with an unlawful intent.
The charge is not of a mistake in the exercise of supposed powers,
but of the assumption of power not confered by the constitution
and laws, but in derrogation of both, and nothing is suggested to

excuse or palliate the turpitude of the act. In the absence of any
such excuse or palliation, there is only room for one inference, and
that is, that the intent was unlawful and corrupt. Besides the
resolutions not only contains no mitigating suggestion, but on the
contrary, it holds up the act complained of as justly obnoxious to

censure and reprobation: and thus as distinctly stamps it with
impurity of motive as if the strongest epithets had been used.
The judgement of Ouilty, by one of the co-ordinate branches of the
Government

; the stigma it would inflict on tlie offender, his family
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and fame, and the perpetual record on the Journals, handing down

to future generations the story of his disgrace, were doubtless re-

garded by the framers of all republican constitutions, as the bitter-

est portions, if not the very essence of that punishment. So far

therefore, as some of their most material parts are concerned, the

passage, recording, and promulgation of the resolutions, are an

attempt to bring them on the Governor unauthorised by the organic

.law, and all Eepublican principles. The influence of such pro-

ceedings on the other Departments of the Government, and more

especially on the part of the military, could not fail to be exten-

sively pernicious by producing disorganization and conflict. When '

the Council, who in this case set themselves up as judges in the last

resort, for official misconduct, so wantonly and arbitrarily over-

leap tiie bounds of their anthority, as prescribed by the organic

law; what general disregard of its provisions might not their

example be expected to produce? And who does not perceive that

such an outrage and contempt for the Executive Department, by

one of the coordinate branches, would hold out the strongest temp-

tation to resistance on the part of the other dignitaries, whenever

thev shall suppose their rights were invaded? Thus all the inde-

pendent Departments of the Government, and even the different

Jurisdictions, instead of attending to their appropriate duties, and

leaving those who may olfend to be reclaimed or punished in the

manner pointed out by law, would fall to mutual crimination and

recrimination, and give to the people confusion and anarchy, in-

stead of order and law; until at length some form of aristocratic

power would be established on the ruins of the constitution, or

the Government broken into separate communities. Far be it from

me that any act of mine should in the most distant way, in the

slightest degree tend to encourage any such result. It is not only

the motives and designs, but the evil tendency of their acts of

which it is mv duty to speak. It is, if possible, to make coun-

selors themselves sensible of the danger which lurks under the

precedent set in their resolutions; and at any rate to perform my

duty, as the responsible head of one of the coequal Departments of

the Government, that I have been compelled to point out the con-

sequences to which the discussion, passage and promulgation of

the resolutions may lead, if the tendency of the measure be not

checked in its inception.
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It is due to the high trust with which I have been charged; to

the Eepresentatives of the people, whose constitutional prerogative

has been unlawfully assumed; to the people, and to the constitu-

tion which they have established ; that I should not permit its pro-

visions to be broken down by such an attack on the Executive De-

partment, without at least some effort to preserve, protect, and de-

fend them. With this view and for the reasons which have been

stated I do hereby solemnly peotest against the aforementioned

proceedings of the Council, as unauthorised by the organic law;

contrary to its spirit and special provisions; subversive of that

distribution of the powers of Government which it has ordained

and established ; destructive of the checks and safeguards by which

those powers were intended, on the one hand, to be controlled, and

on the other to be protected; and calculated by their immediate

and collateral effects, by their character and tendency, to concen-

trate in the hands of a body, not directly amenable to the people

a degree of influence and power, dangerous to their liberties, and

fatal to the constitution of their choice.

The resolutions of the council contains an imputation upon my

private, as well as upon my public character; and as it must stand

forever on their Journals, I cannot close this substitute for that de-

fence which I have not been yet allowed to present in the ordinary

form without remarking that I have lived in vain, if it be neces-

sary for me now to enter into a formal vindication of my charac-

ter and purposes from such an imputation. In vain do I bear upon

my person enduring memorials of the contest for constitutional

privileges, in opposition to military Despotism at the memorable

seige of Velasco in [18] 32—in vain have I since sacrificed personal

ease to public duty—in vain am I now contending with violent

and vindictive party strife, and unholy interests, without a per-

sonal aspiration, or the hope of individual advantage, encountering

responsibilities and dangers from which, by mere inactivity in re-

lation to a single point I might have been exempt—if any serious

doubts can be entertained as to the purity of my purposes or mo-

tives

If I had been ambitious, I should have sought an alliance with

that powerful speculating aristocracy, which now aspires to no

divided empire. If I had been venal, I should have sold myself
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to their designs, had I prefered personal comfort, and official ease,

to the performance of my arduous duties, I should have ceased to

molest them. In the History of conquerors, and usurpers, never

in the fire of Youth, nor in the vigor of manhood, could I find

an attraction to lure me from the path of duty; aird now I shall

scarcely find an inducement, to commence their career of ambi-

tion, when with grey hairs I am traveling the down hill of life,

deprived of all conjugal participation and enjoyment instead of

inviting to toil and battle, call me to the contemplation of other

worlds, where conquerors cease to be honored, and usurpers ex-

piate their crimes. The only ambition I can feel is to acquit my-

self to Him, to whom I must soon render an account of my stew-

ardship—to serve my fellowmen,—and live respected and honored,

in the History of my country.

No; the ambition which leads me on, is an anxious desire, and

a fixed determination, to promote the honest interests of the coun-

try, and to return to the people, unimpaired, the sacred trust

they have confided to my charge—to heal the wounds which have

been inflicted on the organic law, and Eepublican principles, and

preserve them from further violation; to pursuade my country-

men so far as I may, that it is not in a splendid Government, sup-

ported by powerful monopolies and aristocratical establishments,

that they will find happiness, or their liberties protection; but in

a plain system, void of pomp— protecting all, and granting favors

to none—"dispensing its blessings like the dews of Heaven, un-

seen and unfelt, save in the freshness and beauty they contribute to

produce." It is such a Government that the genius of our people

requires—sueli an one only under which Texas may remain for ages

to come, united, prosperous, and free. If the Almighty Being

who has hitherto sustained and protected me will but vouchsafe to

make my feeble powers instrumental to such a result, I shall antic-

ipate with pleasure, as the first Governor of Texas, the place to be

assigned me in the History of my adopted country, and die con-

tented with the belief, that I have contributed, in some small de-

gree, to promote and sustain Texian Liberty.

To the end that the resolutions, and proceedings of thejCouncil,

may not be hereafter drawn into precedent, with the authority of

silent acquiescence on the part of the Executive Department; and
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to the end also, that my motives and views in the Executive pro-

ceedings and conduct of the Council, connected with the subject

alluded to, may be known to my fellow citizens, to the world, and

to all posterity, I respectfully request that this Message and Protest

may by an order of this Convention be entered at length on the

Journals of the Council.

Henry Smith.
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BOOK EEVIEWS AND NOTICES ^

Reconstruction in Texas. By Charles William Eamsdell. Pp.

324. New York: Columbia University. Longmans, Green &

Co., Agents. 1910.

Mr. Eamsdell's work on Eeconstruction in Texas is number 95

of the well known series
—"Studies in History, Economics and

Public Law"-—made by students of the Columbia University School

of Political Science. For years the Department of History at

Columbia has been working, through its graduate students, in the

Eeconstruction field and as a result several monographs on Eecon-

struction have been published. This one on Texas is among the

best.

It is somewhat difficult to do anything really original or unex-

pected in the writing of the history of Eeconstruction. The issues

and problems though immensely important were few and distinct.

Every actor moved in the lime-light of publicity. Consequently,

while the main outlines of Eeconstriiction have long been familiar,

the task of the investigator in this period is to make an accurate

statement of the facts, an account of local conditions, an estimate

of personalities. In doing so each researcher must to a certain

extent cover the same ground. So Mr. Eamsdell takes up first a

brief discussion of the events leading to secession and of the con-

tions that existed in Texas during the Civil War. Then follows an

account of the two attempts at Eeconstruction—by the President

and by Congress—which cover the period from 1865 to 1870. A
short final chapter of twenty-five pages describes the Eadical ad-

ministration from 1870 to 1874 when the Eeconstruction experi-

ment ended in Texas. Within the period covered, 1865 to 1874,

the author deals minutely with political questions—the develop-

ment of the Conservative, Eadical and Extreme Eadical parties,

with problems of public order, race and labor, and the administra-

tion of justice, with the relations between Texas and the Washing-

ton government, and between the military and the civil authorities

within the state.

The work is well done. The author's style is clear, his state-

ments temperate in tone. He has examined all accessible author-
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ities in print and in manuscript, and he has his information well
assimulated, his narrative well organized. The estimates of the
leading men of the time are especially good. Those whose chief
interest lies in this field of history would be glad to find more than
IS given about the non-political side of Texas history-a study of
social, industrial, religious and educational conditions following
the war. These are just as important as politics and constitutions
Some maps in black and white, to illustrate political, social and
economic matters, would be useful. And more space might be
given to a description of the actual administration of the Texas
government by ofiicials representing only a small minority of the
population.

Distinguishing the reconstruction of Texas from the reconstruc-
tion of any other Southern State, Mr. Eamsdell brings into his
narrative accounts of certain conditions peculiar to Texas Thus
among other things, he calls attention to the fact that Texas was
before and during Reconstruction a frontier state, half-covered
with hostile Indians, practically without railroads, with a popula-
tion of whites scarcely welded into a homogeneous society. Further
the author makes it clear that the Civil War bore less heavily upon
Texas than upon the other Southern communities and that at the
close of hostilities the state was still in fair condition, economical
and social. But this seems only to have intensified the disorder
which came in 1865 with the break up of the Confederacy The
Washington authorities consistently refused to recognize the de
facto government of Texas just as they refused to recognize the
rest of the Southern State governments. But since the Federals
never occupied Texas in force they made little effort to suppress
the disorder that followed the destruction of the state and local
governments. Consequently, the period of lawlessness and disor-
der was longer continued in Texas than in any other Southern
State and the course of Eeconstruction was thereby seriously in-
fluenced. In Texas, too, the work of the Freedman's F-reau was
relatively unimportant; elsewhere this institution was of the
most efficient instruments of the Eeconstructionists. ]?econstruc-
tion conditions in Texas were otherwise exceptional in that the race
problem was not so serious and the carpet baggers were few in
numbers and of slight influence, though the native radicals or
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«PnHwa<.. were ou the wliole abler and more influential than else-

^tl exee t Tennessee. In no other aceonnt of EeconstrneUon

Ire the mi itary features of the process more clearly shown. The

poll ts f the military commanders, whether wise or not are ex-

p ined in detail. Especially interesting is the account of the

tZLs of General Eeynolds trying to become carpet bag sen-

TorTom Texas. And the incompetence of Sheridan in the^face

ff a non military situation is even more glaringly evident m Texas

than m Louisiana.
_ ^^^^^^^ ^

Louisiana State University.

History of Recomtruction in Louisiana {tJirough 1868) By

Jofn Eo e Ficldin, late Professor of History - ^u ^7^^^;

Sv With an editorial note by Tierce Butler. [Johns Hopkin

Un'veil ty Studies in Historical and Political Science. Serjes

XXVITiJno. L] (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press, 1910.

The^Imented death of Professor John E. Ficldin in the sum-

xner of 1907 left uniinished his long looked for monograph on E.-

rsLction in Louisiana. However, except for flna re^^^
had prepared the manuscript through the presidential elec ions ot

^868; and it has now been brought out under the editorial super-

vision of his colleague. Professor Pierce Butler.

Te first chapter gives a rapid review of ante-bellum politics

and the rise of the secession spirit, follows the struggle between

he secessionists and the ''^^-^V^^^^f ''r^'J^t ^
the secession convention, and then, without strict fidelity to _its

Me-"Ante-Bellum History in Louisiana,"-sketches the opeiung

of the war, the capture of New Orleans by Parragut in Api-d, 1862

•

and the military operations in other parts of the state to the cl se

of the war. A short chapter is given to the administration of Gen-

eral Butler, an administration memorable for cotton specu ations

confiscations, the notorious "Order No. 28," the new problem o

negro emandpation and negro labor, and the tentative renewa

of political relations with the United States Government m the

election and admission of two representatives to Congress. The
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author is surprisingly reticent as to Butler's share in the cotton
speculations, due perhaps to a failure to consult the War of the
Rebellion Records. This great collection, by the way, would have
furnished him with explicit information on a number of pointsm the administrations of both Butler and his successor, Banks.
There follows a brief but clear account of the rule of the latter
general, the initiation of Lincoln's experimental "ten per cent"
government and the opposition it aroused in Congress, the prob-
lems as to the status to be given the emancipated slaves, the work
of the constitutional convention of 1864, and the system of quasi-
civil government maintained under Federal authority during the
svar period.

^

What happened in Louisiana during the first two years after the
surrender of Lee was conmioii to most of the southern states,
rhe returning ex-Confederates recovered control almost at once
md the legislature passed stringent labor laws that furnished po-
itical capital for the northern radicals. Perhaps more space than
lecessary is given to the familiar story of President Johnson's
[uarrel with the congressional radicals, but its insertion will clarify
he situation for the general reader. One of the best chapters is
hat on "The So-Called Eiot of July 30, 1866," in which Pro-
essor Picklin makes it clear that the radicals had no legal or
aora] right to recall the defunct convention of 1864, and that in
11 the proceedings up to the actual outbreak their attitude was
rovocative of trouble. The eifect of the riot upon Congress and
be northern public is also well told. The concluding chapters
scount the passage of the Reconstruction Acts, the rule of Sher-
lan and his successors in Louisiana, the session of the 'T^lack and
m" constitutional convention in 1867, the acceptance by virtue
f_ negro votes of the constitution that it framed, the finai restor-
^lon of the state to the Union, the swift organization of the Dem-
3rats, now that that advantage was gained, the operations of the
-nights of the Wliite Camelia and the Ku Klux Klan, and
le revelation of Democratic strength in the presidential elections
:
1868 when they carried the state for Seymour and Blair by a

tbstantial majority. Here the narrative stops abruptly.
No state of the old South suffered more indignities during the
iriod here reviewed than did Louisiana, and one is prepared to
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pardon much of partisanship in the historian ; but throughout the

volume an admirably judicial tone is preserved, and indications of

partisan spirit are almost vi^holly absent. There is so much of in-

terest in the subject itself that one regrets what now and then

seems to lie a sketchiness of treatment. However, the most ob-

vious criticism applies to the narrow range of sources made use

of. especially as it is upon monographs such as this that the more

pretentious histories must be largely based. Allusion has been

made to the neglect of the War of the Rebellion Records. An-

other strange omission is that of the Johnson Papers in the

Library of Congress, while but little attention seems to have been

given to possible manuscript sources in Louisiana itself, though

the task of examining them is sufficiently appalling to deter the

most conscientious investigator. All of these omissions migJit have

been remedied by the author had he lived to finish his task.

The work of the editor has been well done. There are few ob-

vious repetitions of phrases or statements such as are common to

unfinished manuscripts; and the footnotes and the index are care-

fully made. It is to be hoped that some competent hand will now

undertake the task of carrying on the story in detail to the end of

the radical regime in 1877.

Chas. W. Ramsdbll.

The April number of The American Historical Review (Vol.

XV, No. 3), opens with an account by the secretary. Professor

Charles H. Haskins, of the annual meeting of the Association last

December in New York City, and contains, besides, four important

articles. Professor James P. Baldwin writes, as usual, on the con-

stitutional history of England, his article being entitled "The

King's Council and the Chancery"; Professor Guy S. Ford contin-

ues "Wollner and the Prussian Religious Edict of 1788"; Hon.

John W. Foster gives an account of the separation of Church and

State in Mexico, in an article entitled "The Contest for the Laws

of Reform in Mexico"; and Dr. James Ford Rhodes writes a

stirring account of the operations of a lawless Irish labor organiza-

tion, "The Molly Maguires in the Anthracite Region of Pennsyl-

vania," 1865-1876.
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Among the book reviews one finds, of special interest to Texas
readers, Professor Justin H. Smitli's review of Professor Garri-
son's first volume of the Diplomatic Correspo?idence of the Republic
of Texas, which was recently published by the American Historical
Association as Volimie II, Part I, of its Report for 1907. Pro-
fessor Smith says in part : ''Texas was for a time the most critical

diplomatic battlefield of Christendom. The publication of her cor-

respondence has therefore been a historical desideratum of no
little consequence, and one has great reason for thankfulness in
taking up the first of the two volumes which are to present it,

edited by a scholar better qualified than any one else for his task
and put forth by the American Historical Association in excellent
form. The contents of the volume are in general the correspond-
ence with the United States down to the close of 184:2 ; and among
the subjects upon which light is thrown are the internal conditions
of Texas, the character and purposes of her public men, her rela-

tions with the government and the Federalists of Mexico, her
southern and her northern boundary difficulties, her Indian troubles,
the moral and the material assistance drawn from the United
States, the Santa Pe expedition and its sequel, the question of pos-

'

tal arrangements with the United States and fugitives from justice,

American relations with Mexico and action in behalf of Texan in-
dependence, the treaty of amity, navigation, and commerce with
the country, political conditions here, the motives and aims of our
statesmen, and—above all other subjects—the questions of recog-
nition by this government and annexation to our Union."

E. C. B.

For the Liberty of Texas. By Edward Stratemeyer. Lathop,.
Lee & Shepard Co., Boston, 1909.

This is a juvenile book written some ten years ago, and is the
first of a series of three romantic stories known as the Mexican
War Series, published by Dana Estes & Co., but now reissued by
the Lathop, Lee & Shepard Co. The struggle of the Texans for
freedom from Mexico forms the historical background. Two boys,
Dan and Ealph Eadbury, living ^vjth their father in "a typical
frontier home in the heart of Texas, close to the Guadalupe River,
and about ten mUes from what was then the village of Gonzales,"
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are the youthful heroes of the many wild adventures, hairbreadth
escapes, and thrilling rescues which go to make up the book.
The historical material is of an elementary character and is ac-

curate enough for the general purposes of fiction. It is touched
up, of course, with the romantic colors so fascinating to young
readers, and there is no question but that any healthy, normal lad
of ten to fifteen years will become intensely interested in the narra-
tive of the exciting personal adventures of these two boys of simi-
lar ages. They had all the usual romantic adventures of thrilling

fights with Indians, Mexicans, wild animals, marvelous escapes
from hotly contested battles and fierce personal encounters, some-
times tlirough their own prowess and sometimes through that of
their friends whose knowledge of secret passages and unblazed
trails often stood them in good stead. The story of the fall of
the Alamo and the account of the final victory of General Houston
over Santa Anna at San Jacinto supply the subject-matter for the
final chapters.

''

The book is only fairly written so far as literary style goes, but
the readers to whom Mr. Stratemeyer appeals ask for nothing more
than a thrilling and engrossing tale full of red Indians and wild
western life, and that they certainly have in this volume.

L. W. P., Jr.

Stories of tie Great West. By Theodore Eoosevelt. The Cen-
tury Co., New York, 1909.

This book is made up of a collection of sketches written by Theo-
dore Roosevelt and published heretofore in different books, but now
brought together from various sources and put in a convenient
volume for school libraries and juvenile collections. The matter
is divided into two sections, stories from history and stories from
personal adventure, all dealing with the development and life of
the great West, or more specifically the great Northwest. The first

of the historical group treats briefly of Daniel Boone and the found-
ing of Kentucky. This is followed by a fuller expository section
on "The Backwoodsmen of the Alleghanies," being a chapter from
Mr. Roosevelt's famous larger work, The Winning of the West.
Here the life of the pioneer is carefully studied and reproduced.
The story of how George Rogers Clark conquered the Northwest
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Territory for the Americans during the EeYolutionary War is the

theme of the third section. The description of the march of Clark

and his men I^needeep through the icy waters which covered the

drowned lands of the Wabash country to surprise tlie British reg-

ulars under General Hamilton at Yincennes is made as thrilling

and heroic as Washington's crossing the Delaware to surprise the

British at Trenton. The next section treats of the exploring expe-
:

dition of Captains Meriweather Lewis, and William Clark (a

younger brotlier of George Eogers Clark) through the greater

JSTorthwest in 1804-1806. This is another chapter from The Win-
ning of the West. In the last sketch the author turns to Texas
history for a subject, and retells briefly the dramatic story of the

death of Crockett and his brave companions in the Alamo.
In the second gTonp of realistic stories, the most interesting are

the accounts of life in Mr. Eoosevelt's "Home Eanch" on the Little

Missouri in the Dakotas. Here we have descriptions of the cowboy
life as it was in the days wiien Mr. Eoosevelt was himself a ranch-

man, the round-up and the work and exciting incidents per-

taining thereto, the stirring conflicts with wild animals and wilder

men, and all the story of western ranch life. The last sketch or

story is perhaps the most interesting of all. It is called "Sheriff's

Work on a Eanch," and is a detailed account of how Mr. Eoosevelt

and two of his trusted cowboys followed and captured in midwinter
three thieves who had made off with the ranch hr.nf the only one
in all that section of the country. The chase, the capture, the long
days of guarding the captives, the great hardships and difficulties

attendant on the three hundred mile Journey to a place where a real

sheriff could be found to take charge of the prisoners,—all this

goes to make up a decidedly engrossing narrative.

L. W. P., Jr.

The Texas Methodist Historical Quarterly. Vol. I. Published
by the Texas Methodist Historical Association. Georgetown,
Texas.

The purpose behind the foundation of this quarterly is primarily
to assist those who have in charge the preparation of a history of
the Methodist church in Texas. Thrall wrote in 1889 a his-
tory of Methodism in Texas which is a pioneer work, but
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a history based upon material both intimate and widely drawn

remains yet to be written. By securing the personal reminiscences,

diaries, and letters of those who were pioneers in the church, and

by encouraging a search for and preservation of old records, the

Texas Methodist Historical Association and its quarterly publica-

tion are laying the basis for a satisfactory history. This work is

of interest and importance to all students of the state's history,

for that history has other sides than the mere political with which

we liave been disproportionally regaled.

The activities of the Metliodist church in Texas go back to the

period of Mexican rule. Its piilpits, press, and schools have vastly

multiplied since then and have been potent forces in the advance-

ment of the state on its unmaterial side. Stevenson, Fowler,

Enter, McKenzie, and Alexander were strong personalities and

appealing evangels, and the last three were instrumental in the

establishment of some of the earliest institutions of learning in

the state. There is something heroic about their lives, and the

numbers of the Quurterhj constituting Volume I have appropri-

ately devoted considerable space to the biography and autobiogra-

phy of these pioneers. There is also to be found in these numbers

a good deal of reminiscent matter and old correspondence which

have interesting accoimts of things economic and social as well as

ecclesiastical. It is this manysidedness of much of the matter that

lends to it an added interest for the student of general history. A

history of the Northwest Texas Conference down to 1880 is given

in this volume, and it is to be expected that a similarly complete

history of the other conferences Avill be given, for the statistics of

membership and of finances contained in the minutes are the con-

crete tests of progress.

The Quarterly is a welcome addition to the historical publications

of the state, and it is to be hoped that it will meet with abundant

success.

E. T. M.
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APPAIES OF THE ASSOCIATION

On July 3 Professor George P. Garrison, who for thirteen years

was the editor of The Quarterly and the vital spirit of the As-

sociation, died of chronic valvular disease of the heart. His last

work for the Association was to edit, while lying in bed, a part

of the "Eeminiscences of Henry Smith," which appears in tliis

number. Under his scholarly direction The Quarterly has

gained recognition as one of the best local historical publications

in the United States, and it will be no easy matter to carry on

the task which I;e so ably began. His death is a sad loss to his-

torical scholarship in America; and to the University of Texas, of

whose Faculty he was the senior member, the loss is in many ways

irreparable. ISTo teacher in Texas had higher ideals of citizenship,

or more success in effectively inculcating those ideals in others.

The memorial below, attesting the appreciation of the Associa-

tion for his unique services, was prepared at the request of Presi-

dent Terrell by a committee consisting of Judge John C. Townes,

Mrs. Bride Neill Taylor, and Professor W. J. Battle.

To the Texas State Historical Association:

Dr. Garrison was born at CarroUton, Georgia, December 19,

1853. He died at his home in Austin, Texas, July 3, 1910.

He enjoyed the advantages of good private schools in Georgia

and Tennessee during his youth. In his early manhood he came
with his father's family to Texas, settling near Henderson. He
chose teaching as his life work, and, desiring to fit himself more
fully for his adopted profession, selected the University of Edin-

burgh in which to prosecute his advanced studies. He graduated

from that institution in 1881, receiving the degree of L. A. In 1896
he received the degree of Doctor of Philosophy from the Univer-

sity of Chicago.

In 1883 the University of Texas was organized, and in 1884
Dr. Garrison came to the institution as instructor in English and
History, a position which he held until 1888, when the Schools of

English and History were separated. Dr. Garrison was then put
in charge of the School of History with the rank of Assistant Pro-
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feasor, and he remained at the head of this School until his death,

having been promoted to a full professorship in 1897.

The duties of his position as teacher and head of the School

were varied and arduous, but nevertheless he made time for broad

reading and extensive personal research. Most of his attention was

given to the History of Texas and of the Southwest, and in this

field he was a most successful pioneer. Among the partial results of

his labors, are the following valuable books : A Civil Government

of Texas (1898), Texas (1903), Westward Extension (1906).

For some six years prior to his death, he was busily engaged in

editing for the IManuscripts Commission of the American Histori-

cal Association, of which he was an honored member. The Diplo-

matic Correspondence of the Eepublic of Texas. Volume I of this

appeared in 1909, and the proof sheets of the second and conclud-

ing volume were on Dr. Garrison's desk when he died.

Tn 1897 Dr. Garrison, in connection with Mr. L. G. Bugbee,

formerly his pupil, and at that time his assistant in the School of

History, founded this Association, one of the chief objects of which

is to gather and perpetuate material concerning the history of

Texas. As a means of accomplishing tliis The Quartern was

begun with Dr. Garrison as its editor. The nature and extent

of his labors in connection with the Association and The Quar-

terly are abundantly proved by the records of the Association

and the grateful memory of all its members. It is not too much

to say that Dr. Garrison was the originator and inspiration and

virtually the life of both. It will be difficult, indeed, to fill his

place in our midst.

The research and 'literary work outlined above he carried on

concurrently with his valuable services in the State University.

He was not physically strong and his body was often wearied, but

Ms spirit was tireless and his will indomitable. Upon these firm

foundations his reputation as historian and teacher safely rest.

This memorial of our friend would not be complete without

some expression of our estimate of his character. His strongest

quality, the one that dominated his whole being, Avas absolute and

unchanging honesty. He was honest in desire, honest in thought,

honest in word, honest in action. One of his chief concerns was

that no one should be injured by him in any way. His honesty.
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however, was tempered with kindness and with modesty. Always

true to his convictions, he was temperate in expression, simple and
unassuming in manner, and courteous toward all. He was faith-

ful to duty. His thoughts were not fixed upon personal advan-

tage but upon the right, and his conduct was in accord with

his conscience. Take him all and all, he was one of the best and
truest of men.

We mourn his loss, but rejoice that while he has gone to his

reward, his works remain with us as an inspiration, and the mem-
ory of his life as an example worthy of emulation.

Jno. C. Townes.

For the Committee.

Until further action by the Executive Council Tpie Quarterly
will appear- under the editorial management of the associate editors,

Professor Eugene C. Barker and Mr. E. W. Winkler.
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THE STATE FINANCES OF TEXAS DURING THE
RECONSTRUCTION

E. T. MILLER

POLITICAL

Although General Lee surrendered early in April, 1865, the

break-up of the Confederacy did not occur in Texas until the end

of May. Disorganization of all authority followed, and in the

general confusion confederate and state property was appropriated

by disbanded soldiers and even the state treasury at Austin was
looted. The loss of property, however, was small and the disorder

little when viewed against the background of bitter disappointment

and uncertainty of the future which the people of the state felt

on account of the downfall of the Confederacy.

The arrival at Galveston on the nineteenth of June of General
Gordon Granger initiated the first provisional government—

a

mongrel of civil and military rule, but predominantly military.

A. J. Hamilton, who had been appointed on June 17 provisional

governor of Texas by President Johnson arrived at Galveston on
July 21, and proceeded soon to Austin to take office. After some
delay a registration of those citizens of the state who would take

the oath of amnesty was made and an election of delegates to a

constitutional convention was ordered. The convention met in

Austin on February 7, 1866, and was in session eight weeks. In
the election that followed the conservative ticket, or that endorsing

President Johnson's policy for the restoration of the state govern-
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ments, headed by J. W. Throckmorton, was successful, and the

amendments to the constitution were adopted. The newly elected

government took possession on August 13, 1866, and on August

20 President Johnson declared by proclamation that the insurrec-

tion in Texas was at an end. The restoration to a normal state of

civil government that was being made and the amelioration of gen-

eral conditions that was taking place were terminated, however, by

the reversal by Congress of President Johnson's policy. Under the

provisions of "the so-called Keconstruction Acts, passed in March

and Jidy of 1867, Texas became a part of the Fifth Military Dis-

trict, and went again under a provisional form of government

which lasted from August 8, 1867, to January, 1870. Again, also,

the process of emergence from the provisional form was gone

through with, and another constitution was adopted and another

election of state officials was held. E. J. Davis was the new gov-

ernor-elect, and his administration, which is known as the period

of radical rule, lasted three full years. It was undermined by the

election of a democratic legislature,—the famous thirteenth,—in

November, 1873, and fell and was swept away by the election in

December, 1873, and the inauguration on January 15, 1874, of

Eichard Coke as governor.

Although the Eeconstruction as a political condition ended at the

close of 1873, and though the financial policy came imder the con-

trol of new hands at the beginning of that year, the finances of

the state were slow in recovering from the effects of tbe war and

radical rule, and it was nearly a decade before a normal condition

was again reached. The period treated in this study, however,

extends from the close of the war through August 31, 1874.

EXPENDITUEES

The character and movement of expenditures are exhibited in

Appendix A (page 110). The table there presented shows only the

amount of warrants drawn during each fiscal year ;
and, owing to

a continued treasury deficit, in only one year, 1868, are the amoimt

of cash paid out of the treasury and the amount of warrants drawn

the same. However, as the warrants drawn were demands upon

the treasury which were eventually met, the table represents the

policy pursued with respect to expenditures.
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The cost of administering the state government was fluctuating

but on the whole showed an upward tendency until 1870, and after

that year took a violent rise. The multiplication of state employees

and especially the increase in salaries and contingent expenses

worked to swell the cost of running the several departments. The

constitution of 1866 extended the term of office of the governor to

four years and provided for a salary of $4:000, which was an in-

crease of $1000 over the former figure. This was further increased

in 1870 to $5000. The secretary of state, the treasurer, and the

comptroller each received annual salaries of $1800, and the com-

missioner of the general land office, $2000, until 1866, when all

were increased to $2500, and in 1870 they were further increased

to $3000. Chief clerks after 1870 received $1400 to $1600. By

the constitution of 1866 the number of judges of the supreme court

was enlarged from three to five, and the minimum salary raised

from $3000 to $4500. The minimum salary of district judges also

was raised from $2250 to $3500. These substantial increases in

salaries were ill-timed and were beyond the ability of the tax-

paying public. The claim for an increase on account of high prices

was stronger during the war, but neither the general price level

nor the opportunities in private life at this time warranted the

increases provided.

Occasions of large annual expenditures were the sessions of the

legislature, and to this cost of law-making may be added that on

account of the constitutional conventions. Legislative sessions

were frequent and long and were taken up largely with private

legislation which could have been avoided to a great extent by a

general corporation law.^ The legislature, however, was not ex-

travagant in the matter of outlays on itself either to the same

degree or in the same fashion that characterized other southern

legislatures of this period. Expensive chamber furniture and other

furnishings, and champagne and cigars to enable committees to

endure better their arduous labor do not shame Texas legislative

annals as they do those of states which, like South Carolina, were

ridden by carpet-baggers. There were, though, improper expend-

itures which were cloaked under the blanket appropriation for con-

^Message of Governor Davis, January 10, 1871 ; the San Antonio Daily
Herald, April 20, May 8, and June 11, 1873; Proceedings of Taxpayers'
Convention, Austin, 1871, p. 21.
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tingent expenses; pet partisan newspapers were generously sub-

scribed for ; and the mileage and per diem provided were nnpre-

cedentedly liberal.^

While the state departments and the legislature claim a part of

the growth of expenditures after 1870, the bulk of the gTowth is

ascribable to other objects. The cost of the judiciary more than

doubled, but the organization of new courts and the activity of

the state's ^prosecuting agents account largely for this. The in-

crease in fee payments to sheriffs and prosecuting attorneys was

marked, but the fee system was no more abused at this time than

under later administrations. After 1871 disbursements from the

available school fund took a leading place among the state's ex-

penditures. The use of the assets of the school fund during the

war and the failure, due chiefly to inability, to make restoration

or reparation to that fund resulted in a suspension of its functions

until their revival by the act of 1871. There was expended out of

this fimd during 1872, 1873, and 1874, $1,489,675, as against

$37,885 from 1865 through 1871. Beginning in 1871 the protec-

tion of the frontier settlements against marauding Indians and

Mexicans called for large annual outlays. The need of protection

became manifest immediately after the war, and failure of the

federal government to extend it forced the state to perform the

duty. Despite expenditures during the four years, 1871-1874, of

$524,963, the protection extended was held to be inadequate.- The

expenditures on this account were subsequently refunded to the

state by the national government, but not during the period of the

Reconstruction. In 1888, $922,541.52 was refunded; in 1891,

$148,615.97. These amounts were refunded under the act of Con-

gress of June 27, 1882, and reimbursed the state for all expendi-

tures of this character between 1866 and 1882. Expenditures for

the asylums, especially for the insane, increased during this

period, but no exception can be taken to the better provision for

the unfortunate wards of the State. There appears to have been

some jobbery, however, in connection with the purchase of sup-

^Reconstiuction Journal, 1868, p. 47; the San Antonio Daily Herald,

June 11, December 22 and 29, 1868; Flake's Daily Bulletin, August 27,

1868; message of Governor Davis, January 14, 1873.

''The San Antonio Daily Herald, September 6, 1871.
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plies for the asylums and the repairs of public buildings.^ Except

in 1869, when a large amount was expended for support, the peni-

tentiary was not an expensive institution. The expediency of

leasing it and the labor of the convicts was suggested in 1868 and

was carried out in 1871. Thereafter the only expense of the state

in connection with it was for the transportation of prisoners.

Perhaps the most obnoxious of the measures of the E. J. Davis

administration was that providing for a system of state police.

Warrants drawn on account of the state police and the state

militia,—almost wholly, however, for the police,—amounted dur-

ing the period 1871-1874 to $688,091, or 15 per cent of the total

of warrants drawn on the general revenue fimd. The personnel

of the police body, their abuse of authority, and the fact that they

performed functions which belonged to the local governments, led

to the abolition of the system by the democratic legislature in

1871.2

Texas narrowly escaped during this period the subsidizing of

railroads with bonds,—a policy that characterized a number of

southern reconstruction governments and which resulted in griev-

ous financial burdens to the states. The constitution of 1866 em-

powered the legislature to guarantee the bonds of railroad com-

panies to any amount not exceeding the sum of $15,000 per mile.

No resort was made to this provision because the constitution of

1866 was short lived, and the provision was believed to be in con-

flict with section 33 of the constitution, which prohibited the legis-

lature from contracting a debt to exceed $100,000, except in case

of war, to repel invasion, or suppress insurrection.^ The constitu-

tion of 1869 shut out land grants to any but actual settlers, but

permitted bond subsidies to internal improvements. By the act of

August 5, 1870, incorporating the International Eailroad Com-

pany, a subsidy in 8 per cent, thirty-year bonds of $10,000 a mile,

was granted, and an ad valorem tax upon all taxable property suf-

ficient to pay the interest and contribute to a 2 per cent sinking

fund was authorized. The state pledged itself in this act that its

'Report of Coitimittee on Asylums, House Journal, 14tli Legislature,

p. 14; report of Committee on Public Buildings, nid., p. 161.

'Ramsdell, Reconstruction in Texas, 302, 312.

'Report of Committee on Judiciary, House Journal, lltli Legislature,
p. 733.
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bond subsidies to works of internal improvement should not exceed

$12,000,000.1 An act carrying a subsidy of $6,000,000 in 8 per

cent, thirty-year bonds to a road that should cross the state from

east to west and reach the Pacific Ocean was opposed by the gov-

ernor, and it was only when the bill had passed the legislature after

two vetoes that he withdrew his opposition.^ A bill that proposed

to subsidize the East Line and Bed Eiver Kailroad Company with

7 per cent bonds to the amount of $30,000 a mile was effectively

vetoed.^ It was provided in the act chartering and subsidizing the

Pacific road that when the state should have power under the con-

stitution to grant lands in aid of internal improvements, a land

grant should be substituted for the bond subsidy, and this sub-

stitution was made in 1873, folloM'ing the adoption of an amend-

ment to the constitution authorizing land donations. Bonds for

the subsidy to the International road were signed by the governor,

but when presented to the comptroller to be countersigned and reg-

istered, that officer refused. The comnany thereupon brought suit

to compel the signature of the comptroller, but the supreme court

of the state reversed the judgment of the district court awarding

a peremptory mandamus and dismissed the case on the ground

that the Judicial department of the government had no authority

to interfere with the executive department in the performance of

duties not ministerial in character.* Unblushing bribery was

charged in connection with the passage of this International sub-

sidy, and though the jury of a district court found the allegation

of fraud to be untrue, the charges were so rife and upon such high

authority as to give them credence.^ It was a cause of wonder at

the time that members of the twelfth legislature whose income was

their per diem should at the end of the session be able to buy fine

horses and furniture and to travel north.*

^Act of August 5, 1870, Section 10. Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 606.

^House Journal, 12th Legislature, p. 1688.

'House Journal, 12th Legislature, p. 881.

*Bledsoe v. the International Railroad Company, 40 Tex., 537.

''Bledsoe v. the International Railroad Company, 40 Tex., 537; message

of Governor Coke, January 12, 1875; the San Atonio Daily Herald,

October 4 and 20, and November 24, 1870; the Houston Daily Telegraph,

February 23 and October 19, 1871.

"Clippings from the State Gazette and Flake's Bulletin in the San

Antonio Daily Herald, September 27 and October 20, 1870..
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Except for the increase in salaries under the Throckmorton gov-

ernment and the wastefulness of the constitutional convention of

1868, the expenditures to 1870 were not excessive. This is not

true, however, for the period of the Eeconstruction thereafter.

Expenditures then were beyond the ability of the state, and the

best evidence thereof is that despite heavy taxation, bonds were sold

to pay current expenses and a large floating debt was accumulated.

The twelfth legislature exhibited a degree of profligacy and of open

disregard of the state's economic condition that clinches it in the

niche of notoriety that it holds in Texas legislative history. Mat-

ters might have been worse, though, and that they were not so was

due mainly to the integrity of the governor in the administration

of the public finances.^

EECEIPTS-

The chief source of receipts during this period was taxation, and

the main tax was, as in previous periods, the ad valorem tax upon

real and personal property. The work of assessment and collec-

tion was performed until 1870 by an assessor and collector, but

thereafter assessment was by the justices of the peace, and collec-

tion by the sheriff of each county. Under the provisional govern-

ments assessment and collection were subject to special difficulties.

The war had disorganized the machinery of administration, and

in many of the counties it was impossible, owing to the opposition

of the people to military authority, to secure an assessor and col-

lector. In 1868, for example, thirty-nine counties out of one hun-

dred and twenty-five had vacancies in the office. It was not infre-

quent, too, that those who qualified were inexperienced, inefficient,

or corrupt.^ Despite these difficulties, however, receipts from taxes

before 1870 were, proportionately to the rate and the total assess-

ments, more satisfactory than after 1870. This better showing

was due, in the first place, to the more rigid collection under the

military authorities, and, in the second place, to less burdensome

rates. A number of circumstances contributed to the disarrange^

^Ramsdell, Reconstruction in Texas, 318.

-See Appendix B, page 112.

'Comptroller's report, 1868-9, p. 4. In 1870 defaulting and delinquent
officers were due the State $350,000. Comptroller's Report, 1870, p. 20.



94 Texas Historical Association Quarterly.

ment of the tax system during this period, however. The escape

and undervaluation of real estate was favored by the provision of

the laws which permitted its rendition either in the county of its

situs or in the county of residence of the owner or agent. Further-

more, the failure to get tax titles sustained by the courts because

of the seeming impossibility for assessors and collectors to comply

strictly with all the details of the laws regarding sale for taxes,

robbed legal coercion of payment of its terrors.^ FiTrther, the tax

year ended December 1, which resulted in the collection of taxes

during the summer or fall, or the seasons of greatest scarcity of

money for the farmers.- Back taxes piled up as a consequence of

these circumstances, and strenuous efforts were made to collect

them. The act of November 12, 1866, required the compilation of

a list of all lands on which taxes were due from 1849 to 1866, and
j

provided for their sale. In 1865 and 1866, 791,000 acres, and in

1867 and 1868 the unprecedented number of 7,800,000 acres, were

sold to the state for unpaid taxes.^ This act was later nullified,

and the attempt was again made in 1870 to collect back taxes, but I

failed because of the governor's veto of the appropriation to carry

it out.* Subsequent attempts were of the nature of commutation

for all unpaid amounts by payment of three or five times the
:

amount of the current taxes.

The feature of taxation under radical rule and the circumstance

which more than any other explains the ill-working of the tax sys-

tem is that state and local taxes together constituted too great a

burden. In 1865, the state ad valorem rate was 12-| cents on the

$100 valuation; in 1866 and 1867, 20 cents; in 1868, 1869, and

1870, 15 cents; in 1871, 1872, 1873 and 1874, 50 cents. In

1868, there was in addition to the regular tax of 15 cents, a

special tax of 20 cents to pay the expenses of the constitutional

convention. In 1868, the state and county ad valorem taxes

amounted in Bexar county, for example, to $1.10 on the $100 val-

uation, and in 1870, to $1.12^. Besides these there were state and

'Acting-Provisional Comptroller's Report, 1866; Comptroller's Report,

1868-9, p. 7; message of Governor Coke, April 19, 1876.

^Comptroller's Report, 1874, p. 3.

'Comptroller's Report, 1868-9, p. 110.

"Message of Governor Davis, January 10, 1871.
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county income, salary, poll, and occupation taxes, and city taxes.^

In 1871, combined state and county ad valorem rates amounted
at a conservative estimate to $2,175, and there were besides the
state and coimty poll and occupation taxes, and city taxes.^ In
1869, collected state and local taxes of all kinds aggregated $1,129,-

577 ;
in 1872, assessed state and county ad valorem and occupation

taxes and local taxes for public schools amounted to $4,584,275.^

All of our statistics indicate an increase in taxation that was enor-

mous. Assuming 10 per cent as a low average rate of interest on
loanable capital, state and county taxes of $2.17 would be equiva-

lent to an income tax of 21 per cent. No government would dare

to leYy an income tax at such a figure, and it should be no surprise

that the imposition of this rate indirectly through the property tax

occasioned bitter complaint and led to the undervaluation and
escape of property. Conventions of tax-payers were held in a num-
ber of counties, and as a culminating protest a convention of the

tax-payers of the state was held in Austin on September 22, 23
and 25, 1871, with two hundred and seventeen delegates present
representing ninety-four counties.* This convention was called by
the radicals, "a body of sulks and soreheads," but these epithets
ill apply to ex-Governors Throckmorton, Pease and Hamilton and
to the other leading men who were delegates.^

In estimating the weight of taxation upon the people of the
state during this period certain federal taxes need to be consid-

ered. The sum of the direct tax of 1861 apportioned to Texas was
$355,106.66. By an ordinance of the convention of 1866, the state

assumed the payment of this tax, and the comptroller was author-
ized to effect settlement if possible by setting off against the
amount due the amount owed Texas by the national government
on account of advances by the state for frontier defence, unpaid

'The San Antonio Daily Herald, April 9, 1868, November 18, 22, 26,
and December 22, 1870.

^Proceedings of the Taxpayers' Convention, Austin, 1871, p. 22 See
also Clegg V. the State, 42 Tex., 605.

Tensus of 1870, Vol. Ill; message of Governor Davis, January 14, 1873.
Troeeedings of the Taxpayers' Convention, Austin, 1871, pp. 5-8; the

Houston Daily Telegraph, August 13, 25, September 5, 8. 19, 20, 1871;
tlie San Antonio Daily Herald. September 26 and 27, 1871; the Austin
Democratic Statesman. September 23 and 26. 1871.

°The Austin Daily Journal, September 21, 1871, et passim.
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bonds of the TJnited States held by the state, eteJ^ Nothing came

of this, and by an act of November 13, 1866, the governor was

authorized to have assessed and collected npon all real property a

tax of 28 cents on each $100 of value of such property rendered

for the year 1861, and any deficiency was to be made up from the

state revenue account.- Nothing came of this measure either, how-

ever, and all that was collected of the tax was that effected by the

"United States internal revenue agents in 1865 and 1866. Up to

the time of the suspension of collection by the act of Congress of

July 28, 1866, there was credited to Texas $180,841.51, leaving the

amount uncollected $174,265.16.==

More burdensome than the direct tax was the federal tax upon

cotton which was levied from 1864 to 1867. It was 2 and 3 cents

a pound and its collection was rigidly enforced. The total paid

by Texas was $5,502,401.*

Besides the general property tax, the state levied income, busi-

ness and poll taxes. The income tax levied during the war was

not an income tax in the strict sense of the term but was really an

occupation tax. Governor Throckmorton recommended certain

changes in it, the chief ones being that the rates should be grad-

uated and that there should be an exemption." His suggestions

were carried out in the act of November 6, 1866.^^ This act pro-

vided that there should "be levied on and collected from every

person, firm, corporation, or association, doing business within this

state, at any time during the year 1866, and in every year there-

after, an annual income tax, as follows : on the first $1000 of net

taxable income, a tax of 1 per cent ; on the second, a tax of 1^

per cent; on the third, fourth and fifth, a tax of 2 per cent; and

on all taxable income above $5000, a tax of 3 per cent."

iGammel, Lmvs of Texas, V, 891.

^'Gammel, Laivs of Texas, V, 1175.

'House Executive Document, No. 159. Forty-ninth Congress, Second

• Session; Dunbar, "The Direct Tax of 1861," in Quarterly Journal of Eco-

nomics III, 450, 453; the Southern Intelligencer, May 10 and June 7,

1866. 'By the act of Congress of March 2, 1891, refunding the direct tax,

Texas received $180,886.72. This amount was held in trust for, and dia-

tributed to, those who paid or their heirs, until March 2, 1897, when the

balance of $66,197.89- reverted to the general treasuiy of the state.

*51 Cong., 1 Sess., House Report, No. 683.

^House Journal, 11th legislature, Reguhir Session, p. 79.

«Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 1009.
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This tax was known as the "income tax." It was provided also

"that upon the salaries of all salaried persons, serving in any capac-
ity whatever, except upon persons in the army or navy of the United
States, or those whose salaries are $600 or less per annum, an an-
nual tax of one-half of 1 per cent on all snm-s over $600 so received"
should be levied. This tax was known as the "salary tax."

In the assessment of the income tax the sworn schedule provided
for a statement of the gross income and the deductions therefrom.
The following deductions were allowed: from all incomes, when
returned by heads of families, $600 ; losses on real estate, if pur-
chased within the year; interest, taxes; amount actually paid for
rent of homestead

; and salaries. In addition to these, rent, insur-

ance, and other expenses were allowed to be deducted from the
profits of trade; from the rent of land, the average annual outlay
for the repair of fences was deductible; and from the rent of build-
ings, actual repairs, not to exceed 10 per cent of the rent and in-

surance paid by the owner; from farming operations, the amounts
paid for labor, repairs, live stock bought and sold during the year,

Insurance, and interest on any incumbrance upon the farm.^

It is'to be noted in regard to the assessment of the income tax
that no use whatever was made of the principle of stoppage at the
source. The salary tax also was self-assessed.

The income and salary taxes were in operation five years, or from
1866 to 1870. The returns, and especially those of the salary tax,
-were small. The law was poorly drawn and laxly administered,
and evasion was wholesale. In 1867, no incomes were assessed in
forty-two and no salaries in one hundred and one out of one hun-
dred and thirty-three counties; in 1868, no incomes were assessed
m sixty-one out of one hundred and thirty-six counties, and no
salaries in one hundred and fifteen counties.^

The business taxes levied during this period were the customary
specific occupation taxes, the income tax as described above, and

_'Act of November 10, 1866, Gammel, Lmm of Texas, V, 1058. See
Millar V. Douglass, 42 Tex., 288.

^Comptroller's Report, 1868-9. Income tax assessed in 1807, $38 892-

iqrT'^/'^'^
assessed in 1867, $1186; ad valorem and poll taxes assessed in

1867, $354,418; income tax assessed in 1868, $14,600; salary tax assessedm 1868, $1086; ad valorem, and poll taxes assessed in 1868, $310,626; per
cent of income and salary taxes to total assessed taxes in 1867, 10; in
loDo, 4.8.
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the special tax upon the receipts of railroad, telegraph and insur-

ance companies. The occupation tax embraced a widening range

of vocations as time went on, and especially after the discontin-

uance of the income tax in 1870. It is interesting to note that in

1866 an ad valorem tax on money loaned and on merchandise

higher than the general ad valorem tax was levied under the guise

of an occupation tax. This feature, which was observable in ante-

bellum taxation and represented a spirit of hostility to money lend-

ers and merchants, does not reappear in subsequent acts. The

occupation taxes were frequently changed, and those upon the retail

liquor business particularly showed violent fluctuations. There

were defects in the laws levying them and laxity of administration,

especially in the matter of light penalties for non-payment and of

the absence of checks upon collections.^

This period is important in the history of corporation taxation

by the state for the attempt to make use of special corporation

taxes. Until 1870, the method of taxing corporations was by the

property tax and the income tax. In 1870, there was levied, in

addition to the general property tax, an annual tax of 2 per cent

upon the gross receipts of railroad, insurance, and telegraph com-

panies.== In 1871, this was changed, and railroad and telegraph

companies became subject to a tax of 1 per cent upon net receipts,

life insurance companies to an annual occupation tax of $500, fire

and marine insurance companies to one of $250. A few days later

a tax of 1 per cent upon gross receipts was substituted for the 2 per

cent tax upon net receipts. This combined use of the property and

the receipts tax was thought to operate unfairly upon railroads as

compared with telegraph companies because of the greater amount

of tangible property owned by the railroads, and an increase in the

tax upon telegraph companies to 5 per cent of their gross receipts

was suggested.^ The legislature, however, passed a bill which re-

lieved railroads of taxation by the property tax, but it was vetoed

by the governor on the ground that since the counties were not

allowed to tax the receipts of railroads, fairness required that the

'Comptroller's Report, 1874, p. 56.

=Gammel, Laics of Texas, VI, 373, 390.

^Message of Governor Davis, April 24, 1871. House Journal, 12tli leg-

islature, "Second Session, p. 1108.
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ad valorem tax should not be remitted.^ The result of this differ-
ence of opinion between the governor and the legislature was the
repeal of the receipts tax, leaving only the ad valorem property tax
applicable.^ Corporations got off with comparatively light tax-
ation, and for the first time in the state's tax history there appeared
complaints of the working of the property tax as applied to cor-
porations.^

A poll tax of $1 was levied throughout the Reconstruction period.
Until 1871 it applied to all males over twenty-one years of age,
thereafter to those only between twenty-one and sixty years, with
the usual exceptions of Indians and persons non compos mentis.
The tax of 1871 and thereafter was for the benefit of the public
schools.

^

The penalty for failure to pay this tax was that the per-
son failing should not receive any money due him from the state
or the county until the tax with interest had been paid. That there
was considerable evasion of the tax may be inferred from the fact
that whereas the census of 1870 reported the number of males of
twenty-one years of age and upward at 169,258, the number as-
sessed for the poll tax in 1869 was only 95,895.*

Next to taxation the chief source of receipts was the sale and
hypothecation of bonds. The attempt was made during the
Throckmorton administration to issue frontier defence bonds, but
it was unsuccessful. Upon the establishment of the Davis admin-
istration, however, the issue and sale of bonds began. Eeceipts
from sale and hypothecation during the four years 1871-4 amounted
to $1,406,650.60 as compared with $3,900,766 derived from tax-
ation.

Eeceipts from the sale of land were neglibly small on account of
the policy of giving away the public domain to actual settlers.

Heads of families without a homestead were entitled to one hun-
dred and sixty, single men to eighty, acres. The conditions at-
tached to the gift were three years' residence upon the land and
payment of the land office fees. The convention of 1868 granted

^Message of Governor Davis, November 28, 1871. Senate .Journal, 12th
l^egislature, Second Session, p. 466.

^^Aet of December 1, 1871. Gammel. La\os of Texas, VII, 57.
-Message of Governor Davis, January 14, 1873. House Journal, 13th

Legislature, p. 20.

^Census of 1870, Vol. I; Comptroller's Report, 1870, p. 85.
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to Texans who had served in the Union army a bounty of land

which varied from eighty to three hundred and twenty acres per

man Previons to the constitution of 1869 and after the adoption

of the constitutional amendment of 1873 grants also were made

to railroads, and nine of the roads chartered dnring 1873 and 1874

received grants. School lands and certain other lands were re-

served from location by settlers or railroads, but only a small

amount of them were sold, and that during the early part of the

period One of the merits of the Reconstruction governments is

that the school, university, and asylum lands were not suffered to

be spoliated. No provision for their sale was really made until

1874.
SCHOOL FUND

At the beginning of this period the assets to the credit of the

school fund were $1,753,317 of 6 per cent railroad bonds, $320,-

367 13 of 6 per cent state bonds, and $19,474 in state warrants.

The amended constitution of 1866 reserved to the school fund

its former endowments of securities and lands, but it did not pro-

vide, as had the old constitution, that a part of the annual revenue

of the state derived from taxation should belong to the fund. As

a result, the receipts during the five years 1866-1870 were from

lands and railroad bonds only and were insigmficant m amount.

The constitution of 1869 made some important changes. Endow-

ments theretofore made were confirmed, and all of the proceeds

of the public domain, one-fourth of the annual revenue from tax-

ation, and a poll tax of $1 were granted. By the act of August 13

1870 the present division of the school funds into a permanent

fund' and an available fund was made. Under the new tax pro-

visions a total of $1,053,625 was received by the available fund

durino- the four years 1871-1874. Apportionment, which had been

suspended since the war, was begun in 1872, the per capita vary-

in- between $1.81 and $1.95. As there was little local taxation to

supplement the state apportioned funds, the school facilities af-

forded were meager, but any facilities at all represented a step

forward. Such opposition as was expressed to taxation for schools

was not against the state taxes but against the taxes which the

countv or school districts M^ere empowered to levy. Most strongly

protested was the 1 per cent ad valorem tax 'which the directors of
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each school district could, by the act of April 17, 1871, levy for

the purpose of building schoolhouses and maintaining schools.^

A question which came up for consideration during this period,

and which was of great importance to the school fund, was the ad-

justment of the indebtedness of the railroad companies to the fund.

The act of November 10, 1866, gave the companies the privilege

of paying the interest past due in installments, the last payment
to be made June 1, 1870. During 1867 and 1868, $60,871.73 was

paid. On March 1, 1868, the companies owed $1:50,140.08 on ac-

count of accrued interest, and $1,753,317 as principal, or a total

of $3,203,457.08.2 The Eeconstruetion Convention of 1868-9 was

disposed not to be lenient with the companies. It granted relief

to the Houston and Texas Central, to which was joined the Wash-

ington County railroad, and to the Southern Pacific, but the Hous-

ton Tap and Brazoria and the Texas and JSTew Orleans were or-

dered sold.^ Belief was extended to all the roads by the act of

August 13, 1870, permitting payment every six months of interest

and in addition 1 per cent toward a sinking fund. The only road

sold for failure to accept these provisions was the Houston Tap
and Brazoria. The amount obtained from this sale was $130,000.*

The Houston and Texas Central and the Southern Pacific were

permitted to exchange for their indebtedness new 7 per cent bonds,

and the Central was further favored by having credit allowed it

for the sums paid for interest in treasury warrants during 1864

and 1865.^ The validity of the payments of state warrants during

the war was subsequently contested, however, but settled in favor

of the railroads. Interest payments were resumed by the compa-

nies in 1871, but the experience with them was responsible for the

constitutional provision that future investments of the school fund

should be in United States bonds.

In 1868, $82,168.82 in 5 per cent state bonds appeared among
the assets of the permanent school fund. These ])onds replaced

^Proceedings of the Tax-payers' Convention, Austin, 1871, pp. 17, 22
and 27; Kinney v. Zimpleman, 36 Tex., 554. See also Clegg v. the State,
42 Tex., 605.

'Comptroller's Eeport, 1868-9.

'Gammel, Lcms of Texas, VT, 58, 89, 47 and 48.

^Comptroller's Eeport, 1871.

'Gainmel, Laws of Texas, Yl, 58, 89 and 325.
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that amount of cash which was derived from the payment of United

States bonds belonging to the fund and which had been used by the

state government. They were regarded as a valid debt of the state,

but no interest was paid on them. The 6 per cent bonds for

$320,367.13 which were executed to the fund during the war in

funding state treasury warrants received from railroads in pay-

ment of the interest and principal of their indebtedness, were not

recognized as a valid debt during this period.^

TJNIVEKSITY FUND

The university fund had been depleted of its assets by the legis-

lation of 1860 and was possessed of nothing at the beginning of this

period except some state warrants and a comptroller's certificate

of indebtedness, both of which were of doubtful validity.

The constitution of 1866 reserved to university purposes the pre-

vious grants, bu.t the constitution of 1869 made no reference what-

ever to the subject. The act of Novembei 12, 1866, provided for

the issue to the fund of $134,472.26 of 5 per cent state bonds to

replace the United States bonds and interest on same which were

appropriated in 1860. No interest was paid on this debt, however,

during this period. Measures were passed in 1870 and 1871 au-

thorizing the sale of the university lands, but they were vetoed by

Governor Davis on the ground that there existed no necessity for

sacrificing these lands.^ The act of April 8, 1874, provided for

the sale of the lands, however, and the receipts under this act are

the only ones accruing to the fund from any source during the

Eeconstruetion period.

.

AGRICULTURAL AND MECHANICAL COLLEGE

By the act of Congress of 1862 and the supplementary act of

1866, Texas received from the United States land scrip for 180,000

acres for the purpose of establishing an agricultural and mechan-

ical college. This scrip was sold in 1871 at 87 cents an acre, the

amount realized being $156,600. This was quite as well as other

states did in the sale of their scrip, but representing as it did some

^Message of Governor Davis, August 6, 1870.

^Veto message of May 29, 1871.
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of the best land of tlie national domain^ it was unfortunate that

it could not have been held for sale till a later date.^ The pro-

ceeds were invested in $174,000 7 per cent frontier defence bonds

of the state and in $12,000 10 per cent bonds of Brazos county;

$12,000 of the proceeds were drawn under the pretence that it was

necessary to purchase the lands required for the location of the

college, but the money was loaned and the comptroller held unpaid

notes for it; $21,096 also was expended for a worthless foundation

for the main building.^

PUBLIC DEBT

The amended constitution of 1866 limited the debt that could

be contracted by the legislature to $100,000, except in case of war,

to repel invasion, or suppress insurrection. And the convention of

1866, in conformity with the fourteenth amendment to the consti-

tution of the United States, declared the debt created in aid of

the war null and void, and the civil debt contrasted between Jan-

uary 28, 1861, and August 5, 1865, except warrants issued in pay-

ment of services, or liabilities incurred, before January 28, 1861,

also was nullified.'' The arguments advanced in support of repu-

diating the civil debt were: first, that it consisted largely of treas-

ury warrants which had been issued with the intention of their

circulation as money, and were therefore in violation of article YII,

section 8 of the amended constitution of 1861 ; second, that the

assumption of this debt would bankrupt the state; third, that the

warrants were in the hands of domestic speculators who had evaded

military service during the war; and, fourth, that a large amount
of the debt had been contracted for the persecution of Union sym-

pathizers.* Opposing arguments were based on the injustice to

those who had furnished their services and goods to the state insti-

tutions and civil departments and on the effect the repudiation

would have on the credit of the state."

'The San Antonio Daily Herald, April 14, 1871.

^House Journal, 14th Legislature, p. 119.

'Gammel, Laws of Texas, V, 887, 900.

*Eamsclell, Reconstruction in Texas, 102.

"Convention Journal, 1806, p. 117; House Journal, 11th Legislature,

p. 193.
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The Throckmorton administration of 1866 authorized the iscue

of $500,000 8 per cent frontier defence bonds, and created an

auditorial board. None of the frontier bonds were issued, but pur-

suant to the convention ordinance of April 2, 1866, providing for

the issue of 5 per cent bonds to take the place of the United States

bonds and interest coupons transferred from the university fund

in 1860 and those appropriated since the close of the war belonging

to the common school fund, $134,472.26 of 5 per cent state bonds

were issued to the university fund and $82,168.82 to the school

fund.i

The auditorial board of 1866, up to the time of the close of its

work, estimated the valid debt of the state at $332,436.90, hwi of

this amount it had audited only $149,145.34. Of this latter amount

$6894.24 had been issued since the close of the war. The board

issued $125,000 6 per cent bonds, known as the Throckmorton

bonds, to take up a part of the audited debt, the balance, or $24,-

045.34, being represented by certificates of debt. This determina-

tion of the debt was not regarded as a full statement and, besides,

was not thought to adhere to the requirements of the constitution.^

The constitution of 1869 is unique among Texas constitutions

for the absence of any limit to the debt-creating power of the legis-

lature. It said simply that upon the creation of state debt, ade-

quate means for the payment of the current interest and a 2 per

cent sinking fund should be provided. This constitution also con-

tained the provision which pronounced the war debt, military and

civil, void, and went a stejD beyond the ordinance of 1866 with the

provision that "all impaid balances, whether of salary, per diem, or

monthly allowances, due to employes of the state, who were in the

service thereof on the said 28th day of January, 1861, civil or mili-

tary, and who gave their aid, countenance or support to the rebel-

lion then inaugurated against the government of the United

States," were forfeited, and all the 10 per cent interest warrants

issued during the war for non-interest warrants were declared

paid and discharged. The repudiation of the civil debt in 1866

and this additional repudiation by the constitution of 1869 were

^Garniiiel, Laws of Texas, V, 1126; Comptroller's Report, 1870.

'Comptroller's Report, 18(58-9, p. 1 ; Comptroller's Report, 1870, p. 8.
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not enjoined by national law and they can not be justified by any

moral sense.

A bill was introduced in the called session of the twelfth legis-

lature in 1870 to audit and ascertain the public debt, but it was not

passed until the eve of adjournment and did not receive the sig-

nature of the governor.^ At the regular session, however, a simi-

lar measure was passed and became a law.^ The auditorial board

created by it reported under date of September 1, 1871.^ It stated

that it had been unable to find any error in the auditing by the

board of 1866, with the exception of $10,283.13 allowed as interest

on non-interest warrants. In regard to the unpaid balances due

on January 28, 1861, and the 10 per cent interest warrants ex-

changed during the war for non-interest warrants, the validity of

which was interdicted by the constitution of 1869, the board said

that the former character of claims would not exceed $10,000,

that the warrants exchanged amounted to $78,466.51, and that the

board of 1866 had funded $40,000 of these claims in 6 per cent

bonds. The new board further stated that the holders of these

bonds refused to submit them for cancellation. On account of the

higher interest (10 per cent) which the valid portion of the claims

would bear if re-audited as compared with the 6 per cent interest

which the bonds bore, it was estimated that the state would save

only about $25,000 by repudiating the claims. In view of these

circumstances, the board recommended that the action of the board

of 1866 be confirmed, and this was adopted by the act of November

13, 1871.* As a result of the action of the two auditorial boards

a total debt of $251,047.84 was recognized.^ Wliile a small portion

of this amount,—the records do not disclose how much,—was in-

curred after the close of the war, it may be regarded as the pre-

Eeconstruetion debt due individuals.

The beginning of the Reconstruction debt proper was in 1870.

By the act of August 5, 1870, the issue of $750,000 of 7 per cent

gold bonds, redeemable after twenty years and payable after forty

^Comptroller's Report, 1870, 10.

=Act of May 2, 1871, Gammel, Laws of Texas. VI, 069.

House Journal, 12tli Legislature, Second Session, p. 66.

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, VII, 27.

'Comptroller's Report, 1874, p. 77. -
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years, was authorized to meet the appropriations made for main-

taining ranging companies on the frontier.^ Authority was given

also to levy a tax sufficient to pay the interest and provide a sink-

ing fund for the bonds, and the governor was empowered to sell

or hypothecate the issues at the best price obtainable, the commis-

sion on sale, however, being restricted to not more than 1 per cent.

The governor and the comptroller and treasurer were at logger-

heads for a time, the latter officers declining to give their signa-

tures to the engraver on the ground that it would place the credit

of the state in the engraver's hands.- Only three hundred and fifty

of the bonds were sold during this period and these in the year

1871 and at an average price of 89.4. The gross amount received

was $313,200, which, after deducting commissions, left a net amount

of $312,200.3 Of the three hundred and fifty sold, one hundred

and seventy-four were exchanged for cash held in the Agricultural

and Mechanical College fund, leaving only one hundred and sev-

ent3r-six disposed of to outsiders. These circumstances attest a

difficulty of sale due to lack of faith in the state's credit. The in-

terest on these bonds was met and a sinking fund was established.

The sinking fund, however, was not invested in United States

bonds, but was used to retire the frontier defence bonds, and up to

August 31, 1874, $53,000 of these bonds had been redeemed.

Beginning with the fiscal year 1870 there were annual deficiencies

in the current revenue, and bond sales were resorted to for the ]3ur-

pose of making ends meet. In May, 1871, $400,000 10 per cent

bonds, redeemable in lawful currency of the United States after

two years and payable after five years, were authorized to cover the

-deficiencies of 1871 and 1872, and in December, 1871, an issue of

$2,000,000 7 per cent, twenty year bonds, were authorized for de-

ficiency purposes. There were no restrictions as to the price at

which these bonds should be sold, and in the case of the December

issue no limit as to the commission that might be paid for sale.* In

May, 1873, $500,000 10 per cent bonds, redeemable after three

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, VI, 210. These are known as the frontier

defence bonds.

=The San Antonio Daily Herald, September 7, 1870.

'Statement of the Comptroller. House Journal, 16th Legislature, First

Session, p. 79.

^Gammel, Laws of Texas, VI, 1008; VII, 65.
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years and pa.yable after ten years, were authorized for the pur-

pose of funding state warrants.^ There were sold in 1871 and

1872 two hundred and fifty-two of the deficiency bonds authorized

by the act of May 3, 1871. At an average price of 93.5 they yielded

gross $335,870.74, but with commissions deducted the net amoimt
received was $339,375.94, and $156,433.47 of this amount was

received in state warrants. ^ None of the deficiency bonds author-

ized by the act of December 3, 1871, were sold, and only $89,800

of the 10 per cent funding bonds were issued up to August 31,

1874. In addition to bonds sold, three hundred and fifty of the

frontier defence and one hundred of the deficiency bonds were

hjrpothecated with Williams and Guion of New York for $337,-

074.70.

Excluding $650,000 of debt authorized by the act of March 4,

1874, because it represents a measure of the administration wh.ich

succeeded the Eeconstruction, there was added to the funded debt

of the state up to August 31, 1874, a gross amount of $900,900.

There was redeemed during the period $57,100 of debt, so that

the net addition was $843,800. There was besides a floating debt

of $1,568,836.31, making a total debt contracted before January

14, 1874, or the date when the democratic administration suc-

ceeded the radical, of $3,413,636.31. There was also the debt due
the school and university funds which was classed as of doubtful

validity and which amounted to $809,311.67. The sum of the

recognized and the doubtful debt is $3,331,937.98. Deducting
$950,321.88,—which is the sum of the debt ascertained by the

auditorial boards of 1866 and 1871 ($351,047.84), the debt of

doiibtful validity with accrued interest due the university fund,

and the indebtedness to the school fund under the act of Novem-
ber 15, 1864,—as the amount of pre-reconstruction debt, there re-

mains $3,371,606.10. This latter amount is the debt imputable
to Eeconstruction. The portion of this which was incurred dur-
ing the Davis administration is approximately $3,172,263.31.

The debt policy of the reconstructionists is open to sharp criti-

cism. The issue of bonds to meet deficiencies in the revenue when
caused by extravagance in expenditures is illegitimate financiering

^Gammel, Laws o,/ Texas, VII, 571.

'House Journal, 16th Legislature, First Session, p. 79.
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and is to be wholly condemned. The funded debt also existed in

five different shapes and was issued under as many different stat-

utes. A debt issued under more uniform provisions would probably

have been more inviting to capitalists. Considering, however, the

character of the state government at this time and the doubtfulness

of state credit generally, the prices at which the bonds were sold

were fair.

The result of the large floating debt was injustice to creditors,

an added cost to the state for supplies purchased, and collusion

between officials and creditors in the payment of warrants.^ The

discount on warrants was as much as 50 per cent, and the spectacle

was presented of men and boys employed by merchants to stand in

the treasurer's office from morning until night to watch for de-

posits.^ Suggestions were made for paying warrants according to

their date or number, and for making them receivable at the treas-

ury in discharge of debts due the state, but neither of these was

adopted, though the former would seem to have been desirable. As

soon as the new administration came into power the payment of

warrants dated before January 15, 1874, was temporarily arrested,

but they were allowed 8 per cent interest from date of registration

with the comptroller.^

But for the chance obstinacy of the comptroller and the opposi-

tion of the governor, Texas would have issued from the Eecon-

struction period saddled with a heavy debt representing subsidies

to railroads. The state was under moral obligation to the Inter-

national Railroad Company to adjust its claim to a subsidy, be-

cause construction of the road had begun and the company had

otherwise met the conditions of the chartering act. The blocking

of the will of the legislature and of the governor in this matter by

the comptroller, while his action redounded to the welfare of the

state, was, to put it mildly, extraordinarily presumptions. In the

^Message of Governor Coke. February 10, 1874. Warrants outstanding

on the general revenue fund amounted on August 31, 1872, to $544,745.24;

on August 31, 1873, to $679,404.83: on August 31, 1874, to $628,370.23,

and warrants outstanding on the scliool fund at the latter date amounted
to $104,577.74.

-House Journal, 12th Legislature, Second Session, p. 435; message of

Governor Davis, January 14, 1873; message of Governor Coke, February

10, 1874.

^Aet of March 7, 1874. Gammel, Lmos of Texas, VIII, 241.
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adjustment of the matter a very respectable element favored a

subsidy and thought that this kind of aid generally would be the

most effective in securing railroads. The cost, however, which this

policy would have involved would have been beyond the ability of

the state, and the grant of land and exemption from taxation for

twenty-five years to the International company and land grants to

other companies is to be regarded as a wise solution of the vexed

question.

CONCLUSION

The salient features of the Eeconstruction financial period of

Texas history are the large growth of expenditures, the great in-

crease in taxation, and the rapid accumulation of a comparatively

heavy debt. The finances do not indicate the ru.le, however, of

such venal and pillaging adventurers as infested other southern

states with carpet-bag governments. At the same time there was

more open abuse of public trust than at any other period of the

state's history. An adjutant-general was guilty of defalcation of

about $30,000,'^ the funds of the treasury department were used

for a time to abet private ends and its books fell into "reckless

disorder,^ petty jobbery existed in supplying state institutions, and

bribery was charged on high authority to have been instrumental in

securing the subsidy to the International railroad.

^House Journal, 1.3th Legislature, p. 34.

''House Journal, 13th Legislature, p. 27.
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The City of Austin from 1839 to 1865.

THE CITY OF AUSTIN FEOM 1839 TO 1865

ALES. W. TERRELL

The ground on which the City of Austin is built was selected
as the proper place for the Capital of the Eepublic of Texas in
1839, SIX years before annexation to the United States
How it happened that the seat of government was thus lo-

cated, what public houses were then built for the Eepublic, when
and how they were erected, and other matters of public inter-
est connected with the early history of Austin should be made
known to this generation before a knowledge of them fades into
vague tradition. Many events that illustrate the conditions that
surrounded the settlers on the upper Colorado over seventy years
ago were of deep interest to them, but have never been recorded
on the elevated plane of general history.

When I moved to Austin fifty-eight years ago, nearly all of
the pioneer citizens of Austin's Colony were living; many of them
I Imew, as T did also all the Presidents of the Eepublic and gov-
ernors of the State except Anson Jones.

General Lamar, in the autumn of 1837 or 1838, weary with
official duties, came to the upper Colorado on a buffalo hunt He
procured an escort of six rangers at the old fort that stood in
J^ort Prairie, six miles below where Austin now is. Among them
were James 0. Eice and Willis Avery, both of whom long after-
wards became my clients. From them and from the Eev. Edward
iontame (a great-grandson of Patrick Henry), then the Epis-
copal minister in Austin, who for years was my friend and neigh-
bor I learned what I am about to state regarding Lamar's buffalo
hunt and other matters.

Jacob_ Harrell was then the only white frontier settler where
Austin IS located, and no white man lived on the waters of the
Colorado above him. His cabin, and a stockade made of splitbgs to protect his horses from the Indians, were ])uilt at themouth of Shoal Creek, near the river ford. There Lamar andlontame (who was his private secretary), and their ranger escortcamped for the night, and were awakened next morning early byJake HarrelFs little son, who told them that the prairie was'ful
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of buiialo. Lamar and his men were soon in the saddle, and

after killing all the buffalo they wanted were assembled by a re-

call sounded by the bugler on the very hill where now stands the

State Capitol "building. Lamar, while looking from that hill on

the valley covered with wild rye —the mountains up the river,

and the charming view to the south, remarked, "This should be

the seat of future Empire." The night before Harrell had told

Lamar that he had gone up the Colorado for thirty miles in the

dark of the moon, Avhen he could go with safety (for Indians

always made their forays in the light of the moon),—that he had

not found a valley as "big as a saddle blanket,"—that the moun-

tains were covered with cedar, and that he had found in abund-

ance "grindstone rocks" and "speckled rock that would strike

fire."

General Lamar was a man of culture, and then knew that he

was near an igneous or primary geological formation, which no

one then believed existed in Texas. Mr. Fontaine thought the

abundance of stone and wood for building, and the natural beauty

of the location, which was at the northern limit of the alluvial

valley of the Colorado, inspired the remark of General Lamar.

Willis Avery, whose posterity still live in Texas, told me that

Lamar killed on that himt with his holster pistol near where the

Avenue Hotel now stands the largest buffalo bull he ever saw.

When afterwards in 1839 Lamar was president he approved the

Act of Congress of January 16, 1839, which provided for the

appointment of Commissioners to select a site for the Capital. He

appointed among them A. C. Horton, whom I knew well, and in-

structed them to go to Jake Harrell's cabin and look carefully at

that location. Fontaine was present when the President talked

to the Commissioners, and thought that Lamar's admiration of

the ground near Harrell's cabin had much to do with the report

of the Commissioners.^

A few cabins had been built on the river two and a half miles

below Harrell's cabin, and they called the place "Montopolis."

^Tlie foregoing account of Lamar's remark on Capitol hill may seem

to have the odor of romance; but there are still living in Austin a few

persons who knew Mr. Fontaine. I never had cause to doubt his verac-

ity Both James O. Rice and Willis Avery verified to me all the inci-

dents of the buffalo hunt, except Lamar's remark about "the seat of

future Empire."
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The site selected for the Capital extended below and above that
place so as to include Harrell's cabin. Two or three other set-

lers had built their cabins in 1839 at the river ford near Har-
rell's and they called the place "Waterloo."

The Congress, mindful of the exalted character and patriotic
service of Stephen P. Austin, provided, in Section 2 of the act
to appoint Commissioners, as follows:

"Sec. 2. Be it further enacted that the name of said site shall
be 'The City of Austin.'

"

The tirst section of the act required that the site for the Capi-
tal "should be selected at some point between the rivers 'Trinidad
and Colorado,"' and above the San Antonio road. That road
was then a noted trail, which was often called for in the early
prairie surveys of Travis and other counties. It started from a
Mission Church in Louisiana and had been traveled for over a
hundred years by Mission priests, led by an "Intendant," and
protected by an escort of Spanish cavalry in their annual visita-

tions of the Missions of San Jose, Concepeion and San Juan near
San Antonio,—then they visited the mission on the San Saba
until after the priests there were massacred by the Indians. The
annual visitations continued to the Missions at El Paso, on to
the Gila Eiver in Mexico and terminated at the Missions in Cali-

fornia.i That old San Antonio trail crossed the Colorado eighteen
miles below Austin before the town of Bastrop was built. After
Bastrop was settled it crossed the Colorado at that point. Its

location could be traced across Texas in many places as late as
1852.2

After selecting the ground for the Capital, the Commissioners
surveyed one mile square, laying it off in blocks and lots be-

tween Shoal Creek and Waller Creek, and designated locations
for the public buildings. Their report to Congress was made on
April 13, 1839, and so rapidly was the work of building pushed

'When in 1858 or 18.59 the title to tlie eight leagaies of land granted by
the King of Spain to San Antonio was tried before me as judge in San
Antonio, the annual visitations of the Missions across the continent was
revealed in the testimony. Navarro and Manchaca, then old men, re-
membered seeing the annual arrival of the priests.

^The early Spanish grants to land in Travis and Hays counties made
before 1836 often called for the San Antonio road in tlie field notes It
crossed the Blanco at McGehee's Orossino-.
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that in October, 1839, houses for the accommodation of most of

the various departments of government had been erected.

The United States Census of 1850, taken five years after annexa-

tion, jjave for Austin a population of 629. Two years after that I

first s^aw the city and then tlie population did not, I think, exceed

800. The slowness of its growth resulted not only from the fact

that it was on the very border of the upper settlements and ex-

posed at all times to Mexican invasions and Indian forays, but

because of continued opposition from prominent public men, and

from other sections of the Eepublic to the location. Commission-

ers had been appointed three times by as many sessions of Con-

gress to locate a State Capital. The first Commission^ was

created under a resolution offered by Thos. J. Kusk, in October,

1837, then a man of great influence and afterwards a colleague

of General Houston in the United States Senate. He was a

member of the House from Eastern Texas, and his influence pre-

vailed to incorporate in the first act to select a seat of govern-

ment the provision that the place chosen should not be over

twenty miles north of the San Antonio road. In this policy of

going north of the San Antonio road, General Houston never

concairred.- No mention was made of the San Antonio road in

the joint resolution under which the second set of commissioners

were appointed, though President Houston vetoed a bill which

located the seat of govei'nment under the report of the Conunis-

sioners, on the Colorado Eiver below La Grange, and Congress

continued for a time at Houston. But the Act of January 14,

1839, approved by President Lamar, did provide for the location

north of the San Antonio road, and shows tliat the influence of

Eastern Texas, comhined with the AVest, led by General Ed. Bur-

leson and John Caldwell, was too strong for those who desired

the seat of government to be established in Houston, or at old

Washington, on the Brazos.

Edwin Waller, protected by a company of armed citizens, be-

gan in Austin the work of building houses for the use of the

Eepublic of Texas in May, 1839; and though no lumber mill

'The Acts of Congress and a.ction under them to select a seat of gov-

ernment haVe been carefully reviewed by Ernest William Winkler, A. M.,

in The Quaeterly, X, 185-245.

=House Journal, Second Congress, 38-39.
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had been established to furnish plank, houses had been built by

October, 1839, in which forty wagon loads of archives, books,

paper and furniture of the Republic were stored.

It was a proud day for the citizens of Austin when on the 17th

day of October, 1839, President Lamar and his cabinet reached

there with a cavalcade, at the head of which was Albert Sidney

Johnston and Col. Ed. Burleson. A bugler heralded their ap-

proach. That night they enjoyed in the Bullock Hotel (kept

then by Mrs. Ebberly) a sumptuous repast. Mrs. Ebberly was a

sister of Col. Bailey Peyton of Mexican War celebrity in 1846,

and wlio represented General Jackson's district in Congress. Mrs.

Ebberly became a great favorite with the early settlers of Austin

on account of her heroic conduct when the effort was made to

remove the archives. -

At that supper many toasts were drunk, among them the fol-

lowing :

"Sam Houston and San Jacinto ! They will be remembered as

Icng as Texas possesses a single freeman."

"General Albert Sidney Johnston—a scholar, a soldier, and a

gentleman; the highest qualities a man can possess."

"The memory or Stephen F. Austin ; whatever may be the pre-

tensions of others to the paternity of Texas, we recognize him alone

as the father of this Republic."^

The houses were generally built of hewed logs, being double log

houses, with a passage between. The plank for building was

sawed near Bastrop. Pine logs were squared with a broadaxe and

then placed on a scaffold. One man on the top of the log and

another below, after lining the log, sawed the plank with a whip-

saw. Mr. J. W. Darlington, now ninety years old, with mind

and memory well preserved, assisted in hauling the plank to Aus-

tin. He now lives in Austin. All the public houses were cov-

ered with split boards, rived by hand with a froe. Instead of

being nailed, they were at first weighted down and held in place

by straight logs. After a time the houses were covered with

shingles, which were nailed on. A double log house with a pas-

sage between was built in 1839 on the east side of Congress

Avenae at its intersection with Eighth Street, on the southwest

^The full account of that banquet was published by our State Li-

brarian, E. W. Winkler, in The Quarterly, X, 185-245.
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corner of Block 97, al)ove the present Avemie Hotel, and retired

about fifteen paces from Congress Avenue. There Lamar, Hous-

ton and Anson Jones, as Presidents, had their business office.

There Houston received M. de Saligney, the Minister of France

to Texas, and there Governors J. Pinckney Henderson, Wood,
Bell and Pease had their offices until 1855. Governor Bell occu-

pied it when I reached Austin in 1852.

The first Land Office stood in the rear of that house and was

one and a half stories high. It remained there until after our

Civil War, and in it Morgan C. Hamilton, who never married,

had his bedroom and office in 1868. On the block where the

Avenue Hotel now stands (Block 84) were three double log houses

(on the east side of Congress Avenue) for the War Department

and Adjutant General. In similar log houses the State Depart-

ment was established on Lot 6 in Block S3 (on the west side of

Congress Avenue, betvv^een Seventh and Eighth Streets), and the

Navy Department on Lot 1 of the same block. The log houses

bidlt in 1839 were of post-oak logs that grew where Hyde Park

now is.^ They were there cut and not hewed, on account of dan-

ger from Indians, until they were hauled to places where they were

to be used. There was a post-oak forest at Hyde Park. The Eb-

berly (or Bullock) Hotel, across Sixth Street from the Scarbrough

corner on Congress Avenue and on the southeast corner of Block 70,

was built in 1839, the first story of hewed logs ; the uj^per story

of cottonwoofl plank, which in later years, about 1841, was re-

moved, and the entire house weather-boarded with pine plank.

The lot on which the old treasury building stood (Lot 4, Block

55) was sold by the State in 1853 to George Hancock, who, in

1856, sold the lumber in the house to Alex. Eanes, who used it in

building a house on Sabine Street, between Seventeenth and

Eighteenth. I know of no other remnant of buildings erected in

1839 except this house on Sabine Street. The house of the

French Minister to the Eepublic, built afterwards with the gold of

Louis Philippe, still remains on Bobertson Hill.

The old Supreme Courthouse built in 1839 was erected south

Mohn Darlington, who still lives, hauled the logs from there. The
stumps of the old trees could be seen when our mile race track was there
before the Civil Wa;r.
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of Pecan Street and east .of Congress Avenue, on the lot now

owned by the heirs of Mr. Baron.

The Temporary Capitol for the use of Congress was built on

Lots 9, 10 and 11, in Block 98, very near the spot now occupied

by the Austin City Hall. It fronted to the east and was but one

story high. A broad hall extended east and west, behind which

were the committee rooms. The Senate Chamber was in the

north end and the Hall of the House in the south. I attended

one session of the district court held in the Hall of Eepresenta-

tives in that old building in 185-1.

The President's house was more pretentious, being a two-story

frame house and built on Block 85, where now stands St. Mary's

Academy. It fronted to the south and was afterwards burned.^

The first Austin sale of city lots (August 1, 1839) was made

imder a clump of live-oak trees, on the public square between

Fifth and Fourth Streets (Pine and Cedar on original map), and

between Blocks 45 and 46. The old trees still stand there, but

commercial vandalism has been at work on them, for the tops

have heen inutilated for an electric or telephone wire. They stand

on the north side of the public square, not over a hundred paces

east of the residence of Mrs. A. J. Hamilton. George Durham's

spring was near there. Mr. Darlington identified the spot.

The camp for the laborers who built the houses in 1839 was

also near George Durham's spring at the intersection of Sixtli and

Nueces Streets.

For a short time emigrants came rapidly and built houses. The

first store house was built by one Enssell in the summer of 1839

at the corner of Congress Avenue and Sixth Street, where now

stands the elegant eight-story building of Mr. Scarbrough. The

house was a two-story frame, extending west about eighty feet;

the studding, sills and joists were of hewed mountain cedar, and

the plank for floors and weather-boarding were sawed with a

whip-saw by hand. Russell sold the place to George Hancock,

who, with Morgan Hamilton as his partner, sold dry goods and

groceries there for several years, and then Hancock continued

^Tlie studding in all the frame buildings was made of small post oak
saplings hewed to a straight line on one side. The sills and joists were
usually of white cedar from the mountains or post oak, hewed to a

straight edge with the broadaxe.
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business on his own account until the Civil War in 1861. After

the war Hamilton was elected to the United States Senate.

George Hancock retailed salt, bacon, whisky and other groceries

on one side of his store, and calico and dry goods on the other

side, as all merchants did in those days. In 1853, Hancock built

a two-story brick house on West Sixth Street, joining his old

frame building and on the ground now covered by the west end of

the new Scarbrough building. After the Civil AVar he tore down

the old frame house and extended the brick house to Congress

Avenue.

In the upper story of that brick house (first built) the dis-

trict court held a session in 1854. In 1861 a company of "Union

men" called "home guards" drilled there in the manual of arms

until a short time after Fort Sumter was assaulted. Then many

of them crossed the Eio Grande. Amongst those whom I saw drill-

ing in that upper story were Thos. H. Duval, United States Dis-

trict Judge; James H. Bell, one of the Judges of the Supreme

Court of Texas ; E. B. Turner, who after the war was appointed

United States District Judge ; John Hancock, afterwards a mem-

ber of Congress; A. J. Hamilton, my law partner when I was

elected district judge in 1857, and United States Congressman

from Texas when the Civil War began; Morgan Hamilton,

Wm. P. DelSTormandie, ex-Governor E. M. Pease, Doctors

Lane and Litten, John T. Allen, Buddington, and still others. Mor-

ga-n Hamilton. George Hancock, E. M. Pease, Judge Bell, Dr.

Litten and a few other Union men remained in Austin until the

close of the Civil War; but their opposition to secession was not

concealed, and that fact made their condition one of great dis-

quiet during the war.

Governor A. J. Hamilton was in the prime of manhood when

the Civil War began in 1861. He was a man of great eloquence.

Now that he is dead and the feelings, engendered by the war,

which once alienated us no longer exist, I here record my admira-

tion of his exalted patriotism and devotion to duty—as he u.nder-

stood it.

The Hancock corner (now the Scarbrough corner), at the in-

tersection of Congress Avenue and Sixth Street, has always been

a favorite resort. There the lawyers of Austin would meet before

the Civil War on horseback in the afternoons of July and August
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and ride to Barton's Creek for a cool bath, for then we had no

ice, telegraphs, telephones, barbed wire fences, or modern con-

veniences, and a cool bath was a great hixiiry. All of those

lawyers are now dead except myself, James Smith, W. M. Walton,

and many of them,—John Marshall, Ben Carter, Dick Browning,

General iVm. E. Scnrry, and still others, died on some battlefield.

On that old Hancock corner George Hancock planted a tall

flagpole in 1860, and floated from it the United States flag nntil

Fort Sumter was assaulted in 1861, when he was compelled to take

dov/n his flag. When the first United States troops entered Austin

after the Civil War on the 25th of July, 1865, they halted at that

flagpole, for Hancock had again hoisted his flag, and the troops

called on him for a speech. He was no speaker, but a man of fine

common sense, and George W. Paschal and E. B. Turner did the

speaking. I was not present, but Frank Brown and Major Wm.

M. Walton were there.

On Lot -4 in Block 55, about sixty feet below the old Hancock

store, which stood on the corner of the Avenue and Sixth Street, a

large one-story frame structure was built to serve as an office for the

treasurer and comptroller. The building was retired some fifteen

paces from the street ; it had a broad hall running east and west.

In it was also the Auditor's office, where the debt of the Eepublic

was scaled, which gave great offense to the creditors. Thomas J.

Jennings, Attorney General of the State, had his office there after

the new Treasury building was constructed in 1853. That new

structure was built of sawed white stone, and stood northeast of

the present State Capitol within the Capitol enclosure.^

Judge W. S. Oldham, Walton and Bledsoe, Thomas E. Sneed,

A. J. Hamilton, Ben Carter and myself had our law offices in

the old Treasury building below Hancock's store in 1855. There

were in 1852 over sixty names of attorneys on the attorneys' roll

of the Austin Bar. James Smith, who had just come to the bar

nVhen in Jerusalem in 189.5 I noticed that the stone in the quarry

tinder the city from which Solomon obtained the stone for the Temple
was identicar with that used in that Treasury building in Austin, and

that the broad leaf prickly pear was abundant just outside of the walls

to the right of the Jaffa Gate. I thought then of Texas and that since

the Savior had selected such a place as Jerusalem to teach and suffer

in, even here in Texas one might indulge hope for the future.
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in 1852 and ni3'self, alone survive. Major Wm. M, Walton, wlio

still lives, came to Austin in 1853.

The yard in front of the old frame Treasury building v?as al-

ways a favorite resort on summer afternoons. There Lamar,

Houston and Anson Jones, as Presidents, and after them J.

Pinekney Henderson, Wood, and Bell as Governors, would meet

the Treasurer and heads of departments and receive pay for pub-

lic ser\-ice, sometimes in "Red Backs" and "Star Money," which

fluctuated in value with the fortunes of the Eepublic. It was at

one time so depreciated that it required ten dollars of paper to

purchase a Mexican silver dollar. To that old Treasury build-

ing also came the Eanger Captains of the frontier,—the two

McCuUochs, Andy Walker, Add Gillespie, Jim Eice, Jack Hays,

Colonel Moore, Burleson, Dick Scurry and others,—to receive

tlieir pay, to speak of their scouts and Indian tights, and to dis-

cuss the outlook for Texas.

Adjoining the old Hancock store on Congress Avenue and Sixth

Street was a small one-story house, where Chief Justice John

Hemphill lived until 1853. He never married, but the domestic

economy was looked after by old Sabina, his African slave. In

1853 he moved to a larger house just south of the present Catholic

Church, where he lived imtil he was elected to the United States

Senate before the Civil War. Just below his small house on Con-

gress Avenue stood the old Treasury and Comptroller's office above

referred to.

The records of the General Land Office were moved in 1852 to

a new two-story stone house that stood just north of the west end of

our present Capitol building. In the upper story of that house

the Supreme Court held its sessions for many years, and the Land

Office remained there until about 1856, when the new Land Office

was finished, where it now stands.

On the original map of tlie city the west half of Block 170,

where the Land Office now stands, was designated for the "Presi-

dent's House." Governor E. M. Pease, in 1855, thought the

ground where the Executive Mansion now stands, was a better

place and had the Governoi^'s Mansion built there. The half

blocks joining the Capitol square on the west and marked "Attor-

ney General," and "General Land Office" were never built on for

department use.
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General Albert Sidne}^ Johnston while paj^master in the United

States Army, lived on Block 135, fronting the Capitol square on

the west. That house was built in 1850 by Dr. Haynie, and was

moved to the east end of block by its owner, Mr. Andrews. On
the ground where it first stood is now the residence of Mr. Ernest

"Nalle.

I knew General Johnston; he had once been Commander-in-

Chief of the Army of the Eepublie of Texas, and was respected and

beloved by all the old settlers. The only storehouses now stand-

ing on Congress Avenue that were built before the Civil War are

a three-story house built by Geo. Sampson at the intersection of

Congress Avenue and Seventh Street, erected in 1858, and the

Lamar Moore house, built in 1850, on the corner of Seventh

Street, fronting the Avenue. Tlie United States District Court

held its sessions in the Sampson house before the Civil War.

Prom 1836 to 1846 the unequal contest with Mexico and the

hostile Indians on the frontier was appalling. There were less

than 6000 fighting men in all Texas in 1836 when San Jacinto

was fought.^ Mexico contained a population of over 8,000,000.

General Lamar afterwards in his message to Congress in 1839

estimated the entire population of the Eepublie at 100,000, or less

than 20,000 men.

General Houston was a member of the first Congress that met

in Austin and did not conceal his objection to the Capital re-

maining there; though after his election the second time as Presi-

dent he stayed in Austin with the heads of Department until after

San Antonio was captured in March, 1843.

The invasion by the Mexicans under Plores occurred in the

spring of 1839, while the public buildings in Austin were being

built. He crossed the Colorado a few miles above town with

ammunition for the Cherokee Indians, but was intercepted by

citizen soldiers under James 0. Eice on the North Fork of the

Gabriel and defeated,—his soldiers scattered and he killed.

About the same time the Coleman family were massacred

eighteen miles below Austin, and from then until 1844 massa-

cres by Indians were frequent. Black and Dolson were killed on

'Judge John H. Reagan estimated at less than 6000, the number of

Texas men in 1836.
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Barton's Creek near the spring ; Baker and Sanls were killed south

of the river near Austin, while hunting. James was killed just

north of the town. Simpson was killed one mile below town and

one AVhite was killed near the present lunatic asylum, one and a

half miles northwest of town.^ Jake Burleson was killed some

distance northeast of town.^ Under such conditions Austin could

not grow, for there were only a few scattered settlements north or

northwest of Austin until after annexation to the United States

in 1845.

In 1843 there was not a house between Austin and San An-

tonio.3 In March of that year San Antonio was captured by the

Mexicans, and again in the autumn. The district judge who was

holding court was taken prisoner, and he, with the lawyers and

principal citizens, were handcuffed and marched on foot as prison-

ers into Mexico. Among the prisoners were Maverick, Colquohoun

and John Twohig, all of whom I knew. About the same time

occurred the Dawson massacre near San Antonio, in which nearly

forty Texans were killed.

President Houston then called a session of Congress to meet in

Washington on the Brazos. It deliberated there, and afterwards

in Houston in regular and called sessions, from 1843 to 1845,

without access to the former archives of the government which

were detained in defiance of President Houston by the citizens of

Austin; for to surrender them they thought would result in an

abandonment of the frontier. So intense was the feeling among

the settlers on the upper Colorado that an effort to move the

archives would have resulted in civil war. This President Hous-

ton knew. He therefore sent Capt. Thos. Smith with wagons to

secretly move the archives to Washington on the Brazos. It

transpired afterwards that Col. Thos. Wm. Ward, Commissioner

of the General Land Office, was the only one in Austin who was

in the confidence of President Houston. Smith reached Austin

at midnight, December 30, 1843, with his escort and wagons and

was first discovered by Mrs. Ebberly (afterwards Mrs. Bullock),

^White's four daus-hters miarried Seiders, Enoch Johnson, Greenleai

Fisk (after whom Fiskville was named), Enoch Martin and one Thompson.

=He was a brother of General Burleson. His son Jacob was born after

his father was killed, and was a lieutenant in my regiment during the

Civil war. He is now an inmate of the Confederate Home m Austin.

^'Darlington went with troops under General Ed. Burleson over the

trail in 1842 and he says that there was not a house on it.
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while lie was loading his wagons in the alley west of the old Han-

cock store. She was near, for she kept the hotel just across the

street where now stands the three-storj^ bnilding which belongs to

Capt. Joseph ¥alle. To arouse the citizens, she went quickly to

where a six-pound cannon loaded with grape stood in Congress

Avenue, and aiming it at the Land Office where other wagons were

being loaded with archives, fired it. Several of the shot struck

the building.! Captain Smith retreated hastily with his wagons

but was overtaken early nest morning by the infuriated citizens

with the cannon, who were commanded by Mark Lewis. The

archives were recaptured and brought back.- Many of the citi-

zens wished to hang Colonel Ward, the Land Commissioner, though

he had lost a leg in 1835 at the storming of Bexar and an arm

while firing a cannon on San Jacinto day.

The archives, after their return, were sealed up in tin boxes

and placed in the custody of Mrs. Ebberly. After that they were

kept for some time under gTiard in an old log store house on

Congress Avenue. The citizens of Austin and the settlers on the

upper Colorado would not permit the government to remove the

archives to Washington or Houston, where Congress was in ses-

sion, or for Ward to keep the records of the Land Office. The

archives of the Land Office, after being guarded by citizens for a

few months, were buried in the ground, as a precaution against

future raids, either by Mexicans or people from other sections of

the State. They were not restored to lawful custody until Janu-

ary 1, 18M.

General Houston in his message to Congress in January, 1844,

Justified his action, and referred to the lawless conduct of Austin

people with much severity. He stated in that message that they

had said they would give up the archives if they could get hold of

the President

!

In the backyard of the old Bullock Hotel, on the northwest

corner of Sixth Street and the Avenue (once kept by Mrs. Ebberly,

and. afterwards in 1852 called the Swisher House), was the last

joint discussion, one hot August afternoon, over secession, before

^This incident I had from James O. Eice and Steele Mathews, now
dead, as nearly all are now dead who then lived in Austin, and also from

Frank Brown, who still lives in Austin.

'Mark Lewis and two other men were afterwards killed in a fight on

election day on Sixth Street in a house that stood where the State

National Bank now is.
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the War. Judge Jas. H. Bell and E. B. Turner spoke against
secession, and Geo. Flournoy, Attorne}^ General, for it. In IsTo-

veniber, 1860, General Houston, then Governor, made the last

plea for the Union to a great audience in the open air just iiorth

of the old Baptist Church, which stands fronting the Executive
Mansion. He spoke from an elevated platform on the north side

of the church; with prophetic eloquence he mapped out the strug-

gle before the South, and predicted our defeat with the causes
that would lead to it. He spoke with fervid eloquence for nearly

two hours. He was even then the finest-looking man I ever saw.

'Six feet two inches high, with majestic bearing, and fine voice,

he thrilled the vast audience with his impressive speech. I knew
him well, being the district judge in Austin in 1860 and 1861,

while he was Governor. He and Mrs. Houston were members
of the same Baptist Church to which my wife belonged, and at

her sick bedside partook with her of her last sacrament in 1860.

It is difficult for this generation to understand the wonderful
self-reliance of the pioneer settlers of Austin, under the difScul-

ties that confronted them. Men are largely the result of their

environments; those men gTew up on the frontier of civilization

and were inured to its dangers. We will not see their like again.

General Houston once said to me that he had absolute confidence

in his men at San Jacinto, and, though the Mexicans outnum-
bered them two to one, he never for a moment doubted the result

of the battle.

] am tempted to relate an incident that occurred on Robertson
Hill within the limits of Austin in 1843, which will illustrate the

character of Austin's colonists. Reuben Hornsby lived six miles

below the town and sent his tliree boys to look for his loose

horses, fearing an Indian raid, for it was the light of the moon.
From the top of Robertson Hill they saw several Indians on

horseljack coming up directly toward them and whipping be-

fore them with their unstrung bow strings a dwarf tailor named
Coleman, whom they had caught while he was fishing in the

river. Coleman was on foot, with hands tied behind him.

The Hornsby boys were concealed from view in the post-oak

thicket, and had but one pistol. One of them proposed to

fire the pistol, dash out of the l)rush with a whoop and give

C'oleman a chance to escape, saying "They'll think we are rangers."
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This was clone, the Indians fled and Coleman escaped. Eroissart

in the days of old never recorded a more chivalrous act.

It was said in 1843 during the archive troubles that but five

women remained at one time in Austin.^ But enough men re-

mained, backed by the settlers on the upper Colorado, to success-

full v defy the rest of the Eepublic, and keep the archives.

After the Mexican War of 1846 the United States established

for several years the headquarters of the military department in

Austin. But few troops were ever kept there, for they were posted

at the forts on the frontier built by the United States. The

United States Arsenal was where a public schoolhouse now stands

on the block marked "Armory," it being the southeast corner block

of the original town.

One of the old landmarks was the "Harney cottage." General

Plarney of the United States army in 1847, after Texas was

annexed to the United States, built a residence on a large outlet

which embraced the ground covered now by the residences of Mr.

Scarbrough, the Driskill residence, Grace Hall, and Bishop Kin-

solving. A long row of stables extended east from Harney's resi-

dence to about where Grace Hall now is. There Robert E. Lee,

Joseph E. Johnston, Albert Sidney Johnston, Generals Walker

and Hood (then captains) stabled their horses, when they lodged

with Harney, for all of them served on the Texas frontier after

the war of 1846. After 1850 the headquarters were removed to

San Antonio. As late as 1853 there was not a house between

the Harney cottage and where our Capitol building stands and

but four residences between the Harney cottage and George-

town, viz., Enoch Johnson, Nelson Merrill, McKinzie, and a

house at the crossing of the creek where old Eound Rock was

built.

On the ground Just in the rear of the present city hall. Presi-

dent Anson Jones delivered in front of the Old Capitol his last

address, tie closed it with the remark, "The Eepublic of Texas

is no more" and, lowering the flag of Texas, hoisted that of the

United States. Then Governor J. Pinckney Henderson delivered

his inaugural address. Captain James G. Swisher and Morgan
Hamilton both told me that the hillside was covered with people,

and that many a strong man wept to see the Lone Star flag go

'Darlington now states it, and I heard it from other old settlers.
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down. They had sustained that flag for ten years on many a

battlefield, and dreaded a future conflict over African slavery in

the United States ; for war clouds were even then gathering.

The country now covered with farms will never again look as

beautiful as it then was. The prairies were clothed with waving

grass hip high, and abounded with deer and antelope. It was a

hunter's paradise until 1857, when a disease called "black tongue"

almost destroyed the deer.

1 am quite aware that much of the foregoing will be deemed

unimportant, but sometimes the sidelights of history reveal con-

ditions of a past era that serve to interest the antiquary, even when

destitute of historic value.



The Last Hove of the Confederacy. 129

THE LAST HOPE OF THE CONEEDEEACY—JOHN TYLEE
TO THE GOVEENOR AND AUTHOEITIES OF TEXAS

WITH AN INTRODUCTION" BY CHARLES W. RAMSDELL

In the last days of the summer of 1863 Major John Tyler, son

of an ex-President of the United States, and at that time an aid

on the staff of General Sterling Price, C. S. A., was making the

slow and toilsome Journey from his headquarters at Arkadelphia,

Arkansas, to Austin, Texas. This had been a disastrous summer
for the Confederacy. At Gettysburg General Lee had been thrust

back and put a second time upon the defensive in Virginia ; Vicks-

burg had been lost, the Mississippi had been seized by the Federals

and the Trans-Mississippi Department cut off from Eichmond. In

the Trans-Mississippi Department itself, the whole of Missouri,

nearly of Arkansas, and the most important part of Louisiana were

in the hands of the Union forces. Texas alone was untouched by

the enemy. In this desperate situation men's eyes again and again

turned anxiously to Europe for some indications of the promised

intervention in behalf of "King Cotton" that would secure them

independence. This intervention once so confidently expected had

for a brief time seemed at hand when, in the latter part of 1863,

Napoleon III had addressed notes to England and Eussia suggest-

ing friendly joint offers of mediation in the American conflict;

and even when this opportunity had come to nothing through the

hesitation of England and Eussia and the positive refusal of Lin-

coln and Seward to entertain the suggestion, confidence was still

high in the good intentions of the French emperor. But months

passed on, the inexorable enemy pushed his lines farther and far-

ther into Confederate territory, and Napoleon III, now busied with

Mexico, remained inactive as to mediation, though still protesting

his good will.

Some time after Major Tyler arrived at Austin he presented a

lengthy memorial to "His Excellency the Governor, tl^e Governor-

elect, and the Authorities of the State of Texas." The essential

part of that memorial is printed below. It is an appeal for Texas

to take the initiative in demanding protection of France upon the
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basis of the guarantees in the Louisiana Purchase Treaty of 1803,

on the assumption that Texas was a part of the Territory of Louis-

iana at that time. Obviously, the importance of the memorial lies

quite as much in its origin as in its content. With whom did the

plan originate? Was it Major Tyler's own independent scheme, or

was Tyler only an agent of higher authorities? Could the plan

have been prompted by the tortuous counsels of Napoleon III or

by some of his officials in Mexico ? Did it originate with the hard-

pressed Confederate authorities at Kichmond or with the military

commanders of the Trans-Mississippi Department?

The whole memorial is based upon the belief, confidently ex-

pressed, that the French emperor is willing enough to intervene,

if given the ]3roper opportunity. There were not wanting proofs

thai the independence of the Confederate States was an important

desideratum of his larger policies. Is it possible that Napoleon

III had inspired Tyler's plan? If we accept the argument of the

memorial, namely, that because of the diplomatic situation the

French emperor was in no position to take the initiative but must

await an appeal founded upon some definite obligation, such an as-

sumption would do no violence to our knowledge of Napoleon's tac-

tics. Just a year before the French consul at Galveston, M. Theron,

had sent a note to Governor Lubbock suggesting that Texas might

find it desirable to withdraw from the Confederacy and re-estab-

lish the old Eepublic—presumably under the protection of

I^rance a suggestion which Lubbock denounced as evidence of "an

incipient intrigue" and revealed to Jefferson Davis, who promptly

expelled Theron from Confexlerate territory. However, it could

not be found that the French consul had been inspired from Paris.'^

It is not likely that the French would have gone to Arkansas to

secure an agent. There is nothing to show that the officials in

Mexico had anything to do with Tyler's mission; for, though ru-

mors were abroad that Marshal Bazaine had some sort of instruc-

tions to co-operate with the Confederate authorities or those of

Texas if a favorable opportunity offered, these rumors have never

yet been substantiated. A search through the archives of Paris or

Mexico might reveal more of Napoleon's intentions.

^Lubbock. 8lT. Decades in Texas, 511; Richardson, Messages and Papers

of the Confederacy, II, 334-337, 389.
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Then if the scheme did not originate abroad, is it traceable to
Jefferson Davis? It may well seem strange that Tyler should
undertake a mission without the knowledge of the President, which,
if successful, would be of the greatest moment to the Confederate
government. We also know that Major Tyler was within a few
weeks afterward promoted to a position in the War Department
at Eichmond, a fact which argues that he must have enjoyed the
confidence of the officials there. But there is al)solutely nothing
discoverable in the Confederate papers to indicate that' Davis or
Benjamin, then Secretary of State, ever had any knowledge what-
ever of the memorial. Moreover, Governor Lubbock, who shortly
afterward became a member of Davis's staff, seems never to have
heard anything of it from Davis himself, who would certainly have
sounded the ex-governor of Texas if he had had any such scheme in
mind. Above all, it would have been wholly inconsistent with the
character and policies of the Confederate president to revive
French claims to a part of the Confederacy, claims which in view
of what was transpiring in Mexico, were more likely to prove dan-
gerous than helpful.

That Tyler could have taken up the matter on his own initiative
seems equally improbable. Why should he be allowed to absent
hunself from his post of duty at Price's headquarters, on a five
hundred mile journey, at a critical period of the campaign Is
it possible that he would have undertaken a project of this Idnd
without receiving the permission of his friend and commander?
Then, was Tyler the agent of General Price or of the commander
of the Trans-Mississippi Department, General E. Kirby Smith?
The isolation of this department, through the capture of the Mis-
sissippi by the Federals, had caused the authorities at Richmond to
grant the Trans-Mississippi commander almost complete govern-
mental powers; and at a conference of the governors of the states
in that department, held at Marshall, Texas, in August, 1863, it

was recommended among other things that General Smith enter
mto negotiations with the French in Mexico. Shortly afterward
he wrote Mr. Slidell, envoy and minister of the Confederate states

by' GerertrVteelV'''"
"""^ °^ Southern Arkansas
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at Paris, to urge the necessity of an alliance between the Confed-

eracy and France in order to protect French interests in Mexico?^

He said nothing, however, of the treaty of 1803 ; and while he at

once sent a copy of this letter to Jefferson Davis, he never at any

time said anything of any authority given to Tyler. If Tyler was

acting for the military commanders, why did he not say so in his

memorial? If he was acting without their knowledge or consent,

why was he not reprimanded instead of promoted ?

The most probable explanation seems to be that Major Tyler

was sent by his commander, Sterling Price, to induce the state

officials to "take the initiative in appealing to France, since the

military could not themselves act in the name of the state. More-

over, we have a statement, at second hand, from Captain N. L.

Norton that he accompanied Major Tyler from Price's headquar-

ters at Austin "with instructions to secure if possible suitable

action upon the part of the Texas authorities to bring to a head

the proposal that it was said Marshal Bazaine was ready to make

in Mexico looking to French intervention."^ Though this seems

the most probable answer to the question, it is impossible now to

determine definitely the authorship of the scheme; and it is hoped

that the printing of a part of the document may attract the atten-

tion of some one who can supply the needed information.*

Governor Lubbock never acted upon the suggestion in the me-

morial. He stated then that he could not do so without first con-

sulting Mr. Davis, and the end of his term of office was too near

for that. Lubbock seems also to have thought the scheme involved

the secession of Texas from the Confederacy, an idea which he

refused to entertain for an instant. His successor, Governor Mur-

rah, seems never to have taken the matter under consideration at

all, and what might have been an interesting and important diplo-

matic matter became a forgotten incident.

War of Rebellion Records, Series I, Vol. XXII, Pt. II, pp. 993, 1003-

1010.

"-Lubbock, Sice Decades, pp. 313-314, note.

"It is interest-insT to note that attention was called to the treaty of

1803 in March, 1862, by Governor Pickens, of South Carolina ^yho feared

French asj-gression on the basis of its stipulations. See circular letter in

Texas Archives, quoted in part by Lubbock, Six Decades, p. 510. ihe

treaty was once cited also to prove that France could not intervent against

the United States. Bigelow, Retrospections of an Active Life, I, 465.
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Of the document itself approximately the first half is omitted

here, a verbose and highly rhetorical introduction for which a sum-

mary will suffice. With a candor that could never have found ex-

pression in public speech or print at that day, Major Tyler declares

at the outset that the Confederacy is in a most desperate condition,

that it is gradually growing weaker, that without foreigTi aid all

the states east of the Mississippi except perhaps Virginia and the

Carolinas will be in the gTasp of the enemy within less than a year,

that west of the Mississippi Texas alone is free and that preparar

tions are being made even now for lier invasion. It is impossible

to believe, he says, that the Confederacy can ever recover its lost

territory and win its independence unaided. Foreign intervention

is absolutely essential.

Turning now to that subject, he quotes at considerable length

from an article in De Boiv's Revieiv, of 1862, in which the writer

attempts to explain the diplomatic situation abroad. Cxreat Britain

is represented as having realized her great error in freeing tlie

slaves in her tropical colonies in 1833, by which act she had dimin-

ished her tropical products and seriously endangered her trade

supremacy. Fearing the competition of the semi-tropical agricul-

ture of the Southern states, based upon slave labor, and the grow-

ing commerce of the North based upon its monopoly of the South-

ern market, she had set to work to imdermine both by develop-

ing abolition sentiment in Europe and the ISTorthern states. She

had succeeded beyond her expectations, for now the war of sub-

jugation waged by the free states upon the South would not only

destroy the slave system and the agriculture of that region, but

would inevitably crush in reaction the economic power of the

ISTorth also. Great Britain believed this would relieve her of her

most dangerous commercial rival, restore to her the carrying trade

of the seas, discredit republican government, and maintain British

political institutions in the interest of the ruling classes. There-

fore she was content to see the two sections wear each other down,

and had rejected Napoleon's offer of joint mediation. The Rus-

sian Czar is represented as fearing to arouse the anger of his

nobles, whose serfs he had recently liberated, by inconsistently in-

^Two attempts were made by General Banks to invade Texas in the
fall of 1863: the first met defeat at Sabine Pass in September; the
second captured and held Brownsville from November to July 30, 1864.
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terfering in behalf of a slave-holding people. Eor this reason he

had held aloof with Great Britain.

The "profound" and "sagacions" emperor of the French deter-

mined to elevate France to the highest position among the nations,

is credited with nnderstanding both the designs of Great Britain

and the predicament of the Czar. He has no desire to see the

Sonth conquered, for then the United States is likely to become a

militant emi^ire, stretching ont over Mexico, Central America and

the West Indies, and thus grasping and monopolizing every great

tropical product of the western world. Nor does he intend for

Great Britain to reap the profits of the ruin of American com-

merce, if that should be the result of the war. Both contingencies

must be defeated since "either would circumscribe the importance

of France, diminish the influence of the French empire, wound

the vanity of the French people, and endanger the present dynasty

upon the throne." To tliis great end he had seized upon Mexico,

forestalling the United States and securing to France a rich tropi-

cal region from which could be drawn the raw materials of manu-

factures, a region in which the existent institution of peonage

could easily be converted into the institntion of slavery. It could

be no part of his plans to suffer the South to l)e subjugated for

that would inevitably bring him into conflict with the undivided

United States; it mnst be his purpose first to secure himself in

Mexico and then intervene in behalf of the South. This would

break the power of the North, foil Great Britain, create an im-

mense French empire and carry France to a higher position than

she had ever held even in the days of the great Napoleon.

Closing the long quotation. Major Tyler points out that the

Polish revolution and the fear of French interference there had

lately caused the Czar to draw closer to the United States and

Great Britain, and had forced Napoleon III to conciliate Austria

by offering the crown of Mexico to Maximilian. The Emperor

could not afford to risk fighting the United States, Great Britain

and Eussia combined, by intervening alone in the American strug-

gle upon the vague principles of Immanity and in consideration of

his own selfish advantages. The principle of European balance of

power would admit only of a joint intervention, and then not in

behalf of the South, l)ut in accordance with the doctrine of uti
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possidetis, whereby the South would be stripped of all its states

now held by the North. This would leave the South weak, divided,

and a possible prey to the greed of the intervening powers. How
this danger could be avoided while securing effective intervention

is the substance of the remainder of the document, which follows

herewith.

Having thus, gentlemen, sincerely, according to my best judg-
ment and conviction, unfolded our "Status," both at Home and
in respect to Foreign Nations, in the light of existing facts and
future probabilities, permit me now to say it is proposed to shun
all the evils that have been shadowed forth, whether to be derived
from the arms of the United States, or whether from an Armed
Intervention of the European Powers. It is believed that the arms
of tJie one and the schemes of the other may be defeated; that the
Confederate Cause may be made to prevail against both; that the
Confederate Government may be maintnined in its integrity; and
that Human Liberty and Republican principles may be established
triumphantly; ivithout jeoparding the -peace of Europe; and this
through the instrumentality of Texas, springing out of the Wilder-
ness, as she has done, like Israel's Host of old. Let us proceed noiv
to this issue.

Some years ago, in the course of the career of that miracle of
Genius, ISTapoleon the Great, while conducting the Arms of France
against the combined Powers of Europe, Spain, then in possession
of all South America and the greater part of North America, ceded
to France the "District of Orleans and the Territory of Louisiana."
Afterwards, Napoleon, fearing that the Purchase might be seized
by the Superior Maritime strength of Great Britain, and that, in

conjunction with the Canadas, it would give to that Nation a Ter-
ritorial extent in North America entirely surrounding and en-
velopeing the ITnited States, furnishing the ultimate means of
crushing out the young Eepublic and grasping a range of Com-
merce before which no other Empire could stand, sold this Pur-
ch ase to the United States in the hope of substantiating those
States against Great Britain and building them up into a powerful
Commercial and Manufacturing Eival, but stipulating in the Deed,
or Treaty of Sale, among other things, with his usual clearness of
perception and sense of Justice, that, "the Inhabitants of the ceded
District and Territory shall be maintained and protected by the
United States in the free enjoyment of their liberty, property, and

^The original memorial apparently in Tyler's handwriting and signed
by him is in the Texas Archives, Secretary of State's office, Austin, Texas.
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the Religion they profess" ; and, in approving the Treaty, he thns

wrote to the Inhabitants, "let the Lotiisianians Inow that we sep-

arate from tit em with regrets, hut that we stipulate in their favor

everything that then can desire." Similar guarantees in behalf of

the Inhabitants had been given by France to Spain. The whole

world at the time acknowledged "property" in Slaves and Slave

Labor, and Negro-Slavery existed among the Inhabitants and, by

the local law, extended over the whole District and Territory from

the Nneces, if not the Eio Grande, to Vancouver's Island, for the

Purchase itself embraced not only the States and Territories now

attached to the Trans-Mississippi Department, but extended over

Iowa, Minnesota, Dakota, Kansas, Neln-aska, Washington and

Oregon.

Here, then, were solemn Treaty Stipulations, in perfect accord-

ance with the sense of the age, binding upon the United States to

"Maintain and protect" the institution of Negro-Slavery and prop-

erty in Negro-Slaves among the Inhabitants of the Louisiana^ and

restihg in the National honor and good faith of France and Spain

to exact the full measure and observance of for all time to come

BO long as the Inhabitants shoidd desire it. And by the Constitu-

tion of the United States this Treaty stood as a part of "the Su-

preme Law of the Land" Nevertheless, this Treaty, thus circum-

stanced, has been violated time and again by the United States,

but never during the reign of Napoleon. Before the United States

proceeded to violate it for the first time, in 1819-20, through the

vote of the North in the Congress at Washington, upon the ques-

tion of the admission of Missouri into the Union as a Slaveholding

State, and by the application of the "Compromise line" cutting olf

and excluding Negro-Slaves from among the Inhabitants of the

Territory north of that line, Napoleon was overthrown in France

and chained to the rock of Helena, and the Bourbons, whose policy

it was to ignore his acts where they could not be set aside, acceded

to the Thrones of France and Spain, and those Governments lost

sight of their guarantees to the Inhabitants of the Louisianas. This

State of things continued, necessarily, until the resubversion of

tlie Bour])ons"and the reaccession of the Napoleonic Dynasty to

the Throne of France in the person of Louis Napoleon. By the

fact of the reaccession of the Napoleonic Dynasty this Treaty be-

comes re-establislied in the honor of France and upon the con-

science of the Emperor. And as Louis Napoleon is now recog-

nized and acknowledged as the Lawful Sovereign of France, in

right of his uncle and the French People, by the European Powers,

In^ternational Law will justify him in the assertion of the guaran-

tees of this Treaty against the LTnited States in favor of the In-

habitants of the Louisianas, and deprives those Powers of the pre-

text of war for his so doing. The United States, taking advantage
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of the situation in France, and in contempt of their own Constitn-

tion, have not only, through the force of the North in the Union,

time and again, violated this Treaty, as we have said, but they have

finally driven the Inhabitants of the country who still own slaves

to arms in defence of their rights under its stipulations; and now

the United States threaten utterly to extinguish these rights by

depriving these Inhabitants of their liberties, robbing them of their

property, and abolishing Fegro-Slavery. So far from maintaining

and protecting the Inhabitants in the "free enjoyment" of their

liberty, property and religion, the course of the United States has

been and still is utterly to deprive them of liberty, property and

religion, together with Life itself;—even their lands are confis-

cated.

All the States of the Trans-Mississippi Department would have

the right, under this Treaty, not only to Appeal to France and

Spain for protection, but to demand of those Governments the ful-

fillment of its conditions as against the United States, in the past

as in the present, had they equally the power of speech and of

action. But, as has been stated, Missouri with the remorseless

sword of the Enemy at her throat is rendered utterly nerveless,

while her Inhabitants are being ruthlessly despoiled alike of liberty

and property ; and Arkansas and Louisiana are so far shackled and

reduced that neither of them can speak, or act, with authority.

Texas alone, among them all, remains free, sovereign and inde-

pendent, with the full power of speech and of action, and it is for

her to decide whether she will assert the true dignity of her posi-

tion, or remain silent on the subject, sufEering events still to pro-

ceed until the war shall close around her borders and enfold her

in its Anaconda gTasp. Should she determine upon action it will

be her high duty and privilege to speak to the issue not only for

herself, but to represent the situation and condition of Missouri,

Arkansas and Louisiana, and to embrace them in her Petition and

demand. That Texas was originally a part of the Louisiana Ter-

ritory, suffered to lapse through tlie neglect of the United States

controlled by the policy of the North in the Government, can

scarcely admit of a doubt. Those best versed in the history of the

times of the Purchase always so asserted ; and Mr. Benton in his

annals of "Thirty Years" service in the Senate, as well as in his

speeches upon the question of the admission of Texas into the

Union, invariably styles the measure, not one of "annexation," but

of "reannexation." She can, at this time, claim it to be her especial

province to take action under the Treaty with France, and that be-

tween France and Spain, since, heretofore, while in an anomalous

condition, she was debarred from speech, like an Infant at Law,

and it was not until she was "reannexed" to the United States that

she recovered her Status beneath the folds of its stipulations and
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guarantees that are now being threatened by the United States with

invasion, subversion and destruction, and in defence of which she

has been driven to the direful necessit}' of Revolution and War.

Tins action on the part of Texas is urged, not for the purpose of

severing her from the Confederacy, hut for the purpose of restoring

her connections with the Confederacy. We have seen that she is

isolated and cut off from the Government at Eichmond, and from

nearly all resources exterior to herself, and that before these con-

nections can be re-established the Enemy must be hurled back from

Louisiana and Arkansas, overwhelmed in Mississippi as well as in

Tennessee, and his Fleets be expelled from the Miississippi Eiver

and destroyed in the Gulf of Mexico. These results can only be

achieved by bringing to bear against the Enemy superior forces,

and these forces can only be obtained from France, or from France

and Spain combined. Otherwise the struggle has to be made v/ith

forty thousand men, at the most, niunbering those now in the serv-

ice with those that hereafter may be raised, unsupported by a Kavy
and a blockaded Coast, against ninety thousand, at the least, that

may be increased to two hundred thousand, supported by powerful

and unopposed Fleets, a mercantile marine the largest in the

world, and the markets of the universe open to them for supplies.

In considering the subject let us not deceive ourselves. The neces-

sity for Foreign aid is becoming, if, indeed, it has not already

become ahsoluie, and yet, we can not afford the risk of an "armed

intervention" of the Commercial Powers and the application of

the doctrine of "Uti possidetis."

But why should Texas take this step rather than the Govern-

ment at Eichmond, or, in other words, why should Texas originate

the btep though final action were had at Eiclunond? She should

ao so for the reasons that have been assigned, and because our Con-

federate authorities can only act through a general agency and a

general delegation of powers, and, in so acting, must act for the

whole, as a whole, rather than for a part in reference to the whole.

To act for a part only would be to act invidiously, to negate their

general authority, and to attract, in all probability, odium and

denunciation. Eeasons both of policy and propriety would, very

likely, prevent such action though never so urgent and desirable.

Doubtless, our authorities have done and are doing ever3d:hing

legitimately in their power to induce friendly Intervention, as

they have done and are doing to repel the Enemy, but do they

object to any assistance that Texas may now bring them in the

way of Men and Materials of War that she alone can control, and

will they object to her assistance through measures which she alone

can command and inaugurate? It would be illogical so to conclude.

They will be, unless I greatly err, only too happy to receive such

assistance in relief of the delicacy of their position. It could not
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be viewed in tlie light of a violation of the Treaty making power

confided bv the States to the Confederate Government, for it would

not be in the line of an}' new contract, or alliance, with a Foreign

Power, but simply an appeal and demand that an existing con-

tract and alliance shall be didy executed. But, under the pressure

of our necessities, we willingly close our eyes to many departures

from the strict rule of Civil right and Constitutional formalities

in order to secure vigor and energy in the Common Cause and
Success to our efforts for the general good. Let us not then impede

this movement on the part of Texas by objections foimded in

casuistry, or oversensitive regard to the mode and manner of its

conduct, its object and termination being the interests of us all

and the substantiation of the Confederacy.

There is one feature associated with this Treaty that must be

of an exceedingly interesting and attractive character to France,

and which can not fail to excite the indig-nation of the French
People by reason of its desecration. It will be remembered that

out of the lands embraced in the "District of Orleans" the United

States made an extensive donation, now comprehending much of

the City of Orleans, to Gilbert Mortier de La Fayette, in consider-

ation of his distinguished Revolutionary services, and large sums of

money expended out of his private purse in support of our Troops

and Arms during the War of the Eevolution. This donation he

consented to accept, but on discovering that the lands were, already,

for the most part, occupied by Settlers, he generously and unre-

servedly, with his usual liberality and magnanimity of soul, con-

firmed them in their possessions without restriction upon their

domestic usages. These Settlers were, at the time, Slaveholders,

and all their usages partook of the Institution of Slavery. The
United States after first oppressively compelling these "Inhabit-

ants" to proclaim their Constitutional privilege to secede from the

Union in defence of their Rights and Liberties, have now pro-

ceeded, sword in hand, to rob them of their slaves, to confiscate

their Real Estate, and to deprive them even of life if prompted by
revenge, or policy, equally in contempt of the Donation, of the

Bounty of La Fayette under it, and of the Treaty with France.

Surely neither the French Government, nor .the French People,

will suft'er the memory of La Fayette to be thus desecrated and
their ISTational honor to be thus despised in disregard of the fun-

damental principles of International Law. It would be entirely

proper to em])race the case in any official proceedings had upon
the subject of the Treaty.

These proceedings should be, as has been suggested, in the Na-
ture of an Appeal, or demand, upon the Emperor of the French,
by Texas, endorsed, if need be and time permitted, by the Govern-
ment at Richmond, covering all the "Inhabitants" of the States and
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Territories of the Trans-Mississippi Department, in the full light

of the Provisions of the Treaty, the violations of these provisions

and the oppressions of the "Inhabitants," and the general and

special circnmstances involved in the conduct of the United

States.

Shonld France, through the action of Texas in the manner indi-

cated, be induced to interpose in behalf of the "Inhabitants" of the

States and Territories of the Trans-Mississippi Department, on the

basis of the Treaty of Purchase of the Lonisianas, the advantages

derived to the Confederacy would be incalculable, not only during

the War, but after the declaration of Peace. The Power of Spain

would be unavoidably involved in the direction of the action of

Prance; and Brazil, Mexico, Italy and Austria, would be placed

in the position of armed Feutrals leading to the side of France and

Spain, compelling Great Britain to look well to herself before she

hazarded the repose of Europe, though she were disposed to ques-

tion the grounds of the interposition of France. Indeed, Great

Britain, in view of her Commercial and Manufacturing interests,

would, under the new situation of affairs, soon see the necessity on

her part, not of opposing, Init of joining in the movement. In

the meanwhile, it is reasonable to suppose, the Polish difficulty

would be adjusted and a Confederate Fleet liberated from the

Ports of Europe to operate along the Atlantic Coast in recovery

of the Cities and Harbors captured by tlie Enemy. As matters

began to assume this shape the probabilities are that the North

would gladly agree to an Armistice and negotiations for peace.

But shoiild they, under these circumstances, determine upon con-

tinuing the War their destruction would be inevitable, seeing which

Great Britain would not only refuse to stir in their behalf but

Avould immediately spring to their overthrow, as the real policy of

tlu British Ministry is founded, in the idea of the a7inihilation of

tkeir commercial and Manufacturing systems resting on Southern

products. These products would be now for distribution through-

out the world, and no longer confined to the States of the North,

neither would the North any longer command and monopolize the

Carrying trade of the South. They would be stripped of all their

exclusive privileges heretofore enjoyed under their navigation acts,

and fall like Lucifer to rise no more. A French and Spanish Fleet,

and a Franco-Mexican Army, stand in readiness in the Gulf of

Mexico and along its shores, almost at our doors and within our

call, to advance, in conjunction with the Confederate forces under

Smith, Magruder and' Price, against Banks in Louisiana, and

Steele and Davidson in Arkansas,' while raising the blockade of

New Orleans and clearing out the Mississippi Eiver. Thus the

power of the Northwestern States on this side the Mississippi would

be broken, while that of the Middle and the Eastern States on the
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other side would be cnislied beneath the hammering lilows of Lee,

Beauregard, Johnston and Bragg. Finalty, it wonld remain for

the Confederacy and its Allies to dictate to the Government of the

North their own terms of adjnstment, anel everywhere the abolition

sentiment would expire.

These terms of adjustment conld onl}^ be such as to assure the

impoverishment of the North, following their overthrow and the

declaration of peace. The Northern States wonld be deprived of

the trade of the Sonth and the markets of the Sonth; their ships

would rot at their wharfs for the want of employment, and their

Factories would crumble to their foundations. The Trade of the

South would be no longer confined to Philadelphia, New York and

Boston, but would be extended to London, Liverpool, Havre, Paris,

Lisbon, Madrid, Vienna, Genoa, Florence, Eome, Havana and Pdo

Janeiro. The shipping of the South would be no longer restricted

to Northern bottoms, but would command the Mercantile Marine

of the World.. The Staples of the South would be no longer monop-

olized by twenty millions of people at the North, but would be

competed for by fifty millions in Great Britain and her Colonies,

fifty millions in France and her Colonies, forty millions in Spain

and her Colonies, forty millions in Austria, and twenty-seven mil-

lions in Italy, without regard to Brazil and Mexico. All that the

South could raise would not supply her markets ; and she would

grow to be the richest and most glorious Confederated Republic

the world ever saw, upon the ruins of the North. Thus from the

thistle danger should we pluck the flower safety, avoid the doctrine

of "Uti possidetis" establish our Independence, preserve Liberty,

increase our \¥ealth and Power, and annihilate our Enemy.

We have said that it is for Texas to accomplish these results.

Eighteen months ago a writer in the "Richmond Whig," foreseeing

the time when Texas would probably be called upon thus to act

and to assume the Confederate Cause, in discanting upon the as-

pect of public affairs and the events of the future, thus spoke

:

"The Cause of Liberty is never lost. It survives the chain and

the dungeon, the axe and the halter. It is immortal. Age, that

brings to everything else decay and death, gives to it increase of

vigor and perenniaf youth. Sanctified in heaven it is perpetuated

on Earth. Its spirit alone animates to a noble and lofty destiny.

With the sword it strikes down the oppressor's rod as the waves of

the sea lashed Canute from the Shore. Who shall bid its strong

pulsations to cease, or shackle its unconquerable arm ? When Gen-

eral Washington was asked what he would do if the British forces

should come to possess all of our Cities and the Country bordering

the Atlantic Ocean, constituting nearly the wliole of the settled

]X)rtions of the thirteen original States, he unhesitatingly replied,

"We shall retire across the Alleghanies and still keep up the War
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of Indepcnde^ice." So let it be now asked v/hat shall we do if the

Eneni}' comes to possess himself of our Commercial Marts on the

Atlantic and Gnlf of Mexico, and maintains occnpation of all the

adjacent Country, and the instant reply should be, "retire to the

frontier lines of Texas ivitJi our Armies, and, remove into that

State our domestic Altars—our men servants and our maid serv-

ants—and there defy the World in Arms."
"This great State, in point of geographical extent, is divided into

three parts. Beginning on the shores of the Gulf of Mexico, the

first division is a vast Coast Prairie, extending four hundred miles

in length, from the Sabine to the Bio Grande, with an average

width of forty miles. In addition to the two Elvers mentioned, tiie

Brazos, the Colorado, the Guadalupe, the Trinity, the San Antonio,

and the Nueces, make their exit to the Gulf across this region and,

within its bounds, their waters may be said to be navigable. The
soil is a black alluvial, the deposit of unnumbered ages, formed by

the recession of the waters of the Gulf, and for productiveness

equal to any in the world. Under full cultivation here alone would

be garnered as much Sugar and Cotton as are now produced in all

America. The second division extends along the Red Elver and its

Tributaries, covering a space as large as that occupied by either

one of the older States, and consists of a soil well adapted to to-

bacco and the cereals, and favorably comparing with the richest

grain growing and tobacco lands of the Earth. The third division,

embracing the remainder of the State, in extent from three to four

times the magnitude of Tennessee, or Georgia, reposes on the upper

waters of the Elvers mentioned, and consist for the most part,

of an elevated, rolling and perfectly salubrious Country. There is

not to be found a region more productive in the natural grasses

than this and, consequently, it is unexcelled for stock-raising pur-

poses.

"Thus is this magnificent domain spread out on the map, be-

neath a temperate sun and in the midst of a genial clime, a glory

and a blessing to the Family of Man, and the eternal abode of Lib-

erty. Capable of maintaining in comfort a population of fifty mil-

lions of Inhabitants, the addition of ten millions would only serve

to develop its agricultural resources, to give form and refinement

to its social system, and strength and beauty to its political In-

stitutions. With a Coast line, through natural advantages, of easy

defence, and Vast interior Plains as inhospitable to an invading

Enemy as the Steppes of Eussia, alike impenetrable and unassail-

able if properly guarded, here might Freedom repose though sur-

rounded by the wrecks of crushed Eepnblies, and in the midst of the

rage and agonies of groaning Kingdoms and Empires. With this

Eefuge and this Hope abiding with us forever, whether prostrate

in defeat, or victoriously erect, let us bravely fight on, confident
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of reaching, in the end, the radiant goal of honor and Independ-
ence."

With these views and sentiments, constituting Texas the Palla-

dium of Liberty and the Home of Humanity, all will agree. Let
us then, from those States oppressed by the Enemy, gather our
Wives and our Children within her ample fold ; unite our energies
and concentrate our Armies in defence of her frontiers; rivet an
Alliance with Prance and Spain; and lead her own People and
those of Louisiana, Arkansas and Missouri, together with the entire

Confederacy, to victory over the foe and the triumph of our Cau'^e.

Not only are France and Spain interested in the Wellfare of the

'Inhabitants' of the Trans-Mississippi Department, but Spain is

moreover called upon to assert against the United States the pro-

visions of the Treaty for the purchase of the Ploridas, stipulating

in favor of the People there no less extensive privileges tlian those

embraced in tlie Treaty with France. These Stipulations, to ]!re-

serve which Florida felt herself compelled to secede from the Old
Union, the United States have as little regarded as those of the

Treaty with France. The' Eights of Property and the Eights of

Persons, Life, Liberty, Beligious privileges, and the pursuit of

happiness, are no less desecrated and spurned in the Floridas than
in the Louisianas : and it is but reasonable to suppose that Spain
will appeal to the fact in taking action with France in behalf of

the Confederacy.

The special advantages to be derived to Spain and France from
intervening in our behalf, on the basis proposed, apart from the
incentives of National honor bound by the Treaties to which ref-

erence has been made, would be secured by Commercial arrange-
ments with the Confederate States assuring to them the chief bene-
fits of our Carrying Trade, of our Markets, and in our Eaw Mate-
rials for Manufactures. And when it is remembered that the prod-
ucts and exchanges of the South, alone, have already given rise to an
Export and Import trade of four hundred millions a year, conducted
by the North, these advantages bid sufRciently high, in themselves,

apart from all other considerations, to induce their interference.

Gaining these advantages they would not desire to be complicated
in our Domestic Affairs and burthened with our Government,
though the 'Balance of Power Principle' in Europe should permit it.

Similar advantages, but on a much more limited scale, having been
secured in Mexico they now cast away the Government on Maxi-
milian. While we, on our part, though restricted in our dealings

to these two Nations and their Colonies, which, however, would
not be the case, could very well afford to transfer our Shipping and
Markets from twenty millions at the North, to ninety millions in

France and Spain and their Dependencies, more advanced in Civi-

lization and equally Wealthy. In this age the extension of Com-
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merce and Trade, rather than the pride of Dominion, controls the

policy of Nations, makes War and contracts Peace.
. , ,

In conclusion, Gentlemen, again suffer me to entreat yon to view

our Status and that of the Enemy, not in the light of our hopes

and wishes, but devoid of feeling and with a clear and unprejudiced

eye ; not for the purpose of generating despondency and abating our

exertions, but rather to excite, if possible, to still more vigorous

measures and to bring into play more potent agencies. It is true

that Texas, as yet, has not felt the oppression of this War at her

own doors. It 'is true that the fire and sword of the Enemy, and

the devastation of contending armies, has not yet spread havoc and

ruin througliout her borders, as in other States less favourably cir-

cumstanced. It is true that heretofore she had been the market

of supplies for our Service in Beef and Oxen, horses and mules,

adding to her wealth in reality ; and that she is now becoming the

beneficient granary, and the chief dealer in Cotton, in the line of

wants of the Government, receiving much money justly in return.

But thousands of her brave Sons have already fallen upon the battle-

fields of Arkansas, and Louisiana, and Missouri, and Mississippi,

and Tennessee, and Kentucky, and Virginia, where the sword lias

reeked itself in blood; where fire has consumed the family roof-

tree ; where innumerable farms, once verdant in culture, have been

ravaged and left desolate ; and from whence thousands upon thou-

sands of patriotic hearts beating in the breasts of Southern Wives

and Mothers, and grey-haired Sires, and pratling Infancy, have

been driven out and exiled sooner than submit to the Invader.

From these States the wail of suffering is heard, even now, through-

out the length and breadth of Texas, along all of her thoroughfares,

appealing not onlv for an asylimi, but for sterner and more efi:ective

resistence, and retributive Justice to the foe. Every where the

War is pressing upon our subsistance. Every where the War is

exhausting our' male population : and, I pray God, that its worst

calamities, felt elsewhe-.e, may be averted, forever, from Texas.

But how is it with the :7orth? Their land is still full of supplies,

and still swarms with a superabundant population drawn from the

teeming womb of Europe, converting their armies into Hydra-

headed" Monsters so that as fast as the head of one is crushed in

anotlier springs out to avenge its loss and inflict its deadly wounds.

The waste of the battle-field" is scarcely felt or cared for there. The

Commercial, Manufacturing, and Mercantile Classes at the Forth,

wielding the indigent masses of both Hemispheres concentrated

there, and controlling the Government to suit themselves, feel not

the War save in the increase of their gains through unlimited Army

and Navy Contracts for grain, for flonr. for sugar, for Coffee, for

blankets, for Tents, for clothing, for medicines, for Hospitals and
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Hospital Stores, for Wagons and Ambulances, for Eail-road and
Steamboat Transportation, for military equipments, for ordnance
and ordnance stores, for ammunition and arms of all kinds, for

Ship-building, for Coal and iron, and all the other means and
appliances and requirements of a service that, in itself, has gen-
erated with them new and abundant fields of industrial application
and profit, in the place of the old channels of occupation and in-

vestment subverted by the Civil disturbance in the Country. Their
wharfs are still loaded with goods and luxuries drawn from every
clime—linnens and silks and broadcloths taking the place of cotton
drills and muslins;—and from the Ball Eoom to the Dining Eoom
still issue the sounds of fulness and of Joy, as of yore. Why should
this not be so, when the thunder of battle that has swept through
the Confederacy, decimating our People, devastating our Estates,

and crimsoning our land with Ijlood, has never struck its wild
alarum in their ears, save for an instant on the borders of Penn-
sylvania, and they only know by telegrahpic dispatches and official

reports on paper that battles have been fought? No greater mis-
take is made by the South than the Supposition that the North is

hopelessly suffering from the War, save that other mistake in which
we indulge leading to the idea that the War can be made to cease,

by our own exertions, without the sacrifice of either Party. It is

a war of Annihilation to the one, or to the other, at least in the
estimation of the North. The South must be subjugated, or the
North must perish, is the only view entertained by the North. To
this complexion the issue has come, and to substantiate the South
and overthrow the North foreign alliances should be successtuUy
solicited.

In the hope of the speedy accomplishment of these ends I have
ventured to address you, Gentlemen : and you will ]Dardon me if I
do not condescend to notice the idle rumours afloat as to the object
of m.y^ visit to Texas. They are alike unworthy of myself, of your
attention, and of the sources from whence they emanate. I have
approached you unreservedly, and having now performed a duty
residing in my Conscience, I shall silently leave the rest to God
and the Country.

Believe me to be
With the profoundest respect and consideration,

Your friend and Servant,

John Tyler.
October 27, 1863.
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GENEEAL VOLNEY EESKINE HOWAKD^

Z. T. FULMOKE

The subject of this sketch was bom in Oxford county, Maine,

October 22, 1809.

He had the usual experiences of a bright, ambitious New Eng-

land boy. In the intervals of labor on the farm, he attended

school near his home and finally entered Bloomfield Academy, and

afterwards Waterfield College. His excellent record while at col-

lege so won the admiration of an uncle who was practicing law

in Mississippi that he was invited to study law and go into part-

nership with him. In 1832, young Howard left home and went

to Mississippi, but upon his arrival there learned that his uncle

had just died. He at once began the study of law, was soon ad-

mitted to the bar, and liegan practice at Brandon. He rapidly

rose to distinction. In 1836, he was elected a member of the leg- •

islature, and, in the same year, was selected to carry the electoral

vote of the state to AVashington. While in that city, he was

married to Catherine Elizabeth Gooch, a native of Massachusetts,

and a young lady of rare literary accomplishments. Upon his

return to Mississippi, he was appointed reporter of the supreme

court, and the eleven volumes of Howard's Mississippi reports

attest his industry and capacity. It was during this time that

he purchased the Mississipfian and made it the leading Demo-

cratic newspaper of the Southwest. In 1840, he was nominated

as the candidate of the Democratic party for a seat in the United

States congress and, although he ran 1000 votes ahead of his

ticket, he was defeated by his Whig opponent. Governor Tucker.

During his legislative career, the Union Bank monopolized the

politics of Mississippi. He voted against the bill by which the

state guaranteed the bank's issue, and while he pledged hmiself

to abide by the action of the legislature, he predicted the in-

solvency of the bank and the repudiation of the state's obligation

by the friends of the bill, in the event of its passage, a predic-

iPor most of the data in this article I am indebted to Volney E. Howard

of Los Angeles, California.
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tion that in a few years came to pass. He was severely criti-

cized by the press, and he as severely retorted through his paper
and on the stump. In the midst of public discussion upon the

subject, he was chosen by the Democratic party of Mississippi to

answer the challenge of Sargeant S. Prentiss to a joint discussion

at Jackson. This meeting has ever since been regarded as a

famous event in the political history of Mississippi. The par-

tisans of the respective sides both claimed that their champion

won the victory, but all admitted that Howard carried his end of

the discussion with matchless skill and ability. It was during

this stormy period that Hiram G. Runnels, the president and

manager of the bank, challenged Howard to fight a duel. The chal-

lenge was promptly accepted and the duel was fought at Columbus.

Howard was shot, the ball striking a rib and coursing through the

breast. As he had predicted, the bank became insolvent and the

question of repudiation came before the legislature. This was
strenuously opposed by Howard in the most scathing and denun-

ciatory language, but the measure carried, greatly to his disgust.

Immediately afterward, he shook the dust of Mississippi politics

from his feet and moved to New Orleans, where he again re-

sumed the practice of law.

Mr. Polk having been elected President in 1844, Howard saw
the immediate prospect of Texas becoming a state of the Union,
and late in December moved with his family to San Antonio,

Texas. Within a few months after his arrival he was elected a

delegate to the first state constitutional convention and was active

and prominent in framing the constitution of 1845. Immediately
after organizing the state government. Governor Henderson, on
the 27th of February, 1846, appointed Howard attorney general
of the state, but he had just previously been elected to the state

senate, and declined the appointment.

In 1849, he was elected to represent the western district of

Texas in
,
the United States congress to succeed Timothy Pils-

bury, also a native of Maine; he was re-elected in 1851 and served
out his full term. His addresses before the House in the discus-

sion of the Compromise Measure of 1850 are models of logic, pure
diction, and oratory. He omitted no phase of the Texas question,

even delving into all the available sources of information on the
Texas boundary.
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At the expiration of his second term in congress, Howard was

appointed by President Pierce United States attorney to the land

commission "in California, and he went there in that capacity but,

after serving a few months, resigned and began the practice of

law in San Francisco. There he continued until 1856, when the

celebrated vigilance committee was organized. It declared

martial law in San Francisco and virtually governed the state at

the point of the bayonet. Howard was an uncompromising ad-

vocate of the supremacy of the law, and strenuously opposed the

policy of the Vigilantes. The governor issued a proclamation

ordering them to disl^and, but they defied his order. He then

called out the militia and appointed Howard to command, but

the strength of the Vigilantes was too great to be overcome by the

militia. The enmity to General Howard in San Francisco result-

ing from his course prompted him to move to Sacramento in 1858.

In 1861, he located in Los Angeles, where he assiduously devoted

himself to the practice of law for about ten years. He accepted

the office of district attorney several terms ; was a member of the

convention which framed the present constitution of California;

was elected judge of the superior court in 1880 ; and during his

incumbency in that office was nominated to a place on the su-

preme bench, but declined. His term expired in 1884, when,

owing to advancing years and declining strength, he retired, and

died in 1885.

In noticing his death, a leading daily newspaper of Los

Angeles, said:

Witli the death of Volney E. Howard passed one of the most

distinguished citizens of California and of the Bepublic. It

would be difficult to name an eminent American who has figured

at the bar and in the forum during the last fifty years of whom

General Howard was not the peer in all the qualities that go to

make up a personalitv of intellectual distinction. As a jurist and

constitutional lawver, he was perhaps without an equal m this

state His oratorical powers were graced by a diction ot sur-

passing purity and stvle of captivating charm. He was always

interes^ting and at times rose to a height of eloquence which is

only reached by the greatest orators. His celebrated speech m
the constitutional convention, on the relation of the corporations

to the people, was pronounced, by even the very eminent men

upon the floor who took issue with him as the most masterly

speech of the whole convention. His logic was clear and strik-
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ing; his sarcasm keen as the edge of Saladin's scimitar; his

power of statement luminous and graphic. In terms of epigram-

matic sentence he was fertile and even profuse. In impassioned

arraignment, especially when his sense of wrong or injustice was

aroused, he was withering and overwhelming. He was most dan-

gerous when his expressive lip was curled with a smile and a

peculiar sparkle, as if of humor, lurked in his piercing eyes.

When in this vein and the occasion called it forth, he was a

terror to those who fell athwart the lacerating excoriation of his

invective. This country has produced but few men with a more

comprehensive or absorbing mind, and none stored with a wider

or more judiciously selected range of literature. His memory was

one of great strength and tenacity. Whatever he read was stored

away, and subject to call when required. No subject, however

recondite or complex, had escaped the tireless industry of his

research, and he was always ready to invest it with an interest

and originality of treatment that stamped him as one whose in-

vestigations were accompanied with the penetrating power of the

deep thinker.

He was a statesman in the highest sense. A graduate of the

Jacksonian schools, he was firm and immovable in his political

principles. His party might, in the hands of trimmers and time-

servers, veer to the right or left, but he was as true as the needle

to the pole.

His courageous nature was incapable of fear and when he

knew and felt he was right, his firmness became so iLxed in its

purpose that no amount of danger could turn him from his course.

Had he been more politic, more suave and bending in his char-

acter, more flexible to his own personal interests, he might have

left his children greater riches as the world goes, but he could

not have left them a more lofty and honorable heritage than that

which descends to them from his pure and unsullied name and his

great and lasting fame.

Such was the man who gave Texas eight years of his most

vigorous manhood. The Legislature of Texas, in 1876, grate-

fully remembered his services and erected a monument to him

bv naming Howard county in his honor.
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ALBEET TEIPLETT BURNLEY

MARTHA A. BURNLEY

Albert Triplett Burnley was born on the 15th day of April,

1800, in Hanover county, Virginia. His grandfather, General

Zachariah Burnley, was an officer of the revolution and an in-

timate friend of General Sumter, of South Carolina. General

Burnley was one of three brothers who came to Virginia in the

early years of the eighteenth century. One of the brothers, Har-

din Burnley, returned to England when hostilities commenced,

and remained. His descendants have occupied prominent posi-

tions in England; one of them represented that country as the

head of the British Embassy at Washington duiing the Civil War.

Albert's father, William Eeuben Burnley, died when Albert was

about ten years old, and a few years after, his mother married

Judge Nooe, of Alabama, and removed to that State. For some

reason my father did not accompany her, but remained with her

relatives in Virginia and was brought up by them. He lived first

with his uncle, John Eiehards Triplett, of Eichmond, but later

with his mother's cousin, Mrs. Charles Smith, of Norfolk, whom

he always considered his real mother, and her children as his

brothers and sisters.

All these were people of the highest character, and from them

he imbibed those principles and standards of honor and integrity

which regulated his conduct through life. He had no collegiate

education, only the teachings of the best schools the, country

afforded, but had a fine taste for reading and mental improve-

ment of every kind. Added to this he grew up strikingly hand-

some and with a grace of manner and distinction of appearance

which lasted him through life. I think no Virginian has ever

been accused of indifference to his native State, but my father's

attacliment to A^irginia was something particularly deep and

romantic. Nevertheless, at the age of twenty-two, he decided to

try his fortunes in Kentucky. He brought letters to the promi-

nent men in Frankfort, Hon. J. J. Crittenden, Hon. George M.

Bibb and others, and decided to remain in Frankfort and study
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law with Judge Bibb, who was at that time chief justice of

Kentucky.

After a few years, however, finding this slow work, he and his

uncle, Robert Triplett, near his own age, bought some coal mines

near Owensboro, Kentucky, which they operated successfully for

some years. In 1827 he married Frances Ann Bibb, daughter of

Judge Bibb, and they lived for some years on a farm near Owens-

boro, where his interests were.

In 1834, Judge Bibb was. appointed first chancellor of Louis-

ville and made my father his deputy, when he removed with his

family to Louisville.

I can not remember the exact date of his becoming interested

in the struggling Eepublic of Texas. I think it was greatly

through his friendship with General Albert Sidney Johnston,

though I recall many names familiar to my childish ears, Colonel

Love, Mr. Peter Grayson, General Houston and others. They

bought many thousands of acres of land there and took the deep-

est interest in the welfare of the country. The archives of the

State will probably show the date of his appointment as commis-

sioner to negotiate a loan for the Eepublic. It was probably about

1839,^ as he was much pleased in England to be presented to the

young Queen Victoria, Just crowned, though he rather criticised

her, allowing the Duke of Wellington to stand during the whole

performance in her box at the theater. He thought it would have

been more graceful to have invited a person of his age and dis-

tinction to be seated. Though this mission was unsuccessful, as

was a second one a year later, he flattered himself that he had by

his descriptions and representations at least brought Texas to the

notice of the great world. He had letters to the prominent peo-

ple in England, Prance and Spain, which he presented and was

the recipient of much attention. He also in Paris had his for-

tune told by Madame Le Normand, who had foretold the Empress

^On April 24, 1837, President Houston issued his commission consti-
tuting Albert T. Burnley commissioner to negotiate a loan not exceeding
five million dollars on the bonds of the government. Mr. Burnley en-
deavored to place the loan in the United States, but was not successful.
He deemed it inadvisable to proceed to Europe while the proposition for
annexing Texas to the United States was pending. However, on October
12, 1838, this proposition was withdrawn by Texas. On February 12,

1839, President Lamar recommissioned Mr. Burnley, and it was perhaps
within the next few months that he proceeded to London.

—

e. w. w.
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Josephine of her future grandeur, and was also in England a

guest of the celebrated Eglinton Tournament, where Mrs. Norton,

the poetess, was crowned "Queen of love and beauty."

When he returned from his second mission he was accompanied

by Senor Funez, a relative of the then queen of Spain. Why this

gentleman came to America I do not remember, or perhaps never

knew, as I was a small child at the time. I think perhaps there

was some hope of a loan from Spain, which was never realized.

However, he remained for some years in this country and was

engaged with my father in a commission business in New Or-

leans; the style of the firm was A. T. Burnley, Johnson & Co.,

the royal name appearing only as the company.

In 1843, by father thought of making his home in Texas, and

we spent some months in Galveston in the spring of that year,

but my mother's health was delicate and conditions very unset-

tled. I remember my childish terrors as night would come on

lest we should be awakened by the bombardment of the city from

a Mexican battleship. I feel quite sure now that they had no

battleship. During that year we returned to Louisville, Ken-

tucky, my father continuing his business in New Orleans and

spending his winters there. Of course, he was much pleased when

the annexation of Texas took place. At that time he had a cotton

plantation in Brazoria county, Texas, but he soon after removed

these interests to Issaquena county, Mississippi. His business in

New Orleans prospered for some years, but about the close of the

Mexican War they had heavy losses which led to the dissolution

of the firm.

^Vlien General Taylor was elected president, my father joined

with his friend Mr. Alex G. Bullitt, of Louisville, in establishing

in Washington, a Whig newspaper, called The Republic, which

was the official organ of the administration. When General

Taylor died and Mr. Eilhnore became President, the same condi-

tions obtained, and in 1850 he removed with his family to Wash-

ington. His friend Hon. John J. Crittenden was then attorney

general, and, having lost his wife some little time before, lived with

us for some years. My father, whose tastes were all in that di-

rection, dispensed a generous hospitality, and the house was the

resort of all that was notable, socially and politically, in Wash-

ington at that time; Mr. Webster, Mr. Thomas Corwin, General
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Winfield Scott, General Houston and others were frequent visitors,

as also the younger and gaA'er of the resident society and the dip-

lomatic corps. General Scott received the news of his defeat for

president at oiir house. My father had invited him and a few

of his friends to an oyster supper and made arrangements to have

the telegrams of the news brought to the house. Of course, they

grew more and more discouraging and the last one saying "TSTew

York gone Democratic by large majority ; accounts look bad from

every quarter," closed the incident. Tlie General, however, re-

ceived it calmly and said he would sleep as well as he ever had

in his life.

In all this my father never forgot his interest in Texas, both

financial and friendly. He spent some months there every

year, and was also a frequent visitor to his plantation in Missis-

sippi, always doing all in his power for the welfare of his slaves,

even to paying a chaplain to give them religious services once a

month.

In 1854 he returned to Kentucky, taking up his residence this

time in Frankfort. Here he spent some quiet, happy years with

his old friends. A part of every winter he spent in Texas or on

his plantation, always taking a deep interest in politics for his

friends, but entirely without political aspirations for himself.

About the year 1858 his health began to fail and symptoms of

tuberculosis developed. All was done that could be done to stay

its course. He went for two summers camping on the plains,

towards the Eed Eiver of the North, and improved a little, but

the disease was not so well understood then as now, and pro-

gressed steadily for three years. Like almost all A^irginians up

to the War Proclamation, he was much opposed to secession,

though an ardent Southerner in all his feelings. He was very,

very weak and reduced, but I well remember his look of dis-

tress when the news came of the firing on Fort Sumter. From

that time he seemed to take but little interest in anything and sank

gradually. On the eleventh of May he received the Holy Com-

munion of the Episcopal Church and soon after lapsed into uncon-

sciousness, breathing his last in the early morning of the thir-

teenth of May, 1861, surrounded by his family and his oldest and

best friends.

There were other mourners besides his family. He had many
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devoted friends and was himself most loyal and unselfish in his

friendships. He was generous to an extreme and no one in need

ever applied to him in vain, so far as his means would allow. We
found among his papers after his death notes of persons to whom
he had loaned money, usually in small sums, amounting to nearly

thirty thousand dollars. He was also quite ingenious in devising

ways and means of giving pleasure and advantages to some who

could not well afford these things. In all transactions where

strict integrity and a delicate sense of honor were concerned he

was considered authority, and questions were often referred to him

in such cases for decision.

Of course, in all his ill health his business interests had suf-

fered and the result of the war destroyed the value of his plan-

tation ; but he never knew the worst, and the memory of his blame-

less life will always be a precious heritage to his children and

grandchildren.

My mother, three daughters and one son survived him, but only

my sister, Mrs. Crittenden, and myself are now living. His only

son. Lieutenant George Bibb Burnley, of the Fourth Kentucky

Infantry, C. S. A., was wounded at Shiloh and recovered, but was

killed on the second of January, 1863, in the famous charge of

Breckenridge's Division at the battle of Murfreesboro, gallantly

fighting for the Southern Cause.
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THE EELEASE OF STEPHEN F. AUSTIN FKOM PEISON

[The autograph letter printed below is found among the Lamar Papers.

At the time when it was written, the writer, Peter W. Grayson, was at-

torney general, and M. B. Lamar, the recipient, was vice-president of the

Republic of Texas.

"The Prison Journal of Stephen F. Austin," printed in The Quarterly,

II, 183-210, presents a narrative of his movements from December 10,

1833, to February 13, 1834, the date on which he was placed in the Ex-

inquisition prison, and of his life in that prison from February 13 to

April 29, 1834. The Journal ceases abruptly on the latter date, although

Austin continued in the same prison until June 12, 1834. Additional in-

formation concerning himself while in prison is found in a letter which

he wrote to James F. Perry, August 25, 1834. It is printed in Edward,
History of Texas, 211-220. The important features of the letter below are:

(1) the light it sheds upon the efforts of the colonists to comfort and aid

Austin; (2) the nature of the evidence put forward against Austin by

the prosecution, and (3) the statement of tlie successive steps in his

release from prison and his final liberation and return home.

—

e. w. w.]

PETEE "W. GEATSON TO MIEABEAU B. LAMAE

Columbia [Texas] Feby 14 1837

Dr Sir

The request you have made of me to give you some account

of the imprisonment in Mexico of our lamented fellow citizen

Genl Stephen F. Austin with the circumstances attending it as

I had occasion to observe them, during my stay there with him,

I take the first leisure to comply with, assuring you that it gives

me much satisfaction to furnish all the little information in my
power with respect to the interesting life of the individual whose

late untimely death^ we have all been left to deplore. I may in

passing take this occasion to express to you the pleasure I felt

on learning your determination to collect and throw into the

form of biography the many interesting incidents connected with

the first settlement of Texas, and its various succeeding interests,

in all of which the deceased is known to have borne so conspicu-

ous a part.^ For such an undertaking tlie present seems plainly

^Austin died December 27, 1836, while secretary of state of the Republic
of Texas.

'The reader will perceive from this letter that General Lamar was plan-
ning to write a book. The scope of his efforts contemplated a life of

Stephen F. Austin and a history of Texas. It was not his good for-
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to be the most propitious time that could have been chosen —as

there are many persons yet living among us, from whom informa-

tion of the gTeatest value for your purpose may now be derived

and whom a few years of the ordinary course of Nature may re-

move beyond the reach of enquiry. I may add, too, in support of

your undertaking an assurance I feel of the interest its successful

execution can not fail to excite in all minds that have a relish for

the achievements of enterprise and a turn to contemplate with

curiosity and pleasure the rude beginnings of infant settlements

—

their progressive improvements, and final advance to the condi-

tion of States.

As you are no doubt well informed of the circumstances which

called the subject of the Life you are writing to the City of Mex-

ico, with his long stay there, on the business of his mission—its

unsuccessful termination, and the cause of his subsequent arrest

at Saltillo, on his way home, it will be unnecessary for me to go

into any detail of these particulars—my purpose being merely to

give you in this account what I know of the treatment he received,

from the time of his arrest at Saltillo up to the time of his final

release in Mexico.

As he informed me, on the occasion of his arrest, which I think

took place some time in Jany^ 1834, he was unable to learn from

any source whatever, the particular cause which had led to so

unexpected a procedure and was consequently left to conjecture

merely what it might be. The officer, who came to take custody

of his person, could only inform him that he was acting in obedi-

ence to the orders of the Vice President, Farias, then Acting

President of the Eepublic, which, as he said, were to conduct him

back to Mexico and deliver him over to the authorities there.

This was accordingly done after a journey of some twenty-five

days, over a distance of about 700 miles, passing somewhat out of

the direct way to Mexico.

On his arrival there,- he was taken to the famous prison of the

Exinquisition, in front of which he sat upon his horse for some time,

tune to complete either; but as a monument to his patriotic efforts he

bequeathed to posterity the large collection of historical manuscripts, now

known as the Lamar Papers, of which this letter forms a part.

^January 3, 1834.

=^February 13, 1884.
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exposed to the gaze of the multitude in the street, awaiting the

despatch of orders for his admission into one of the cells of that

gloomy edifice. He was presently delivered over to one of the officers

of the prison, and conducted through many dark and winding pas-

sages to an interior apartment which, he was informed, had been

appropriated to receive him. It was a room without any other

light than that which came in from above, through an aperture,

which was kept open, only for a few hours during the day/

Here he remained for three months in solitary confinement, with-

out books, writing materials or any other means being allowed

him, to relieve the tedium of existence through the dull hours of

captivity. His only employment as he informed me, during the

few hours of light, he was permitted to enjoy during the day, was

to draw with a fire coal upon the wall, as well as he could, rude

outlines of interesting landscapes he remembered to have seen,

and now and then, with his penknife and a few sticks putting to-

gether rough models of whatever came into his head of easy imi-

tation.

During all this time no intimation was made to him of the

cause of his confinement, or of any formal prosecution going on

against him, for the offence he might be supposed to have com-

mitted. At the end of the time before mentioned, Sant Anna

coming up to Mexico, and resuming the reins of Government is-

sued an order for his removal from the prison of the Exinquisi-

tion and transfer to another (the Acordada) in a different part of

of the City. Here he was placed^ in an apartment which was

comparatively comfortable, having for society a fellow prisoner,

and enjoying the further privilege of communication with his

friends and such other persons as might choose to call and visit

him. Without any material change such continued to be his con-

dition for many months—in which time he wrote to his friends in

Texas a few letters giving some account of the circumstances of

his confinement, in mild and uncomplaining terms, particularly

requesting that there should be no excitement got up among the

people on his account, but, on the contrary, that all should await

patiently and tranquilly the disposition of the Government, upon

^In the Prison Journal will be found a diagram of the prison and some

description of Austin's cell. See The Quaeteelt, II.

^June 12, 1834.
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his case, which he appeared to think with tolerable confidence,

would soon have a favorable termination. Such was in substance

the character of the first few letters he addressed to his friends

about this time ; but there was one which came into my hands,

about the last of July of the year '34 in which though he ex-

pressed no particular impatience or distress at his condition,

seemed, I thought, to breathe a kind of suppressed feeling of

mortification, that he liad been permitted to remain so long in

prison, and among strangers, without receiving any notices of

kindness from his friends or manifestations of interest for his

fate. This it must be owned was a natural feeling for him to

entertain, and yet it is but justice to the people of Texas, to say

that they had been lulled into this inactivity and apparent indif-

ference, through the influence of his advice, which recommended

mildness and forbearance on their part.

It was this letter which determined me to make the offer to his

friends of my service of going on to Mexico, and bearing to him
the consolations of our personal sympathy at least, if no other

good ;—Mr. Spencer H. Jack who was present agreeing to accom-

pany me. It happened about that time that Colo[nel] Almonte,

now so well known to the people of Texas, was passing through the

country in the character of a Commissioner, principally no doubt

to observe and report upon the apparent dispositions of the people,

toward the Government of their adoption. This it is natural to

suppose was the object, since we Imew that he was despatched

from Mexico, about the time of Genl. Austin's arrest at Saltillo,

which was no doubt predicated upon suspicions that were enter-

tained of his loyalty and future intentions, the letter^ which he

wrote from Mexico—under date of Oct. [8] '33 to the Ayunta-

miento of Bejar recommending tlie organization of a State Gov-

ernment, without the consent of the general congress, having been

interpreted by the rules of Spanish logic, as meaning no less than

a move for Independence. I took at the time the first oppor-

tunity to solicit a conversation witli Colo[nel] Almonte, on the sub-

ject of Gen. Austin's imprisonment—the causes of it, and the prob-

abilities of his release. He frankly acknowledged to me that he saw

no sufficient reason for his longer detention; and on my telling

'A copy of this lettei- is appended to Austin's Explanation, etc., in The
Quarterly, VIII, 256, 257.
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him that I thought of going on to Mexico, Avith a view to do alJ

the little in my power toward effecting his release, he gave it to

me as his opinion that such exertions would have a favorable

effect, and that for his part, on his arrival at Mexico, he would

cheerfully co-operate to the same end ;—a pledge which it is proper

I should acknowledge he faithfully redeemed. In a few days

thereafter, Mr. Jack and myself accordingly set out for Mexico,

taking with us addresses to the President Sant Anna from the

various Ayuntamientos of Texas, soliciting the release of our fel-

low citizen. Passing through Monclova, then the seat of Govern-

ment of the State of Coahuila and Texas, we obtained through

the influence of Don Juan Padilla, a known and well tried friend

of the Colonists, at the time Secretary of State, an urgent address

from the Governor, to the President, to the same effect.

On our arrival at Mexico, which we reached on the 15th of

October, we laid those various addresses before his Excellency

Genl. Sant Anna.

On enquiring for our friend Genl. Austin, we found that he had

now been removed to still another prison of the City—where his

condition was in no material respect different, from what it had
been in the one he had last left. We had no difficulty in procuring

admittance to the room in which he was confined ; with some three

other prisoners who were Mexicans.

The delight he experienced on seeing us may be more easily

imagined than described, as he was now convinced that there was

at least some sympathy felt for his condition, on the part of those

from whom he had naturally a right to expect it, however poor

might be the prospect of any relief at their hands. After much
conversation on various matters, I asked him to inform me what

was the nature of the charge or prosecution against him, and what

the law, which it was said he had offended. He replied . .

that on that subject he was as entirely uninformed as myself,

that he had not seen an official paper of any kind whatever re-

lating to his case, and that he merely supposed, his letter to the

Ayuntamiento of Bexar, before referred to, had been the cause of

the proceeding against him. It is wortli while to observe that he

had now been confined about 9 months.

The first thing we thought it most prudent to attempt was

^At this point there is a hole in the manuscript and a word is lost.
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merely to procure his release on bail. This conld only be efiected

by the exertion of personal influence with the Judge, before whom

his ease was now in some sort pending, jurisdiction of it having

been declined previously, as I understood, by one or two function-

aries of that class.i It is needless to detail here, the various

efforts that were made to influence the Judge to grant bail to the

prisoner. Whilst these means were being employed, the papers

of the cause as it was called, we [re] brought and delivered to

the accused in compliance with the form usually observed in such

matters.

On examination they were found to be a huge mass of docu-

ments, if indeed such stuff deserved the name, a great part of

which purported to be evidence. Much of this evidence, to out

surprise we saw consisted of floating and indefinite rumors that

had been reduced to ivriting and thus made to assume a more

imposing form. Among other things of this sort, I remember

there was a letter, which had been written by an unknown writer

at Matagorda, during the time of Genl. Austin's confinement, to

the Editor of a newspaper in New Orleans in allusion to his case,

as connected with the affairs of Texas generally—now formally

translated into Spanish and made to cut a serious figure in the

prosecution. Of a character in no degree more relevant, was all

the rest of the evidence which came under my observation.

We looked in vain for any paper in the nature of an Indict-

ment, which might present the precise form and substance of the

accusation. Everything was left to be guessed at and gathered,

as one best might, from the chaos of papers such as I have de-

scribed them. Which had all been manufactured, in the spirit

of the Inquisition, entirely ex parte.

'"I remained in the inquisition until the 12th of June, when the mili-

tary tribunal, to whom my ease was referred, decided that they had no

jurisdiction over it; and I was removed to this prison [Acordada], and

my case delivered over to a civil tribunal, or jour de litras [Jues de

letras], in whose hands it slept until the 12th of August—when he de-

cided that he had no jurisdiction over it; and it was then sent to the

federal district judge, who soon despatched it, by deciding that he had no
i

jurisdiction over it, as I did not reside in his district. The matter was

"then sent to the Supreme Court of the United Mexican States, in order

for them to decide what court or tribunal ought to try me; and there the

case rests at present. So that after eight months, I do not know as yet,

what court is to investigate my case."—Austin to Perry, August 25, 1834,

in Edward, History of Texas, 212-213.
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The cause however had been thus sent to the prisoner, that he

might be enabled to make out his answer or Defense. This he

employed an Advocate to do for him—it was accordingly done

—

and as I think in a very able manner.

Of this Gentleman who was an advocate of much note in the

City I remember we enquired the Law upon which the prosecu-

iion was proceeding. He frankly told us that he did not know
it himself; remarking that neither he or any one else could say

with any certainty what was Law in Mexico either in civil or

.criminal matters—that a Congress, shortly after the close of the

revolution, had passed a statute declaring that all laws previously

in force, which were inconsistent with a republican form of Gov-

ernment were thereby repealed, whilst all that were not so, should

continue in force.

It is easy to conceive the uncertainty of practice, necessarily

attending so undefined a state of the Law as this.

Through all this uncertainty however, and after much delay,

bail was granted upon high security on the 35th December and
the accused set at liberty within the bounds of the City.

He who was accepted as security was a wealthy Mexican of the

City, by the name of Pascual Villar. The American Consul

Doctr. Parrot generously offered his name which was however not

required.

The discharge on bail, we were disposed to regard in substance
-as an acquittal;—in a country where mere rumor and suspicion

stand in the place of legitimate evidence, and imprisonment for

an indefinite period, at the pleasure of the Government, is the only

means relied upon for securing the person of any one they expect

to punish.

These things wore a startling and monstrous appearance to us
who have been accustomed to see criminal law administered with
so much indulgence to supposed guilt; everything previous to trial

being done on the liberal presumption of innocence till the con-

trary appears; whilst in Mexico, the opposition presumption pre-

vails, and the party is taken for guilty until he proves his in-

nocence. Such a proceeding as that under our Habeas Corpus,
being so entirely at war with the whole spirit of their Criminal
Jurisprudence, has of course never been dreamed of.

To my mind all their proceedings in criminal matters at least.
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bear evidently the stamp of the Inquisition which in Spain [?],

upon mere nmior or suspicion no matter liow vague or irrelevant,

was in the practice of carrying on the greatest prosecutions by

ex parte management, in the absence of the accused—oftentimes

whilst he was pining in prison, ignorant of all that was going on

against him.

From a Government deformed with such a system of Laws as

this I have here given you a notion of, it has been our fortune to

separate; a consideration which should incline us all 1 think to

bear with the greater patience, the inconveniences and ills, which

our new condition may bring upon us.

A few more words will suffice to close this account. Immedi-

ately after Genl. Austin's discharge on bail, suitable efforts were

made to bring the cause to a final hearing, but this could by no

means be effected ; as the Judge fearing, no doubt the imputation

of partiality to foreigners, and thinking perhaps he had already

done enough for Justice, declined for the time, any further action

on the matter.

It happened fortunately about this time, that the Congress of

the Nation convened^—and passed after a discussion and delay of

some months an Amnesty Bill as it was called: which had the

effect of doing away all political offenses that had been or were

supposed to have been committed up to a given period. In the

meanwhile Genl. Austin had written a clear and lengthy exposi-

tion^ of the affairs of Texas, in which he successfully vindicated

not only his own motives and conduct but those also of his fellow

citizens the Colonists. This Exposition was printed in pamphlet

form, and distributed among the members of Congress and most

other dignitaries of the Government. It made I do not doubt,

a very favorable impression ;
as, when the Amnesty Bill came out,

there was no exception in it as to him.

The consequence was that after a good deal more perplexity

with the Judge, he obtained his complete discharge, which took

place I think some time in June, following his liberation on bail.

Soon after this, providing himself with a passport he took the

stage from Mexico, to return home by the way of Vera Cruz.

^January 4, 1835.

=It is dated January 18, 1835. A translation of this pamphlet is printed

in The Quaetekly, VIII, 232-258.
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Arriving at the latter place, he encountered a new, and unex-
pected difficulty, from the Commandant of the military there, who
peremptorily informed him that he could not vet be permitted to
leave the country. That officer persisting in his arbitrary posi-
tion, Genl. Austin made a visit to the President Sant Anna who
was then at his Hacienda about five leagues distant from Vera
Cruz, and representing to him the obstruction offered to his de-
parture, obtained from him a peremptory order to the Comman-
dant, to permit his free egress from the country.

This difficulty being removed, he immediately went on board a
vessel bound for N. Orleans where he arrived some time about the
10th of August—and where, happening to be myself at the time I
had the pleasure of meeting him.

I can not conclude this account without bearing testimony to
the extraordinary patience and forbearance with which he en-
dured the long delays—vexations and sufferings which attended
him during his stay in Mexico. He seemed, bv a great effort to
have formed his mind to the necessity of his condition, in so much
that during all the time I spent with him, which was near four
months, I do not remember to have heard him use an intemperate
expression of any kind with respect to any person or circumstance
connected with his imprisonment. As I was in the habit of visit-
ing him m prison, daily, I had the best opportunity of observing
the amiable character of his disposition-as well" as his unex-
ampled patience and fortitude.

From what I have here written hastily and imperfectly I hope
you will be able to extract enough for 'the purpose you have in
view.

Very respectfully,

Yr Obt Servt.

The Honble. ' '
.

M. B. Lamar.
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NOTES AND PEAGMEKTS.

Eecords of the Mission of Nuestra Senora del Eefugio.—
It has been supposed by writers that the mission of Nnestra Senora

del Eefugio, more commonly called the mission of Eefugio, situated

near Copano Bay, Texas, ceased to exist as an active mission

as early as 1812. But the discovery of two original record books

of this mission in the archives of the parish church of Matamoros,

Tamaulipas, shows that this supposition is incorrect, and that, on

the contrary, the mission continued in operation till 1828.

One of the books referred to is a record of baptisms from 1807

to 1828, while the other is a record of burials from 1807 to 1825.

They are bound in leather and are in a good state of preservation.

The tradition is that they were taken to Matamoros during the

Texas revolution, which is an altogether plausible explanation

when we know from positive evidence that important secular rec-

ords were taken there from Goliad at that time. It is not im-

probable that the reason why they have remained at Matamoros

till the present is that it has been erroneously supposed, through

a confusion of names, that they related to the parish church where

they are preserved, whose early name was Nuestra Seiiora del

Eefugio de los Esteros, or, more commonly, Nuestra Senora del

Eefugio.

The cover-title of the book of baptisms is "Libro No. 2. 1807.

Bautismos. Contirmaciones del Ano 1868." The inside, and

correct, title is "Libro II de Bautism[o]s Hechos en la Mision de

Ntra. Sra. del Eefugio de la Bahia Desde el aiio de 1807." The

record shows 214 baptisms, the earliest being April 21, 1807, and

the latest February 21, 1828. A number of the persons bap-

tised were Spaniards. A note on folio 35 states that "all of the

baptisms made after the ninth of July, 1824, were performed at

the Parochial Church {la Farroquia) of la Bahia, because the

Minister could not remain in the Mission, on account of the hos-

tilities of the Comanches." The implication is plain that up to

July 9, 1824, the mission activities were conducted at Eefugio,

and that thereafter until February, 1828, the mission continued

to exist, but that its functions were performed at Bahia (Goliad).
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Tlie cause of the abandonment is seen to be the Comanche depre-
dations. Baptisms are shown for every year except 1836. The
average number for the twenty-one years was slightly more than
ten per year. The period of greatest activity was between 1808
and 1819, when the average was about fifteen baptisms per year.

Lest it be supposed that the persons baptized were all children
of survivors of a long dead mission, it may be noted that a con-
siderable percentage up to the last were children of "gentiles

"

fresh from the woods. The tribes represented were the Carancl-
huases, Pihuiques (Piguiques), Copanes, Huapites (Coapites),
Pamaques, Cujanes, Malaguites, (Malaquites, Malahuites), Paia-
laehes Tobosos, Cocos, Xaranames (from the mission of Espiritu
banto), and Lipanes.

The title on the cover of the book of burials is, strangely
enough, "Entierros, Mision Mision {sic) de Ntro. Padre Sor S
Jose de Camai^-o. XX. Xo. 4." The inside, and correct, titk
is Libro II De Entierros. Hechos en la Mision de Xtra Sra
del Eefugio de la Bahia Desde el aiio de 1807." It contains 157
entries, between May 16, 1807, and Xov. 18, 1825. A number
ot these, as of the baptisms, were of Spaniards. When we note
that twenty-seven of the one hundred and seven, or one-fourth of
the persons buried during the last eleven years were killed by 'the
Indians, we can understand that Indian depredations furnished
a sufficient reason for deserting the unprotected mission. Fifteen
of these twenty-seven, buried in 1814 all at one time, were persons
killed at Eancho Diexmero, on the Xueces.
From the signatures affixed to the records we learn the names

of the missionaries in charge of the congregation during the period
covered. Most of the baptisms and burials between 1807 and
1817 were performed by Fray Jose Manuel Gaitan, "minister of
this mission of Xtra. Sra. del Eefugio." Fray Juan Maria
Sepulveda signed entries in 1810 and 1811. An entry shows
that this father died and was himself buried at Eefugio on June
28, 1815. At the time of his death he was minister of the
mision of Espiritu Santo de Zimiga, and was about thirty-four
years of age. In 1817 and 1818 some of the entries were signed
by Fray Antonio Jose Diaz De Leon. After 1818 all of the en-
tries were signed by Fray Miguel Munoz.

These brief notes have been prepared from much fuller ones
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with the hope that they may supply welcome information regard-

ing the little known Eefugio mission at the same time that they

bring to light these precious records of the Old Eegime. It will

be observed that each of the books is No. II of a series. The

earlier ones, covering the period from 1791, when the mission was

established, to 1807, were not found.
Herbert E. Bolton.

Imaniiel Frederick Gibenrath, the German Drummer of

Goliad.— [The following sketch appeared in the Houston Post of

July 31, 1910.] When volunteers were being enlisted in Kentucky

during the fall of 1835 for the assistance of the Texans in their

revolt against Mexico there was in the city of Louisville a young

German named Inianuel Frederick Gibenrath. The place which

gave him birth was Wittenberg, and there he had left his wife,

two little girls, the younger still in infancy, when, a few years

before, he had emigrated to America, the land of promise.

Having landed first at Baltimore, he there made acquaint-

ances and friends, but the spirit of adventure beckoned him

toward the West, and in the city of Louisville, Kentucky, he

found profitable em.ployment in a factory. He was eagerly look-

ing forward to the time when his earnings would permit him

to send for his family to join him. But a call was made

for volunteers to aid the liberty-loving Texans, a vision of a

fairer land arose before him, his martial spirit took fire, he had

served in the army of his fatherland as a drummer boy, and his

skill with the flying sticks now did good service in calling to-

gether volunteers. He joined one of the companies and marched

with his young comrades to Texas. How the merry music of his

drum quickened their steps on the long and tedious march, how

its rumblings and bellowings seemed to tell of coming battle and

its thrilling reverberations sounded the note of certain victory!

History tells us nothing of his adventures on the way, whether

he entertained hopes or fears, but we find on one of its bloodiest

pages the record that among the dead who were massacred with

Fannin at La Bahia on that memorable Palm Sunday, 1836, was

Frederick Gibenrath, a member of Captain Peyton S. Wyatt's

company, Oliver Smith in command.
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How brief the record of many a gallant soldier's fate : "Dead
on the field of honor."

In the city of Goliad, in Fannin Park, there stands a noble
marble shaft; on the north side is engraved the battle cry of San
Jacinto, "Remember the Alamo! Eemember Goliad!" on the

west, "Independence declared March 2, A. D. 1836, consummated
April 31, A. D. 1836"; on the south, "Fannin; erected in memory
of Fannin and his comrades" ; and on the east, "l^Iassacred March
27, A. D. 1836." It forms at once an epitome of history, and
the epitaph of the German drummer and his companions, whose
bodies, after lying for more than two months unburied, were de-

posited with military honors near the old mission church of

La Bahia.

Wlien the widow of Tmanuel Frederick Gibenratli. with her two
children, reached Texas in 1839, she met and talked with men
who told her particulars of the last days of her husband. One
said that Gibenrath foresaw that the Mexicans were deceiving the

Texans, and told his comrades that they were going to be butch-

ered instead of being paroled, as they had lieen led to believe.

Among articles picked up on the held of slaughter were pieces

of brass bands of the drum of the German drummer, which were
given to his widow and cherished by her as a precious memento.

After her husband's death, Mrs. Gibenrath, whose maiden name
was Christina Johanna Hildwein, was married to John Frederick

Hassmann, and she died in Houston many years ago. Her two
children, daughters of Gibenrath, grew to womanhood, and the

elder, Eosanna Balistier, died in New Orleans at the Little Sisters

of the Poor, an institution which she had assisted in founding;

the other, Katharine Gibenrath Hooker, now in her eighty-first

year, lives in Houston at the home of her grandson, George Allien.

Mrs. Hooker was married four times; her first husband was
Frank B. Allien, the father of Captain Fred Allien, a well known
citizen living at Morgan's Point.

Mrs. Hooker has passed through many thrilling scenes. Living
in New Orleans during the war between the States, she was under
military surveillance while the Federals were in possession, and
her ardent Soutliern feeling subjected her to danger of arrest on
several occasions. Her familiarity with four languages, German,
English, French and Spanish, combined with her ready wit, en-
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abled her to extricate herself from severely trying situations at

this period.

She is still strong and lively in spite of her four score years;

her life has been full of good work; many a sick bed has she

tended; many a helpless orphan has she soothed and cared for;

after all the trials of her long and varied life she still wears a

cheerful smile, and her heart beats in sympathy with the young

and hopeful. As the daughter of a man who gave his life for

Texas, and the widow of Mr. Hooker, a Confederate soldier, she

is identified with two important epochs of this country's history.

Scores of family letters written in German and yellow with age,

which she carefully treasures, tell of the Gibenraths and the Hild-

weins for many generations away back in Suabia, but her pride

centers on the Gibenrath, her father, who was one of "Fannin's

men" and a Texan.
Adele B. Looscan.

Professoe John A. Lomax, of the University of Texas, is col-

lecting Folk-Songs of the United States, and would appreciate

assistance from members of the Historical Association. "When-

ever," says Professor Lomax, "people, from whatever cause, live

for a time in primitive isolation they make songs that reflect the

feelings of the whole community. Such songs also spring up

from groups of unlettered men following a particular occupa-

tion, especially one that calls for supreme physical effort. In most

eases the authorship can be traced to no one person. The songs

are perhaps rarely written out, and less seldom find their way into

print. They are often crude in form and matter, sometimes vul-

gar, but always interesting as a reflection of the intimate life of

the people. These are the Folk- Songs, either handed down by

'word of mouth' from generation to generation, or entirely sub-

merged in the rush of progress or lost through the dominion of

the newspaper."

Types of the ballad in which he is interested are the lumber

songs of the Northern forests, sailor songs, mining songs, army

songs, fishing songs, cowboy songs, negro songs, etc., etc. He has

already more than a hundred cowboy songs, and thinks that his

collection is far from complete.
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Professor Lomax particularly desires information concerning
the romance of "Mustang Gray/' and wishes to complete the Texas
revolutionary ballad which begins:

To Houston at Gonzales town
Bide, Ranger, for your life;

Nor stop nor stay

This day to say

Good-bye to child or wife.

Judge Z. T. Fulmore, whose sketch of General Volney E.

Howard appears in this number of The Quaeteklt, is preparing
a volume, which will be published during the winter by Eand,
McNally & Company, giving in compendious form the history of

the county names of Texas.

Mrs. Adele B. Looscan is preparing for The Quarterly a his-

tory of Harris county. It will be based largely on the records in

the country clerk's office. This is an important phase of local

history, and it is to be hoped that other members of the Associa-
tion will take up the work in their own counties.
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AFPAIES OF THE ASSOCIATION.

The passing of Dr. George Pierce Garrison, the senior member

of the Faculty of the University of Texas and head of the De-

partment of History, is one of the severest losses that the state

of Texas could have sustained. He was equipped by nature for

the wonderful study of history. He was broad-minded, liberal,

understanding personal values, at the same time sympathetic and

keenly observant.

As the author of several volumes on various periods of Ameri-

can history, of a most attractive and resourceful volume "Texas"

;

as editor of two large volumes of the "Diplomatic Correspondence

of the Eepublie of Texas," and as an explorer of the archives of

Mexico and of Texas, he has contributed to our historical treas-

ures as no teacher or student before him has done. He was the

leading spirit of the Texas State Historical Association and editor

of The Quaeteely.

He was an excellent judge of Imman nature—an indispensable

quality in the successful teacher—making due allowance for all of

its frailties, as well as giving full appreciation for its strength.

Few men in the South were as well prepared from the stand-

point of scholarship. His educational opportunity in this country

and in Europe was of the best, and he held high place in the esti-

mates of his fellow educators.

In the class-room his dignity, quiet reserve, but positive inter-

est in each individual student, impressed every member of the

class with the feeling that his privilege to be present in that

particular class on that particidar day was a very valuable one.

Always genuine, full of a kind imderstanding of the overzealous

student, or the one of passive interests, he made his presence felt

and remembered.

His students, as they passed from his class-room, kept their

places in his affectionate regard, and his interest followed them

wherever their duties called. Busy as he was, he constantly as-

sisted the absent ones who were inclined to follow up historical

work after leaving the University.

He was a blessing and a strength, and well may the hundreds



Affairs of the Association. 171

of students of the University of Texas place a memorial to their
dear friend. Let those men and women who have profited by his
training honor themselves by expressing their appreciation of him
in some noble, substantial form.

I am grateful for the opportunity to have been his student, to
have followed his wise guidance, and to have enjoyed his friend-
ship.

Such lives do not end, for such service as he gave is eternal,
and the good which he accomplished will be felt by the uncounted
hundreds, who, in the years to come, will have the advantage of
studying history in our University. The direction which he gave
to this department will be felt every day that the University

Katie Dafpan.
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On July 3, 1910, at his home in Austin, George Pierce Garrison

died of heart disease. For over a year his health had been grad-

ually failing and he had been coming slowly to a realization of

the fact that his labors were exceeding his powers of endurance.

Planning to work less ai-duously as soon as he could dispose of the

second volume of the "JDiplomatic Correspondence of the Eepublic

of Texas," which he was then engaged in editing, he was overtaken

by death with the proofs of the volume upon his desk. His imme-

diate task was nearly done, but, d3dDg at the age of fifty-six, it

can hardly be said that his life work had rounded to a perfect

close. Had he been spared, his character and his influence would

have continued to benefit the University of Texas, and his learning

and industry would have continued to illumine the history of our

country. Unfortunately, in place of his active presence, the mem-
ory of him alone now serves to guide and inspire.

George Pierce Garrison was born December 19, 1853, at Car-

rollton, Georgia. His father, Patterson Gillespie Garrison, and

his mother, Mary Ann Curtiss Garrison, were Georgians of Geor-

gian descent. His early experiences differed in nowise from those

of the average Georgia boy of the period. He retained a pretty

vivid recollection of war time and the accompanying privations,

along with a considerable knowledge of negro life and character.

His early schooling was obtained at Sewanee College, "Win-
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Chester, Tennessee, and at the Carroll Masonic Institute, Car-

roUton, Georgia. Struggling to make a living and to acquire an

education, he came to Texas in 1874, where he taught school in

Rusk and adjoining counties for five years. In 1879 he went to

Scotland, and took the degree of L. A. (Literate in Arts) from the

University of Edinburgh in 1881. Eeturning to Texas, he mar-

ried Miss Annie Perkins of Eusk county in November, 1881, and

taught school at San Marcos until the spring of 1882, when failing

health forced him to quit teaching. He moved to a ranch in Hays

county and busied himself with outdoor labors. His health im-

proving, he accepted in 1884 an instructorship in English liter-

ature and history in the young University of Texas. He was

made an assistant professor in 1888 ; an adjunct professor in 1889

;

an associate professor in 1891, and professor of American history

in 1897.

Tuberculosis, which attacked him in 1883, seriously threatened

his life in 1889. Partly by medical treatment but mainly by sheer

will power he overcame this disease so thoroughly that his later

years were free from the shadow of it.

In 1896 he took the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the Uni-

versity of Chicago, and in 1910 Baylor University conferred upon

him the honorary degree of Doctor of Laws. The death of Judge

Gould, in 1904 made Professor Garrison in point of service the

senior member of the faculty of the University of Texas.

Professor Garrison was one of the founders of the Texas State

Historical Association and was editor of Tpie Quarterly from its

beginning in 1897 until the time of his death. To his care The
Quarterly owes much of the reputation which it has acquired

among historical publications in this country. He was a member

of the American Economic Association, of the American Academy

of Political and Social Science, of the American Historical Asso-

ciation, and of various local clubs and associations. He was for

several years a member of the Executive Council and of the His-

torical Manuscripts Committee of the American Historical Asso-

ciation, and at the time of his death he was chairman of the new

Library and Historical Commission of Texas.

For several years Professor Garrison was a member of the

school board of Austin. He took an active interest in local

affairs as well as in those of Texas and the United States. He
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was for years a member of the Methodist Church, and had much
to do with the building of the University Methodist Cliurch in
Austin. His relation to his family was almost ideal. His mother,
his wife, two sisters, and four daughters survive liim.

Such in brief is the bald outline of a life almost heroic. His
writings, most of which are familiar to the readers of The Quar-
TEELT, will be found listed below. They have been received with
favor by competent critics, they have won for their author a

respectable place among American historians, and they speak for
themselves. Professor Jameson has said of him, "It" is not too
much to say that he exerted more influence than all preceding stu-

dents had ever exerted," on the history of Texas. He availed him-
self of all the known historical records and sources, and nothing
but the discovery of new material can seriously disturl) the con-
clusions that he reached. Out of his class room have come a num-
ber of young Texas historians who are trained in the best methods
of modern investigation and who are destined greatly to elucidate
the history of Texas, of the South, and of the nation. Their work,
and his^ form his epitaph as an historian.

But the man was greater than his works. In him the scientific

historian was ever subordinate to the patriotic citizen. He studied
and taught history with unflagging zeal because he firmly believed
that it revealed an unceasing moral purpose running through the
ages, because he thought that the experience of the past could be
profitably brought to bear on the problems of the future. He was
an historian because he was a public-spirited man who firmly held
that an insight into the experience of our race would greatly
broaden and benefit each succeeding generation.

In this feeble effort to do justice to his memory, it is needless
and impertinent to attempt to take his measure as an historian,

and it is far better to lay stress upon what he was rather than
upon what he did. It is well to do great things but better still to be
great. Yet it is no easy task to describe him as he was. A modest,
patient, prudent, brave, and kindly man he was, whose demerits
were few and small and whose virtues were so thoroughly blended
into a fine character as to give but little place for light and shade
in picturing him. Only a friendship extending over many years
justifies the poor attempt here made to convey some notion of the
merits of the man to those who knew him not. -
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The most salient feature in his life was his power of contimial

grov/th. Throughout his life he increased in moral insight and

intellectual power, and at his death he was a broader man in every

way than he had ever been before. It is the sad fate of most men

to stop advancing at relatively early years, but in his ease the

advance continued to the end at an increasing rate. His progress

in youth was greatly retarded by adverse circumstances. He was

twenty-six years of age before he entered the University of Edin-

burgh, and he had money enough only for two years of study there.

Attacked by tuberculosis at the age of twenty-nine, for eight years

he fought a life and death struggle, winning because he possessed

an indomitable spirit. So it came to pass that, beset by disease

and poverty, he reached his fortieth year before he found it pos-

sible to begin his historical studies in real earnest. These long

years of struggle brouglit out the man that was in him, and, his

disease conquered, the last fifteen years of his life were years of

-great progress and increasing usefulness.

Although a gentle and tolerant man, desirous of finding good in

all men and little prone to severe judgm_ents, he possessed all the

rigor of an old Puritan and all the finnness of a granite rock

Y/hen it came to coinpromising with evil. In cases involving morals

he carefully decided upon the course to pursue or the judgment

to adopt, and, his conclusion made, nothing save new facts could

bend him from it. His desire to reach a correct conclusion some-

times delayed action, but the action, when it came, 'was always with-

out fear or favor. He once said, half in jest and half in earnest,

"I am moved neither by tears nor guns." He combined in a re-

markable manner an absolutely inflexible morality with a just

appreciation of the weakness of human nature. Slow to form an

opinion, sure to look carefrdly at all the aspects of a situation,

accustomed to balance probabdities, versed in the intricacies of

human nature, Professor Garrison had many of the qualifications

of a great historian.

As a teacher he was highly regarded by his students, and he had

the great power of coming into sympathetic personal contact with

a very large number of them. He held that the first duty of a

state university was to produce intelligent and patriotic citizens,

and he tried to teach history so as to make his students worthy

members of a democracy, a democracy seeking justice and as mind-
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fnl of duties as of rights. He was clear in exposition, interested in

students and their lives, ever animated by a noble purpose; there-

fore one is not surprised that both the negligent and the diligent

thought well of him. He insisted that education must reach every
human capacity, must tit for life, but not for life in a narrowly
utilitarian sense.

It is obvious to those who have read his books that Professor
Garrison possessed an excellent command of the English language.
As a speaker he was etfective, possessing a good voice and a pleas-
ing presence. In making impromptu addresses he was often par-
ticularly happy as is evidenced by his admirable and partly unpre-
meditated reply (fortunately taken down at the time and printed
in Volume IX of the University of Texas Record) to the felicita-

tions showered upon him at the dinner given in his honor at the
Driskill Hotel in 1909. His written style is careful and logical,

abounds in passages of real literary merit, and is garnished here
and there with quiet humor. He had a most extensive knowledge
of the English Bible, an accomplishment all too rare in this gen-
eration, and could quote accurately many verses and several entire
chapters. He was well read in English literature and was not
unacquainted with the literature of antiquity. Through life he
retained a fondness for good poetry, and in his youth he wrote a
few verses himself. One of his lesser accomplishments was an
ability to sing negro songs after the old plantation fashion, and by
doing so he sometimes surprised people who knew him only in his
professorial capacity.

Southern by birth and sympathy and warmly appreciative of all

that was good in the civilization of the old South, Professor Gar-
rison was always singularly dispassionate in his view of all ques-
tions relating to the Civil War. He did much to defend the South
from accusations based on defective historical knowledge, but he
regarded the war as a necessary step in the welding of the United
States. He knew that the progress of civilization had altered and
would continue to alter the relations originally existing between
the states and the federal government. For the Constitution and
the Judiciary he had an intelligent appreciation, but he did not
regard either as incapable of improvement. While not unmindful
of the benefits to be derived from a proper organization of govern-
mental machinery, he maintained that the liberty and welfare of
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a people depend more upon its own intelligence and virtue than

upon paper constitutions or particular governmental forms. Long

study of the governments of Great Britain and the United States

finally led him to the conclusion that the American system of

checks and balances was in many ways developed to such an extent

as to interfere with good government and check the free develop-

ment of democracy. He came to believe in placing a good deal

of power in the hands of public officials and in then holding them

to a strict and frequent accountability to the voters. He therefore

viewed with favor the British cabinet system and the commission

form of government in our American cities. He regarded the

obviously waning prestige of the states as compared with the

growth of federal power as an inevitable process brought about

by the progress of mankind. He was, however, a firm believer in

local responsibility and in local self-government in local afiairs,

and thought that the proper division of power between the various

local governments and the general government was rather a question

of business administration than a proper subject of violent partisan

controversy. He followed with keen interest the growth all over the

world of the power of our race to govern itself wisely and justly.

In those controversies that will probably continue to agitate the

world during the twentieth century, he took the part of those who

regard the rights of man as superior to the rights of property.

Though he was attached to Texas as few men are, his patriotism

was not provincial. He was m-ore an American than a Texan, and

as an American he did not shut his eyes to the merits of other

nations or to the evils that flourish amid the good in our national

life.

By temperament and training. Professor Garrison was a man of

deep religious instincts. Although he accepted many of the more

radical results of biblical higher criticism and although he was

thoroughly convinced of the suljstantial truth of the evolutionary

conception of the universe, he found it possible in all sincerity

to remain a faithful member of an evangelical church. This he

did not only because he regarded the Christian church as the

greatest means of individual and social regeneration but also be-

cause he believed that the essentials of Christianity are so pro-

foundly true as not greatly to need the help of much detailed his-

torical evidence. A reverent man, loving truth, he looked with clear
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vision upon the universe and found there progress and a mora]

order. He knew that a diligent study of nature and man, coupled

with an earnest effort to carry out the precepts of the Son of Man,
would lead men near to the footstool of the Most High.

In attempting to describe the character and opinions of an edu-

cated man, one feels the inadequacy of words. Because example

is better than precept, it has been the custom of biographers to

depict rather by incidents and anecdotes than by labored exposition.

In this account the temptation to relate certain interesting and

illustrative events in the life of Professor Garrison has often arisen.

But many such details are needed to give a just idea of a man,

and it has been thought better here to seek emphasis by means

of brevity.

In bringing this inadequate account of my friend to an

end, the sadness produced by his untimely death and by my
own sense of personal loss is deepened by my inability to make

plain the worth of him to those who did not know him. Let us

therefore measure him by his aspirations, which are to be found

accurately expressed in these noble words that he loved to quote

from Tennyson's '"TTlysses."

"But something ere the end.

Some work of noble note, may yet be done,

Not unbecoming men that strove with Gods. . . .

'Tis not too late to seek a newer world.

Push off, and, sitting well in order, smite

The sounding furrows; for my purpose holds

To sail beyond the sunset, and the baths

Of all the western stars, until I die.

It may be that the gulfs will wash us down;

It may be we shall touch the Happy Isles,

And see the great 'Achilles, whom we knew.

Tho' much is taken, much abides; and tho'

We are not now that strength which in old days

Moved earth and heaven, that which we are, we are

—

One equal temper of heroic hearts.

Made weak by time and fate, but strong in will

To strive, to seek, to find, and not to yield."

I



180 ' Texas Historical Association Quarterly

" PEOFESSOR GAERISON^S WRITINGS

BOOKS . :

TJte Civil Oovernment of Texas. Philadelphia. Eldredge and

Brother. 1898.

The History of Federal Co7itrol of Congressional Elections. St.

Lonis. The Christian Pnhlishing Company. 1900.

Texas: A Contest of Civilizations. Boston. Houghton, Mifflin

and Company. 1903.

Westvjard Extension (Volume XVII of The American Nation).

New York. Harper and Brother. 1006.

Diplomatic Correspondence of the Republic of Texas. 2 volumes.

Volume I is Annual Report of the American Historical Association,

1907, II; and volume II is Annual Report of the American His-

torical Association, 190S, II (in press). Washington. Govern-

ment Printing Office.

ARTICLES •
<

"Another Texas Mag/' The Quarterly of the Texas State His-

torical Association, III, 170-176. "Guy Morrison Bryan," Ibid.,

121-136. "Eichard Montgomery Swearingen," Ibid., 225-231.

"The Summer School Movement," The University of Ted-as Record,

II, 269-274. "Univejsity Traditions," Ibid., Ill, 112-118. "Ad-

dress at the Installation of President Houston," Ibid., VII, 42-45.

"Historical Address at the Inaugural of President Mezes," Ibid.,

A^II, 261-278. "Address at the James B. Clark Memorial," Ibid.,

IX, 125-128. "The Lot of the Eeformer," a faculty commence-

ment address. University of Texas, June 16, 1891. "Utilitarian

Education," Public Opinion, 588-589, September 19, 1891. "'A

Woman's Community in Texas," The Charities Review, III, 28-46

(1893). "Texas," Johnson's Universal Cyclopedia (1895). "His-

torians," Popular Science Monthly, November, 1900. Eeprinted

in The Texan, December 11, 1900. "The Archivo General de

Mexico," The Nation, May 30, 1901. "Southwestern History in

the Southwest," Annual Eeport of the American Historical Asso-

ciation, 1901, I, 231-242. "Connecticut Pioneers Founded Anglo-

American Texas," The Connecticut Magazine, IX, No. 3. "The

First Stage of the Movement for the Annexation of Texas," The

American Historical Review, X, 72-96. "A Memorandum of



Geqrge Pierce Garrison 181

Moses Austin's Journey"' (1796-1797), a document edited with an-
notations, The American Historical Review, Y, 518-542. "The
University of Texas and its Kew President/' Review of Reviews,
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STEPHEN F. AUSTIN : A MBMOEIAL ADDEESS^

ALEX. W. TEERELL

Daugliters of the RepuUic, Comrades, Ladies and Gentlemen:

Texas, mindM of her debt of gratitude to the great pioneer of

her civilization, has always cherished his memory, and has now

brought here his mortal remains for final interment. More than

half a centnry ago a single portrait was hnng in the hall of the old

House of Eepresentatives to the right of the Speaker's chair. It

was the portrait of Stephen P. Austin, placed there by the men

who once followed liim to the wilderness in search of homes, who

had shared with him its perils and who knew him best. When, in

1855, another state house was erected, the same portrait was placed

to the right of the Speaker's chair, and when, in later years, this

more enduring capitol was built, this full lengt^h portrait of Austin,

which you see, was placed to the right of the Speaker's chair. At

the request of Austin's kindred, I then presented it to a joint ses-

sion of the Legislature in their name,- and you will excuse me for

remembering that I then expressed the hope that Texas some day

^The thirty-first legislature, at its fourth called session, made provision

for the removal of the remains of Stephen F. Austin from Peach Point, in

Brazoria County, to the State Cemetery in Austin. On October 18, 1910,

in the presence' of a legislative committee and some of Austin's relatives,

the grave was opened and his bones were found in a state of complete

preservation. (The Oalveston Daily Wews, of October 19, contains an

excellent account of the disinterment.) They were placed in a casket and

brought to Austin, by way of Houston. At Houston services were held

in honor of the occasion, and at Austin the remains were received at the

station and escorted with military ceremony to the Capitol, where they

lay in state until the morning of the 20th, when they were interred in the

State Cemetery. On the evening of the 19th services were held in the

Senate Chamber, and Judge Terrell delivered the address which is here

printed. Judge Terrell is President of the Texas State Historical Associa-

tion. As a resident of Texas for fifty-eight years, he has enjoyed acquaint-

ance with many of the men who knew Austin intimately, and the address

is, therefore, tlie result of a blending of liis knowledge of Austin gained

from books and some study of manuscript sources with that obtained

from association with those'who knew Austin in person.—Editors of The

QtTAETEBLY.

=The address of Judge Terrell, presenting Austin's portrait to the State

of Texas, is printed in Journal of the House of Representatives, 21 Legis-

lature, pp. 516-523.
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would bring his ashes from their resting place near the gulf and

deposit them here in the State cemetery, where she has buried many
of lier illustrious dead. We are about to see that wish accom-

plished, and by your indulgence, and at the request of Austin's

kindred and a joint conmiittee of the Legislature, I will now speak

of his life and services.

Liberty, regulated by law, was won for us by men of a past gen-

eration, and inasmuch as it was the most valuable heritage they

could bestow, by so much it is our duty to perpetuate a knowledge

of when, how, and by whom it was secured, and thus preserve the

record of their services before it is obscured and clouded by tradi-

tion. In the evolution of our race the curtain is about to rise on

an era in which the achievement of an invading conqueror will no

longer attract, and when the people will bow with reverence only

before the shrine of those who devoted their lives to the enfranchise-

ment of man, or to lifting him up to a higher plane of knowledge.

He whose cofSned remains repose in that casket was the great lead-

ing pioneer of an advancing civilization in Texas.

Before reviewing his eventful career, indulge me while I speak

of his birth and early life. He was born one hundred and seven-

teen years ago, at Austinville, in the mountains of Virginia, on the

third day of November, 1793, the year when George Washing-ton

was elected President for his second term. He went, when yet a

child, to the wild territory of northern Louisiana, where he became

familiar with the dangers of a frontier life. His education was

finished in Lexington, Kentucky, and there, while still a youth, he

attracted the attention of Henry Clay. His first public service was

in the Legislature of the Territory of Missouri, when he was hardly

old enough to be eligible. There he met Senator Thomas H. Ben-

ton, through whose influence, and that of Mr. Clay, he was ap-

pointed, before he was thirty years old, United States judge for the

Territory of Arkansas.

The present era in which man is exploring and utilizing all the

forces of nature had not dawned when Austin grew to manhood.

No steam vessel was seen on the river or the ocean; nn thread was

spun in a cotton factory; no railways were in the world; and

though Franklin had brought electricity from the clouds, the tele-

graph and telephone were unknown.

The revolution of the American colonies in 1776 had startled the
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world, and the French people, roused from their servile endurance

of tyranny through the centuries by the writings of Jean Jacques

Rousseau, Voltaire, and Tom Payne, and by the example of Lafay-

ette, cut off their king's head the very year in which Austin was

born, and began their career of conquest and of carnage. Spain

then ruled neaidy all of South America, except Brazil, and all the

shores of the Pacific on both continents up to British America.

But when, in 1808, Napoleon placed his brother Joseph on the

throne of Spain, the spirit of revolt passed like a flash over South

America and Mexico, and the patriot priests. Hidalgo and Morelos,

discarded their priestly robes, and, sword in hand, led a revolt

against the tyranny of tl:e viceroys.

From 1803 to 1819 both Spain and the United States claimed

the territory of Texas from the Sabine to the Eio Grande, but the

treaty of De Onis in 1819 settled the controversy in favor of Spain.

From 1800 until the revolution of Tturbide, Spain made but one

effort to colonize Texas with a Spanish agricultural population.

In 1804 that government decreed the settlement of three thousand

families on the San Marcos river, but the enterprise failed. That

desire to colonize had its origin in a jealous distrust of the aggres-

sive spirit of the Anglo-Americans, and could only have been in-

tended to establish a picket guard against their encroachments.

Philip Nolan had before that led fifty armed men from the western

frontier of the United States into the wilds of Texas, but he and

nearly all his men were destroyed by a Spanish force on the waters

of the Trinity or Brazos. In 1813 the wilds of Texas were again

invaded by a lawless force of seven hundred men from the lower

Mississippi, led by Guiterrez and Kemper, Magee and Perry, who,

after capturing the presidio of La Bahia, and slaying most of the

garrison, took possession of San Antonio, and a few miles from that

city defeated a Spanish armv of three thousand men commanded

by Don Elisondo. They were afterwards defeated themselves in a

battle near the Medina river by a Spanish army under Arredondn,

in which over one thousand men were slain. The survivors of the

battle were pursued and killed all along the old San Antonio road

that crossed the Colorado eighteen miles below here. Their bones

remained unburied until IS'2.2, when the governor, Trespalaeios, at

the request of Stephen F. Austin, had their skulls gatliered and

interred. Again in 1815 an invading force of revolutionists from
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our southern states, led by Mina and Perry, and another in 1819
commanded by Long entered the territory of Texas, only to perish.

More human lives were sacrificed in those lawless invasions than
were slain in the Texas revolution of 183(3. Our written histories

tell but little of those invasions. Available sources would reveal

much more.

A race hatred of Anglo-Americans so intense resulted from those

repeated invasions that Salcedo, the governor of the Spanish inter-

nal provinces of the East, wrote to his superior at the capital that

if he had the power he would not permit a bird to fly from the

Sabine to the Eio Grande.

One man and only one, in the United States made an attempt
in 1820 to secure homes in Texas for his countrymen by peaceful

methods. Moses Austin, the father of him whose remains lie

before us, reached San Antonio in November, 1830, but was
promptly ordered by Governor Martinez to leave the territory.

Mortified and discouraged, Moses Austin on leaving the gov-

ernor's office met on the plaza the Baron de Bastrop, whom he had
once met in the United States, and whose influence with Martinez
was great. Bastrop obtained from the governor a suspension of

his order, and within a week Martinez gave his approval to the

application for the introduction of immigrants.

How often the destiny of men and of states has its origin in

trifles
!

Tracing to its remote results that accidental meeting with
Baron de Bastrop, Texas was colonized; then a revolt established

her independence; her annexation to the United States provoked
the war with Mexico in 1846, which was terminated by the treaty

of Guadalupe Hidalgo, and that treaty doubled the territory of

our union and carried her flag to the Pacific.

I am quite aware that much of what I have said and will yet say
is trite history, but the Austins made history; and it is chiefly by
its light that we can know them. Moses Austin, robbed on his

return by his companions, sick and for days only saved from starva-

tion by eating acorns, at last reached home, to die from the effects

of exposure and hardships. From his deatlibed he urged his son
Stephen to follow up the enterprise he had begun.

The son observed that dying request, and resigned his exalted

office of federal judge to establish civilization in a wild and unex-
plored land. We hardly know in the light of after events which
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most to admire, his filial respect for a dying father wliieh caused

him to relinquish in his early manhood an exalted office with its

honors and a competencj' for life, his dauntless career in a foreign

land, or the high intelligence that sustained him through every

trial.

That portrait to the right of the Speaker's chair presents him

as he appeared in 3 824, standing under a live oak with his rifle,

and clothed in buckskin. Before tracing further his career, in-

dulge me while I read a description of the man written by his

private secretary, Moses Austin Bryan.

Austin was slender, sinewy and graceful, easy and elastic in his

movements, with small hands and feet, dark hair, which curled

when damp, large ha^^el eyes, and in height about five feet ten

inches. His face was grave and thoughtful, when not in the social

circle, then it was animated and lit up by his gentle love, his voice

was soft, though manly, his conversation fluent, attractive and per-

suasive, his magnetic power over others gave him great influence

over the leading men of Texas, and his strong, practical intellect,

his thorough forgetfulness of self and devotion to Texas, bound the

great mass of the people to him.

Such was the man who, with fifteen companions, started from

Natchitoches in Louisiana in July, 1821, and followed the old

mission trail across Texas through the prairies and wilderness to

San Antonio.' He saw on that trail no human habitation. The

Franciscan priests, with an "intendent" and an armed escort, had

traveled over it in their annual visitations to the missions across

the continent for a hundred years, but it had not been otherwise

used, except bv filibustering invaders and the M'ild Indians, for no

commerce passed over it. Scattered along that road from San

Antonio to the Colorado, Austin saw the unburied bones of tlie

adventurers who had followed Kemper and Magee, who were pur-

sued and slain after tlie battle on the Medina—ghastly reminders

of Spanish resentment.

He was promptly recognized by Governor Martinez as the rep-

resentative of his father, on the 12th of August, 1821, and lie

then explored tlie country between the waters of the Colorado and

the Brazos—two hundred years after the pilgrims landed on the

^Austin's diary of tins journey across Texas was published in The
Quarterly, VII^ 287-307.
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shores of New England. Going then to Few Orleans, he returned
with his first immigrants to the banks of the Brazos in January,

1822, and established there the first permanent settlement of Amer-
ican white men in Texas. Each immigrant bore a certificate of

good moral character and of his profession of faith in the Christian
religion. They suffered privation for the first winter, for a boat

loaded witli provisions was seized by the Karaukawa Indians,

and they passed the autumn and winter of 1822 without sugar,

coffee or bread, subsisting on deer, buffalo, bear and wild horses.

Another year found them abundantly supplied and contented, and
by the fall of 1824 Austin had introduced four hundred families.

The first immigrants were not strong enough to punish the Indians,
but two years afterward Austin led a force of sixty men, and by
killing half the tribe stopped their depredations.

Indulge me while I describe the men with whom Austin first

settled Texas—for without that knowledge the story of their

achievements would sound like romance. Active and strong of
limb were they, and being inured to hardships from their child-

hood, their chief joy was in the excitement of the chase. Every
pioneer knew that in his new home security of life must depend
on a steady nerve and a sure aim with the rifle, which was his

constant companion. Only the self-reliant would dare colonial

perils. They were a hardy race, among whom hospitality and truth
were universal. I knew m^any of them well fifty-eight years ago,

and now assert that nowhere in the world have I ever known any
class of men who excelled them in the practice of hospitality, and
in that individualism and self-reliance that make the invincible

soldier.

Such were the men who followed Austin to colonize Texas, and
fought with Houston at San Jacinto. General Sam Houston told
me once when describing that battle, at the request of Hon. A. J.

Hamilton and myself, that though outnumbered two to one he
never for a moment doubted the issue, for all his men were fearless

marksmen, and were thirsting for revenge on account of the mas-
sacre of the Alamo.

Nor were they all destitute of culture, for Motley, John Bunton,
Potter, Carson, Eusk and still others who signed the declaration

of independence were all accomplished men. Ko degrading crime
was ever charged against any of Austin's colonists on the Colorado.
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The luxury that enervates had never entered their rnde homes, in

which each one reigned, poor, it is true, but contented, for he was

blessed with abundance. No miserable social distinction, based on

money or fashion, divided them into sets and classes. The late

John H. Eeagan told me more than once that before the revolution

of 1836 there were not twenty men in all the colonies who were

worth five thousand dollars each. Their common pasture was the

broad prairie that stretched westv^ard seven hundred miles to the

Eio Grande, while the black bear, antelope, millions of buffalo, and

deer supplied them with both food and raiment. We who rejoice

in fruitful fields and growing cities can never love Texas as did its

first pioneers who, while it was yet vocal with the music of the

wilderness, delighted in the waving beauty of its untrodden grass

and wild flowers.

A change of rulers in Mexico compelled Austin to visit its cap-

ital, for the last of the Spanish viceroys had been expelled in 1821,

and he needed from the government of Iturbide a confirmation of

his empresario contract. He made this journey of one thousand

miles over a road threatened by Indians as far as the Eio Grande,

and thereafter infested by robber bands. To avoid being plun-

dered he went on foot and alone from San Luis Potosi to the City

of Mexico disguised as a beggar, and in April, 1822, reached the

Mexican capital. There he first met Santa Anna and the Emperor

Iturbide, whose coronation he witnessed as he did also his abdica-

tion. During the bloody era that then convulsed Mexico, he

learned to speak Spanish like his native tongue, and after securing

the confidence of rival chiefs returned with his contract sanctioned

and enlarged by the central authority. While watching the shift-

ing scenes of the revolutionary drama there, he assisted in writing

the first draft of the Mexican constitution, afterwards in substance

adopted in 1824. This fact lias been questioned by one historian

who never knew Austin or had access to his papers, but it is appar-

ently attested by his papers, which are in a vault of our State

University.

Thus, one man, solitary and alone, unaided either by wealth or

powerful friends, induced the Mexican government to reverse its

policy of a century and permit the colonization here of the very

race it had watched with jealous distrust. Calm, intellectual, self-

possessed, accomplished as a scholar, gentle as a woman, yet fear-
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less as a lion, Austin was admirably equipped for the great work
before liim. His greatness shines with increasing luster as we see

him moving forward, still unaided, and overcoming every obstacle

in his path. Milam, De Witt, Cameron, Hewitson and Eobertson
followed his example, and in a few years the smoke from pioneer

cabins from the Sabine to the Guadalupe gave token that freedom
was advancing westward—it had come to stay.

In 1823 he repaired to Monterey and obtained from the provin-

cial deputation of Nuevo Leon, Coahuila and Texas almost plenary

authority over his colony. De la Garza made him a lieutenant

colonel and commander in Texas, with power to make peace or war
with the Indians, to appoint judges and secure the administration

of justice by an appeal to himself. The colonists knew nothing of

Mexican law. Austin prescribed rules to govern them and penal-

ties for offenses. Horse tliieves and lawless men were scourged
from his colonies, and Indian forays stopped by quick retaliation.

Thus Austin, who had planted the first colony, was its first com-
mander, judge, and law-giver. Perhaps never before on this con-

tinent was any man clothed with such varied and extraordinary

powers by a government to whose manners and customs he was an
alien, but so justly did he rule that no one questioned or resisted

his authority, and so considerate was he of the rights, the pros-

perity and happiness of them all, that they loved him as their

benefactor, and repaid his solicitude for them by their acts of

gratitude.

In 1827 he had colonized one thousand families under his en-

larged contracts, and settled them from near the mountains to the

gulf. Abundant harvests rewarded their labor, and now there was
plenty everywhere. Their land titles Austin issued from San
Felipe de Austin, which was named after him. Issuing titles,

adjusting surveys, reconciling differences, administering justice,

preserving peace with a jealous central authority, and protecting

the colonists against Indian forays had employed all his time and
required constant vigilance.

If man's dignity should be measured by his usefulness to others,

then no other man who ever trod Texas soil can outrank Stephen P.

Austin, for this man who inspired constitutional law for revolu-

tionary states at a foreig-n capital, returned to his home to eclipse

that achievement by the patient toil and high intelligence which
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prepared a just government for his own race, and helped to estab-

lish the supremacy of equal laws. From 1823 to 1827 was the

happiest period of his life in Texas, for his colonists were pros-

pering and contented, the central government confided in him, and

no ambitious leader had yet come to sow discord and weaken his

authority. But ambitious men came when the colonies grew strong,

and threatened eastern Texas with what was then called the "Fre-

donian war." Through Austin's influence with the Mexican chief,

Saucedo, peace was restored and an armed force of Mexican soldiers

which had gone from San Antonio to punish the colonists was

withdrawn. Thus, he who had settled the first colonists inter-

posed to protect the Anglo-Americans in their first revolutionary

.outbretik.

Again in 1832, after the affairs of violence at Anahuac and

Yelasco, the Mexican General Mexia was sent to chastise the colon-

ists. Austin, then at Saltillo, hastened to Matamoras, and, going

with Mexia to the mouth of the Brazos at Velasco, acted as a

trusted mediator and averted war. The grateful colonists gave

him a banquet and toasted him as "the angel of mercy and har-

binger of peace."

Thus twice were the colonies on the verge of being invaded and

destroyed before they were strong enough to make successful resist-

ance, and twice the danger was averted by the influence and pres-

ence of their trusted leader.

But henceforth he was to suffer by imprisonment and from the

treachery of friends, and, with his health destroyed, his life was

to be sacrificed en the altar of duty. In 1833 he was chosen with

two others by a convention of the people to go to Mexico and

request for Texas separate statehood in the Mexican republic.

With conscious rectitude he went, and went alone, for his associates

shrank from the peril involved in the mission. While returning

home, after its failure, he was arrested at Saltillo, taken back to

Mexico and confined for nearly two years, a part of that time in

a dungeon of the former inquisition. For three months he was

imprisoned in a dark, damp cell, without a ray of light, not even

beinc;; permitterl to see or speak to his jailer, who fed him through a

hole in his door—his only companion being a pet mouse. Money at

last softened the rigor of confinement, until he was freed by a gen-

eral amnesty law. Thus tortured and stripped of all except his life.
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his courage never failed ; in the darkest hour he was willing to die
for his convictions of duty to his people ; for he had told the spec-
ulators at the Mexican capital who wished to remand Texas to ter-

ritorial vassalage, that rather than take the fabulous price that they
offered him to desert the colonists and cease his opposition to

their designs, he would submit to having his arm torn from the
shoulder. Never did his character shine with more luster than
when he suffered, a modern Eegulus, in a foreign prison. From
that prison he staggered forth with wasted frame and tottering
step. From the effects of the solitary confinement in that damp
dungeon Austin never recovered.

His private papers showed that he expended $30,000 of his pri-
vate means on that mission to Mexico, the repayment of which by
Texas he never applied for, nor will any of his heirs request it.

These heirs, some of whom are before me, prefer to think of that
money as a sacrificial offering by their great kinsman for the sep-
arate statehood of Texas.

Thus he who had established the colonies, guarded their interest
in every vicissitude, twice averted war, prescribed laws and estab-
lished courts, was the first martyr to their aspirations for separate
statehood.

In September, 1835, after his release from prison, Austin landed
on his return home at the mouth of the Brazos. His return was
hailed with acclamations of joy and banqueting, as for one risen
from the grave. His advice for an immediate "consultation" of
the people was quickly followed, and before six weeks had passed a
little army had assembled with Austin as its chief.

The speed with which the people organized with arms in their
hands may seem a mystery. But the butchery of Mexican repub-
licans at Zacateeas by Santa Anna had alarmed the colonists for
their impending fate, when the return of Austin awakened new
hope. He was not yet ready for a declaration of independence,
but he was determined to resist the encroachment of Santa Anna
upon the republican constitution. The news of Austin's position
sped quickly to the cabins of the colonists. They heard it with
joy. K"o carpet knights were they, when home was in peril, but
with a kiss to wife and babes they shouldered their rifles and
formed an army. Then from the Guadalupe to the Brazos, and
away up among the red lands of the east the deer were safe for a
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season, for tlie hunters had gone to seek more dangerous game.

Ko rival chief had yet come to dispute his leadership, and on the

11th of October, 1835, Austin was chosen by acclamation to lead

these hunters to the field. They cliose wisely. He alone among

all the men in Texas offered to pledge all his private fortune for

her independence. As the journals show, soon afterward he did

pledge his whole estate to obtain the first loan of money for the

revolution.

Let us pause now and consider how desperate were the chances

against Texas in that dark hour of her trial. We glory in the

triumph of the thirteen colonies over Great Britain, but it bears

no comparison to the heroic struggle of Texas for independence.

The tliirteen colonies had two and a half millions of people, and a

wide ocean separated them from England. Texas, with less than

six thousand men all told, fought a powerful republic which con-

tained a population of over seven millions and whose boundary was

contiguous to her own. England was embarrassed by a powerful

opposition to the war at home begun by the elder Pitt ; Texas had

no friends in Mexico. England was then engaged in a European

war; Mexico had only Texas to contend with. The thirteen col-

onies were aided by France, who sent men, ships and munitions of

war; Texas, without national recognition and with no aid except

from individual volunteers, won her independence single-handed

and alone. The successful struggle of Texas for independence is

v/ithout a parallel in the history of the world.

The men of Austin's army cried, "On to San Antonio," and then

with the assistance of such men as Eusk, Frank Johnson, Burleson,

Milam, Bowie, and Fannin, the Mexicans were defeated at Concep-

cion and driven to the Alamo for cover. Austin was no longer the

'^harbinger of peace," for he was the first leader of a Texas army

against Mexican despotism., and with the prairie all burned west

of San Antonio, the surrender of the Mexican General Cos was

only a matter of time. During the operations before San Antonio,

Austin, still sufl'ering from his prison confinement, was so weak

that his aide-de-camp. Colonel Austin Bryan, says his servant had

to assist him in mounting his horse.

And now this man, who had defended the colonists in every

vicissitude of fortune, was ordered by the consultation to a different

field. Eeinforeement from the United States was needed to help
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Texas in the spring of 1836 against another invading army, and
in November, 1835, Austin -was called on to go with W. H.
Wharton and Dr. Archer and appeal for men, arms and ammu-
nition. The selection was a wise one, and he obeyed without a
murmur; he wrote to the consultation, "I am at all times ready
to serve Texas in any capacity where I may be most useful, but
should I leave at once, some prudence will be needed to keep this

army together." Had he been an ambitious Caesar who refused to

obey the senate when ordered to turn over his legions to Pompey,
discord and strife would have supplanted harmony, and freedom
would have been imperiled by rival factions.

From JvTew Orleans to the Potom.ae he portrayed with impassioned
eloquence the dangers before his people, and their need for help

;

nor did he plead in vain, for he spoke to a kindred race who helped
with money and munitions of war. His mission to the states kept
him from San Jacinto, but the help he secured made San Jacinto
possible.

San Jacinto was won, and its hero, General Sam Houston, was
then elected over Austin as President of the republic in 1836, for
the soldiers, flushed with victory, espoused the cause of their vic-

torious leader. History thus repeated itself. The great author of
the American declaration of independence, the greatest diplomat
and statesman of them all, and the wise leaders who formed the
constitution, had all to bide their time for the presidency until
Washington, the military leader, had been -honored.

The contest between the partisans of General Houston and those
of Austin was a bitter one, but it was followed by a close friend-
ship and alliance between those leaders under circumstances that
illustrate the greatness of both men. When Houston was elected he
had only San Jacinto and Santa Anna—nothing more ! No mili-
tary chest, no credit, no stable government, no recognition amongst
the nations, no navy, no army and no means of supporting one.
Then knowing what perils were before l^m and looking aU over
Texas for some statesman to aid him, he chose Austin'above all

others for his high intelligence and patriotism, and asked him if

he would ignore the bitterness of the late contest and becomxc his
chief advisor as secretary of state. That single act lifts Houston
above the plane of the ordinary statesman and marks him as a
patriot and a great man; and "he was appealing to a great man.
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for with Austin, ambition, resentment and offices were all as "wafted

dnst on the balances," when Texas needed him, and he went at once

to Houston's side as secretary of state. It was a noble sacrifice of

pride to diity, and history records few others like it in the careers

of public men. How noble was it in Houston to bow his crest

before his defeated antagonist and by supplicating his aid in the

most important duty before him, announce thus to' his own follow-

ers that Austin was a greater man than any of them ! If that thing

had happened in this era of machine politics, Houston would have

been denounced as ungrateful to his own partisans, and Austin as

a servile sycophant. But in the light of history, their names shine

like twin stars seen between sifted clouds at midnight. What an

object lesson to those who, regardless of public interest, can see no

virtue in a partisan opponent, and bestow favors only on the para-

sites who elevate them

!

Never until the lamented Garrison published the diplomatic cor-

respondence of the Republic of Texas did this generation know the

great ability of Austin as a diplomat. He armed Wharton, our

envoy at Washington, with convincing arguments not only for a

recognition of independence, but for annexation to the Union.

But there was to be no cringing supplication, for he made it plain

that when Texas entered the Union it must be as a coequal sover-

eign, retaining full ownership of all her territory, and that it should

remain as the constitution adopted eight months before had ded-

icated it—one-half for the people and the other half for the educa-

tion of their posterity forever. That was the first keynote to all

• the future policy of Texas, which has kept her one and undivided

from the Sabine to the Eio Grande and from the Panhandle to

the gulf.

To speak of this man in the language of undeserved eulogy,

would be unjust to him and his own memory would condemn it;

yet we can truly affirm that such was his intellectual organism, his

self-poise amid difficulties, and the purity of his private life, that

few men in ancient or modern times have equaled him. I have

examined his public and private correspondence now in our State

University, and for years I enjoyed the friendship of his trusted

friend and companion. Colonel Frank Johnson, who loved and

almost idolized him. His colonists loved him as their friend and

benefactor. They named their children for him, and their fam-
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ilies rejoiced when he came. He had a welcome in every cabin—
and he who never knew the comforts of home with wife and chil-

dren of his own, lavished the affections of his noble nature on the

children of his colonists. The purity of his life, which was revealed

in his face, softened his habitual dignity, and deprived it of auster-

ity. No ambitious warrior was he, animated by a love of conquest

—

he struck only in defense of home—no knight-errant, seeking fame

through adventure; his greatest triumph was in the promotion of

peace; no visionary dreamer intent to accomplish the impossible;

his well-balanced mind measured in advance all difficulties, and

they vanished before his energy.

General Sam Houston in his last great speech in the United

States Senate, said

:

Stephen F. Austin was tlie father of Texas. This is the designa-
tion justly accorded to him, as will be testified to by every man
who is acquainted with the primitive history of Texas or its prog-
ress as long as he lived. Stephen P. Austin is entitled to that
honor. It is due to his friends, to whom his memory is most dear
and sacred. Sir, posterity will never know the worth of Stephen P.
Austin—the privations he endured—the enterprise he possessed

—

his undying zeal, his ardent devotion to Texas and its interests and
his future hopes connected with its glorious destiny.

General Mirabeau Lamar said:

The claims of General Austin upon the affections of the people
of Texas are of the strongest kind. He was not only the founder
of our republic, but scarcely a blessing has flowed to our country
which might not be fairly attributed to his unwearied exertion for
its welfare, whilst almost every calamity which has befallen it

might have been averted by an adherence to his wise and prudent
counsels.

The late Hon. Guy M. Bryan said of him:
'

The world has offered but few examples of superior intelligence
and sagacity; and as for disinterestedness and intelligent philan-
thropy, his long-suffering for the weal of others, his patient endar-
ance under persecution, his benevolent forgiveness of injuries and
his final sacrifice of health, happiness and life in the service of
his country, all conspire to place him without a rival among the
first patriots and the best of men.

Such was the estimate of all men of that day, for on the 18th
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of October, 1839, while his memory was yet fresh in the minds

of men, it was toasted, standing, and in silence, at the first ban-

quet ever given in this city, on the day when the archives of the

government were first brought here. Lamar, then President of

the republic; Burleson, the shield of the frontier, and James G.

Swisher, who was a captain at San Jacinto, and who fought with

the forlorn hope at the capture of San Antonio in 1835, were

among the guests. They drank to the memory of Austin in these

words: "Whatever may be the pretensions of others, Stephen F.

Austin will always be considered as the father of Texas."

Austin, in writing to General Gaines of the United States army

in 183G, said: "The prosperity of Texas has been the object of

my labors, the idol of my existence; it has assumed the character

of a religion for the guidance of my thoughts and actions for

fifteen years, superior to all pecuniary or personal views."

In a cold room he was writing for two days and nights his final

instructions to the Texas envoy to Washington, but the labor was

too much for the frail victim of a Mexican dungeon. On the 27th

of December, 1836, while the Christian world was rejoicing over

the advent of a Eedeemer, Austin breathed his last. His dying

thoughts were of Texas. In his delirium he said : "Independence

is acknowledged—it is in the papers,—Dr. Archer told me so," and

then the pale messenger with inverted torch touched him, and he

returned to the bosom of liis God.

Every flag in the republic went to half mast, and when the

papers announced that the "father of Texas is no more," all knew

who had died. President Houston and Lamar, with the heads of

department, bore him. to the grave, and Houston, sorrowing for

a great loss to the republic, sprinkled the first dust on his coftin.

Thus liis life was sacrificed on the altar of duty.

And now we will place the remains of the great patriot near the

monuments of those whom he loved, and who helped him make

this mighty state—Colonel Frank Johnson, his companion and

friend: General Hardeman, who,- when a boy, followed him, rifie

in hand ; Guy Bryan, his nephew, who in childhood climbed his

knee and loved him; Wallace, his trusted scout; Albert Sidney

Johnston, Burleson, Scurry, Frank Lubbock, and Hugh McLeod

will sleep by his side, and near them Hemphill and Lipscomb

!

What a group of immortals will surround him

!
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It is not given its to know what the Great Power behind all

visible phenomena did with the soul when it left its final casket;

we can only hope that it found a better home. Earth and sky,

the voices of nature, its harmonies and beauties, all proclaim that

God is good, and that He did not plant this universal hope for

immortality through tantalizing caprice. He who provides food
for the hungry body, will somewhere, somehow, at some time satisfy

the soul that hungers after immortality. If this hope is a vain
dream, and the spirit of man is annihilated by death, like the
flame of a candle blown out, then life is a tragedy so full of dis-

appointment that he who dreads to die should fear to live. No

!

No
!

If the revolving wheel of time and change destroys no atom
in all this world, how can the quick spirit of man, which is king
over all, perish? Never. The strong and subtle energies of the
soul will find full development beyond this transitory existence,

and amid the prophetic splendors of an eternal dawn.
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APACHE KELATIONS IN TEXAS, 1718-1750^ I

WILLIAM EDWARD DUNN
^

I. INTEODUCTION

i. The Condition of the Problem.—A statement as to the con- '

ditions under which this paper was written is pertinent here. One Ij

has only to glance over the works in English which deal with the
ji

general history of Texas to note the absence of information bear-
|

ing upon the subject which I have endeavored to treat. The stand- [

ard histories of Texas give only isolated references here and there
'

to Apache relations in Texas between 1718 and 1750. Indeed, so
'

scanty are their accounts on this point that they may be entirely

ignored. Of monographic discussions of the subject, there are

none.- Although ethnologists have written more or less of the '

Apaches and their various sulidivisious, very little pertaining to
|

the period and region covered by this paper has been produced.*
;

The reason for such a paucity of information on the subject in
|

English works is |hat the material from which a history of this
'

topic can alone be constructed has been buried hitherto in manu-
|

scripts written in a forei,gn language and preserved, for the larger
\

part, in foreign archives.

Of Spanish works, only two are important for the subject. An- !

tonio Bonilla. in his Breve Com.pendio, which has only recently

been printed, gives a brief outline of Apache hostilities in Texas;*

and Arricivita, in his Cranica Apostolica y Serdfica (Mexico,

1791), gives a considerable amount of information concerning the

thesis presented to the Department of History of Leland Stanford
Junior University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree
of Master of Arts, April 1-5, 1910.

'In a paper entitled "Tribal Society among Texas India.ns," by M. M. \

Kenney (The Quarterly, I, 26-,33). the Apaches are not even mentioned.
^Although Bandelier has mjide extensive investigations concerning the

Apaches of the far Southwest (see "Final Report," Part I, Papers of the
Archaeological Institute of America, III, 1890), he has done little on the
eastei-n, or Texas, Apaches.

*The Quarterly, VIII, 3-78. Translation by Miss Elizabeth Howard
West.
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efforts of the Frauciscans to reduce the Apaches of Texas to mis-
sion life. Indeed, he is practically the only one who has written
anything upon this phase of the subject. In most respects, how-
ever, Arricivita emphasizes the history, if at all, from the stand-
point of the missionary, to whose side he naturally inclines At
several points, nevertheless, both authors have been" useful in sup-
plementing the documents which I have used.^
Having practically nothing in print to guide me, I have had to

rely almost entirely upon manuscript sources. The information
herein presented has been gathered from a wide range of docu-
ments, whose originals are in the Archivo General y Publico of
Mexico, the archives of the College of Santa Cruz de Queretaro
and of Gxiadalupe de Zacatecas, the state archive of Coahuila at
baltillo, the Bexar and Nacogdoches archives at Austin, Texas
the San Antonio mission records, and in other miscellaneous re-
positories.^

2. The Aim of This Paper.~The primary aim in writino- this
paper was to prepare an introduction to the history of the Fran
ciscan missions established for the Apache Indians in the middle
of he eig^iteenth century on tlie San Saba and Nueces rivers of
western Texas. To understand these missionary activities it
seemed necessary to examine carefully the previous relations be-tween the eastern Apache Indians and their Spanish neigllrs
Coupled with this motive was the consideration that Apache rela-
tions, though forming a large factor in the history of Spanish
colonization m western and central Texas, have been 'all but un-
known. This consideration has seemed to justify, in this tirst
special treatment of the subject, what may be regarded as a painful

gives almost no information upon the subiect oT thL pie/ '
"

traSedpl.PIS;^;:S„°^;:;P^ IJ-OOO typewritten pages of

aminerl Mo^t J ihl
P®''!^P/' 2>000 separate doeiiments, have been ex-

bert E Bolton Ih^ if ^" P"^^*^ collection of Dr. Her-

described, I have haHSs to Dr^-RoU
'^^<^^^^^ts above

-oies J'B. MS" .eans dSumen^rfe; J^IW ''^nil^^^Notes means his personal manuscript notes which I have utilized
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amount of cletail. Since the ethnology of the eastern Apaches has

been as little known as their early relations with the Spaniards,

some effort has been made in the course of the study, to gather

and combine what could be learned concerning their early organi-

zation and customs/

3. f^-pani^li ActiviUes in Texas Before i7i5.—Spanish interest

in Texas began in the early sixteenth century. The description

of the counti7 given by Cabeza de A^^aca and his companions in 1536

gave rise to many exploring expeditions in which Texas figured

to a greater or lesser degree, but it was not until a century and

a half later that definite steps were taken to occupy this region.

Fear of French aggression, a desire to open up a short route

between Havana and New Mexico by way of the Bay of Espiritu

Santo, and the missionary zeal of the Spanish friars led to the

sending of an expedition in 1689 under Captain Alonzo de Leon,

who found La Salle's fort and explored the Bay of Espiritu Santo.

In 1690 a second expedition was led by De Leon. The French

fort was now destroyed, and a mission was established near the

Neches among the Hasinai, or Texas, Indians. A^ few months

later a second mission was founded in the same locality.

To strengthen these missions by the erection of others, to inves-

tigate rumors of French settlements, and to secure a hold in the

Cadodacho country, Don Domingo Teran de los Elos was sent out

in 1691. But his expedition was a com.parative failure, and two

years later the missions already established were abandoned.

It has been generally believed that the Spaniards gave little

thought to Texas from the time of the abandonment of the mis-

sions'^in 1693 until Saint Denis's expedition in 1714. But recent

investigations and many documents now available show that such

is not the case. During all these years there was a steady advance

of missionary work northward from Coahuila. In the years 1699-

1701 the missions of San Juan Bautista, San Bernardo, and San

Francisco Solano were established on the Eio Grande, and minis-

tered to the Indians living north of that stream. About 1703

Father Hidalgo began his long-continued effort to get aid in re-

^Apaelie relations in the El Paso region have not been treated in this

paper, for the reason that that region was not, in the eighteenth century,

a part of Texas, and that its history in that period was more intimately

connected with the history of New Mexico than with that of Texas.
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estal^lishing the missions among- the Hasinai. In 1707 an attempt
was made to advance the mission frontier to the Eio Frio, and in
the same year Diego Eamon made an expedition to tlie Colorado.
Two years later Fathers Espinosa and Oliva.res went with a party
of soldiers to the Colorado, where they expected to meet the
Hasmai Indians and to arrange for reducing them to mission life.
Durmg this period many of the Indians who were served at the
Eio Grande missions came from the region of San Antonio. Thus,
viewed from the missionary's standpoint, the establishment of a
mission at San Antonio in 1718 was not a sudden advance, but
merely the next logical step in the expansion of the Coahuila'mis-
sion frontier.^

In 1714 Saint Denis made his overland journey into Span-
ish territory, which aroused the civil authorities to renewed activi-
ties, and Captain Domingo Ramon was now appointed to lead an
expedition to refound the missions of eastern Texas. In the years
1716-1717 six missions and a presidio were erected under his direc-
tion between the >^eches and Eed rivers, and thus the Spaniards
put forward an incontrovertible claim to the possession of Texas—
that of actual occupation.

By this action French advance was guarded against on the
Louisiana frontier. But in 1718 New Orleans was"founded and
orders were given by the French for the reoccupation of the' Bay
of Espi'ritu Santo. In the same year San Antonio was founded by
the Spaniards, m part as an answer to this French activity on
the Gulf and m part to extend missionary work among the Coa-
huiltccan tribes. And thus the most important center in the his-
tory of Spanish Texas began to play a part in the life of the
province.

2

If. The "Apaches de Oriente/'—As has already been pointed
out, the early history of the western Texas settlements, of which
fean Antonio was the center, is, in a very large measure, a history
of relations with the Apache Indians .vho lived to the west and'
northwest. The Apaches are a branch of the Athapascan family,.

T)7Zu^'^
paragraph I am indebted entirely to the investigations of

'

Di. Bolton, recorded chiefly in his manuscript notes.
«^«^a"ons of

r/J^R.f-"'''"-^^
accounts of this early period see Garrison, Texas Clar)-

Sa/r"""' 0/ Texas; and Bancroft, North Mexican 7,^e?'^!:^
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the most widely distrihuted of the North American Indian lin-

gnis^ic o-xonps. The Athapascans are classified by ethnologists

into three divisions, Northern, Pacific, and Southern, and the

Southern is snbdivided into the Navajo of New Mexico, the

"\pache^" a <^ronp of tribes called by this name, and surrounding

the Navajo, and the Texas Apaches, or Lipanes. The designation

"Apache" probablv came from avachu, "enemy," the Zuni name

for the Navajos, who were called by the early Spaniards "Apaches

deNabaju."^
.

Most of the information hitherto at hand concerning the- Texas

Apaches relates to comparatively recent times, and there has been

a lack of definite knowledge of them during the early Spanish

period The period is dark enough even now, but many new facts

of o-eneral importance have been gleaned during the course of the

present studv. and some of them may be summarized here, out of

the chronological order of the narrative, by way of introduction.

The details mil be made to appear in the historical order m which

they became known and differentiated.

The Spaniards of the latter eighteenth century, when informa-

tion was relatively complete, distinguished between the "Apaches

de Occidente," or Western Apaches, and the "Apaches de Oriente,

or Eastern Apaches, the latter being the ones with which this

paper deals. The principal tribes of the Eastern Apaches known

at that time were the Lipan (Ypande), Natages (sometimes called

Apaches proper), and the Mescaleros.^ In the period covered by

this paper (1718-1750) the tribes chiefly known m Texas were

the Lipan and the Natages, especially the former. They went

under various names, and various subdivisions were sometimes dis-

tinguished. But in the early part of the period the Texas docu-

ments make no distinction, as later was the case, between the dif-

ferent Apache bands, but all are included under the generic name

of "Apaches." The Lipan, when first known to the Texans, lived

far to the northwest of San Antonio, on the upper reaches of the

Colorado Brazos, and Bed rivers, but gradually they moved south

before the advancing Comanches, until by 1732 they made their

home in the country of the San Saba, Chanas (Llano), and Peder-

^Hamlhooh of American Indians, Part I, articles under "Apache" and

"Athapascan."

^Cabello, Iiiforme, 1784, 38-39.
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nales. About 1750 some of them established themselves on the
Medina, and others pushed on to the Eio Grande. The Natages
and the Mesealeros lived far to the southwestward, in the country
of the Pecos and the Eio Grande. These Eastern Apaches were
not numerous, but were led by petty chiefs, which made it difficiilt

to deal with the tribes as wholes. And in proportion to their
numerical strength, their capacity to make trouble was surpris-
ingly great. During this period they apparently did not use tire-
anns, but fought, on horseback, with bows, spears, and darts, and
bad armor for botli man and horse.

II. TPIE FLORES CAMPxVIGN

1. Apache Relations in Texas Before i 775.—The Apaches were
well known in New Mexico at a very early date. Before the estab-
lishment of Texas they pestered the frontiers of Kueva Viscaya
and Coahuila, and no sooner had the Spaniards founded San An-
tonio than it experienced similar visitations. In his diaiy of 1691,
Father Massanet made the following statement concerning the
Apaches, which is a good summary of knowledge of them in Texas
at this time. He says, "The Apaches form a chain running
from east to west, and wage war with all ; with the Salineros alone
do they maintain peace. They have always had wars with the
Spaniards of Jfew Mexico, for, although truces have been made,
they have endured little. In the end they conquer all the tribes

j

yet it is said that they are not hrave because they fight with
armoured horses. They have defensive and offensive weapons, and
are very skillful and warlike Indians."^

Before the establishment of San Antonio the Spaniards of east-
ern Texas had come into contact with the Apaches through the
wars which the latter waged with their inveterate foes, the "Texas."
The part of the Spaniards in these wars was, no doubt, one of the
causes for the attacks which were subsequently made on San An-
tonio. All of the tribes east of the middle Colorado were allied
against the Apaches, and many bloody encounters took place be-
tween the two groups. From the time of the first Spanish entry
mto their country, the "Texas" Indians enlisted the aid of the

XXVn"f.?0.0°'
Misioneros, 1691, in Memorias de Nueva Espana,
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soldiers, jnst as a few years before they had enlisted a part of

Joutel's men.i Hidalgo tells us that in August, 1692, the soldiers

joined the Texas in a campaign against the Apaches, going west-

ward until the land of the enemy was reached. While the invaders

were sleeping peacefully one night the Apaches attacked them, and,

says our informant, had it not been for the firearms of the Span-

iards, not one of them would have returned home.^ On another

campaign of this early period the Texans, with the aid of the Span-

iards, are said to have won a great victory over the Apaches, kill-

ing one himdred and thirty-six of their number.^ Joseph de Ur-

rutia, the romantic character who remained in Texas after the

abandonment in 1693, says, with probable exaggeration, that he

lived among the Texas tribes for seven years and organized them

for campaigns against the Apaches, acting in the capacity of capi-

tdn grande, and often leading more than 10,000 warriors against

the common foe.*

Thus it seems that the Spaniards of Texas were first known to

the Apaches in the light of foes, and that early relations between

them were confined to hostile acts.°

2. Baids Alout San Antonio and Flores's Campaign, {1718-

2723).—Had the Spaniards refused to give aid to the Texas, they

might have been spared, possibly, a great deal of trouble, but at

the outset they had definitely put themselves on record as enemies

of the Apaches, and the latter did not forget it. The Apache ter-

ror overshadows Spanish Texas from the founding of San Antonio.

In the instructions given to Governor Alarcon, in 1718, for the

planting of this new outpost, he was cautioned to be on his guard

against the Apaches, and was told to organize the neighboring

tribes in a defensive alliance against them, as there was much dan-

'Margry, Decouvertes et Etahlissements des Frangais, etc.. Ill, 374-378;

French, Historical Collections of Louisiana, IV (1852), 216.

^Papeles del Pe. Hidalgo, Sees. 11 and 13.

UMd.

'B. MS. Notes.

'Bonilla, discussing Saint Denis's encounter in 1714 with Indians on the

San Marcos (Colorado) river, remarks, "naturalmente serian Apaches"

{Breve Compendio, Par. 7), but this is only a supposition. Indeed, Saint

Denis says that they came from the coast, in which case they must have

been of karanl<awan stock—certainly not Apache. (Declaracion de San

Denis, Memorias de Nueva Espafia, XXVIl, f. 124.)
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ger of attaek\from this "barbarous enemy.''^ These fears were
quickly realized, for as soon as the Apaches learned of the estab-
lishment of Bexar they began to harass it. Before the Marques de
Agimyo had made his expedition into Texas in 1721-2,2 they had
already become so bold as to attack the supply trains from Coa-
huila to San Antonio, stealing mules and killing the drivers.*

Aguayo fully realized the danger. In 1720 he had endeavored
from Coahuila to secure peace with the Apaches, but they would
make no concessions. Instead they brazenly declared their hostile
intentions by hanging red cloth from arrows stuck in the ground
near San Antonio.* While Aguayo was on his way from Mon-
clova to Texas, in 1721, his men had a skirmish just before reach-
ing San Antonio with some Indians whom they supposed to be
Apaches. Two days before his arrival there a pack train had been
attacked. In consequence, several detachments were sent out from
San Antonio for the purpose of checking these hostilities.^

N"evertheless, Aguayo's policy was one of conciliation. He
wished to make friends of the Apaches, and as he journeyed from
San Antonio to eastern Texas he erected several crosses, in order,
as he said, "to exalt the cross in the midst of so much idolatry'

•

and to leave signs of peace to the Apaches Indians, who consider
them as such and know from them that Spaniards have been
there."« No Apaches were encountered by Aguayo himself, how-
ever, and in this he was disappointed, for his plan was to take

'Testimonio del titulo de Governador y Instrucciones que se le dio aDon Martm de Alareon pa la entrada que hizo en la Provineia de los
lejas, 1716-1718, II.

=For a good account of this -expedition see "The Work of the Marques
de Aguayo in Texas, 1719-17^2," a Master's thesis by Miss Eleanor Buck-
ley, University of Texas, 1909.

'Aguayo to the viceroy, February, 1725, in Autos Sre diferentes puntos,
71. In the first attack two drivers were killed, and on a later occasion
one driver perished {Ihid.).

yUd 72. On the beginnings of Apache troubles at San Antonio, see a
brief statement m Bonilla, Breve Compendio, Par. II.

=Pefia, Derrotero of the Aguayo expedition, 6-7. One driver and a soldier
had been killed in the defense of the pack train {Ihid.).

Tefia, Derrotero, 16. It is of interest to note, as an indication of theApache range, that Aguayo gave the name of "San Joseph de los Apaches"
to an ar-royo near the Brazos river, hoping that this connection with thebamts name would have a beneficent effect upon the Apaches (Ihid 10)

/
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some of them prisoners and bring about peace tlirougii their

mediation.^

When Aguayo reached Los Adaes he learned that Fray Joseph

Pita, a lay brother of the College of the Santa Crnz de Queretaro,

had been killed a short time previous while en route to East Texas.

The friar had ventured forth to hunt buffalo without the protec-

tion of tlie soldiers, and Indians, said to be Apaches, killed him

between the San Xavier and the Brazos rivers. His remains were

found in 1723, as we shall see, and were taken to San Antonio by

Captain Nicolas Flores.^

After Aguayo's return to Coahuila in 1722, the Apaches con-

tinued to steal horses, and on one occasion five Indians managed

to make ofE with fifty of them. Captain Flores, with ten men, gave

chase to the thieves, recovered the horses, and took back to San

Antonio the heads of four of the offenders, together with some

spears and some skin armor used to protect the horses of the In-

dians.^ Shortly after this, in April, 1722, Flores was given com-

mand of the presidio,* and with his office he inherited the Apache

trouble.

After Flores succeeded to the command of the presidio such was

^Ihid., 9.

"Bahla: Autos Heclios, 4; Informe del R. P. Fr. Benito de Santa Ana,

al Exmo. sobre la fundacion de Sn. Xavier, 1752, 6; letter of Aguayo,

February, 1725, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 71.

^Letter of Aguayo, February, 1725, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 72;

Gonzalez contra Flores, 15.

*Captain Nicolas Flores y Valdez had begun military service in 1696,

entering the army as a private, and when, in 1701, the garrison of San

Juan Bautista was establislied, he was one of the first to enlist. Here he

served for fourteen years in the capacities of soldier, sergeant, and alferez,

ranking in the last position next to the captain, as no lieutenant was as-

signed to that garrison. In Aguayo's expedition to Texas, Flores was made
subaltern of his company. In 1720, after this appointment, he defeated

a force of Indians near "the Nadadores River, in Coahuila, distinguishing

himself by his bravery and, ability. In the expedition to Texas he served

as explorer, assisted in the repairing of the missions in eastern Texas, and

was employed by Aguayo in many important minor duties, all of which

he performed entirely satisfactorly. Several times he was sent to bring

hack supplies, and he always did so with the greatest dispatch. Thus, as

a reward for ability and faithful service, when Captain Garcia was made
protector of the Indians of Coahuila, Flores was appointed to succeed him

at San Antonio, on April 30, 1722. He was wounded four times in dif-

ferent fights, and always gave a good account of himself in action (Autos

hechos a consulta, Gonzfilez contra Flores, 12-17). Such is the account

of Flores given by the Marques de Aguayo in 1724.
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his vigilance, he said, that no horses were stolen from Bexar until

August 17, 1723,1 Upon this date, however, a band of Apaches
made a raid upon the stock of the presidio. In spite of the fact
that the corral was locked and that ten soldiers guarded the gates,

the Indians broke in and carried off eighty horses. Captain Flores

was notified, and, although it was midnight, set out in pursuit.

After a vain chase that lasted until noon of the following day, he
decided to return to the presidio for reinforcements. Two days
later he again set out with a force of thirty soldiers, including
eight from Bahia, and thirty mission Indians, to follow the trail

of the Apaches. He carried only two pack loads of flour, and
relied for meat upon buffalo and deer. In five days he passed the
Lonicria. or range of hills, to the north, and on September 24,

thirty-six days after leaving San Antonio, and after having trav-

eled one hundred and thirty leagues, he came upon a rancheria of
two hundred Apaches, constituting one of the five bands into

which the enemy had divided, who sallied forth to meet him. A
six hours' battle ensued, according to the report, in which the Span-
iards were victorious, thirty-four Indians, including their chief,

being killed, and twenty women and children taken captives.

About one hundred and twenty horses and mules were recovered,
together with a quantity of plunder, consisting of saddles, bridles,

knives, spears, and other articles which had been stolen by the In-
dians. Of the Spaniards, three, including Captain Flores, were
slightly wounded, and one Indian was hurt. The return to San
Antonio was made in nineteen days.-

_
Tlores to the viceroy, no date, in Gonzalez contra Flores, 28. Some-

time m 1723 two citizens of Bexar encountered a band of Apaches at a
place called Puerto de los Elotes, about eight leagues from the presidio
The men were searching for some strayed horses, and although they saw
the Indians approach they did not anticipate any danger from them be-
lieving them to be friendly. They soon found out their mistake, however
for the Indians at once attacked them. One of the Spaniards was killed
but his companion managed to escape through the swiftness of his horse!
Returning to the presidio, the survivor gave the alarm to Captain Flores
who sent out immediately an alferez with fifteen men. When they reached
the place the Indians were gone, and they found onlv the body of the
Spaniard, who had been scalped and shot through with many arrows
(Cabello, Informe, 32-33).

"

^Flores to Aguayo, October 21, 1723, in Autos Hechos. Texas, 1-2- Flores
to the viceroy, no date [1724], in Gonzalez contra Flores, 26-27- Gonzalez
to the viceroy, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 22; declaration of the sol-
diers, Ilid., 23-27; Arricivita, Crdnica, 340-341
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The fact that they went northward five days before entering the

Lomeria, and that they returned by way of the San Xavier (San

Gabriel )S where Father Pita's remains were found, would indicate

a generally northward direction for the campaign. Since they

were nineteen days returning and traveled one hundred and thirty

leagues, the air-line distance from San Antonio could hardly have

been less than two hundred miles. This would put the place where

the battle occurred somewhere in the region of Bromiwood, perhaps.

The foregoing account of Flores's campaign is Wsed on the offi-

cial report made by Flores to the Marques de Aguayo, supple-

mented by the other accounts in so far as they do not conflict.

Conflicting statements are not wanting, however. Indeed, in a'

later report bv Flores himself we find slight discrepancies in the

figures, as well as additional details. According to Fray Joseph

Gonzalez, missionary in A^alero, who, be it noted, was not present

at the battle, Flores attacked an innocent band of Apaches "Ijehind

their backs," and killed and captured his victims while they were

trying to escape. Gonzalez's statement was corroborated by four

Soldiers of Bexar, who made a declaration containing some addi-

tional facts.^

. These differing and conflicting accounts of the expedition indi-

fate in part the dissensions which were so prevalent at this time

between the missionaries and the soldiers, with their respective

sympathizers, and, as will be seen presently, Flores's campaign,

'Dr. Bolton's investigation of the history of the San Xavier missions has

established the identity of the San Xavier river with the modern San

Gabriel.

=In a letter to the viceroy, in 1724,, Flores said that he left twenty-four

soldiers to guard the presidio; that the battle occurred after thirty days'

march; that thirty-six Indians were killed; that one hundred and forty

horses were recovered, including the eighty that had been stolen (Gon-

zfllez contra Flores, 26-27 ) . Gonzalez said that Flores set out with thirty

soldiers and thirty-three Indians; that one hundred and eighty horses were

recovered (Autos sre diferentes puntos, 22). The four soldiers testified

that only seven men were guarding the horses, which were scattered at the

time of the attaclv, and that some of these were without arms, whereas

all of the numerous Indians were well armed; that the campaign had been

prompted by Father Gonzalez, who suggested that it would be a good time

to follow tile trail of the Apaches and try to convert them, and for this

purpose furnished thirty mission Indians; and that Flores left Gonz;^_lez

with only two soldiers,' everyone else being disarmed in order to provide

v/eapons'for those who went on the campaign (Autos sre diferentes puntos,

23-27).
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together with the consequences resulting therefrom, served only to

increase the discord.

3. Peace Negotiations - -One important result of the campaign
was to open up the way for negotiations looking to a treaty of

peace with the Apaches. It had been Aguayo's idea to treat with

them through captives, and it is not unlikely that Florea was
acting upon the advice of his patron. Although at this time the

chief object of imprisoning tlae Apache women and children seems

to have been to bring the Indians to terms of peace, yet we can
see here early hints of that Spanish custom of enslaving the

Apaches which became so prevalent in Texas some years later,

for Flores was charged with wisliing to retain the captives as

servants rather than to use them as hostages.^

Among the captives taken hy Flores was a woman about forty

years old, whom the captain questioned through an interpreter.

He inquired the motive for the hostility of the Apaches towards
the Spaniards at San Antonio and their reasons for stealing horses.

She replied that it was liecause of the trade which the Apaches
maintained with "other Spaniards" to the north, to whom they

sold horses and slaves.^

This statement Avas to the Spaniards a confirmation of their

suspicions in regard to the French, for it was assumed that these

"other Spaniards" could be none other than Frenchmen who were
manipulating the Apaches for their own benefit. The French had
been a source of anxiety to the Spanish ever since La Salle had
established his ill-fated colony at the Bay of Espiritu Santo, and
it was still feared that they might try some day to wrest from
Spain her northern territory. This fear had a direct influence

upon relations with the Apaches, as it had upon most of their.

Indian relations in Texas, during the eighteenth century, and in

Flores's negotiations for peace we can see the germs of a policy

-

of alliance with the Apaches which finally, after many ins and outs,

resulted in the establishment of missions for them. The Spaniards
wished, among other tilings, to use the Apaches as a bulwark
against the French and their Indian allies (tlie Comanches in par-
ticular)

, and to prepare the way for the devetopment of trade be-

'Cf. note 1, pag-e 212.

'Flores to Agoiayo, October 21, 1723, in Autos Hechos. Texas, 2. See
Bonilla, Par. 11, for efjrly reports of French trade with Apaches.
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tween Few Mexico^, Espiritu Santo, and eastern Texas, and so

strengthen Spanish hold upon that vast territory.'^

Upon further examination, the captive squaw said that the

Apache chiefs were anxious to be friends with the Spaniards.

Hereupon Flores agreed to dispatch her as an ambassador to

her people, and promised to release the prisoners if the chiefs

would come and make peace. She consented to carry the proposal

to the capitdn grande (head chief) of her people, and promised to

return' in twenty days. A horse was given her, as well as many
other gifts, and about October 7 she departed on her mission.^

Within twenty-two days the squaw returned, accompanied by an

Apache chief, his wife and three other Apaches. Flores went out

to meet them, and the chief Indian gave him a baston (cane), say-

ing "Dios ! Dios !" They were examined by Father Gonzalez, given

presents, and treated in the very best style. The chief reported

that as soon as the squaw returned, telling of the friendship of

the Spaniards and of their desire to be at peace with the Apaches,

couriers were dispatched to the other chiefs to notify them, so

that a council might be held to discuss matters. He himself was

Joined at first by another chief, but later it was decided that only

one of them should go, and the other chief gave him a gold-

tipped cane (the one he had brousht) and told him to go and see

if the Indian woman spoke the tru.th ; if it was so, to return and

notify the five chiefs so that all of them, might go to make peace.

After remaining at the presidio three days, the Indians left on

Novemlier 1, promising that without doubt the five chiefs would

all come to make peace.^ jSTevertheless, although prospects seemed

so flattering, it was to be a long time before they were realized.

'See a suggestion to this effect made by Agiiayo to the viceroy, Novem-
ber, 1723, in Autos Hechos. Texas, 20.

=Flores to Aguayo, October 21, 1723, in IMd., 2-3.

'Flores to Aguayo, November 2, 1723, Ibid.. 5-7 ; Autos sre diferentes

puntos, 20. Some differences appear in tlie declaration of the four soldiers

mentioned above in regard to these negotiations. They said that Father

Gonzftlez wished to send the squaw as a messenger of peace, but that

Flores refused, until the priest told him that dire consequences would re-

sult if she were not sent. Flores finally consented, and with much labor

Gonzfllez succeeded in making the woman understand w^iat was required of

her. She was dressed out splendidly and despatched. When she and her

companions returned, they stayed three days, but as there was no in-
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Indeed, very sinister tales were told, to the effect that all of these

negotiations were only a ruse on the part of the Apaches to regain

their women and children. A Coahuila Indian named Geronimo
who had escaped from the Apaches to San Juan Bautista declared

that the Apaches had been very much aroused by Flores's cam-
paign and that they had assembled to march upon San Antonio,

when the Indian woman arrived, telling them of what the Span-
iards had promised, and that (with characteristic cunning) the

Apaches had decided to postpone their plans in order to secure the

release of their women and children who were at San Antonio.
The capitdn grande, Geronimo's declaration continued, consoled as

best he could the disappointed Indians, promising to attack San
Antonio after they had secured their relatives.^ This story was
contirmed by a Spaniard named Juan Santiago de la Cruz, who
likewise had been a prisoner among the Apaches. He said that

the Apaches were always eager for war upon the Spaniards, and
that when Flores had killed some of their number on his campaign
a great many tribes gathered with the intention of attacking San
Antonio. But just as they were about to start, the old Indian
woman arrived with a message from Flores. Two priests were
sent for from another rancheria, and they read the letter, inform-
ing the Indians that Flores offered peace.^ The capitdn grande
now decided to send a chief, accompanied by a few men, with a

hasten, to secure the. release of the captives, but agreed that as

soon as the latter had been given up, a great force should assault

the presidio at San Antonio. With this deceitful intent, said the

Spaniards, the Apaches were sent to promise peace.^

The Apaches did not retum to San Antonio until about two
months had passed. In the latter part of December a band of

terpreter and they could not under.stand well what was wanted, they were
given presents and sent back (Ibid.). Arricivita, Grdnica, .341-343', gives
an account of some of these negotiations.

^Declaracion del Indio Ger6nimo.

'Aguayo says in a letter of February 26, 1725, that two Spaniards,
Fray Juan Minguez and Pedro de Villasior (sic), were at this time being
held as captives among the Apaches, having been captured while on an ex-
pedition sent out from New Mexico to investigate the movements of the
French (Aguayo to the viceroy, February 26, 1725, in Autos sre difer-
entes puntos, 76). The two priests referred to may have been these same
men mentioned by Aguayo.

"Declaration of Juan Santiago de la Cruz, in Gonzalez contra Flores,
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about thirty arrived at the settlement, where they were welcomed

by Father Gonzalez. The Indians were allowed to enter the mis-

sion, and Gonzalez proposed to give up to them the women and

children who were being held as prisoners. Flores, however, would

not hear to this, and refused to release the hostages until all the

chiefs should agree to make peace. Gonzalez argued that they

would probably not care to come until they should be convinced

of the good intentions of the Spaniards. But Flores was firm in

his decision, and the discussion waxed furious. The Indians

finally took fright thereat and departed, leaving a twelve-year-old

girl as an additional hostage and promising that as soon as the

cold weather should be over four of their chiefs would come and

make peace, but asserting that the fifth one did not wish to be

the friend of the Spaniards.^

^. The Removal and Restoration of Captain Flores—This oc-

currence had opened anew the quarrel between Flores and Gon-

zalez, and the missionary began to do all in his power to secure

the removal of the soldier.

In consequence of reports that Flores had allowed the presidio

of San Antonio de Bexar to deteriorate, the viceroy in a letter of

October 3, 1723, had warned him to be more diligent in the service

of the king, and suggested that if his soldiers had been properly

equipped and the presidio in good condition the Apaches would

not have succeeded in stealing the eighty horses. Apparently this

was a great surprise to Flores, for he claimed that he had been

especially diligent in pursuing the raiding Indians, and recovermg

the only horses that had been stolen from the presidio during his

term:^

Evidently with the view of justifying himself, on January 9,

1734, Flores appealed to Gonzalez to make a statement concerning

the condition of the presidio and to certify as to his (Flores's)

^Almazan to the viceroy, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 16-17; Declara-

tion of the soldiers. Ibid'., 20-21. In the declaration of the four soldiers,

it was said that the Indians agreed to leave four of their number as

hostages if the children were given up to their parents, but Flores would

not consent to it. He got excited and spolce in a loud voice, and the In-

dians began to gather up their effects and get out. The Indian chief took

a little girl by "the hand and said to Flores: "Take girl," as if to say,

"This is what' you want, not peace" (Ibid.).

^Flores to the viceroy, in Gonzalez contra Flores, 26-27.
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prompt action in^recoveriiig the stolen horses.^ Flores was too

late, however, for before the end of November, Gonzalez, through
the guardian of his college, had complained to the viceroy of

rjores's conduct.' Now, upon Flores's appeal, Gonzalez took ad-

vantage of a new opportunitv to complain of the captain's im-
politic conduct in regard to the Apaches. He stated in his decla-

ration that the Apaches had been grievously offended by the un-
warranted attack upon them, and that the peace which had been so

near to consummation had been irretrievably spoiled.^

Father Hidalgo, who was missionary at San Antonio de Valero
at this time, and before whom Gonzalez's declaration was made,
supported his brother priest. To the latter's statement he volun-
teered to add his own opinion. The Apaches, he said, could have
been converted long before if the presidios had been managed
rightly. He thought that the poor pay of the soldiers was respon-
sible for the class of men who usually enlisted, and that their bad
habits caused the loss, not only of their own souls, but of those
of the Indians as well. "Now, again," he continued, "the captain
of this presidio has disturbed the so greatly desired peace by not
releasing the children of the Apaches."*

'

, „

G'onzalez's opposition to Flores culminated in an effort to have
him remove|l from hfs command. On March 18, 1724, he wrote to

the viceroy complaining that the bad condition of the presidio was
the cause of the failure to reap great harvests of souls. Since the

French were' anixious to ally with the Apaches, this bad state of

affairs, he said, might mean ruin for the Spaniards. He told of
the attack upon the corral, the stealing of the horses, the pursiTlt

by Flores, the defeat of the Indians, the taking of the captives,

and Flores's subsequent refusal to release them to their people.

Finally, the priest declared, in order to repair the damage which
had been done, it would be necessary that Flores be removed from
his office as captain, not only because of his unchristian conduct
toward the Apaches, but also because of his scandalous actions and
bad example in general. As a successor to Flores, Gonzalez pro-

^^Tetition of Flores, January 9, 1724, in Autos sre diferentes puntos,

'Agiiayo to the viceroy, November, 1723, in Autos Hechos. Texas, 29.
'Declaration of Gonzalez, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 29-31.

"

*Hidalgo to the viceroy, January 14, 1724, in Hid., 31-33.
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posed Mateo Perez, a private soldier of the presidio of the Eio

Grande.^

Gonzalez also suggested a remedy for the unwise policy of Flores.

It was to form a company of seventy men from the various pre-

sidios, led by Father Gonzalez himself, and by going to the land

of the Apaches, treating the Indians kindly, giving them back

their wives and children, and bestowing upon them some presents,

thus again secure peace. It T\'as the policy of the olive branch and

the sword.

^

Whether or not this letter of Gonzalez was the cause of the re-

moval of Flores is uncertain. At a.ny rate, on April 6, 1724, |i

Flores received an order from the viceroy commanding him to give
|I

up the command of the presidio to Mateo Perez, just as Gonzalez

had suggested, and to retire one hundred leagues from the "prov-

ince of Texas."'

Flores obeyed the order, and Perez took charge in June. This
|

did not mean, however, that the matter was settled. On the con-

trary, Flores began at once to exert himself to regain his command.

He made a personal plea to the viceroy, giving his account of the

raid and the fight with the Apaches, and furnishing testimonials

from the Marques de Aguayo and from other persons concerning his

good conduct and ability. In his own defense, Flores said that

he had recovered the only horses that had been stolen during his

term of office, and that the presidio was in good condition, with

the requisite number of competent soldiers, contrary to what Gon-

zalez had charged. As to the latter 's statement about the coming

of the Apaches to seek peace, Flores said that the priest did not

know what he was talking about; that the Apaches had never

^Gonzfdez to the viceroy, March 18, 1724. IMd., 2-9. Perez, althoiifjh

well recommended by Gonzfllez, was not held in very high regard by

Aguayo. The latter "said that P6rez had served in the army for twenty

years', and had never merited promotion beyond the rank of a private sol-

flier. Perez himself admitted that he wis illiterate and could only sign

his name—and his signatiire was in very rustic characters. His promotion

to San Antonio, however, seems to have turned liis head somewhat, and

he did not prove to be so peaceful and pliable as Gonzfilez had supposed

him. He was later made lieutenant of the presidio of B^xar, and still

occupied that position as late as 1738, at which time he was in his fifty-

sixth year.

^Gonzfilez to the viceroy, March 18, 1724, in Autos sre diferentes

puntos, 10.

^Viceroy's decree, in Gonzalez contra Flores, 26.
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wished peace, but that a few of them bad come to San Antoniom order to see if they could not cajole the Spaniards into givinc.
up the captives. Flores said that he had recognized their duplic'^
ity, and had refused to treat with them unless all of their chiefs
should come. These statements he substantiated by the declara-
tion of the Spaniard, Juan Santiago de la Cruz, to the effect that
the Apaches intended to raid and destroy San Antonio after they
had recovered tlieir kinspeople. Finally, Flores asked that, in rec-
ogni.ion of his many services and on account of his family, he be
restored to his command.

^

To prove his good record in the service of the king, Flores en-
^

closed a number of testimonials. One of these was from no less a
!

personage than Fray Antonio Margil de Jesus, guardian of the

I

College of Nuestra Senora de C4uadalupe de Zacatecas. He stated
that Flores had always gallantly and zealously served the king

:

and that he was worthy, not only to be restored to his command,'

I TeLr^'''
^'"'"'^''^

^^'^ P^'*^"^^*^'^ «f

The Marques de Aguayo, in his testimonial, praised Flores very
highly, and, indeed, it is from him that we learn most of the fact
concerning Floret's career, as given above. He also defended
Flores against the attacks made upon him by Hidalgo, whose

T °f IT '
"^"'^ rei^titions of those made by C.onzalez.a

io offset Hidalgo s opinion, Aguayo maintained that Hidalgo was
a man easily influenced, and that Father Sevillano, who also op-
posed I lores, was of somewhat the same nature. As to Gonzalez
himself Aguayo believed that he had purposely misstated things
to the discredit of Flores, and cited Flores's letters as proof He
'said that Mateo Perez had been recommended so that Gonzalez

Antonio. Furthermore. Aguayo added, Gonzalez was known to
be of a turbulent disposition, as was admitted by his own collegeand one who was always causing trouble.^ It is' only fair to state

Tlores to t],e viceroy, no date, in Gonzalez contra Flores, 26-30

3ontrfFlores,'^3556^""^"°
'"''^''^ '^"'^ 1^24, in Gonzalez

'

^Hidalgo to the viceroy, in Primera entrada a la Proa de los Texas S-c,

Um^ls Flores, 38-39.
' '

^'
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that Gonzalez and Aguayo had been per.'-.jnal enemies since' 1723,

when the former charged the latter with defrauding the govern-

ment. This fact may have colored Agnayo's opinion of Gonzalez.^-

Finallv, Aguayo recommended that Flores be restored to the com-"

mand of the presidio at San Antonio and that all back pay be

given him.^

In consequence of Aguayo's intervention, on May 31, 1725, the

viceroy ordered that Flores should l^e restored to his command and

that Perez should return to his service as a private soldier in the

presidio of Rio Grande.^ Thus in spite of further eiforts that

Gonzalez may have made, Flores won his fight, and for this time,

at least, the seculars triumphed over the missionaries.

5. Further Baids and Spanish Conciliation, 77^34-^7^5.—While

this controversv had been raging between Flores and Gonzalez, the

Apaches had continued to inflict upon the province their thefts

and murders. The assurance given by the Indians who had visited

San Antonio in November, 1723, that four of their chiefs would

come to make peace did not prove well founded, and after some

seven months of quiet the Apaches renewed their raids.*

At about midnight of March 9, 1724, Francisco Minchaca (sic)
,
a

soldier of the presidio of Rio Grande del Norte, arrived at San

Antonio and reported that his companion, Antonio Gonzalez, had

been killed by Indians about fifteen leagues away. Flores set out at

once with ten soldiers, and, reaching the scene of the attack, found

the mutilated body of Gonzalez. Though there were conflicting

opinions as to the identity of the malefactors, there were strong

indications that they were Apaches.^ On March 14th or 15th,,

y

^Aguayo to Fray Margil, July 4, 1724.

^Aguayo to the viceroy, in Autos sre diferentes puritos, 44.

'Viceroy's decree, Ibid., 45.

^Almazan to the viceroy, October 24, 1724, in Autos sre diferentes

puntos, 44.

•^Alniaziin to the viceroy, March 12, 1724, in Autos sre diferentes puntos,

2; declaration of Minchaca, lUd., 3-5; testimony of Flores, Ibid 5-7.

Gonzalez was a courier bearing dispatches from the viceroy to La BaMa,

having been sent to Mexico in January preceding to give notice of the re-

volt of the Indians at Bahla. Minthaca served as his escort. They had

left the presidio of Rio Grande on March 6, and, proceeding at a mod-

erate pace, had reached a place called Chareo de la Pita, about fifteen

leagues from San Antonio, on the 9th, at three p. m. (On a m^p m the

Austin Papers a creek by this name is shown just west of the Medina

river—B MS Notes.) After a short rest here, they pushed on, wishing
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ten Apaches, bearing the Indian captive Geronimo, stole some
horses from the corral of the presidio of San Juan Bautista del
Eio-arande. Geronimo fled to the Spaniards, gave the alarm, and
the horsesy^ere recovered.^ Again, in April, the Apaches attacked
some mislion Indians of San Antonio, killing one and vi'ounding^

Tt^o^T^ ^ ""^"^ ^""^^ ''^^'''^ darkness should overtake them,ihey had gone only about a league, however, when they were attacked bvSIX nude Indians on horseback. Gonzalez was wounded by two arrows and
fell from his horse, but Minchaea managed to get away by threatening his

r^avTne h.l7fl ' ^f^"^^ ^ reached aravine half a league away from Arroyo de los Payayas. Here he unsaddled

mr^Zll Tf ™n *° *° S'"^ tl^e alarm (Declaration ofMmchaea before Governor AlmaziJn, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 3-5).In Jlores s party sent out to investigate were ten soldiers, an Indianguide and Mmchaea himself. They reached Pita at 9 o'clock the nLxtmorning, and found the body. It had been stripped of all clothing andthe Indians had followed their usual custom of mutilation. There werearrows m the stomach and back, a wound had been made by a spear, theflesh was torn away from the calf of one leg, and the scalp was gona

?o.d Flo, A f''}'^
''''' ^'^""'1 ^ ^ho'-t distance from^ the

cWd It 7 "P °* ^"^'•'^'^^ it until night

£ the f,^rfver.' "^"/fr^ tl^^re was small chance of overtak-ing the fugitives he decided to return to San Antonio. The identity of

wa's that'tLl"''
be definitely settled, but the most prevalent opSionwas that they were Apaches, because they had fled in the direction of the

'

Apache country, and the arrows found were declared by various of ti emission Indians to be of Apache make. It was argued, however on some!what flimsy grounds, that the arrows were new and might have been imt
^ 'T'l^t^f ^"'"'^'^ ^^^'^^'l t« t'^™^ suspicion upon theApaches, and whicli had fled in the direction of the Apa^^heka to stren<.then

2 ackXTdHn^''"
arguments in defence of the Apaches were that he

^lnt\o
nude, whereas the former were accustomed toclothe themselves in buckskin; that the Apaches used saddles had dartsand spears made of buflfalo skin, and tipped their arrows with iron whi e

f the'lndiins\°Tl''""f ''T ^" it assertedSIf the Indians had been Apaches, they would never have allowed Minchaeato escape, but would have followed him even into the settlement and kiUed

^ZroZVIh:^7rV' T'''''
''f^ ^" ^Pi*« °f these doubts it

fLT. " offenders were Apaches, and such was later conceded

th.f TTy,^''"''''''"'.?" ^ t« viceroy on Mav 1, stated

RioVtnl 1

^P"°h^« '^'^'i ^'-^ided the presidio of the

fell^T . Vf"*^ T"' ^^^^ i" the neighborhood, it might be in-

rovd 'i'7V'''\'\' ''f^r''
^""^ "^^t^"'^^ (Al'-^^'^n to^he vice-roy. May 1, 1724, m Autos fechos en la Bahi'a, 35-36)

Go?e^w'FlTcon''nrr'°,'^-r"'n""' ^" '"^ declaration made before

P^n r r c f w ,

Coahuila, Geronimo stated that he was a native of

S a^earlv ao? W,'-r""
^^""'1''^ '''"'^ '''''' ^''^'^ h^"^" '^^^ --phan

hJ h! ^ f J^"^^
working for a merchant as driver {atajador he

trade?n"J^?*^;r^^^ ^"^"^r'
^'^'^ '^'^Pt him for a year,'and then

chSf LtTed tbi^ h^' ^'^i"^' because an Apachechiet tancied that he resembled a son of his who had been captured bv theSpaniards m an assault upon Rio Grande (Ibid.).
'^^P'^urea by the
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another.! About the same time they killed a Mesquite Indian at

El Almagre, took another prisoner, and killed a Paquasian Indian

on the upper Medina.^ Early in January of the following year

these Paquasian (Paquache) Indians were attacked by the Apaches

near the Nueces River. It was hoped by Father Paredes that

fear of the Apaches would induce the tribe to enter the San

Xavler mission, then almost extinct, at San Antonio. Sim-

ilarly, some time before January, 1726, the Sanas were attacked

by one hundred Apaches and driven from their rancherias.^

Thus we see that there was little cessation of hostilities. On

the contrary, as Father Hidalgo said, "little by little the Apaches

are showing their claws."*

In spite of this warlike attitude of the Apaches, however, the

Spaniards continued to follow a policy of conciliation. Governor

Almazan had reported, on March 24, 1724, the negotiations that

had been carried on with the Apaches, and said that up to that

time the chiefs had not come to make peace, as they had promised

to do.^ On April 25, the viceroy replying to Almazan urged upon

him the importance of securing an alliance with the Apache chiefs

by gentle means, which, he said, should be easy to do, since the

Apaches of New Mexico were friends of the Spaniards." Almazan

answered that he would carry out these instructions, but that he

had little hope of securing any good results, as the Apaches were

getting worse every day, and were making life and property unsafe.

Nevertheless, he gave orders that if any Apaches should be encoun-

tered they should be brought before him so that he might give them

presents and dispatch them as messengers to their chiefs, offering

friendship and alliance.''

These troublesome questions were referred by the viceroy to the

Marques de Aguayo for his opinion, as an authority on Texas

^Almazan to the viceroy, May 1, 1724, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 35.

"'Hidalgo to Gonzfllez, March 2.5, 1725. lUd., 37.

"Representacion que haze Fray Miguel Sevillano de Paredes, 5-6.

'Hidalgo to Gonzalez, March 25, 1725, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 37.

'Almazan to the viceroy, lUd.. 19.

"Auditor's parecer and viceroy's decree, IMd., 42-43.

'Letters of Almazfln to the viceroy, October 24 and 25, 1724, Ihid 44-47;

55-62 Bonilla states that Almazan at this time asked permission to make

war on the Apaches, but that his proposal was not favorab y received by

the superior government {Breve Compen.dio. Par. 11). I have not seen

this proposal in any of the contemporary sources.
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affairs, and in February Aguayo gave his reply. He believed that
the Apaches should first be treated with "gentle persuasion" ; that
another one of the captives at San Antonio should be dispatched
with proffers of peace, and that influence should be brought to beai'

upon the friendly Apaches of New Mexico, in order that they might
aid in bringing their kinsmen to terms. But in case the Apaches
would not admit any overtures of peace, Aguayo advised that a
company of eighty Spaniards and one hundred Indian allies should
make an expedition against them, entering their country from New
Mexico. He suggested that the necessary soldiers could be secured
by taking detachments iovm the various presidios, and that the
"Texas" Indians would be only too glad to get a chance to fic^ht
their old enemy. JsTevertheless, he thought, the best way to reach
the Apaches was through their captive kinsmen, and he advised
that this be attempted.

^

Aguayo's advice was accepted by the viceroy, and his policy was
ordered carried out, with the understanding that even in case the
Apaches spurned the proposals of peace, no campaign should be
undertaken until due authority was given.^ Thus we see the adop-
tion of a definite policy toward the Apaches, that of conciliation
before punishment, which was to continue in force for several years
The line of division already observed between the missionaries

and the seculars in regard to the Apaches was continued' The
priests usually defended them and believed in their good intentions
while the civil and military officials, in spite of orders that they
be concihatorv, habitually distrusted them. The spirit of the
fathers is typified by the petition of Hidalgo, who, on March 18
1725, asked for permission to go to the land of the Apaches to try
to convert them. He wished to be unaccompanied save by a single
lay brother, and hoped, by converting the Apaches to the "holy
Catholic faith," to secure the peace of the province.^

6. InformMion Acquired Concerning the Apaches.—Through
their intimate relations with the Apaches, the Spaniards at San
Antonio had become very much better acquainted with them, and

^_^^Aguayo to the viceroy, February, 1725, Autos sre diferentes puntos,

'Auditor's parecer, March 31, 1725, Hid., 77.

'

'Petition of Hidalifo, in Primera Entrada a la Proa de Te^as 7-')-
Arricivita, Vrdnica, 343.

J-exas,
, y,
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by 1735 possessed concerning them considerable definite knowledge.

From the correspondence of the period thus far covered we can de-

termine the ideas of the soldiers and priests in regard to the loca-

tion, organization, numbers, and general customs of the Apaches

with whom they had been dealing. Up to this time very little dis-

tinction, if any, was made between the different Apache tribes, but

all were included, as has been stated, under the generic name of

"Apaches." IS^ot only were the Texas Apaches included under this

term, but those of New Mexico as well, together, embracing, as they

said, a range of more than five hundred leagues.^

a. Location.—h is clear that during this period the Apaches

known at San Antonio were living far to the northwest. Domingo

Cabello, who was governor of Texas in 1784 and who wrote an his-

torical sketch of the Apaches, says that at the time under consid-

eration they lived along the Eio del Fierro, three hundred leagues

"from the province of Texas." The Eio del Fierro seems to be

the Wichita.^ According to Cabello's statement, the Apaches lived

in that region until about 1723, when they were defeated by the

Comanches, their greatest foes, in a nine days' battle, and forced

to seek safety in flight.^' Going southward, they chose as their

new home the region between the upper Colorado and Brazos rivers,

at a distance of some one hundred and twenty leagues from the

"province of Texas." Even here, says Cabello, they did not feel

safe from the attacks of the Comanches, and began to explore the

land to the south with the view of moving again in case of neces-

sity.* Cabello's assertion as to the location of the Apaches is

borne out bv the various documents of this period. When Flores

made his campaign in 1723 he marched for more than a month

before reaching the ApacJieria, going, he tells us, a distance of one

hundred and thirty leagues, or perhaps some two hundred and

sixty miles, northwest from San Antonio. This agrees substan-

tialiy with Cabello's statement. The length of time consumed by

the woman in her embassy to her people-'^ indicates that the Apaches

^Auditor's parecer, January 27, 1724, in Autos Heclios. Texas, 32.

=B. MS. Notes.

'Bancroft, in his Arizona and New Mexico, page 230, tells of a great

battle in 1724, when the Comanches attacked the Apaches at Jicarilla.

*Cabello, Informe, 32-33.

f'See page 210..
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were a long distance away. ^^Tien she departed, on horseback, she

said that she would return in twenty days, and she was, in fact,

gone twenty-two days.

The range of the Apaches extended much farther south, it is

true. During the buffalo season, they were accustomed to move
their camps to the southeast, between the middle Colorado and

Brazos rivers, where the buffalo were most numerous. They stayed

here only temporarily, however, retiring north at the end of the

season. There is no ground for Yoakum's statement that on the

coming of the Spaniards the Lipan Apaches inhabited the Gulf

coast,^ and such an opinion could not be entertained by one who
is familiar with the contemporary documents now available. At
this time the Apaches did not habitually range below the old San
Antonio road. Attention should also be called to the evident

error in the map in the Handbook of American Indians, Part I,

which shows the Shoshonean stock, clearly referring to the Co-

manches, when tirst known to Europeans, as extending in a nar-

row wedge on both sides of the Colorado to a point below Austin.

At this time the Comanches were held north of the Apaches, and
as the latter lived a long distance northward from San Antonio,

the incorrectness of this portion of the map is readily perceived.

The Comanches, in their southward migration, did not reach the

Panhandle till about 1700, and it was long after this before they

ranged habitually east of the lower Colorado.

b. Trihal Organization.—Through their efforts to obtain peace

with the Apaches, the authorities at San Antonio learned some-
thing of their tribal organization. The Indians with whom they

treated said that thev were divided into five tribes (naciones),

each of which was governed by his own chief or capitdn. All of

these chiefs, however, recognized the authority of a head chief

(capitdn grande) , who lived still farther north.- The squaw sent

as a messenger by Plores described the method of the Apaches in

making a raid, which illustrates this organization. She said that

all of the five chiefs would assemble and furnish about twelve men
each for the raid. When these returned, the booty was divided,

and all returned to their respective homes. Without the permis-

\i Comprehensive History of Texas, I, 11.

'Flores to Aguayo, October 21, 1723, Autos Heches. Texas, 2.
, .
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sion of the capitdn grande, however, she said, none of the chiefs

dared to make an expedition.^ The names of these different hands,

for such they evidently were, do not appear at this time. More-

over, the contemporary sources of the period leave us wholly in

the dark as to what portion and what branch of the Apaches were

being treated of. But there are indications that the principal

ones were the branch that later emerged as the Lipan.

c. Nur>ibers.—"To the Spaniards at San Antonio the Apaches

seemed to be a very numerous people,- but their number was prob-

ably much smaller than was believed. Flores said that in his cam-

paign he fought one of the five ranch erias and that about two hun-

dred warriors were engaged. If he was correct in his estimate,

the total population of this ranclievia could not have been less than

eight or nine hundred.

d. Customs.—The equipment of an Apache warrior, the wit-

nesses tell us, was quite elaborate. They possessed many horses,

had good saddles with iron stirrups, and used bridles. Their

horses were usually protected from the arrows of the enemy by

buffalo skins, and the Apaches themselves used skin armor, painted

variously blue, red, green, or white. No mention is made of the

Apaches having firearms, and it is made to appear that they fought

entirely without them. Their arrows were generally tipped with

iron, we are told, and they also used a kind of iron dart (cliuza)

in offensive warfare. Their clothing, as a rule, was of buckskin.^'

e. Intertribal Belations.—As has already been stated, the

Apaches had long been foes of the Indians living to the east of the

middle Colorado river, and never did the Texas Indians go out to

hunt buffalo without being in danger of attack from the Apaches,

who were also in the same region during the buffalo season. Less

worthy foes of the Apaches were the small Coahuiltecan tribes liv-

ing west of the San Antonio river and south of the Cam.ino Real.

Of the Apaches these lived in mortal dread, and we have already

mentioned some of the attacks which they withstood.* One result

^Flores to Aguayo, October 21, 1723, Autos Heclios. Texas, 2-3.

^Autos Hechos. Texas, 4; Autos sre diferentes puntos, 25; and numerous

other documents.

'Testimony of Flores, in Autos sre diferentes puntos, 7; Flores to

Aguayo, in Autos Hechos. Texas, 2 ;
Arrieivita, Cronica, 340.

'B. MS. Notes.
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of Apache hostility toward these smaller tribes of southern Texas

had been the formation of what was known as Rancheria Grande,

which was composed of many tribes who had banded together to

combat the Apaches, and which made its headquarters in the neigh-

borhood of the Brazos.'^ From the declaration of the Indian boy,

Geronimo, it may be inferred that with the Jumanes and Tobosos

the Apaches maintained friendly relations.- Indeed, the Jumanes,

as will be seen, were included under the term "Apaches."

III. PERIOD OF EELAI.'IVE QUIET, 1726-1730

1. The Apaches Inactive.—For several years after 1725 the

documents available do not indicate that many hostilities were

committed by the Apaches. On the contrary, there are indications

that they were either holding themselves in reserve, for some un-

known reason, or were occupied elsewhere. Thus, on July 4, 1726,

Almazan reported that everything was quiet at San Antonio, and

that recently the Apaches had made no hostile move.^ Sometime

in 1726, it is true, the Apaches were so bold as to try to steal

some horses which were being guarded by a mission Indian very

near the presidio.* In 1727 they killed near the same mission a

recently converted Indian.'^ But these are the only specific in-

stances of violence by them cited by the documentary sources for

some four years. It is not improbable that the Apaches made
minor raids upon the Spaniards' stock. Indeed, Father Sevillano,

writing in November, 1729, remarked, in connection with Apache

relations at the mission Valero, that "lately, at every turn, there

are tragedies in that mission.''" But whatever troubles there may
have been, they do not appear to have been of suiScient impor-

tance to merit special mention.

^B. MS. Notes.

-Deelaracifin del Yndio Geronimo, 2.

'Almazan to the viceroy, in Mudanza del presidio, 2. In this letter
Almazan gives us an idea of the size of San Antonio at this time. He
says there were forty-five officers and soldiers and four citizens (vecinos)
there, and that these, with their families, reached the number of two
hundred persons (IMd.)

.

The soldiers hurried to his aid, but did not succeed in reaching him
until after a spear had pierced his neck (Fray Sevillano to the viceroy,
1730, asking for two additional soldiers in each mission, 10).

^Trassumpto de vn Memorial, 2.
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Yet, although the Apaches were peaceful, the quiet had a

somewhat ominous appearance, and the colonists did not forget

that the savages were likely to descend upon them at any time.

Even the priests did not trust that the peace was permanent, but

feared that the Indians might attack the presidio and burn the

missions. This fear is voiced by Father Miguel Sevillano de

Paredes in his report made in 1727.'

2. Bivera's Recommendations.—In 1727 Don Pedro de Eivera

made a general inspection of the Spanish defenses on the frontier,

and in his report of 1728 proposed a general reduction of forces

in Texas. San Antonio, as well as the establishments in eastern

Texas, was to be affected by this policy of retrenchment. Rivera

recognized the exposed condition of Bexar and its proximity to

the hostile Apaches, but, influenced, no doubt, by their recent com-

parative quiet, he underestimated the danger from them.^ In .con-

sequence, he recommended that the garrison at Bexar be reduced

from fifty-three to forty-three soldiers, "since," as he said, "it has

no other enemies in its neighborhood than the Apache Indians, who

inhabit the Lomevia Orande (big range of hills), which nation is

not so large as to cause anxiety to that presidio, even though its

garrison should be smaller than the one which now protects it."^

He said that even if the Apaches did commit petty thieveries,

through the carelessness of the soldiers, they would soon learn

the consequences of their acts and would desist from them.*

3. Effect of the Recommendations.—These ill-advised recom-

mendations at once caused a storm of protest from the mission-

aries. Father Vergara complained that to take ten men from the

presidio of Bexar would mean the ruin of the missions at San An-

tonio, for the Apaches would soon learn of the reduction in forces,

and would be encouraged to renew their hostilities.^

In 1731 the Q.ueretaran missions were removed from eastern

Texas, and after several other locations had been projected for them

^Fr. Miguel Sevillano de Paredes, Visitas de las misiones del Rio Grande

del Norte, October 15, 1727, 37.

^Rivera, Proyeeto, 6.

Uhid., 34.

^Ibid.

'•Vergara to the viceroy, July 20, 1729, in Diligencias que hizo el

colegio, 14.
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were re-established near San Antonio. The proximity of the

Apaches had much to do with determining the sites, for it was

deemed dangerous to establish them in any place less protected

from that tribe.^ In this same year the population of San An-
tonio was further increased by the coming of the Canary Islanders.

They were not a highly coura.Q-eous lot, and their fears of the hos-

tile Indians added considerable to the alarm felt at San Antonio.

The new colonists, afraid to settle on the lands that had been

assigned them some distance away, congregated under the shelter

of the presidio. 2 Hardly had they become established in their new
home when the Apaches awoke from their inaction and began a

series of raids more serious than any before experienced from

them at San Antonio.

IV. THE CAMPAIGN OF BUSTILLO Y ZEVALLOS

1. Bencived Baids.—The renewed hostilities began with the-

opening of 1731. On January 9, Fr. Salvador de Amaya an.d

Fr. Francisco Bustamante with a small party, escorted by four

soldiers, were attacked by fifty Apaches while on their way from
San Antonio to Rio Grande, a woman being killed and a boy ear-

xied away into captivity. The rest of the party "miraculously"

escaped with their lives.^ No attempt being made to punish this

attack, the Apaches grew bolder, and before long entered the mis-

sion of San Antonio de Valero and carried away fifty burros.*

At another time they visited one of the new missions during the

absence of the priest, and. putting to flight the recently congre-

gated Indians, stole all of the horses there.^ Again, about April

15, it seems, eighty Apaches attacked a squad of soldiers who were

conducting horses to the Bio Grande, at the place where the two

priests had been assaulted on January 9. The soldiers were ig-

nominously scattered and all of the horses captured.*' Later, on
June 2-^5, Fr. Zaes Monge and Fr. Benito de Santa Ana, accom-

^B. MS. Notes.

=Cabello, Informe, 33.

'Fr. Mezqufa to the viceroy, May 4, 1731. in Carpeta de Correspondencia,
74; same to same, August 8, 1731, Hid., 84-85.

'Ihid., 75, 85.

"Ibid.

Vbid.
,
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panied by five soldiers, were attacked by the Apaches while en

route to Eio Grande. Two soldiers were wounded and all of the

horses carried off.^ Tiius all but the last of these raids occurred

between January 9 and April 17, and the priests now cited them

as evidence of the insufficiency of the escorts that were assigned

them. As a result of their complaints, Rivera, now convinced

of the seriousness of the Apache situation, recommended that

eight soldiers and a caho (chief) should be given them on their

Journeys from Rio Grande to San Antonio.^ At the same time

he also recommended that permission he given to' the captain of

Bexar to punish the Apaches for their repeated crimes, as had

been requested by Captain Almazan, for, he said, unless something

were done to uphold the honor of the Spanish arms, their out-

rages would soon pass bevond all bounds.^ But no immediate

action was taken to punish the offenders.

After these repeated attacks, there was a lull in the depredations

that lasted until the middle of September. But the inhabitants at

San Antonio felt anything but secure, and their alarm was ma-

terially increased in the first part of August by the capture of an

Apache who declared that a great number of his people were

assembling in their country preparatory to making a combined

attack upon the settlement. This warning was justified, as will

be seen from subsequent events.*

2. The Fight at San Antonio, September IS, 173i.—Quiet was

broken by a raid on the stock of the presidio at San Antonio on

September 18, 1731, at noon, when the Apaches attacked the

horse herd (cavallacla) and succeeded in stealing about sixty beasts.

Don Juan Antonio Perez de Almazan, who was now captain at

Bexar, was at once notified, and, although he was ill at the time,

set out immediately in pursuit of the offenders, dispatching a

sergeant with five soldiers in advance. When Almazan overtook

them, at a distance of about a league from the presidio, he found

them engaged in a fight with at least forty Indians, and, as he

^Mezqufa to the viceroy, August 8, 1731, Carpeta de Correspondeneia, 85.

^Rivera to the viceroy, May 26, 1731, Ibid., 82.

mid., 81-82.

*Alinazftn to Casafuerte, December 1, 1731, in Pacificacion de Apaches, 5.
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tells us, had he not arrived at that opportune time all six would
have perished.^ They were by no means free from danger with
the coming of reinforcements, for the Spaniards did not number
more than twenty-five men in all, while, according to Almazan,
just as they arrived about five hundred Indians came out from
their hiding places, all on horseback and well armed. The com-
bined force now attacked the soldiers with great fierceness, form-
ing their line of battle in the shape of a crescent {media lumi), and
gradually surrounding the small band. The battle lasted for more
than two hours, and two men had been killed and thirteen badly
wounded, when the Spaniards decided to dismount at the foot of
a tree and sell their lives as dearly as possible, since most of the
horses were disabled and some of the wounded soldiers unable to
remain in the saddle. The Indians continued drawing the death
circle around the Spaniards, who thought that they had only a few
moments to live. But suddenly the Indians began to flee, much
to the astonishment of the soldiers, for there seemed to be abso-
lutely no reason why they should not have finished the small force

i and have proceeded to ravage the missions and the presidio, which
would have been an easy task, for fourteen soldiers were absent
on a mission to Coahuila. Almazan said that it was only by a
miracle of Divine Providence that the whole settlement was not
exterminated.^

The abandonment of the fight by the Indians was very char-
acteristic of Apache warfare. They usually fought very cautiously,
as they could not afford to lose many men, and a warrior was not
easily replaced. Knowing that many of their own number would
be killed while the Spaniards were being overpowered, and fearing
that, in the meantime, reinforcements might come from the pre-
sidio, they followed their usual course and fled with the horses
they had stolen. On the part of the Spaniards, this encounter is
an instance of very phickv fighting, in that a small number held
their own against great odds. Their remarkable resistance would

stltl" ff? « .C^^ffuft^' December 1, 1731, lUd.. 4. Bonilla erroneously

Par 13)
^ occurred at the end of 1730 (Breve Compendio,

^
^Almazan to Casafuerte, December 1, 1731, Paeificacion de Apaches, 4-5.

il
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have been impossible, however, if the Indians had been provided

with firearms, as was the case with the soldiers.^

Three distinct tribes participated in this battle, according to

the various statements made. Indeed, now for the first time, in

the sources at my command, the contemporary writers distinguish

the different bands of their foes. The Apache captive mentioned

ahove,2 being shown the arrows left on the field of battle, declared

that they belonged to the Apaches, Pelones, and Jumanes, "all

three of which are very nnmerous in Indians and very warlike."^

In a petition of the soldiers of the presidio, which will be referred

to later, these same tribes were enumerated.* It is interesting to

note that Joseph de Urrutia, writing on July 4, 1733, wondered at

this alliance between the Apaches and the Jumanes and Pelones,

because, he said, the Apaches were formerly the enemies of these

other tribes and would not admit them to their friendship. This

alliance with other tribes may indicate that the Apaches were no

longer as independent as they had been, and that the Comanches

were pressing hard upon them," as we know was later the case.

3. Almazan's Report and the AutTiorization of a Campaign.—

Almazan, in reporting these occurrences to the viceroy on Decem-

ber 1, 1731, complained of the lack of forces at the presidio. He

said that the number of soldiers was entirely inadequate for the

many occupations that were necessary, that much of the time the

presidio was left without any defense except for a very few soldiers,

and that the missions were exposed to total ruin. He predicted

that the outrages of the Apaches would, in the immediate future,

increase to such an extent that past ones, although so many, would

not be a circumstance compared to those that would follow. Never

before, he said, had the Apaches committed so many hostile acts

Moseph de Urrutia, mentioning this battle in 1738, says that Almazan

had twenty-two men and the Apaches about five hundred; that two sol-

diers were' killed and seventeen wounded, among the latter being Almazin

himself He says that the fight occurred about half a league from the

presidio, and gives as the reason for the flight of the Apaches their fear

of reinforcements from the presidio (Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, 17<i»,

in Expediente sobre la campafia, 7-8). Arricivita says {Gromca, 344-345)

that the invaders were friglitened away by the yells of the mission Indians.

=See page 226.

'Almazan to Casafuerte, December 1. 1731, in Pacificacion de Apaches, 5.

^Declaration of soldiers, lUd., 15-16.

^B. MS. Miscellaneous, 1730-1733.
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as they had in this year, and such was the terror felt at San An-
tonio t]:at the soldiers were preparing to remove their families to
places of safety.! He stated that it would be impossible to make
the campaign for which permission had been given him before the
following year, on account of the lateness of the season and the
scarcity of men. He thought that a large force would be neces-
sary, for, he said, one hundred inen would have had difficulty

merely in holding their own in the fight of September 8, in which
only a, small portion of the entire Apache nation had participated.
Not more than about sixty soldiers, he said, could be secured from
all of the presidios of Texas combined, while citizens (vecinos)
could with difficulty be prevailed upon to engage in a campaign,
because the enslaving of captives had been prohibited, thus leavfng
no chance for compensation by securing an Indito or Indita.^

Almazan's letter was referred to Eivera, who, apparently, was
now in Mexico City, and in consequence he made two recommenda-
tions

:
first, that the presidio of Bahia sliould be removed to the

Medina river, on the San Antonio road, in order to ward off the
Apaches in that quarter

; and, second, that the campaign be under-
taken as he had before advised. Rivera was of the opinion that
one hundred and fifty soldiers, reinforced by the Indian allies that
could be secured, would be enough to make the expedition, and
that this number could be raised from Adaes, Bahia, and Bio
Grande. He did not agree with Almazan that a large force would
be necessary to punish the Apaches, for, he maintained, the success
of a campai^gn depended not so much upon numbers as upon the
efficient control of the men. To support this assertion he cited
several successful campaigns made by small forces, mentioning
among these Flores's expedition of 1723.« In regard to captives,

^^^Almazan to Casafuerte, December 1, 1731, in Paeificaeion de Apaelies,

-Ibid., 7-8.

+h!?*5ann v*""^
were: Don Fulano de Zavala, with 100 men, defeated morethan 2000 Yaquis m the province of Ostimuri; in 1693, Don Diea-o Var<raswith 100 men, had reduced New Mexico; Don Antonio Valverde'; with loomen had deieated 300 Apaches in Llanos de Cafe; in 1696, Don FelixMartinez, with 100 soldiers, had defeated 6000 Tanos at Onate, the capitalof the province of Moqui

; in 1696. Juan Isidro de Pardiilas, with a fewsoldiers defeated 14,000 warriors in Tarahumara; in 1725, Joseph Balen^

n^en rlif
^.^'^^V^^^Pt^i" of the presidio of El Paso, with only thirty-fivemen, defeated the numerous Suma nation and its allies (Summary ofRivera's report, December 29, 1731, Ibid, ll-io)

loummary oi
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Eivera implicitly pel'ling to x^lmazan's implied demand, said that

great care should be taken to prevent the Indian allies from kill-

ing such captives as might be taken, and that to prevent this it

would be best to send them to other provinces and bring them np

in the Catholic faith.

^

On January 6, 1732, the viceroy ordered that Rivera's recom-

mendations for the removal of Bahia and for the campaign against

the Apaches should be carried out.^ The first part of the order

was never fulfilled.

.'i. The Campaign of Bustillo y Zevallos, 1132.—It was to Cap-

tain Almazan that permission was given to make the campaign,

but Governor Mediavilla y Ascona, Jealous of bis own prestige,

perhaps, asked to be allowed to lead the expedition. He did not

remain in office long, however, and it fell to the lot of his suc-

cessor, Don Juan Antonio de Bustillo y Zevallos. This, it would

seem, occasioned a bitter quarrel between the two men.^ Affairs

dragged along in the usual slow fashion, and it was not until

October, 1732, that a start was made. On the 22d of that month,

Bustillo, the new governor, set out from San Antonio with a force

of one hundred and fifty-seven Spaniards, thirty-two of these being

servants, and sixty mission Indians. He carried one hundred and

forty pack-loads {cargas) of supplies and had nine hundred horses

and mules, some of which were later utilized to good advantage.*

With this large company, Bustillo proceeded to the San Xavier

(San Gabriel) river, where he expected to be joined by some In-

dians of the "Texas" tribes. They did not appear, however, be-

cause, it was said, one of their chiefs, who was called El Frances

from his devotion to the French, warned his people that the Span-

iards wished to lure them from home, kill them, and seize their

women and children.' Bustillo, after waiting in vain for the

Texas until November 1, continued his march towards the north-

ed., 10-12.

^Ihid., 12. Mediavilla y Ascona, in a letter to Fray Terreros, June 28,

1746, said tliat this campaign was to have been made for the purpose of

chastising the Apache, Yita, and Tastasagonia tribes, who made war on
and terrorized the Mayeyes, Vidaes, Salineros, and the Erbipiames.

"Cf. page 234, note, for the controversy that grew out of this.

*Memorial del Govor. Bustillos, 1746, 6: Bustillo to the viceroy, Jan-

uary 31, 1733, in Pacificacion de Apaches, 32.

'lUd., 26; Memorial del Govor. Bustillos, 1746.
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west, apparently following the Little Eiver.^ In order not to be'

discovered by the Apaches, whose land they soon entered, it was
necessary, says BustiJIo, to proceed with great caution. Spies were
sent ahead, both to the north and to the northwest, but, at first,

no signs of Indians were seen. This caused Bustillo to become
impatient, and he resolved, as he declares, to find the Apaches even
if he had to go clear to New Mexico. He now entered an unknown
land, crossed strange rivers, and came into a cold, rough country.
The march was exceedingly slow, and at the end of about six weeks
Bustillo was, as he said, only about seventy leagues from San
Antonio, although his winding course carried him, in actual dis-

tance, more lhan two hundred leagues. He took this roundabout
way both to meet the Texas and to avoid being discovered by the
Apaches, for, he said, had he gone directly into the Lomeiia from
San Antonio, he would have been seen on the second day.^ On
December 8, after mass had been said, an Indian spy named
Asencio, who was one of the San Antonio mission Indians, arrived
at the camp and reported that the rancherias of the enemy were
about ten or twelve leagues away on the banks of the same river
which the Spaniards M^ere now following. Acting upon this infor-
mation, Bustillo moved his camp to within about five leagues of the
Indians. Here a council of war was called, at which Asencio was
the chief witness. He was very badly frightened, and when ques-
tioned as to the number of the enemy, replied that he had never
seen so many gathered together before in his life.*

In the council it was decided to press on towards the rancherias,
and ten Indians were sent ahead as spies. Bustillo left the greater
part of the expedition here, and taking one hundred men, at about
sunset began his march of some ten miles to the enemy. They
traveled all night, with great difficulty, because of the rough ground
and their i.gnorance of the country. In the early morning" hours

^Pacificacion de Apaches, 26. Cabello, in his "Informe," says that thev
followed the Brazos river, but he probably meant the '-primer hraeo " or
first Brazos." Dr. H. E. Bolton has identified the "primer brazo" with

the present Little River, and has cleared up the confusion that has nre-
viously existed upon this point.

32-33"'*'"" ^^"^ viceroy, January 31, 1733, in Pacificacion de Apaclies,

Ubid., 27.

'Ibid. .
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Asencio, who was acting as guide, lost liis bearings and did not

know which way to take, but after reeonnoitering a bit, he returned

after daybreak and reported that a rancheria must be nearby, for

he had heard the barking of dogs.

Another council was now, held. Some were in favor of trying

to conceal themselves until tlie next day, but Bustillo thought it

best to attack at once before they should be discovered. At about

8 o'clock (on the morning of the 9th), absolution having been

given by the priests, the company set out in two ranlcs, with Bus-

tillo between them. The ravcherias could now be seen at a dis-

tance of about half a league, just across the river.

No sooner had the sti'eam been passed than the fighting began.

The enemy numbered, the Spaniards believed, more than seven

hundred warriors, and included members of four tribes, the

Apaches, Ypandis (Lipan), Ysandis, and Chentis. They were in

four separate ranrlierias, covering more than half a league, and

their tents numbered more than four hundred. The Indians were

well disciplined, and showed extraordinary courage. They were

on horseback, and were armed with leather breastplates, which no

lance or arrow could penetrate. They waited until the soldiers had

discharged their guns, and then closed in with them in a hand-to-

hand struggle. These tactics were used repeatedly throughout the

battle. As fast as the Indians were killed their bodies were re-

moved by their friends and thrown into the river. Among those

who met their fate was a prominent chief, whose death caused much

disturbance in the ranks of the Indians. His silver-headed laston

(cane) was taken to Bustillo by the chief of the friendly Pam-

popas, a mission Indian with the soldiers. The fact that this chief

had such a cane indicates that he had maintained friendly rela-

tions with the Spaniards at some previous time, or had gotten it

from some one who had.

The battle continued for about five hours, but the advantage of

the Spaniards' firearms could not be overcome by the Indians, and

at about one o'clock they retired, having been entirely driven out

of their rancherias. Bustillo estimated the number of Indians

killed at two hundred, although he said that it was impossible to

know with certainty, for the bodies had been removed as fast as

they fell. Only thirty women and children were taken prisoners

because most of them had fled upon the approach of the Spaniards.
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About seven hundred horses^ were recovered and one hundred mule
loads of peltr}^ and other plunder, captured. Not one Spaniard
was killed on the field of battle, though seven were wounded, one
of whom died within five days after.-

From the contemporary documents alone, no definite conclusion

can be formed as to the exact locality of the place of battle. We
only know from them that Bustillo had gone to the San Xavier
River, on the edge of the "monte grande" (Eastern Cross Timbers),
and that he had thence set out northwest, apparently following the

irst Brazos, or Little Eiver.=* We are also told that "strange rivers"

were crossed on the way, and that the Indian camp was about sev-

5nty leagues from San Antonio, in a very rough country, with a

•iver running near the rancheria.^ With this meager information,

he location might be assigned to various regions somewhat wide
ipart. Fortunately, however, later documents throw additional
ight upon the matter. In an investigation held at Los Adaes in

[756 for the purpose of obtaining evidence as to Texas's right to

exercise jurisdiction over the San Saba country, testimony is given
showing that Bustillo's campaign took him to the San Saba region.

?ive witnesses testified to the effect that they had accompanied
Bustillo on the campaign, and that the battle had occurred on the
3an Saba river; two said that they had afterwards been to the
?an Saba river, and had been shown the battlefield; and two de-
ilared that they had heard it said and that it was generally known
hat they had gone to the San Saba.' This testimony, it would

'Bonilla says "ganado," but evidently means horses (Breve Compendio
'ar. 13).

'

'This account is based upon Bustillo's report of January 31, 1733, in
'acificacion de Apaches, 26-36; the petition of the soldiers of Bexar, IMd.,
5-19; Escrito of Almazan before Bustillo, .January 31, 1733, /& id., 40-41

•'

iabello, Informe, 34. In his "Informe" Cabello gives some conflicting de-
uls. He says that Bustillo had 300 men with him; that in the battle
00 Indians were killed and thirty-eight prisoners taken; that twenty
OTses were stolen from the Spaniards. He said that one of the prisoners
eclared that the rancheria was composed of 1700 persons, 500 of whom
'ere absent hunting buffalo (Informe, 34). Arricivita [Cronica, 345) er-
Dneously states that the campaign was made in 1730. The details given
Y Bonilla agree essentially with the above account, which was written be-
)re Bonilla's work was consulted.

^Escrito of Almazan before Bustillo, January 31, 1733, in Paeificacion
e Apaches, 27 ; Memorial del Govor. Bustillos,' 1746, 6.

Tacificacion de Apaches, 27, 30, 32.

'Testimony taken in support of the right of Bexar to exercise iurisdic-
on over San Sava, etc.
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seem, should be given due credence. It shows that the Apaches

were now considerahly south of the country in which Flores had

found them in 1723.^

After the Indians had fled, a council of war was held, and it

was decided to return to the main camp where the rest of the force

had been left, since the enemies, as it was said, although defeated,

still had many good warriors and might attack the camp, while

the Spaniards would be at a disadvantage because of their igno-

rance of the country. Fifty men were detailed as a rear guard.

No sooner had the return march commenced, than the Apaches

began to harass them. At one time an ambuscade was laid for

the Indians, and this checked them somewhat. At about eight

o'clock that night the camp was reached. The next day dawned

upon various bands of Aj^aches looking down from neighboring

hills, but because of the roughness of the country and the river

which intervened they could do no damage. They continued to

trouble the expedition, however, during the return to San Antonio,

stealing horses whenever an opportunity was presented. The com-

pany reached Bexar on December 22, just two months after their

departure. The return trip was made in fifteen days, while six

weeks had been spent in going.- This indicates the extreme cau-

tion with which they had proceeded, and the comparative haste

they made in getting back, for it must be remembered that they

had about fifteen hundred horses to impede them.

5. Efforts to Obtain Peace.—During the absence of the soldiers

other bands of Apaches had raided the stock at San Antonio, and

when the governor returned various petitions were made asking

him not to distribute the captives, but to hold them as a means of

^In a bitter controversy that grew out of the founding of the San Xavier
missions in 1746 (for account of which see Bolton, "The San Xavier Mis-
sions," MS.), Melchor de Mediavilla y Ascona, who had been the prede-
cessor of Governor Bustillo, denied that the latter had ever fought this

battle with the Apaches. He claimed that a cannon had been fired, caus-
ing a great number of Indians to assemble, whereupon, Bustillo became
alarmed and fled to San Antonio as quicl^ly as possible (Mediavilla to

Fray Alonso Terreros, June 28, 1746, 9). But Bustillo's report given in

this connection agrees exactly with the one he rendered at the time of the
campaign, and is corroborated by reports from the soldiers of Bexar and
by Father Vergara, so that there is no doubt that he met the Indians as

has been described.

-Declaration of soldiers, in Pacificacion de Apaches, 17-18; Bustillo to

the viceroy, January 31, 1733, Ihid., 30-32.
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making peace with the Apaches. To this effect they recommended
that one or two of the captured women be sent as messengers to

ask for peace or, if this pLan should not be adopted, that another

campaign be made against them with a. force of three hundred
men. If peace could not be secured by one means or the other,

they said, it would be impossible to live in San Antonio.^

This petition was seconded by Pray Gabriel de Vergara, presi-

dent of the missions of San Antonio and minister in that of Con-

cepcion de Acufia, who added the weight of his influence towards

inducing the governor to send the two Indian women as messen-

gers to their people, and to retain the rest of the captives as hos-

tages, in order to facilitate the reconciliation. Vergara emphasized

the exposed condition of the missions and of the settlement as

long as the Apaches should be enemies of the Spaniards, and called

attention to the danger that the English or the French would make
them their allies. He believed, he said, that the Apaches would
make good citizens if reduced to politic life.^

In consequence of these petitions, Bustillo, on January 4, 1733,

dispatched two squaws, one an Apache and the other of the

"Ypandis alias Pelones" tribe. They bore letters for their chiefs,

and were supplied with horses and provisions for their Journey.

A sergeant and nineteen soldiers, with a. priest, escorted them as

far as the San Hibon Eiver (Guadalupe), and took leave of them
very hopefully and joyfully.^

One of Fray Vergara's aims in trving to secure peace is seen in

his letter of January 31, 1733. On that day he wrote to the
viceroy asking that attention be given to the establishment of mis-
sions for the Apaches. He referred to the good nature and truth-

fulness of the captives taken in the last campaign and said that

it would be a "sad thing that such a multitude of souls should be
eternal dwellers in the infernal caverns, because of the lack of the

gospel," especially, he continued, when there were so many priests

in New Spain ready to preach to them. He again expressed his

conviction that the Apaches, if reduced, would form most fiourish-

mid., 17-18, 30.

^Petition of Vergara, December 23, 1732, IMd., 20-21. .
.

^Auto of Bustillo, Ihid., 22-23.
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ing missions, because of the numerous and desirable people, and of

the water, lands, and other conveniences offered.^

On the same date Bustillo wrote his report of the campaign
enclosing the petitions and letters mentioned above.^ But just as

the courier was about to leave for Mexico, smoke was seen in the

distance, and as this was the signal which had been agreed upon,

the letters were held back in order to report the outcome of the

embassy. Two days later one of the squaws, accompanied by three

warriors, arrived at Bexar. One of the men, who seemed to be an

Indian of distinction, stated that he had been sent by his chief,

the head of the Apache tribe, to see if the women had told the

truth about the Spaniards wishing to establish friendly relations

with them. The capitdn grande himself, he said, was assembling

his peoj)le in order that all might concur in the peace, and four

chiefs would soon come with many people to conclude the nego-

tiations. He declared that there were thirty-seven tribes along

the road to New Mexico bearing the name Apache. The Indians

were very much pleased, they claimed, with their kind reception

and the prospect of peace, wishing to return at once and notify

their chief. Bustillo detained them, three days, however, feasting

and regaling them, and it was not until the 5th that they set out,

promising to return within two moons.

^

On November 26, 1732, the viceroy had asked why the Apaches
always succeeded in their attacks upon San Antonio, while no other

Texas presidio was troubled by them.* In answer to this, Captain

Almazan made a statement before Bustillo on January 31, 1733,

for transmission to the viceroy. He explained that the Apaches

confined their raids almost entirely to the presidio of Bexar because

of its proximity to their homes, and that they did not trouble

Adaes or Bahia because of the distance to be traversed and the

hostile Indians who intervened. Not only were the Apaches hos-

tile to San Antonio, he said, but recently two other tribes, the

Yxandi and the Chenti, had joined them. These tribes, Almazan

^Vergara to the viceroy, January 31, 1733, Ibid., 24-25; Arricivita, 345.

^Bustillo to the viceroy, January 31, 1733, with enclosures, Pacificacion
de Apaches, 26-36.

'Bustillo to the viceroy, February 5, 1733, Ibid., 37-38.

"Declaration {escrito) of Almazan before Bustillo, January 31, 1733,
Ihid., 38.
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stated, were now heard of at Besar for the first time.^ Governor
Bustillo corroborated Almazan's statement, and showed that the

exposed condition of San Antonio was the explanation for the

attacks made upon it.-

V. PANIC AT SAN- ANTONIO AND CONTINUED RAIDS, 1733-1738

1. Apache Treachery and Panic at San Antonio.—Under the
guise of peace the Apaches now entered San Antonio with great
freedom, and for a time a spirit of seeming amity prevailed be-

tween them and the Spaniards. The latter assumed that the peace
was on a firm basis and to some extent relaxed their vigilance.

The evil consequences of this bad policy were soon apparent. On
March 27, three warriors and a squaw, who had come in ostensibly

to trade, left the presidio for their country, being accompanied,
as usual, by a few soldiers to see them safely out of the settlement.
On this occasion they were escorted by Alferez Xavier Maldonado,
Joseph Caravajal, and another soldier, the last of whom turned
back to secure aid in killing some buffaloes that were seen near by.

The first two continued with the Indians as far as the hill called

"El Devisadero," about one and one-half leagues away. Trusting
m the treaty which had been made, they were somewhat careless,

and when a band of about twenty-four Indians was seen approach-
ing they awaited their coming without misgivings. As the savages
came nearer, however, advancing in two wings, the soldiers recog-
nized their hostile intentions. The scene was observed by the lieu-

tenant of the presidio. He saw the two soldiers fall from their
horses and their bodies surrounded by the Indians. When they
were afterwards found, they presented a horrible sight. The bodies
had been terribly mutilated and the bones stripped of their flesh,

which had been carried awav by the Apaches, says Father Vergara,
to "satisfy their vengeful appetite."^

This flagrant rupture of the peace caused a genuine panic among
the inhabitants at San Antonio. They now realized that the
Apaches could not be trusted. After this outbreak the raids on

lUd., 39-40.

'Bustillo to the viceroy, January 31, 1733, Hid., 42-43.

'Statement of company of Bgxar, April 11, 1733, Ibid., 44-46- statement
of Fray Vergara. April 15, Ibid., 47-48; statement of the cabildo of San
Fernando, April 10, Ibid., 49-50; Bustillo to the vieerov, April 20 Ibid
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the stock were renewed, and no one was safe outside of the missions

and presidio. Great cohimns of smolve were seen on the Giiada-

lupe and Eio Grande roads, and the terrified imaginations of the

people could see vast concourses of barbarous Indians, assembling

to destroy the settlement.^ With difficulty could the priests re-

strain the Indians from deserting the missions and fleeing to the

forests, and, said Father Versara, no one could blame them, for

it was only natural that they should desire to preserve their lives.

The neophytes, fearing that the same cruelties that had been prac-

ticed on others would l)e visited upon themselves, would not go out

to watch the cattle.-

That the terror was not confined to the neophytes is shown by

three petitions which were now drawn up. One was by the soldiers

of the presidio. They said that their petition was not caused

through fear for tliem selves, and that they only aske'd for permis-

sion to remove their families beyond the Eio Grande to a place of

safety. As for themselves, they were willing to remain until the

end, and to give up their lives in the service of the king.^

Another petition was made by the civil authorities. In it they

emphasized the weakness of the presidio and the exposed condition

of San Antonio, 'and ]3rophesied that the Apaches would invade the

place to liberate their kinsmen held as prisoners—an easy feat be-

cause of the lack of soldiers.'* Father A^ergara's statement, repre-

senting the missionaries, was of a similar nature. He no less em-

phatically stressed the danger from the Apaches and the need for

reinforcements.^

Governor Bustillo transmitted these petitions, together with his

own report of the incidents related, on April 20, 1733, and fully

corroborated the statements made, saying that the future of the

whole settlement was in danger unless something should l^e done

at once to relieve the situation.''

,'2. Provisions for Defense.—In answer to these petitions the

central government took some feeble measures for the greater

^Statement of cabildo, April 10, Ihid., 50.

^Statement of Vergara, April 15, Ihid., 48.

'Statement of tlie military company, April 11, md., 44-46.

'Statement of the cabildo, April 10, Ihid.. 49-50.

"Statement of Vei-gara, April 15, Ihid.. 47-4S.

"Bustillo to tlie viceroy, April 20, 1733, Ihid.. 51-50.
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security of San Antonio. One of the first steps was to mal^e Don
Joseph de Urrntia captain of the presidio of Bexar, he being named
because of liis long experience with Indians. His order to take

formal possession of the presidio was dated July 23, 1733. He
was charged to secure the alliance of his old Indian friends and
unite tliem against the Apaclies, with the aim of making a cam-
paign to compel them to remain quiet.^

The next step was to increase the garrison of forty-three men at

Bexar by adding fifteen men from the presidio, of Bahla and the

same number from that of Adaes. These additional forces were to

remain in Bexar subject to the order of the captain there as long

as the hostility of the Apaches should continue. It was also pro-

vided that the governor should have authority to levy upon pre-

sidios outside of his jurisdiction in case of urgent need.- Thus
Eivera's unwise policy was reversed.

A few words concerning Joseph de Urrutia may not be out of

place. He was born in Guipuscoa, Spain, about the year 1678',

as is seen from a statement of his age in his testimony given in an
investigation in 1738, at which time he was about sixty years old.^

He was with Teran in 1691 in the expedition to Texas, and was
left, a mere youth, at the garrison established near the Neches by
Teran. When the soldiers withdrew in 1693, Urrutia met with an
accident on the Colorado river and was forced to remain among
the Indians.* Here he lived among the Cantujuanas, Toos, and
Yemes for seven years (apparently not among the "Texas," as

has been supposed), and was made "captain general" of all the

nations that were hostile to the Apaches,^ learning their languages
and becoming intimately acquainted with their customs. He
headed joint campaigns against the Apaches, he said, with evi-

dent exaggeration, numbering at times as many as 10,000 or 12,000
warriors.^ By 1733 he had had about forty years' experience with

^Auditor's opinion and viceroy's decrees, July 18, July 23, and July 30
1733, 1-5.

.
.r

.y ,

Uhid.

'Testimony of Urrutia, in Ynfidelidad de Apaches, 6-8.

^Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, 1738, in Expediente sobre la eampafia, 8.

'Order of viceroy empowering the governor of Texas to call on other
presidios for troops to defend San Antonio (1733), 4; B. MS. Notes
Miscellaneous, 1730-1733; Expediente sobre la campana, 16.

"lUd., 8; B. MS. Notes, Miscel., 1730-1733.
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Indians in Coaluiila, Nuevo Leon, and Texas,i and was probably

the best informed of all the Spaniards on Indian affairs in Tesas.^

3. A Succession of Unpunished Raids, IISJ^-IISS.—Whether or

not the Apaches resented the appointment of their old enemy,
Urrutia, as captain of Bexar, and therefore vented their spite npon
him in the form of continued depredations, it is impossible to know,
but at any rate it is a fact that from 1734 to 1738 there is very

little to record save a Succession of Indian raids upon San Antonio
and vicinity. Strangely enough, during all this period, in spite

of his reputation as a fighter, Urrutia, whatever the cause of his

weakness inay have been, took no effective steps toward retaliation.

Merely in order to give an idea of the troublesome nature of the

Apache question, and to show what a blight they must have been
to the everyday life of settlement, the narration of these attacks is

necessary. In 1734, the exact date does not appear, a band of

Apaches, headed by a chief called Cabellos Colorados (Bed Hair)
who figures prominently in Indian hostilities during this period,^'

went to Bexar to barter hides and buffalo meat for various articles,

avowing their friendship for the Spaniards and promising to keep

peace with them. While returning to their homes, they met at a

distance of about a league from the presidio two citizens of San An-
tonio.* The Spaniards were seized, bound, and carried away a dis-

tance of some seven leagues, where the Indians suspended them by
their hands from a tree and danced a "initote" around them. All

this was seen by a squad of soldiers sent to their rescue. They could

not, however, overtake the Indians, who continued towards their

country, still bearing the two captive Spaniards.^ For a long time

their fate was unlmown, but, later, an Indian boy, who was pre-

sented to Governor Sandobal by the Apaches, told that the captives

were mades slaves for some time, being employed in dressing skins,

'Expediente sobre la campaua, 8.

'Urrutia was not without domestic cares, for as he himself put in, "I
am a poor man, burdened with years, many children, and family, with-
out having been able to accumulate anything in so many years of serv-
ice" (Ihid., 18). As has been seen, he was appointed captain of Bexar in
1733, and he held that office until 1740, when his son, Toribio de Urrutia,
succeeded him.

^Testimony of Mateo Pfrez, Infidelidad de Apaches, 9.

*These were .Juan de Sartuche and Andres Cadena (Urrutia, Ihid., 6).

'^Ihid., 6, 14.
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and that when upon one occasion they had tried to escape, they were

overtaken and killed.^ This report of the fate of the two Span-

iards was afterward corroborated by the confession of some Apaches

themselves.^

For some two years after this we hear of no outrages in the

neighborhood of San Antonio. Indeed, the Apaches even professed

friendship and carried on their accustomed barter at the settle-

ment.^ But on the Eio Grande and in Coahuila,, other bands of

Apaches were making life a burden to the inhabitants.* Seven

Apache chiefs had established their rancherias on the Eio Grande
in order more easily to make war upon the country south, and so

frequently was the presidio of Eio Grande assaulted that the citi-

zens became alarmed, just as at San Antonio, and considered the

advisability of moving away.^

In 1736 San Antonio again felt their heavy hand. On Septem-

ber 20, Fray Francisco de Frias, with an escort of ten soldiers

under the command of Bartolome de Torralba, was returning from
San Antonio to Eio Grande, after having brought the supplies for

Bexar. At a place called El Atascoso, some fourteen leagues from
San Antonio, they were attacked by a number of Apaches, who
fought until they saw that they could not secure the horses, and

then retired, having wounded, however, Torralba and a friendly

Indian. The wounded officer and his soldiers returned to Bexar,

^Infidelidad de Apaches, 20.

Hlid., 6.

HUd., 2.

'In a letter of June 6. 1735, written by Don Bias de la Garza Falcon,
governor of Coahuila, to the Archbishop of Mexico, an account is given to
the effect that the Apaches were frequenting the territory around Saltillo
and Monclova. On three different occasions they were in the vicinity of
Monclova. The first time they carried away almost all of the horses in
the place, those of the Tlascaltecos as well as of the Spaniards. They
were pursued for seventy leagues and the stock was recovered, although
the thieves escaped punishment by swimming a river (probably the Rio
Grande), whose current was too swift for the Spaniards. On the second
raid a number (punfa) of horses were also stolen, the number of Indians
being so great that the Spaniards could do nothing more than defend the
main herd. These horses were also recovered. On May 3 more than
100 Apaches, divided into four bands, were in the neighborhood of Mon-
clova and attacked different quarters at the same time, succeeding in
carrying off fifty horses from Hacienda de San Buenaventura, some from
Mission Nadadores, and others belonging to a citizen. Only the last were
recovered (Ordenes del Virrey Vizarron, 1738, 1-2).

'Infidelidad de Apaches, 2.



242 Texas Historical Association Quarterly

fearing lest they should encounter another band of Apaches, and
remained there until the wounded man was able to resume the

journey.^ Four days later the new governor of Texas, Don Carlos

de Franquis, passed by El Atascoso and saw traces of the recent

battle.^

After this attack the Apaches gave up all pretense of friendship

with the Spaniards and ceased trading at Bexar, continuing their

depredations and attacks throughout the rest of the year.^ It was
thought by some that their extreme boldness was due to the fact

that many soldiers were deserting from Bexar and that the Indians

were aware of the weakness of the garrison.*

A short time after the attack on the convoy,^ the Apaches stole

about forty horses from the mission of San Francisco de la Espada.^

While endeavoring to recover them, the soldiers found one horse

which had lagged behind from weariness and which the Indians

had abandoned. It was recognized as one that had been bought

by Cabello.« Colorados from Alferez Juan Galban in exchange for

a skin.'^ This indicated that Chief "Red Hair" had been impli-

cated in the raid.

A short time after the theft of the horses from the mission

Espada, the Apaches attacked and killed two Indian women of the

mission of San Juan Capistrano, and a little later they killed two
other Indian women of mission Concepcion. At the latter time

the Apaches carried away two little Indian boys who were with

their mothers. One of the boys afterwards escaped and returned

to Bexar, re-entering his mission. A few months later two

brothers, Ziprian and Dionisio de Castro, who were cutting grass

a league away from the presidio, were killed by Apaches. Their

bodies were recovered and taken to Bexar for burial. In the same

year three soldiers were hunting in the Galban woods ("m~onte

q llarnan de Oallan"), having obtained permission from the cdbo

of tbe guard to do so. While in this i>ursuit they were attacked

^Infidelidad de Apaches, 3-4, 7, 9, 12, 14, 16, IS.

-Ibid., 18.

Hhid., 3.

'Residencia de Sandobal, 95.

^One witness says hefore (Infidelidad de Apaches, 15).

'Infldelidad de Apaches, 7, 9.

Ubid., 12, 18.
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by Apaches, and one of them^ Joseph Maldonado, was killed. The

other two managed to escape, on account of the density of the

woods and the fleetness of their horses, but the stock which they

were guarding, consisting of some dozen horses, was left to the

Indians. In addition to all of these outrages upon the persons of

the citizens, the usual number of horses and cattle were stolen dur-

ing the two years.^

It is not difficult to infer from the account of these depredations

and murders that the Apaches were the most prominent feature

in the everyday life of the settlers at San Antonio. They had to be

guarded against constantly, as is shown by one of the orders issued

by the governor.^ It was to the etfect that no citizen of Bexar

should discharge firearms unless he should see Indians entering

the place, and that a shot was to be the formal signal of an Indian

attack. If it was necessary to fire a gun for the purpose of clean-

ing it, license must first be obtained from the captain of the guard.^

In 1737 a most diabolical deed was committed by Apaches.

Five Indian women and two Indian boys of mission San Francisco

de la Espada went out to o-ather fruit on the Medina river, about

a league from the mission. A band of Apaches attacked them,

killing the five women. The two boys were carried away into

captivity.*

In the month of September, 1737. an attack was made upon the

stock of the presidio of Bexar which was pastured on the Bio del

Cibolo, about sixteen leagues from San Antonio. The horses had

been taken to that place because the Apaches were not known to

have ever frequented it. But they found it now, and succeeded

in carrying off more than a hundred horses, and wounded Juan
Cortinas, the caho of the ten soldiers who were guarding the camp.^

mid., 7, 9-10, 12, 15, 16-17, 18-19, 20-21.

'This was Joseph Antonio Fernandez de Jfl,uregui Urriitia, who was
governor and captain-general of Nuevo Le6n and Texas at this time. He
seems to have been appointed temporarily after the trouble between
Franqiils and Sandobal.

^Order of Urrutia that no citizen of Bexar should discharge firearms
unless he saw Indians entering the place.

*Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, 1738, in Expediente sobre la campafia,
6. It was alleged that three of the women were pregnant, and that the
fiends tore out the young to eat them.

^Interrogatorio, Testimony of Mateo Perez, in Infidelidad de Apaches, 10.

In this place it is said that only fifty-eight horses were stolen.
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The raid was at onee reported to Bexar, and Urnitia ordered out

fifty men to recover the horses.^ Three days were spent in pursu-

ing the thieves, but they had such a good start and possessed such

intimate knowledge of the country that they were not overtaken. In
the camp on El Cibolo the soldiers found an Indian who had been
killed by the guard. In his hand he still clutched a knife, which
Lieutenant Mateo Perez identified as one that had been taken from
his house some time before, and which had probably been bartered

to the Indians when they had come to Bexar to trade.^

In consequence of this raid, the guard at El Cibolo was increased

to eighteen men and an officer, who was instructed to be especially

vigilant. In spite of their precautions, on December 2, at mid-
night, the Apaches again assaulted the place. The horses were

stampeded, driven toward the north, and secured by the Indians

on the run. The soldiers were unable to prevent this because of

the intense darkness of the night, and because they feared that the

Indians might have another force lying in ambush, as was often

the case.3 This second raid on El Cibolo was reported at Bexar

the next night. Captain Urrutia immediately ordered out a com- •

pany of forty men to give chase to the thieves, but they could not

be overtaken, and more than three hundred horses were lost.*

A jiinta (council) was now called (on the 6th), and it was de-

termined to move the horses near the presidio, a guard of twenty

men being detailed to protect them. It was seen that El Cibolo

was too far away and too easy of access for the Apaches, while it

was thought that if the stock were near the presidio, aid could be

given at once in case of an attack.'^

If. The Imprisonment of Cahellos Colorados.—On December 11,

1737, the soldiers, going out at daybreak to count the horses, found

an Apache right in tlieir midst. He was seized and taken to the

presidio, where he confessed that at a distance of about ten leagues

there was a band numbering sixteen Apaches, eight of each sex,

who were led by Cabellos Colorados. Their ostensible motive in
'

'Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, 1738, in Expediente sobre la campana, 2.

=Infidelidad de Apaches, 3, 7, 10, 12-13, 15, 19.

^Urriitia to the viceroy, May 9, 1738, in Expediente sobre la eampaSa,
2-3.

"Ifeid., 3.

'Autos of Don Prudencio de Orobio Bazterra (1737).
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visiting the presidio was to be that of securing peace with the Span-
iards, bnt their real purpose was to spy out the location of the
horses in order to steal them. Alferez Galban with a force of

twenty-eight men was sent out to seize these Indians, and they
were all captured at El Chapintillo, eight leagues away, and taken
to the presidio, where they were placed in confinement.^ A few
days after the raid of September, the wife of Cabellos Colorados,
accompanied by three other Indian women and one brave, had gone
to the presidio to trade buffalo meat for tobacco. They had been
kindly treated and given to understand that as long as the Apaches
were quiet they would not be molested by the Spaniards. This
capitana and two of her companions were among those captured
with Cabellos Colorados.^

A few days after the imprisonment of Cabellos Colorados and his

band, the chief asked that one of the captives be sent to inform
their tribe of the arrest, so that their kinsmen might return the
horses that had been stolen in the last raid, and thus secure the
release of the prisoners. To undertake this embassy, choice was
made of one of the squaws, who promised to return within twenty
days. She did not come back until after forty days, when she
reported that she had carried out her mission, and that there were
some Indians nearby with sixteen horses to exchange for the pris-

oners in the presidio. At this time a great number of horses
came into the view of the Spaniards some distance away, and
Urrutia, ever warv, sent out spies to see what the Indians were
about. These spies reported that there were more than a thou-
sand armed Indians in the vicinity, and that the horses were only
a ruse to draw out the soldiers so that they might be killed and
the prisoners released. The Indians stayed in their camp for five

days, but Urrutia, being forewarned, did not go out to meet them,
as Almazan had done in 1732.-^ The horses which had been brought

^Urnitia to the viceroy, May 9, Expediente sobre la campana, 4- Inter-
rogatorw, Infidelidad de Apaches, 4, 13. The alferes, Juan Galbftn, was
of the opinion that the Indians did not intend to enter the presidio to
trade, for they had, he said, three horses and three burros that belonged
to citizens of the settlement, and would have been afraid to enter with
stolen property (IMd.).

Unterrogatorio, Infidelidad de Apaches, 4, 10.

'Urrutia to the viceroy. May 9, Expediente sobre la campana, 6-8
Ubid., 7-8). Urrutia here tells of Almazan's encounter, as has been re-
lated on pages 226-227.
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by the squaw were recognized as some whieli belonged to various

citizens and soldiers, and which had been stolen in the raids on

El Ciljolo. The squaw explained that she had been unable to bring

more horses at this time, but said that the capitdn grande was get-

ting them all together and would send them soon. On the follow-

ing Sunday, January 28. accompanied by another squaw, she again

set out from the presidio, promising to bring back the rest of the

horses.' On April 4th she returned with a different companion,

but brought only buffalo meat for the imprisoned Indians and some

skins for Captain Urnitia. In spite of their failure to bring the

horses, they were kindly treated and allowed to leave the presidio.^

Nothing more was heard of the squaw until May 22, when an old

Indian and his wife came to the presidio, carrying three small

loads of buffalo meat for the prisoners and some skins to trade to

the soldiers. They reported that the squaw was very far away,

getting together all of the horses of the Spaniards, and that she

would come with them in a short time. In order that the Span-

iards might understand the delay, he said, he had come to inform

them of their good intentions and to assure them that the Apaches

were sincere. The old brave and his wife were gently treated, and^

on the 25th were sent away with presents.

Urrutia considered Cabellos Colorados the cause of many of the

outrages which had been visited upon the Spaniards, for he had great

reputation and influence among his people. It had been rumored,

according to Urrutia, that this chief, before his imprisonment, had

entered into an agi'eement with the capitan grande of the Apache

tribes to steal all of "the horses belonging to the presidios of Bexar,

Eio Grande, Coahuila, and Sacramento, after which they would

slaughter the inhabitants themselves.* In view of the unsavory

reputation of Cal)ellos Colorados and of his captivity at Bexar,

Governor Orobio Bazterra, on June 28, held an investigation con-

cerning the part plaved by Cabellos in the Apache depredations of

the past. It was conducted in the usual Spanish way, with the

customary interrogatorio, or set of questions, to which a number

of witnesses gave answer. It is from the evidence given on this

Hnterrogatorio, Autos fhos sobre Cabellos Colorados, 5-6.

'Ibid., 6 ;
Interrogatorio, Infidelidad de Apaches, 5.

mid., 5.

^Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, in Expediente sobre la campafia, 4-5.
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occasion that we get a great deal of our information concerning
the depredations for the years 1734-1738, as related above. From
the investigation, too, the Spaniards were confirmed in their opin-
ion that Cabellos Colorados was a dangerous man,"- and he was
accordingly kept in prison.

On the morning of Auonst 18 the squaw who had first been sent
as messenger, and the old brave, accompanied by three other In-
dians, returned to Besar. They said that tliey had come to trade,
but did not bring the horses which they had promised because the
Texas Indians had attacked their rancheria, killed twelve persons,
captured five boys, and had stolen not only all of the horses which
the Apaches were preparing to return to the Spaniards, but also
many belonging to the Apaches themselves.^

The old man declared that as soon as he had left the presidio in
May he had gone to see the head chief of all the Apaches, and had
told him that the Spaniards were their friends. He had now come,
he said, to secure the release of Cabellos Colorados and Ms com-
panions. The governor, however, objected to this procedure, tell-
ing him that he wished to test the good will of the Apaches for a
vrhile longer. Besides, he said, the captives were living comfort-
ibly, did no work, and were given the best of treatment. To this
the old Indian had no answer, but he begged that Governor Baz-
terra should at least give up an old woman who was among the
;aptives, saying that he would give a mule and a horse in eschange
'or her. The governor replied, good-naturedly, that he would re-
ease the old woman if the two one-eyed Indians who had come
vith the old man would stay in her place. At this all laughed
md the two said they were willing to remain. The rest of'' the
mbassy wished to go back to their homes, but said that they would
eiurn soon to trade with the Spaniards and that all would be good
Tiends. After trading their buffalo skins, buckskin, and salt'' for
arious articles, they took their departure.^

-From December, 1737, until September, 1738, during the im-
)risonment of Cabellos Colorados and his band, there were no
depredations by Apaches at Bexar, which indicated, in the eyes of

^TMs investigation is found in Infidelidad de Apaches, 1-22.
^Auto of Orobio Bazterra, August 18, 1738, in Infidelidad de Apaches,

'lUd. .
:
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the Spaniards, that this chief was a prime factor in the war waged

by the Apaches.'' This could not have been entirely true, how-

ever, for although Cabellos Colorados was still in captivity, in the

beginning of October, 1738, the peaceful attitude of the Apaches,

which had endured for nearly a year, came to an end, and San

Antonio was again subjected to their ravages. As soon as Gov-

ernor Bazterra, who was at Adaes, heard of the renewal of hostili-

ties he ordered that Cabellos Colorados and his companions, together

with the chiefs two-year-old daughter, should be remitted to the

City of Mcxico.2 It is not at all improbable that, according to the

custom, he was banished to slavery in the West Indies or some

other place whence he could never return.

VI. THE CAMPAIGNS OF THE UBRUTIAS AND OF RABAGO Y THERAN,

1739-1748

1. The Campaign of Joseph de Urrutia.—One of the purposes

of the investigation concerning Cabellos Colorados had been to

bring together evidence relating to the bad faith of the Apaches,

so that the viceroy might know the condition of affairs at Bexar and

provide some means of relief.^

A short time before the investigation, Captain Urrutia had taken

things into his own hands, and had sent in a petition to the viceroy

asking permission to make a campaign against the Apaches upon

his own responsibility. Such had been the effect of the repeated

raids, he said, that the people of San Antonio lived in a state of

constant terror, and some families had already moved away. The

inhabitants were afraid to attend to their stock, "and," said

Frmtia, "their timidity does not surprise me (although I do not

let them know it), for he who is not warned by the ill-fortune of

others must be considered rather foolish. And, thus. Most Excel-

lent Sir, those who can enter a presidio at night as far as the cen-

ter of the plaza and who without being heard can safely remove

the horses from the corral in which they are tied to the doors of

the houses, are to be feared. As a result, the greater part of the-

Indians of the new conversions, fleeing from the tyranny of these

^Interrogatorio, Ibid., 21-22.

Auto of Orobio Bazterra, February 16, 1739, Ihid., 24.

'Infidelidad de Apaches, 1-21.
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barbarians, have deserted tlie missions in which they live, together
with their wives and children, some retiring towards the coast of
the Sea of the South, a distance of more than sixty leagues, and
others toward the Big Wood {Monte Grande)."^ The presidio of
Bexar, he continued, was entirely insufficient to restrain the inso-
lence of the Apaches, and they would never be subdued until one
or more vigorous campaigns should be made against them On
account of the lack of forces at San Antonio, Urrutia asked that
thirty soldiers be given him from Adaes, fifteen from Bahia, ten
from Eio Grande, fifteen from Sacramento, and ten from Mon-
clova, and that the citizens of Coahuila and Nuevo Leon be en-
couraged to enlist. In this way, he said, a force of two hundred
Spaniards could be raised, which, combined with as many more
Indian allies from the Texas, would be sufficient to combat the
Apaches. Urrutia here calls attention to his residence of seven
years with the Indians of the province of Texas, his knowledge of
their languages, and their love for him. He is not overmodest in
proclaiming his own merits, and his statements as to the necessary
qualifications of a successful governor cause us to suspect that he
was "boosting" his own candidacy for that office. One of the
conditions demanded by Urrutia was that he should have sole com-
mand of the expedition, without the interference of "other chiefs"
who might spoil the undertaking. The expenses of the campaign
were to be met by the sale of the captives that might be secured
and all of the participants were to have a share in the plunder'
Although Urrutia practically asked for a licensed slave trade, he
excused it on the ground of securing the conversion of these cap-
tives to the Catholic faith and of rescuing them from their bar-
barous state.== The expedition was to be made in April of the fol-
lowing year.^

Delay ensued, however, and the proposed campaign was not
undertaken until the winter of 1739.* Details are lacking, but it
is known that many captives were secured. Our only available

^

^^Urrutia to the viceroy, May 9, 1738, in Expediente sobre la campana,

Uiid., 9-11.

Uhid., 1.

7''-
^l'?""/ -0°^ M"""" Hernandez, in Testimony taken in support ofthe right of Bexar to exercise jurisdiction over San Sava 8- testimonvof Juan Joseph de Santa Cruz, lUd., 13 '

.
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contemporary information is obtained from Fray Santa Ana, who

was strongly opposed to the campaign and who probably gives a

prejudiced account. The expedition, he said, set out at a very bad

season of the year, and much suffering ensued. The soldiers were

disorderly, and the campaign as a whole was an abomination. He
fervently prayed that no similar one should ever be made, since it

was of no value to God or to the king. Indeed, said Father Santa

Ana, the leaders of the campaign concealed their desire for slaves

and plunder under an ostensible purpose of serving the king, and

since the real motive was so low, the results were of course on the

same level.^

Testimony given in 175G shows that this campaign was to the

San Saba river, in the same region that Bustillo had reached in

1733.-

2. The Campaign from Coahuila and that of Torihio de Urru-

- tia, 1743-1745.—Joseph de Urrutia apparently died not long after

making his campaign, and in the same year, 1740, his son, Toribio

de Urrutia, succeeded him as captain at Bexar. The Apaches con-

tinued to make much trouble, and in the latter part of 1742 the

new captain asked permission to make a series of campaigns against

them. His communications were submitted to Don Juan Antonio

de Bustillo y Zevallos, former governor of Texas, and to Don Gabriel

Costales, who had been captain at Bahia, both of whom opposed

his plan. Urrutia, however, nothing daunted, repeated his request

a few months later, stressing the need for the subjection of the

Apaches, and adding as a further reason the possibility of securing

information concerning the rich minerals with which the Apache

^Santa Ana to the guardian, February 20, 1740, in Memorias de Nueva
Espafia, XXVIII, f. 206.

^Testimony taken in support of the right of Bexar to exercise jurisdic-

tion over San Sava, 8, 13. Ignacio Hernandez declared that he was with

Urrutia. and that as they passed along the San Saba, the old camping
places of Bustillo were pointed out {Ibid., 8).

'In spite of the repeated hostilities of the Apaches, San Antonio was
gradually assuming the proportions of a town. In 1742 plans were made
for the erection of casas de justicia. A bid of $270.00 for stone alone was
accepted. There was at least one regular contractor in the place, and
he had his liands full, building residences for settlers. The cahildo was
composed of laboring men, but they were progressive and foresaw the ne-

cessity of providing for the expansion of San Antonio. The government
was in debt, not an uncommon condition for modern municipalities (Libro

de Cavildo, 1-10, passim).
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country was supposed to abound. This last petition was referred

in June to Don Justo Boneo, who had just been appointed governor

of Tesas.^

The attention of the government, however, seems to have been

directed for a time to a campaign against the Apaches conducted

from Coahuila. According to Kerleree, governor of Louisiana, in

a summarjr of Apache reLations written in 1753, a campaign was

made in 1743 which was very disastrous to the Spaniards. They
had a force of two hundred men, and were commanded by the gov-

ernor of Coahuila, who fell into an ambush, was dangerously

wounded, and lost more than half of his men and almost all of his

horses and equipment. After this, says Kerleree, the Spaniards

were content to remain on the defensive.-

This was not true for any great length of time, however, for in

1745, in spite of much opposition from the missionaries (which

will be discussed later on) and after tedious delays, Urrutia finally

made a campaign in April, 1745. With a force of about fifty Span-
iards, the usual number of Indian allies, we may infer,^ and accom-

panied by Fray Santa Ana, president of the San Antonio missions,

Captain Urrutia went northward from San Antonio, crossing the

Colorado river about seventy leagues away. Ten leagues north of

this river they found a rancheria of Apaches, "commonly called

Ypandes" (Lipans), whose tents were scattered over a wide area.

Many of the Indians were away at the time, and it was a com-
paratively easy matter to secure a number of captives, both from the

Ypandes and the JiTatages, which, perhaps, fulfilled the purpose of

the campai,gn. Indeed, there is reason to suspect that this was
little more than a slave-hunting expedition.*

This campaign, like those of Bustillo and Joseph de Urrutia,

^Auditor's parecer. June 27, 1743, in Carpeta de Correspondencia, 58-59;
auditor's parecer, July 16, 1743, Ibid., 69-70.

^Governor Kerlgrec, "Projet de Paix et d'AIliance avec les Cannecis et
les avantages qui en peuvent resulter, envoyg par Kerleree, gouverneur
de la province de la Louisianne en 1753," in Journal de la Societe des
Americanistes de Paris, III, No. 1, p. 74.

'Santa Ana to the guardian (Terreros), February 2, 1746, in Supliea
del Padre Presidente, 4.

*Santa Ana to the viceroy, May 16, 1746, in Entrada de los Apaches, 5-7,

9; Arricivita, Cronica, 346-347.
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was later said to have been made to the San Saba river/ but from
the contemporary documents there is no guide as to the exact

location.

S. Retaliation by the Apaches.—Immediately after this cam-
paign the Apaches showed their resentment by committing repeated

depredations against the Spaniards. According to the missionaries,

for almost a year previous to the campaign the Apaches had been
comparatively quiet, many had asked for missions, and had given

their children to the priests for baptism. But when they saw, as

they said, that the Spaniards did not wish to be friends, they sent

messengers (four squaws) to notify them that the peace was de-

clared off.- Within a space of three weeks nine persons were
killed and robbed, and all the settlement molested except mission

Concepcion, which was under the charge of Father Santa Ana, who
had shown much benevolence toward the Apach&s.^* On June 30,

1745. San Antonio was o-iven another fright by the attack made
upon it by about three hundred and fifty Indians, including women
and children, of the Ypandes and Natages tribes. They planned
to burn the presidio, and made the attack during the night when
all the occupants of the presidio were asleep. Part of the Indians

stayed in ambush just without the settlement, and the others gath-

ered before the presidio. By good luck they were discovered by
a boy, who gave the alarm, thus rousing some citizens, who held

the savages back for a time. But, dividing into two bands, they

attacked tlie presidio by another street, and would doubtless have
overpowered the soldiers, had not help arrived at an opportune

time from mission Valero. One hundred mission Indians came to

the rescue and so stoutly did they attack the invaders that they

were soon put to flight. The soldiers and Indians now gave chase,

but did not proceed further than a place called Buenavista, whence
they were ordered back. For some unknown reason the Apaches
were not organized with their usual efficiency, for under ordinary

circumstances they would have succeeded in their attack.* Among

^Testimony of Antonio Cadena. Testimony talcen in support of the right
of Bexar to exercise jurisdiction over San Sava, 9.

"Santa Ana to the viceroy, 1750, Memorias de Nueva Espana, XXVIII
f. 137.

'Santa Ana to tlie guardian, February 2, 1746, in Suplica del Padre
Presidente, .3-4.

*Arricivita, Cronica Serdfica y Apostolica, 347-348.
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the Indians who had set out from the mission was an Apache cap-

tive, who at once joined his people. The Ypande chief, whose

daughter was being held as a hostage by Father Santa Ana, in-

quired anxiousty concerning the captives, and was told that they

w^ere beiiig treated most kindly, and that the Spaniards wished to

be the friends of the Apaches. Upon hearing this, the chief re-

pented of his hostility, and ordered his followers to give up the

attack. The chief of the Natages opposed this plan with much
vehemence, but he was finally persuaded to retire. For two months

after this raid, the Apaches did not trouble the settlement, and at

tlie end of this time a squaw, bearing a cross, accompanied by a

boy, was sent to San Antonio with presents for Captain Urrutia,

whom she assured that the Apaches wished to keep the peace.^

If.. Troubles on the Bio Orande Border.—Although this promise

to remain at peace was kept for a time, it affected only a small

number of the A-paches, while along the Kio Grande depredations

were multiplied to such an extent that San Antonio feared an

attack from that quarter, powder being begged from Espiritu Santo

in March, 1746, in anticipation of such an occurrence.- At the

same time a campaign was being planned by the captains of Eio

Grande and Sacramento presidios to punish the Tobosos and the

"Apaches Juman.es,"' who had been very annoying.

The .Apaches along the Eio Grande to the north of Chihuahua

were also very troublesome at this time, and the need of retaining

the presidios in their vicinity and of establishing others there may
have a bearing upon the slowness of the government in founding

presidios among the Apaches north of San Antonio, a project which

was being agitated by the priests there.^

5. The Campaign of Rdiago y Therdn, 17ItS.—Sometime in

1748, the date is not clear, the governor of Coahuila, Don Pedro

de Eabago y Theran, announced to the caUIdo of San Antonio that

on August 16 he intended to set ou.t from Monclova to make war
upon the Indians ravaging the frontier, and asked for volunteers

from San Antonio.* There are some indications that this plan

'Santa Ana to the guardian, February 2, 1746, Stipliea del Padre Presi-
dente, 2.

-Loan of powder, March 11, 1746.

'Autos feehos en virtud, 1-2.

*Theran to the cabildo, August, 1748.
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of Eabago's was opposed by Captain Urrutia, the reason probably

being that it would interfere with his own arrangements/ which
now looked toward peace. Nevertheless, Rabago carried out his

plan, going by way of San Antonio, where he was joined by more
than ten citizens well acquainted with the Apache country and by
twenty soldiers of the presidio, including Lieutenant Galban.^

Enhago set out from San Antonio directly to the San Saba river

region, but the Indians, learning of his approach, tied, and as a

result only a few captives were taken. The campaign was conse-

quently judged a failure, which was charged to the large number
in Eabago's party.^

6. Attacl-s on the San Xavier Mission.— In 1746 the San
Xavier mission was begim on the present San Gabriel river, near

Eockdale,* and the Apaches soon began to visit their depredations

upon the new settlement. In 1748 they attacked it four times,

the fiercest assault being made on May 3, when sixty x4paches ap-

peared at the mission. Although more than two hundred persons

were in the place at the time, the terror inspired by the assail-

ants more than offset the superioritv in numbers. The houses were

left to the ravages of the Indians, while the soldiers confined their

efforts to guarding the stock. The Apaches succeeded in securing

only a few horses, and when they saw that their attempt was being

frustrated they withdrew. In their retreat they met some of the

mission Indians returning from a buffalo hunt, and in the encoun-

ter which followed two of the latter were killed, their bodies being

flayed, in accordance with the usual custom of the Apaches. This

attack terrorized the neophytes of San Xavier, and more forces

^From a document of 1746 ( Satisfaccion a las objeceiones hechas, 10) it

is seen that aboiit this time Urrutia was opposing a campaign proposed by
the governor of Coahuila, but it is not certain that the reference is to
Rabago's campaign of 1748.

^Testimony of Ignacio de Zepeda, Testimony taken in support of the
right of Bexar to exercise jurisdiction over San Sava, 9; Testimony of
Don Bernardo de Miranda, lUd., 17-18.

'Various witnesses, in lUd., 3, 5, 9, 10, 14, 15, 17-18. A few years later,
when the question arose as to whether or not San Sabii was within the
jurisdiction of Texas, Coahuila, or New Mexico, testimony was given
to show that in 1748 no other road from Monclova to San Sabfl was known
than that by way of San Antonio, and that Eabago's campaign was the
only event that would give Coahuila any claim to the San Saba region
(Ibid., pasftim).

'Bolton, MS.
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were called for to keep them from deserting the mission. The

Apaches had to be guarded against night and day.^ In all of the

attacks made, seven men had been killed, three being soldiers, and

four Indians.^

VII. MISSIONAliY PEO.JECTS AND THE PEACE OF 1749

1. The Proposals of Fray Santa Ana and Fray Guadalupe,

1743.—These Apache raids, which had continued so long, now be-

came less frequent, due apparently to increased pressure from the

Comanches, and to the peace efforts of the missionaries. In order

to make these things clear, it will be best to go back and follow

the thread of missionary activities since 1723 looking to the estab-

lishment of missions for the Apaches.

So far as the available records show, only three definite proposals

for missionary work among this tribe had been made in Texas pre-

vious to 1743. As has been seen. Father Gonzalez, in 1723 and

1724, had labored for their conversion; Father Hidalgo, in 1725,

had asked for permission to go to their land and work among them,

and in 1733 Father Versara had urged the establishment of Apache

missions. Now, on March 3, 1743, Fray Benito Fernandez de

Santa Ana wrote a communication to the viceroy suggesting that

active steps be taken for the conversion and reduction of the

Apaches by missions in their own land. He believed that circum-

stances were especially favorable for such an undertaking, not the

least important factor being the existing relations between the

Apaches and the Comanches. He told of a battle between these

tribes, when a band of Comanches, descending from their country,

had fallen in with a superior Apache force. In spite of the dispar-

ity in niTmbers, not a Comanche fled, although they knew that death

awaited them. Finally, all but one had been killed and the Apaches

were about to dispatch him, when, as Fray Santa Ana says, "on

this occasion, their fears overcame their ferocity and desire to eat

human flesh," for, recognizing the bravery of the Comanches and

the danger to be incurred from them, they decided to send the sole

survivor as a warning to his people, trusting that when the Co-

manches learned of the fate of their friends they would take care

^Memorial del Padre Presidente, 1-5.

^Copia de Carta del P. Fr. Mariano, 2.
'
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to avoid further conflicts. The Apaches had good reason to fear

these foes, said Santa Ana, for the Pelones, a subdivision of the
Apaches living near the Caudaehos [Red] Eiver had been forced

by the Conianclies to give up their lands. On account of this fear,

Santa Ana believed, the Apaches would now consider entering
missions, and he thought the advantage would not be on the side

of the Indians alone, for such a powerful nation as the Comanches
should be guarded against by the Spaniards as well, while if the

Apaches were reduced they would constitute a bulwark against the

advancing scourge.^

Two days later Pray Santa Ana wrote another letter to the vice-

roy, again setting forth the many advantages whicli. in his opinion,

would result from the reduction of the Apaches. In the first place,

he said, their conquest woidd prove comparatively easy, for they
were far less numerous than was commonly supposed, the three
tribes of Apaches. Ypandes, and Pelones not exceeding thirteen hun-
dred warriors. As evidence of the weakness of the Apaches, he said

that in no campaign which had been made against them had the
Spaniards employed more than two hundred men, yet the Indians
had always been defeated.^ If the Spaniards shoidd not obtain
the alliance of the Apaches, Santa Ana continued, the French
would very soon occupy the territory along the Caudaehos [Eed]
River, thus cutting off further Spanish advance toward the north.

Already, said the nriest, it was rumored that New France and
Carolina were in communication with New Mexico and Quivira.
This he did not believe, but lie did believe it was true of Louisiana,
whose expansion was greatly to be feared. By making friends of
the Apaches and placing a presidio in their midst to restrain and
protect them. New Spain, he thought, would be assured from the
aggressions of other nations, and the provinces would be freed
from the ravages of the Apaches themselves. Besides, there would
be opened up to the Spaniards a country rich in gold, silver, iron
and other valuable minerals.^ In conclusion, he protested against
the campaign which was being planned by Captain Toribio de
Urrutia (see ante, p. 251). Campaigns, said Santa Ana, only

^Santa Ana to the viceroy, March ,3, 1743, Carpeta de Correspondencia
37-40.

'Santa Ana to tlie viceroy, March 5, 1743. Ihid.. 61-62 .

Hhid., 63-67.
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make the Indians worse, as had been proved time and again. For

once, he suggests, kind measures should be tried, if only for an

experiment; instead of disti'ibiiting the captives they should be

held as hostages as a means of making peace, and should be returned

to the Apaches when they asked to be friends. In this way the

Indians would be convinced of the sincerity of the Spaniards and
their conversion would inevitably follow.^ Santa Ana's fear of

French aggression was well grounded,- but this could hardly be

said of his sanguine view of prospects for the submission of the

Apaches.

Father Santa Ana's letters were carried to Mexico by Fray
Joseph de Guadalupe, missionary in mission San Francisco de la

Espada, who upon his arrival in the City of Mexico addressed to

the viceroy on his own part a communication of similar nature.

Fray Guadalupe set forth particularly the advantages to result

from the establishment of a garrison or presidio among the Apaches,

dividing the benefits into two classes, spiritual and temporal.

First, he said, a presidio among the Apaches, by aiding to resist

their hostilities and keeping them from San Antonio, would be
very advantageous to the missions already established, for on ac-

count of their fear of the Apaches the mission Indians could with
difficulty be restrained from deserting. Second, the new conver-

sions would increase, because the gentiles would not be afraid to

enter the missions, as was now the case. Third, the conversion

and reduction of the Apaches themselves would be facilitated, be-

cause since the presidio would be merely defensive and not offen-

sive the Spaniards could gain the confidence of the Indians, and
cultivate the friendship of the capitdn grande, thus converting his

followers. Fourth, the Apaches converted, the way would be open
to convert other tribes that lived in the north to whom passage was
now shut oS.

These spiritual arguments. Fray Guadalupe thought, should be
sufficient to move the mind of the viceroy, but, in addition, he
presented some temporal advantages. First, the presidio would
entail no additional expense to the crown, for some useless gar-

rison could be utilized. Second, with the added protection, the

Ulid., 67-68.

^Kerleree, op. cit., passim.



258 Texas Historical Association Quarterly

town of San Antonio would expand very rapidly and the whole
country would develop. Third, the way would be open to work
the rich minerals which (according to general opinion) abounded
in the hill country of the Apaches

;
and, finally, the entire Spanish

dominion would be extended toward the north. In consequence

of all these reasons, he prayed for the establishment of the presidio

in the land of the Apaches.

^

To Fray Guadalupe's representation the viceroy replied that such

arguments were all very well in theory, l)ut that in reality there

were no useless presidios which could be moved to the Apache
country.2 Santa Ana's letters were also considered, together with

Toribio de Urrutia's third petition for a campaign, which had been
made at this time, as has been seen, and, in view of the conflicting

opinions that were presented by Urrutia and the missionaries, it

was decided to submit the whole matter to the judgment of Don
Manuel de Sandobal, former governor of Texas.^

S. Requests for Missions hy the Apaches.-—The protests of the

missionaries against a campaign, as has been seen, were unavailing.

Father Santa Ana seems to have made the best of the situation,

however, even accompanying Urrutia on the expedition of 1745.

Among the captives taken on this campaign was the seven-year-old

daughter of the Ypande chief, and through her the priest tried to

influence the chief himself to enter a mission. In a communica-
tion which he made to the viceroy in 1745 looking to the conver-

sion of the Apaches, Fray Santa Ana again said that they were

not nearly so formidalile as was generally believed. The Ypandes,
he averred, had only one hundred and sixty-six warriors, and the

Natages one hundred. By placing presidios on the San Saba,

Pedernales, Salado. and Colorado rivers all could be reduced with-

out bloodshed, and even the Comanches would be converted.* Be-

sides, the Apaches themselves, he said, were anxious to enter upon
mission life, for in October, 1745, a mission had been requested

for the third time by the chief of the Ypandes, who asked either

'Guadalupe to the viceroy, ca. June 21, 1743, Carpeta de Correspon-
dencia, 48-54.

^Auditor's parecer, June 27, 1743, Ihid., 58-50.

'Auditor's parecer. July 16, 1743, Ihid., 69-71.

'Santa Ana to the viceroy, May 16, 1745, Entrada de los Apaches,
7-9, 1-4.
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for a presidio and mission or for a mission without a pre-

sidio.^

As if to bear out the missionary's statement, about January 26,

1746, the wife of an Apache chief, with two boys, went to see Pray

Santa Ana, bearing a request for missions. Three days later an

Indian girl of Eancheria Grande who had been captured by the

Apaches, was sent to San Antonio to report that the Ypandes

wanted a presidio and a mission, although the Natages were op-

posed to it. Two chiefs, slie said, were en route to San Antonio

to make a permanent peace.^

Thus we see that throughout many years the missionaries had

not last sight of the Apaches, and had several times planned to

reduce them to mission life. When the new establishments for

the San Xavier river were being discussed, in the years 1745-7, a

patent argument in their favor was that they would serve to re-

strain the Apaches, who lived near by. The San Xavier was the

gateway to the "Lomeria de los Apaches/' and they must either

be converted, it was said, or retire from their old haunts. More-

over, as has been pointed out, the Comanches were again actively

pressing upon tlie Apaches, and it was even said that the mission-

aries were holding back their reports of the Apaches' request for

missions until it could be learned more definitely whether they

were really in earnest or merely wished to regain their captive

kinsmen by this old ruse.^

S. The Sword and the Olive Branch.—By the latter part of

1748 circumstances became unusually favorable for carrying out

the mission policy which was so near to Father Santa Ana's heart.

The essential factors were the harmony between the priests and

Captain TJrrutia, who now began to work to the same end, and the

Comanche attacks upon the Apaches. It had long been noted,

Santa Ana tells us, that the bloodier and more severe a campaign

against the Apaches might be, the more vindictively did they

retaliate. This fact being recognized, it was ordered that in all

succeeding campaigns no Indian should be killed save in self-

^Santa Ana to the guardian, Febraary 2, 1746, Sfipliea del Padre Pres-
idente, 1-G; Visita de las misiones, 14; Entrada de los Apaches, 2.

^STiplica del Padre Presidente, 3-6.

^Satisfaccion a las objeeciones heehas, 13.
- ,

-
,
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defense and that all captives taken should be treated most hu-
manely.^

With the idea of punishing the x\paches for their attacks of 1748,
and also, perhaps, as Father Santa Ana suggests, to show the In-
dians that the Spaniards wished to be friends, on February 2, 1749,
Captain TTrrutia with some two hundred men, most of them being
Indian allies, set out toward the Apache country. He soon came
upon a small rancheria, which offered very little resistance, and
three old women and five children were captured. When Urrutia
returned to San Antonio he learned that during his absence the
Apaches had attacked Mission Concepcion, stealing a large num-
ber of cattle. He at once determined to pursue the Indians,^ and
in March set out again with about three hundred men. They had
gone no farther than the Guadalupe river, however, a distance of

some twenty leagues, when they encountered a rancheria of

Apaches who were encamped there hunting buffalo. Fortunately,

most of the Indians (who were more than four hundred in num-
ber) were away on the chase, leaving the camp with only thirty
men, ninety women, and forty-seven children. These were cap-
tured^ and carried to San Antonio, where the men were impris-

oned, and the women and children given into the safe keeping of
the citizens and the missionaries, orders being given to treat them
with the greatest kindness, but not to let them escape.'*

Tile Hatchet Buried—Likewise a TJorse.—Captain Urrutia
and Fray Santa Ana now determined to do their best to establish

a permanent and lasting peace with the Apache nation. In con-

sequence, two women and a brave were chosen to act as messen-
gers to their people and to tell their chiefs that if they would live

thereafter in peace and friendship with the Spaniards, not only
would the latter release the prisoners who had been captured on
the Guadalupe, but also those who had been taken in previous cam-
paigns. The plan was received jovously by the captives, as can
well be believed, and about the middle of April the three messen-

'Santa Ana to the viceroy. Febriiarv 20, 1750. Memorias de Nueva
Espana, XXVIII, f. 138.

^Arricivita, Cronica 8erdfica y Apostolica, 351.

^Arricivita says that only forty-six captives were taken, together with
more than one hundred horses {Ibid., 352).

•"Tlie details of this expedition as given above are from Cabello In-
forme, 35.
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gers, having been rigged out as usual, were dispatched. They
promised to return in three moons, declaring that they would with-

out doubt be accompanied by all of their people.

At the l^eginning of August the three Indians returned, accom-
panied by a brave of much distinction. They reported that there

were now encamped on the Guadalupe four chiefs, two of the

Lipan and two of the Apache nation, with one hundred followers

of each tribe, who came with the intention of effecting a peace

and securing their captive kinsmen. They woidd wait on the

G-uadalupe, they said, until the Spaniards should appoint a day
for them to enter the settlement. Captain Urrutia received them
with all consideration, gave them presents, and told them to return

to the Guadalupe and tell their chiefs to come whenever they

pleased, but to use smoke as a signal before starting so that they

could be properly received.

The emissaries left on the 8th, and on the night of the 15th
columns of smoke were sent up, in accordance with the agreement.
In the meantime a large building had been constructed on the

plaza, in which to receive the Indians, and on the morning of the

16th Captain Urrutia, with all his troops, the missionaries, and
citizens of San Antonio, went out to meet the visitors, whom they

encountered at a distance of two leagues. Here mutual expres-

sions of joy were made, the chiefs emhracing the captain and the

priests with great affection. After these ceremonies were over,

the whole company returned to the reception hall, where a great
feast of beef, corn, squashes, and fruit had been prepared. The
chiefs were not lodged with the "common herd," but were enter-

tained in the presidio and missions, in keeping with their superior
rank. On the next day mass, attended by all the Indians and the
whole settlement, was said in the parochial church, after which
the formal discussion of peace was begun. On the 18th, says
Cabello, the prisoners were released,^ and the 19th was given over
to the ratification of the peace.

This was a great day for San Antonio. After thirty years of
depredations, the harassed settlement was about to secure, as was
thought, a lasting peace. Early in the morning the plaza began to

_
^Apparently only the prisoners who had been recently captured were

given up. for it was not until some months later that the citizens were
compelled to give up their servants (Memorias de Nueva Espana, XXVIII
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fill with an eag-er throng. On one side were drawn up the soldiers,

the priests and the citizens, while on the other were the chiefs and

their followers, who had been joined by the released captives.

First, a great hole was dug in the center of the plaza, and in this

were placed a live horse, a hatchet, a lance, and six arrows, all

instruments of war. Then Captain Urrutia and the four chiefs,

joining hands, danced three times around the hole, the Indians

afterwards doing the same with the priests and the citizens. When
this ceremony was concluded, all retired to their respective places.

Then, upon a given signal, all rushed to the hole and rapidly buried

the live horse, together with the weapons, thus signifying the end

of war. This over, the Indians gave great whoops, and the Span-

iards cried three times, "Viva el Bey" ("Long live the king") !

Before departing the Indians promised to visit the presidio often,

and were assured that they would always be welcomed. In return,

they agreed to treat all Spaniards as brothers wherever they might

meet. On August 20, amid manifestations of the sincerest friend-

ship, they took their leave. Few cities of the world have ever wit-

nessed such a scene as was thus enacted on the plaza of old San

Antonio.^ Indeed, it seems probable that this instance of the

burial of a live horse as a part of the hatchet ceremony is unique.

The consummation of this treaty meant a great deal to the citi-

zens of San Antonio. The Indians were undoubtedly sincere in

their desire for peace this time (the Comanehes furnished motive

enough), and there seems to have been confidence on both sides.

Most rejoiced of all were the missionaries, who saw in this love

feast the ha,ppy culmination of their labors to effect the peace of

the land, and a definite step toward the conversion of the Apaches,

In spite of the apparent nearness of this much desired end, how-

ever, there was yet to be a long period of waiting before the actual

founding of the missions. Yet the progress now made was never

entirelv lost, and henceforth it became more a question of dis-

agreement among the Spaniards themselves as to the establishment

of missions than of the unwillingness of the Apaches ; for the lat-

ter, pressed by their inveterate foes, were now willing to be con-

verted, since it meant protection by Spanish arms.

^My authority for this event is Cabello, Informe, .36-38. I find nothing

of it in other documents of the period, nor does Arricivita mention it.
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VIII. THE APACHES AS KNOWN IN TEXAS, 1725-1750

It will be interesting, by way of conclusion, to note once more
the general knowledge of the Apaches possessed by the Spaniards
of Texas, as evidenced by the contemporary documents between
1725 and 1750. During this period much additional specific in-
formation was acquired concerning a people that had hitherto been
but indefinitely known.

1- Two Meanings of the Term "Apache/'—The term "Apache"
'

had now come to have two significations, general and specific. The
comprehensive name was still "Apache," and in this sense it often
meant to the Spaniards little more than a confederation or a geo-
graphical group. As the roval auditor said, in a communication
written in 1750, "the truth is that not only these [tribes near San
Antonio] are called heathen Apaches, but also all the tribes in the
immense rmknown spaces to the north of our governments of Sin-
aloa, Nueva Viscaya, Coahuila, a^nd Texas, the entire frontier of
said Apaches extending for five hundred and ninety-five or six
hundred and eighty leagues, without including in this the govern-
ment of New Mexico, which is on all four sides a frontier of the
Apache tribe, by whom this government is surrounded and walled
in."i To illustrate this usage again, an Indian who was captured
at San Antonio, when questioned as to the number of Apache tribes,
declared that, "calling them by their special names, there were
thirty-seven tribes with the name Apache in the vicinity of the
road to New Mexico."^ Thus the designation "Apache," in its
general sense, was regarded as very comprehensive, just as formerly
had been the case, and the expression "las naciones' Apaches," with
this broad meaning, occurs very frequently in the documents
throughout the period.

On the other hand, "Apache" is now used to designate also a
particular tribe of Indians with whom the Texas Spaniards had
especially to do. Out of the general term "Apache" which was
formerly not differentiated, several distinct tribes have now
emerged. We hear of the Pelones, the Ypandes (Ipandes, Ipandis,
Ypandis), and the Apaches, or in the language of the Indians them-

^Memorias de Nueva Espafia, XXVIII, f. 147.

-Pacificaoion de Apaches, 37. ;
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selves, "Negain, Azain, and Duttain."^ These tribes are now con-

sidered by the Spaniards of Texas to be the three main divisions

of the Apaches with whom they came in contact.

It is probable that the authorities in Mexico usually employed

"Apache" in the broad sense, but the peo]ile at San Antonio

understood and used its restricted meaning also. Many seeming

discrepancies in the sources, then, may, perhaps, be explained by

considering in what sense the designation, "Apache," was intended

by the writer.

2. Location and Throughout the period from 1725 to

1749, the Apaches who troubled Texas still lived in the same gen-

eral northwestward direction from San Antonio as formerly, rang-

ing in summer to the plains of the middle Brazos and Colorado

and withdrawing northwestward in the fall. Bustillo, in Decem-

ber, 1732, found them in the same general region where Flores

had encountered them in September, 1723. All of the embassies

from tlie Apaches to San Antonio during the period came from the

north, and all the messengers sent to them went north.

Yet there was a gradual migration of the Apaches southward in

the face of the Comanche pressure, and just at the end of the period

this movement was very much accelerated. Bustillo's fight with

them, as we have seen, took place about seventy leagues north of

San Antonio, near the San Saba river, while Flores had gone one

hundred and thirty leagues before encountering Apaches. Of

course, these may have been distinct rancherias, but it is certain

that the Apaches had come further south. Another indication that

such was the case is Bustillo's statement that he had to make a

great detour in order not to be seen by the Indians immediately

after leaving the presidio, for the Apaches, he said, were always

near San Antonio either in large or small bands.^

By 1730, it is clear, the eastern Apaches did not customarily

range southeast of San Antonio. When Father Sevillano in that

year argued that a mission on the Medina river, thirty leagues

below San Antonio, would be in danger from the Apaches, the

other missionaries maintained that he was wrong, as these Indians

\Santa Ana to the viceroy, March 5, 1743, Carpeta de Correspondencia,

61-62.

-Pacificacion de Apaches, 33.
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did not infest even the Guadakipe country, bnt were to the north.

^

Soon after this, ho^vever, the upper Nacogdoches road was aban-
doned, and that by Baliia used, for fear of the Apaches.
By 1749 the Ypandes, who had now become differentiated, had

descended considerably nearer to San Antonio. The range of hills
twenty leagues northwest from San Antonio was now the south-
eastern limit of their territorv, and from their shelter they ravaged
the settlements near by.^ In 1750, according to Cabello^s "Informe,"
there was a still further southward migration of the Apaches, who
were again being closely pressed by the Comanches. In May of
that year, says Cabello, the Lipanes and Apaches moved to the
Medina river, eight leagues southwest of San Antonio, where they
hopes to be secure from their foes.^

The period from 1725 to 1750, therefore, was one of gradual
shifting to the south. As the Comanches continued to press hard
upon the Apaches, the latter gave way before them, remaining in
their new location until renewed pressure was exerted by their
enemy. The key to Apache migration and policy during this
period, and especially of the latter part, may be found primarilym the hostility of the Comanches.

S. The Different Tribes or Bands of Apaches Known in Texas—As has been stated, several distinct bands have now emerged
from the general term "Apaehe.s," the Ypandes, Apaches or Na-
tages, and Jumanes being the main divisions. Other tribal names
now appearing in the documents are the Ysandi (Ysandi), Chenti
Melenudos, Mescaleros, Salineros, and Pelones.*

4. The Natages or Apaches.—The Natages seem to have been
the tribe to which the Spaniards of Texas applied the term
Apache" m the restrictive sense. In lists which deal with the

^Carpeta de Correspondencia, 106; B. MS. Notes, Miscel 1730-17-1^ qFrom the Rio Grande country and the region of tke Pecos', however thewe tern Apaches extended their activities into Coahuila and NueZ iefnpenetrating as far south as Saltillo and Parras. In 1735 seven Anaehediiefs were established with their camps on the Rio Gnndp Zt f f
Presidio del Norte ( Ordenes del VirreyViSrron, 1" By 1743 it was saidthe Apaches troubled Coahuila and Nueva Viscava from Duranlo fn Z '

Mexico (Carpeta de Correspondencia. 61).
•

J^uraugo to New

'Memorias de Nueva Espafia, XXVIII, ff. 101-102.
'Cabello, Informe, 38-39.

dei^S^r'XsmirT^"^''
'''' Apaches, 39-40; Memorial
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three mam divisions of the Apaches I have frequently found

"Apaches, Ypandes, and Jumanes"; ''Natages, Ypandes, and Ju-

manes"
;
"Apaches, Pelones, and Jumanes" ; and "Natages, Pelones,

and Jumanes." The Pelones and Ypandes, it will be seen, were

often treated as identical. Knowing this, if these lists are exam-

ined, it will he seen that in none of them is there a conflict of

the terms "Natages" and "Apaches," but, on the contrary, that

they are used interchangeably. Again, it was said that the "Ypan-

des .. . almost always live united with the Apaches."^ This

statement, as will be seen, was true of the Natages, or, in other

words, it seems that the terms are again used interchangeably.

When Toriluo de ITrrutia made his campaign of April, 1745, the

Natages were met northwest of the Colorado river, a few leagues

from the Ypandes. They were now probably engaged in the spring

buffalo hunt. Concerning them. Father Santa Ana, who was with

Urrutia, says: "The Natae'es Indians, reputed am.ong the Indians

of the north as true Apaches, lived on this occasion not far from

and to the west of the Ypandes. They are fewer in number, but

prouder and more overbearing than the rest, and their chief man

was captain of the Ypandes. . . . The body of these Natages

comprises in itself the Mescaleros and Salineros Indians, or better,

shall I say that they are one and the same Indians with different

names which the Spaniards have given them in the various locali-

ties [terrenes'] in which they have seen them. Their own country

[that is, of the ISTatages] is on the said Bio Salado [Pecos], where

they enter into the jurisdiction of Conchos. The Ypandes, as they

are intimate friends and relatives, also go in as far as the Eio

Salado in the months of June and July, and then in the autumn

all go down together to the San Saba, Xianas TChanas, Llano],

Almagre [Honey Creek^], and Pedernales rivers, from which they

pass to the Colorado along that region where the road to Los Adays

crosses, since this country is the home of the buffalo with which

they sustain themselves."^ The Natages, Santa Ana also said,

troubled the Eio Grande country as far west as El Paso, although

they numbered less than one hundred warriors.* This number is-

'Santa Ana to the viceroy, March 5, 1743, Carpeta de Correspgndencia, 62.

^Identified by Dr. Bolton.

^Santa Ana to the viceroy, May 16. 1745, Entrada de los Apaches, 6-7.

'lUd., 4.
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probably an underestimate, as in another place Santa Ana says

that the Apaches [i^Tatages] and Ypandes have five hundred war-

riors combined.^

5. The Y'pandcs (Lipan) or Pelones.—The branch of the

I Apaches nearest to San Antonio and ultimately of the most impor-

tance in Apache relations were the Lipans or Ypandes.- As has

been seen, the Ypandes were closely allied with the Natages, their

chief in 1745 being from the latter tribe. Concerning them Santa

f- A]ia, who is onr best informant upon Indian affairs during this

period, says in 1743 : "The Ypandes, who are the nearest to this

presidio [Bexar] almost always live united with the- Apaches

[iN'atages]. They have a great number of horses, but their desire

for more is never satiated, on account of which and in order to

steal other things they trouble all of the road to New Mexico and

that which leads to Los Texas [Nacogdoches], not failing to take

the lives of all the}^ can, whether neighboring Indians or Span-

iards."^

The Ypandes were said to be identical with the Pelones, being

referred to as '''Ypandes alias Pelones-"* The Pelones, it was
said, were the least daring of the Apaches, and were the first whom

^Carpeta de Correspondencia, 62.

^Bandelier. referring to an incident of 1745, quotes from Arricivita
{Cronica, 349), "Por no baxar todavfa el Capitan grande Ipandi," and
adds, "This seems to indicate that the word Ipande is derived from a
personal name. On page 383 we finally read 'Ipandes!'" ("Final Re-
port," Part I, Paper's of the Arch. Iiist. of America, III, 181, note 2.) It
may be said, in the first place, that the inference does not seem to be
warranted from the language. One might as well conclude from the
phrase, "el capitan grande Apache," an expression occurring many times,
that Apache is a personal name. In the second place, the error of the
inference is made plain by the fact that the terms Ipandi, Ipande, etc.,

were in common use as tribal names from 1732, at least, forward, occur-
ring many times in the documents before 1745.

'Santa Ana to the viceroy, March 5, 1743, Carpeta de Correspondencia, 62.

•Pacificacion de Apaches, 23. There is some doubt, however, as to .

whether or not the Ypandes and Pelones are identical, for Santa Ana, in
speaking of the main divisions of the Apaches, says that the Ypandes and
Apaches [Natages] do not number more than five hundred warriors, while
the Pelones do not exceed eight hundred (Carpeta de Correspondencia,

, 62), thus difl'erentiating "Ypandes" and "Pelones." His is the only evi-
dence, however, which I have found to offset the direct implication of the
phrase "Ypandes alias Pelones." If Santa Ana is correct, one Avay to
reconcile the two statements is to assume that the Pelones, after being
driven from their homes by the Comanches, became known later as
Ypandes, while the name "Pelones" was still applied to other Indians.
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the Comandies had compelled to give up their lands. ^ They had

lived farthest north from San Antonio, on the Candachos [Eed]

Eiver. According to Santa Ana, in 1745 the Ypandes had only one

hundred and sixty-six warriors, and ranged along the frontiers of

Coahnila and Texas.- They were accustomed to divide into six

or seven small bands, the largest not exceeding forty and the

smallest sometimes not numbering more than twenty.*

It seems that since the opening of the century the Pelones

(Lipanes) had changed their relations with other tribes, for

Joseph de Urnitia, writing in 1733, said that at the time of his

residence among the Indians of eastern Texas, from about 1693-

1700, tlie Pelones and Jumanes were declared enemies of the

Apaches, and he wondered that they were now allied tribes.*

Governor Bustillo, in 1746, mentions a tribe of "Apachez llama-

dos los Melenudos," who made war upon the Yojuanes and the

Texas. The location assigned to these Indians, apparently north-

west of the Trinity river, leads me to wonder if they may not have

been Pelones.'''

6. The Jumanes.—The Jumanes are a confusing element. It

will assist somewhat in lessening this confusion if we bear in mind

that it is clear that the term "Jumanes" was applied by the Span-

iards to two distinct groups of Indians. Most commonly it applied

to Indians living in southwestern Texas near the Rio Grande. But

after the middle of the eighteenth century, at least, Jumane was

a naine applied in New Mexico to the Indians called in Texas the

Taovayases—Wichita Indians always hostile to the Apaches."

In the later seventeenth century the Jumanes of southwestern

Texas had been enemies of the Apaches. These Jumanes, it seems,

in the eighteenth century became allies of the Apaches, while the

northern Jumanes, or Taovayases, remained hostile. According to

IJrrutia, writing in 1733, the Jumanes had formerly lived near the

Pelones (along the Eed Eiver) and were enemies of the Apaches.

He, perhaps, was thinking of the northern Jumanes. In 1731

'Carpeta de Correspondencia, 39.

-Entrada de los Apaches, 1. .
•

Uhid., 6.

*B. MS. Notes, Miscellaneous, 1730-1733.

'^Memoi'ial del Govor. Bustillo, 4.

»B. MS. Notes.
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Jninanes are spoken of as an important division of the Apaches,

and after the fig-ht near San Antonio of September 18, 1731, a

captive declared that the arrows left on the field of battle belonged

to the Apaches, Pelones, and Jumanes, "very nnmerons and allied

tribes,"^ who were enemies of the Texas, Yojuanes, and other tribes

of eastern Texas. ^ Almazan, however, said that the Jumanes were

not represented in this fight.^ In 1746 we hear of the "Apaches

Jumanes" living just north of the Eio Grande. On account of

their depredations it was deemed unwise to remove the presidio of

Sacramento to the San Xavier country, as was petitioned for.*

These Indians were said to roam across the deserts of Coahuila as

far as Saltillo, even reaching jSTuevo Leon.^ In 1749 Jumanes,

Comanches, and French were friendly, according to three French-

men who were captured in that _year near Santa Fe.^ These Ju-

manes were undoubtedly Taovayases.

7. Oilier Bands.—Jn 1733 the Yxandi (Ysandi) and Chenti

had joined the Apaches, and were present in the battle with Bus-

tillo on December 9, 1732. This was the first time that the Span-

iards had come into contact with them, but they were said to be

no less formidable than the "Apaches."'^ The Mescaleros and

Salineros, it has been seen, were regarded as merely divisions of the

^sTatages.

The Tobosos, living beyond the Eio Grande, were allies of the

Apaches, it appears from the documents, as early as 173-5.^ They

"were few in number, but robbed and killed in many places."

^Paeificaeion de Apaches, 5.

mid., 39-40.

UUd., 13-14.

^Memorial del Govor. Biistillos, 13.

^Cartas . . . sobre la fundacion de Sn Xavier (1746), 3.

"Autos sre averiguar, 41.

'Pacificacion de Apaches, 39-40, 42-43, 53.

'Ordenes del Virrey Vizarron, 2.
' '.-

^Carpeta de Correspondencia, 46, 63.
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AFFAIRS OF THE ASSOCIATIOX

In the sketch of General A'olney E. Howard published in the

October number of The Quarteely (Volume XIV, Xumber 2)

it was stated (page 148) that he died in 1885. Judge Fulmore

wishes this corrected. The date should be May 3, 1889.

Major Ira H. Evans, of Austin, has presented to the Association

a copy of the Wasltington Spectator-Extra for Jime 12, 184:4. It

contains some valuable matter on the annexation of Texas to the

United States.

The annual meeting of the Association will be held on March

2, 1911. Members will be notified by letter of the hour and place

of the meeting.
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THE SOUTI-TWESTEEF BOUNDAEY OF TEXAS, 1831-18401

THOMAS MAITLAND MARSHALL

I. THE BOUNDARY QUESTION DURING THE SPANISH REGIME -

The purpose of the author in preparing this paper was primarily
to review the question of the boundary between Texas and Mexico
as one of the antecedents of the Texas-Santa Pe expedition. This
explains why the study ends abruptly with 1840. The history of

the southwestern boundary of Texas during the Spanish regime
has been so thoroughly treated by different writers that a detailed

discussion of it is unnecessary here. However, in order that the

subject may be presented in its entirety, a brief review of the

salient facts seems necessary.

1. The Evanish Yieir.—The expedition of La Salle in lfiS.5

aroused the Spanish to explore and temporarily occupy eastern

Texas. The first mission, San Francisco de los Tejas, was estab-

lished southwest of Nacogdoches near the Neehes river in 1690.^

Teran, who was made governor of Coahuila and Texas in 1691,^

explored the country to the Eed river. In 1693 Texas was aban-

^This paper was prepared in connection with Professor Bolton's semi-
nar in Southwestern history. The writer desires hereby to thank the
editor of The Quarterly for valuable suggestions.

-Clark, in The Quarterly, V, 175-189.
'

=Cox. iUd., V, 84.
, ,

.
•
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cloned/ and after 1700 the mission of San Juan Bantista on the
Ein Grande formed the extreme Spanish outpost.^ During the
period 1716-1722, Texas was reoecupied and six missions and t¥/o

presidios in eastern Texas, a presidio and a mission on the San
Antonio, and a post and a mission on San Bernard Bay (Esplritu
Santo) were established.^

So far as has Ijeen ascertained, tlie first mention of the bound-
ary occurred in 1721 when the governor of Coahuila and Texas
stated it to be the Medina river.* Similar statements are found
in Spanish documents in 1744 and 1746.^ In the latter year Jose
de Escandon was commissioned to pacify the gulf coast; the prov-
ince of Nuevo Santander was established : and Escandon appears to

have had jurisdiction to the San Antonio.« The La Fora map of

1767 placed the boundary somewhat west of the Medina.^ In 1772
Bonilla stated that the boundary line between Coahuila and Texas
was the Medina.^ All official documents for the rest of the cen-

tury placed it at the Nueces. An order of 1811 and an offi-

cial map of 1816 gave the Nueces as the boundary line between
Texas and Nuevo Santander, and the Medina as the boundary be-

tween Texas and Coahuila."

2. French Claims.—The first suggestion of a French occupation
of Texas came in 1682 from Penalosa, a former governor of New
Mexico, who had found refuge at the court of Louis XIV. He
proposed to settle a French colony at the mouth of the Eio Bravo,
and La Salle no doubt heard of his seliemes." In 1684 La Salle

was authorized to rule the country from the Illinois river to New
Biseay.ii He landed on the shore of Matagorda Bay the foUow-

'Clark, in The Quarterly, V, 190-201
; Bancroft, North Mexican States

and Texas, I, 402-406.

=Clark, ihid., VI, 4.

mid., VI, 20-25; Austin, ihid., VIII, 285-286.

'Garrison, Westward Extension, 101; Cox, in The Quarterly, VI, 85.

'Altamira, in Yoakum. History of Texas, I, 381-402; Garrison, West-
loard Extension, 101.

"Bolton, in The Quarterly, VI, 187-190, 195.

'Garrison, Westward Extcfision, 101 ; also copy of the map in possession
of Professor Bolton.

*West, in The Quarterly, VIII, 9-10.

"Bolton, ibid., VII, 202; Garrison, Westward Extension, 103-104.

"Miller, in The Quarterly, V. 97-112.

"Bancroft, Tsforth Mexican States and Texas, I, 392-394.
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ing year; he was miirclered two years later, and the settlement was
broken np.^

In 1713 Antoine Crozat was given by letters patent the right

to trade "in all the Lands possessed by Us, and bounded by New
Mexico"- ... In 1714- M. Louis de Saint Denis reached the

presidio of San Juan Bautista on the Eio Grande and informed
the Spanish that the French claimed to that river. In 1721 La
Harpe, who had concessions on Eed river and who had been carry-

ing on a clandestine trade with the Spanish, made an unsuccess-

ful attempt to found a colony at Matagorda bay.« The map of

Du Pratz in 1738 gave the Eio Grande as the boundary.* During
the administration of Barrios in Texas, which ended in 1756, there

were French trading posts west of the Sabine. When the Spanish
established a presidio on the Trinity in 1756 the French protested,

basing their claim oh the settlement of La Salle. The cession of

Louisiana at the end of the Seven Years War ended the difficulty

until 1800.S

The treaty of San Udefonso reopened the question. Louisiana

was ceded "with the same extent . . . that it had while in

the possession of France . . Victor's instructions in 1802
gave the boundary as the Eio Grande. When the country was sold

to the United States the boundary was left indefinite, following

the wording of the treaty of San Ildefonso. This ended the French
claims to Texas.®

II. DURING MEXICAN RULE -

During the period from 1821 to 1836 no action appears to have
been taken concerning the boundary line, although there are evi-

dences that Texans were already looking toward the Eio Grande.
In 1824 Texas and Coahuila were imited as a single province,

Texas being known as the Department of Bexar. The court

^Joutel, Journal of La Salle's last voyage, 54, 116, 1.34: Le Clereq, in
Joxirneys of . . . La Salle (Cox, 'ed.), I, 216-217; Clark, in The
QUARTEELY, V, 178-181.

^Joutel, Journal, 213.

'Cox, in The Quaeteely, X, 9-13; Phelps, Louisiana, 66-67.

'Hid., X, 17.

'lUd., X, 21-24, 69.
'

"Henry Adams, History of the United States, II, 4-6. 16-17, 43.
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records show that at tliis time the Mexican inhabitants of Bexar
recognized the claims of Tamanlipas (ISTuevo Santander) to the

lands south of the JSTiieces.^

During tlie Fredonian war certain Texans claimed the Eio

Grande as the western bonndary.^ In December, 1826, Hayden
Edwards and Harmon B. Mayo, on behalf of the discontented set-

tlers, made a treaty with the Indians. The latter were to have

all territory "north of a line beginning at the month of Sulphur
fork; thence to a point not far from Naeogdoches ; thence west to

the Eio Grande. All the territory south of that boundary to be-

long to the other party."^

In 1828 the State of Coahuila and Texas granted a contract to

John Davis Bradburn and Stephen Staples, giving them the right

to navigate the Bio Grande with steam or horse-power for fifteen

years.* This would raise the question of jurisdiction over the

lower Eio Grande. Beales and Grant in 1833 obtained a conces-

sion from Coahuila and Texas to settle eight hundred families be-

tween the Nueces and Eio Grande. Kennedy's map gives the

eastern boundary of this grant as the line between Coahuila and

Tamanlipas, but it is significant that the only settlement which

they made was at Dolores, near the Eio Grande, and that no protest

appears to have been made by Tamanlipas. Considering the Fre-

donian treaty, the grant of 1828, and the settlement of 1833, it

would appear that at least as far as Coahuila and Texas were con-

cerned, they considered the lower Eio Grande as within their juris-

diction.''

In 1834 Juan IST. Almonte was sent to Texas to report on its

condition for statehood. In his report he says that the inhabi-

tants claimed "that the true boundary ought to commence at the

mouth of the Aransas and follow it up to its source; and from

there it ought to continue in a straight line, until it meets with the

Medina, where it is joined to the San Antonio, following then

^Cox, in The Qitaeteelt, VI. 97-98; Memorial of the Texan Convention
of April, 1833, to the general Congress of the United Mexican States, in

Yoakum, History of Texas, I, 469.

^Hutson, in The South in the Buihlwg of the 'Nation. Ill, 336; Foote,

Texas and the Texans, I, 253-255.

UUd., 357; Yoakum, History of Texas, I, 248.

^Yoakum, History of Texas, I, 259.

^Ihid., I, 317; Kennedy, Texas, I, map opp. 336.
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by the eastern margin of the same Medina as far as its source, it

ought to terminate in the boundaries of Chihuahua." This is the

last mention of the Medina boundary that has been found.^

III. THE QUESTION DUEING TEXAIf II»rDEPENDENCE, TO 1840

1. The Treaty of Velasco.—Actual hostilities between Texas
and Mexico began in 1835.2 March 1, 1836, the Texan con-

vention met, and the following day issued a declaration of inde-

pendence. General Sam Houston was elected commander-in-chief

of the Texas army and David G. Burnet president ad tnteri7n.^

The battle of San Jacinto occurred April 21, 1836. Among the

prisoners was Santa Anna.* On May 3 Houston wrote to Kusk, the

secretary of war, advising him with respect to the arrangements to

be made with Santa Anna. Regarding the boundary he said, "The
limits of Texas should extend to the Rio Grande, from the mouth,
pursuing the stream to its most northwestern source, and thence

northeast to the line of the "United States." This letter no doubt

had great weight in the dealings with Santa Anna, as well as in

influencing the future claims of the republic of Texas.^

At Velasco, May 14, 1836, Santa Anna and Burnet signed the

so-called treaty of Velasco. This treaty was in two parts, a pub-

lie and a secret agreement.^ In the public agreement there was
no positive statement of boundary lines. Article 3 said, "The
Mexican troops will evacuate the territory of Texas, passing to the

other side of the Eio Grande del Norte." This to the Texan mind
of the period might be construed to mean an acknowledgment of

the Eio Grande as a boundary line, but this interpretation would
not hold in an unprejudiced court. The secret agreement was
more explicit. Article 4 stated that, "A treaty of commerce,

amity, and limits, will be established between Mexico and Texas,

the territory of the latter not to extend beyond the Eio Bravo del

^Cox, in The Qtjaeteelt, VI, 98-99.

^Barker, in The South in the Building of the Nation, III, 364.

Uhid., Ill, 365.

^Barker, in The Quaeteelt, IV, 259.

''Houston to Rusk, May 3, 1836, in Yoakum. Eistonj of Texas, II, 154,
note 2.

"Treaty of Velasco, in Yoakum, History of Texas, II, 526-529.
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Norte." This statement is typical of the wily Santa Anna. Al-
though he was a prisoner, he was guaranteeing that the Mexican
government would make a treaty, but at the same time leaving a
loophole for repudiation in the clause concerning boundaries.
Santa Anna's meaning is made clear by a letter to Houston JSTo-

vember 5, 1836, in which, after urging that he be sent to Washing-
ton, he says : ,

•

Convinced as I am that Texas will never reunite with Mexico, I
am desirous, on my part, to improve the advantages which may
offer, and avoid the sacrifices which will occur should an impor-
tant attempt be made to reconquer this countr}^, which has hith-
erto proved more detrimental than beneficial: consequently reduc-
ing the Texan question to this single point—the regulation of the
limits between the United States and Mexico, . . . which, you
are aware, has been pending many years, and may be fixed at the
Nueces, del Norte, or any other boundary, as may be decided on
at Washington.^

If the Texans had put the most favorable interpretation upon
the wording of the treaty of Velasco, they could not misunder-
stand this letter. The treaty of Velasco did not place the bound-
ary at the Rio Grande ; the question of the validity of that treaty,

therefore, is of no consequence.^ A garbled statement of the

treaty, often used as authority, is given by Foote.^^

2. Proposals of Austin and ^¥^larton.—'E\g\^t days after Santa
Anna's letter to Houston, Stephen P. Austin, secretary of state,

wrote to W. H. Wharton, Texan Minister Plenipotentiary to the

United States, as follows

:

As regards the boundaries of Texas, perhaps this question cannot
be definitely settled at present; it may, however, be important for
you to explain the views of this government on this point. You
will therefore use the following as you may deem necessary. We
claim and consider that we have possession to the Eio Bravo del

Norte. Taking this as the basis, the boundary of Texas would be
as follows. Beginning at the mouth of said Eiver on the Gulf of

Mexico, thence up the middle thereof, following its main channel,
including the Islands to its most northerly Source, thence in a

^Santa Anna to Houston, November 5, 1836, in Yoakum, History of
Texas, II, 530-531.

"See Garrison, Westward Extension, 106, for another view.

"Foote, Tewas and the Texans, II, 526-528.
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direct line to the United States boundary under the treaty of
De Onis at the head of Arkansas river, thence down said river
and following the United States line as fixed by said De Onis
treaty to the Gulf of Mexico at the mouth of" Sabine, thence
Southwardly along the Shore of said Gulf to the place of begin-
ning, including the adjacent islands, soundings etc . . .

Should it appear that very serious embarrassments or delays will
be produced by insisting on the above described line, the follow-
ing alterations might be made on the Western boundary—Instead
of the Eio Bravo, beginning on the West of the Gulf of Mexico,
half way between the mouth of the Bravo and the inlet of Corpus
Christi, which is the main outlet of the Nueces river and bay
into the Gulf, thence in a northwestwardly direction following the
dividing ridge of high land that divides the waters of the Fueces
river and bay, from those of the river Bravo to the hills or moun-
tains in which the main branch of the said Fueces Eiver has its

Source, and thence following said ridge or chain of mountains,
westerly so as to strike the Eiver Puerco or Pecos five leagues
above its mouth. . . . Prom the place where the line will
strike the Puerco it is to follow the ridge or mountain that di-

vides its waters from those of Eio Bravo, and to continue along
said mountains above the head of said Puerco or Pecos to the
United States line, at the head of the Arkansas Eiver. The Bravo
as a line would cut off many settlements and some villages of
native Mexicans and divide the populous valley of New Mexico.
It therefore may be seriously objected to. The other line along the
dividing ridge includes no Mexican population except Bexar and
Goliad whose inhabitants have joined the cause of Texas and are
represented in Congress. . . . The Salt lakes or ponds be-
tween the JSTueces and Eio Bravo are of incalculable value and
would supply a great amount of this article in the christalized
form—the last mentioned line would divide them, the first would
include them all.^

Such in part were the instructions to Wharton, who was going

on a mission to the United States to attempt to bring about two
desired ends, i, e., recognition of the independence of Texas and
annexation to the United States.- Austin could hardly have been

ignorant of Santa Anna's letter to Houston, for Houston had been

president since October 23.^ He was evidently voicing the ideas

of the president. The proposal of a second line is interesting in

^Austin to Wharton, November 18, 1836, in Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt.,
1907, II, 132-133.

-lUd., II, 127. ; ,
,

,

,

^lUd., II, 23. ,
.

'

'



284 Texas Historical Association Quarterly

the light of happenings of the following month. Tlie advantages

of acquiring New Mexico were not entirely convincing, although at

a later date the repiiljlie was willing to attempt to acquire it by
force of arms.^

In his private instructions to Wharton, Austin made it plain

that the leaders who were directing affairs were not ansious for

annexation. He said,

Notwithstanding the vote of the people at the September election,

in favor of annexation, you are aware that very many persons of
influence who voted for that measure, merely yielded to the pe-
culiar circumstances of the time, and incline strongly to the opin-
ion, that Texas ought to remain a separate and independent Ee-
public. Should our affairs assume a more favorable aspect by a
termination of the war, and a treaty with Mexico, and by the mani-
festation of a friendly disposition towards us by England and
France, it will have a powerful influence on public opinion; and
in all probability decide in favor of remaining independent.

Austin then explained that if the United States was inclined to

be indifferent or to impose "unjust and hard terms" in receiving

Texas, Wharton was to induce England and France to acknowl-

edge the independence of Texas and to interpose with Mexico to

procure an acknowledgment with the boundary line at the Eio

Grande. Feeling that the size of Texas might deter the United

States from admitting it, Au.stin gave Wharton the interesting task

of showing that it was much smaller than was generally supposed.

"It probably will not exceed One hundred thousand Square Miles,

supposing the western boundary to be on the dividing ridge be-

tween the Elvers Nueces and Puerco, and the Eiver Bravo, which

it is probable will be the line finally established."-

Wharton's reply stated that lie believed that Austin must be

greatly in error in supposing that Texas contained only one hun-

dred thousand square miles. He proposed a third line which

would follow up the Eio Grande to the Mexican "settlement"

then follow the mountains, leaving all of the valley of the upper

Eio Grande to Mexico.''*

^Garrisoji. Westward Extension, 107-lOS.

-Austin to Wharton, November 18, 183G. Private and Special instruc-

tions, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt., 1907. II, 138-139.

^Wliarton to Austin, December 11, 1836, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Bpt..

1907, II, 151-154.
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S. The Boundary Defined by the Texas Congress.—Before
Wharton's letter could have arrived an act of the Tesas Congi-ess,

of December 19, 1836, had defined the boundary line as begin-
nico- at the mouth of the Rio Grande and following that stream to

its source. Houston's idea had evidently overruled the more cau-

tious Austin.^

Santa Anna was sent to Washington, reaching there January 18,

1887.2 He conveyed the impression that he would l)e reinstated

in power and that then all diflficulty would cease. Jackson in-

formed Wharton "that he had conversed freely with Santa Anna
in regard to extending the at present open southwestern line so as

to include Texas and that their views and wishes were in entire

accordance."^ Three days later Wharton wrote to Austin that

"the conclusion of the war would afford a favorable opportunity

of extending by treaty the at present open South Western bound-
ary of this Government to the Eio del Norte, with the assent of

Mexico and Texas."* It is evident from this that Wharton had
received no information at this time of the declaration regarding

boundaries. Even Austin's letter to Wharton of December 19,

the day of the passage of the act, failed to mention the matter. It

is evident from a perusal of the correspondence between Decem-
ber 19 and February 5, that the question of annexation was para-

mount and that the idea of boundaries had been lost in the larger

question.^

J^. Expansionist Views.—In February the idea was suggested

to "\^Tiarton by Jackson "that Texas must claim the Californias

on the Pacific in order to paralyze the opposition of the Forth and
East to annexation. That the fishing interest of the Kortli and
East wish a harbor on the Pacific; that this claim of the Cali-

fornias will give it to them and will diminish their opposition to

annexation. He is very earnest and anxious on this point of

claiming the Californias and says we must not consent to less.

This is strict confidence. Glory to God in the highest.'"* This

^Garrison, 'Westioard Extension, 106-107.

"Wharton to Austin, January 17, 1837, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt.,
1907, II, 176-177.

^Wharton to Houston, February 2, 1837. 76iV7., II, 180.

HUd., February 5, 1837, II, 183.

^Various letters, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Epf., 1907, II, 156-181.
"Wharton to Ruslc, No. 9 (n. d.), Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt., 1907,

II, 193-194.
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was promptly reported to Eusk in the above enthusiastic manner,
and no donbt voiced the view of many Texans who wished to form
a great republic. Many in eastern Texas had expressed the opin-

ion that the eastern Mexican provinces ought to be united in one
state. But the idea of Jackson was still more expansive, and it

evidently pleased "\'\niarton.i

The recognition of the independence of Texas was the last offi-

cial act of Jackson.2 This step cleared the political atmosphere.

The uncertainty of the action of the United States being ended,

the Texan diplomats again took up the question of the Rio Grande
boundary.

Catlett, secretary of the Texas legation, on April 15, wrote to

Henderson, secretary of state, that he had conversed with Gen-
eral Eipley, who urged the seizure of Matamoras and Brazos San-
tiago and the establishment of a town on the eastern side of the

Eio Grande.^* Six weeks later Hunt urged Henderson that a loan

be made, the money to be used to take up a position on that river.

He believed that an offensive war should then commence at once,

and be pushed, even to an advance on Mexico City.* In view of the

fact that Texas was in a weak condition at that time, without
credit abroad, with resources exhausted at home, and on the verge

of anarchy, it is interesting to note the aggressive views of the

diplomats.^ In July the idea of otfensive war was taking definite

shape; an expedition under Felix Huston against Matamoras and
Tampico was planned,'' in spite of the fact that a large part of

the Texan troops had been granted furloughs the previous May.^
General Plumrner, who was then in the United States raising

troops, was expected to assist.**

5. Moderate Wislies of the Texan Governyncnt.—In iiugust the

^Yoakum, History of Texas, II, 56.

^^Wharton and Hunt to Henderson, March 5, 1837, Am. Hist. Assoc.,
Ann. Fpt., 1907, 11, 201.

^Catlett to Henderson, April 15, 1907, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt.,

1907, II, 207.

'Hunt to Henderson, May .30, 1837, ihid, II, 222-223.

''Irion to Hunt, June 26, 1837, ihid., II, 233.

"Henderson to Houston, .July 20, 1837, ihid., II, 244. -

T^oakum, History of Texas, II, 215-216.

'Henderson to Houston, July 20, 1837, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt.. 1007,
II, 244.
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tone of the Texan government underwent a decided change, no
doubt the financial depression above noted having its effect
Irion, secretary of state, wrote to Hunt in August as follows-
^7ith respect to the southwestern boundary this Eepublie claims
to the Pao Grande. Should the United States however object to
this extension of our Territory insist only on the former limits of
Texas, which were fixed by the Government of Mexico at the Elver
Nueces. Should insuperable objections arise to receiving this Ee-
publie as a State negotiate for admission as a Territory." This
implies a willingness to surrender all previous positions regarding
the boundary and to acknowledge the legality of the Nueces line.^
In replying to this communication. Hunt makes no mention of the
boundar3^; he was evidently engrossed with the larger question of
annexation.-

IvTothing further of importance concerning the boundary line is
found m the diplomatic correspondence until January 31, 1838.
At that time Hunt wrote a lengthy despatch to Irion in which he
stated that on November 15 he had believed that a war between
the United States and Mexico was imminent, and that the Eio
Grande would be made the southwestern boundary of the United
States.^' His despatch of November 15, however, failed to convey
such an import.* In January he was convinced that the United
States would not make war, and that the question of annexation
was beset with insurmountable difficulties. He was pessimistic in
regard to the Preston resolutions which affirmed the right and ex-
pediency of making the Eio Grande the southwest boundary of the
United States, prophesying that they would be laid upon the table
In spite of rebuffs on tlie subject of annexation, the expansionist
Texan view was uppermost in Hunt's mind, for in a conversation
with Forsyth regarding the northern boundarv, when asked as to
how far Texas contemplated running that boundary, he replied
"As far as the Pacific Ocean," but he later admitted that he had
not been authorized to do so by his government."
March 31, 1838, Irion wrote to Hunt officially stating the bound-

^rion to Hunt, August 13, 1837, Hid., II, 257.
'Hunt to Irion, October 21, 1837, ihicL, II, 266-267.
'IMd., January 31, 1838, ihid., II, 285.
^lUd., November 15, 1837, II, 267-268.
'Ibid., January 31, 1838, II, 286-288.
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aries of Texas as defined in December, 1836, and saying that

Texas did not wish to run the northern boundary west of the 100th

degree of west longitude, leaving a distance of eight or nine de-

grees to be run at a future time when it could be done with less

expense—a statement that showed that the government was more

conservative than its diplomats.^ In spite of this. Hunt was still

bent on running the line to the Pacific. He believed that the

United States was "very desirous . , , to procure the Bay of

St. Francisco." He urged that it would be indispensable to Texas,

if the final treaty of peace with Mexico left her a separate power,

to possess that fine harbor.- Irion replied rather testily, "You
seem to entertain erroneous opinions with regard to the views of

this Government in relation to our western boundary line." He
again explicitly stated the boundary, and ended by saying, "With

respect to the Bay of San Francisco, the South Sea and Pacific

Ocean, and the territories bordering thereon, this Government, at

the present time, has no concern. ... At a future time this

Government may, and probably will, by concjuest or negotiation,

extend its boundary to the Pacific ; but during existing relations

the President cannot perceive in what manner speculations con-

cerning the territory referred to have any relevancy to the ques-

tion now under consideration."^

G. Mediation by tlie United States Proposed.—The question of

boundary was not again brought into the diplomatic coiTcspondence

until General Eichard G. Dunlap was sent to the United States

as Minister Plenipotentiary. His instructions were drawn up by

James Webb, acting secretary of state under Lamar. As they evi-

dently voice the intentions of that administration they are worthy

of extended examination. The question of annexation was

dropped, and instead, the United States was to be asked to become

a mediator to bring to an end the difficulties existing between

Texas and Mexico. In the settlement of the difficulties the bound-

ary act of December 19, 1836, was to be insisted upon, but if

Dunlap failed to get a recognition of independence from Mexico

with an acknowledgment of those limits, he was to endeavor to

obtain the recognition of independence, leaving the question of lim-

^Irion to Hunt, March 21, 1838, ibid.. II, 319.

=riiint to Irion, April 13, 1838, iUd., II, 324.

=Irion to Hunt, May 18, 1838, ihid., II, 327-328.
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its to be settled by future negotiations. If both of these proposi-
tions failed, he was to attempt to obtain an armistice for two years
provided it would apply to all territory claimed by Texas, the
annistice to be guaranteed by the United States.^

After forming an opinion of the situation at Washington, Dun-
lap wrote to Lamar. He said that Secretary Forsyth had hinted
that money would settle the difficulty with Mexico, and reminded
Lamar that the matter had come up in a cabinet meeting in which
it was believed that Texas might purchase the lands between the
Nueces and Eio Grande "witJiout loosing character." He tlien

took up the proposal formerly made by Hunt. "How would you
like to have the boundary of the Eepublic to run to the Pacific so
as to include California? This may seem too grasping, but if we
can get it ought we not to take it and pay for it? Texas is the ris-

ing sun of the day. . . ."^ June 28, Dunlap again urged that
money be paid to JMexico, stating, "When we commence a purchase,
it may be easy to extend our limits.''^ By August 29 Dunlap had'
not heard from his government regarding their views on the sub-
ject, and again inquired concerning them.* In October he again
took up the subject although he had received no instructions. He
had broached the matter to Martinez, the Mexican minister, but
naturally received an unfavorable reply,^ in spite of the fact that

he made a proposal that Texas give a money equivalent. « On
January 12, 1840, Dunlap informed Burnet that he had received
notice that the Senate had refused to ratify his nomination as

Minister to the United States. This did not deter him from
again urging the acquisition of California, expressing the fear that
the United States had designs upon that country.^ Dunlap re-

mained at Washington until relieved by Bee, who arrived April
20, 1840.*

7. Refusal of Mexico to Treat ivith Texas.—It is necessary to

^Webb to Dunlap, March 13, 1839, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt., 1907
IT, 368-370.

'

=Dunlap to Lamar, May 16, 1839, ihid., II, 385.

'Dunlap to Burnet, June 28, 1839, ibid., II, 407.

*Ibid., August 26, 1839, Am. Hist. Assoc., Bpt., 1907, II, 417.

Ubid., October 12, 1839, II, 419.

'Dunlap to Martinez, October 8, 1839, ibid., II, 422.

'Dunlap to Burnet, January 12, 1840, ibid., II, 435.

'Bee to Lipscomb, April 21, 1840, ibid., II, 447.
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turn back to the spring of 1839 to ascertain tlie attempts that

Texas made to open direct commnnication with Mexico. About the

time that Dunlap was sent to Washington Barnard E. Bee was

sent to Mexico. Santa Anna was again in power, and it was be-

lieved that the mission would meet with success.^ Bee was armed

with a proposition to offer five million dollars for the recognition

of Texan independence, but upon the condition that the boundary

be placed at the Eio Grande instead of the Nueces.^ The proposi-

tion, however, was never presented, as the Mexican government re-

fused to receive the minister.-''

8. Attempts to Secure British Mediation.—A large amount of

the Mexican debt at this time was in the hands of English l3ond-

holders. Gordon, a representative of the house of Lizardi and

Company, a British firm representing Mexican interests in Lon-

don, wrote to Pakenham, the British minister at Mexico, inform-

ing him of Bee's proposal. Gordon proposed that Mexico satisfy

the English bondholders to the amoimt of $5,000,000 by locating

lands for them between the Nu.eces and Eio Grande, receiving that

amount from Texas and agreeing to the Eio Grande boundary.

This plan came to naught because of the rejection of Bee. Goro-

stiza, the Mexican foreign minister, stated that Mexico would

never consent to such a limit, and suggested that if a boundary

were eventually fixed it would be desirable to have an European

government guarantee it.* A similar proposal that England guar-

antee a treaty which would settle the boundary line was made by

Texas.= England, however, refused to guarantee the line at this

time.*

Early in 1840 James Treat, who was sent to Mexico by Texas,

arrived at his station.' He was to present a proposition that

peace be made, or failing in that, that an armistice be affected,

both of which propositions hinged upon the acceptance of the Eio

iWebb to Dunlap, March 14, 18.39, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt., 1907,

II, 376.

^Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 2G-27.

^Dnnlap to Forsyth, June 26, 1839, Am. Hist. Assoc., Ann. Rpt., 1907,

II, 408.

^Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 26-28.

mid., 40.

mid., 42.

UMd., 41.
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Grande boiindarv. By October it was known that Treat's mission
had failed, the Mexican government stating that if an armistice

were feasible, the line of separation must be the San Antonio
river. ^

In December, 1839, General James Hamilton was sent abroad
to attempt to secure a loan of five million dollars.^ Before going
he had had considerable correspondence with Pakenham concern-
ing the English bondholders. He urged a proposal ostensibly the

same as Bee's.^' He visited England and then France in 1840 and
by February 4, 1841, he wrote that he believed the French loan

would be successful. Unforeseen circumstances, however, arose

and the loan was denied.* He afterward visited Brussels and
London, but before anything definite was concluded the Lamar ad-

ministration had ended. The new administration of Houston was
extremely economical and immediately repealed all laws authoriz-

ing the five million loan.-"^

The failure of Hamilton's overtures crippled the military pro-

gram of the Lamar administration. Yoakum says, "It is believed

that, had General Hamilton negotiated the loan, the army of at

least ten thousand men would have marched into Mexico in 1841."

"Texas proper," said Burnet, "is bounded by the Bio Grande:
Texas, as defined by the sword, may comprehend the Sierra del

Madre. Let the sword do its proper work.'"*

November 14, 1840, a treaty between England and Texas was
signed, which was to be ratified in six months. It stated in part,

that Texas had accepted the English offer of mediation, and were
England successful in mediating with Mexico, Texas would assume
one million pounds sterling of the Mexican debt, which was practi-

cally the Bee proposal which Mexico had already rejected.'^ The
third part of the treaty which dealt with the suppression of the

slave trade was not forwarded with the other treaties and hence
the Texan congress had not had an opportunity of fair examina-

^Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 45-48.

^'Yoakum. History of Texas, II, 282; Adams, British Interests and Ac-
tivities in Texas, 36.

^Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 36-38.

Yoakum, History of Texas, II, 314-318.

'Hid., II, 340.

nhid., II, 318.

'Adams, British Interests and Activities in Texas, 58-59.
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tion of the whole situation. In consequence Palmerston refused

to ratify the treaties at tliis time.^

Thus we find that the financial and the two chief features of

the diplomatic program of Lamar's administration, namely, recog-

nition by England and Mexico, had failed. It remained for him

to put his military plans into operation in the expedition against

Santa Fe in the endeavor to make good the claim to the Eio

Grande.-

9. Summary.—To sum up the situation: Between 1821 and

the battle of San Jacinto, the boundary line was legally the

Nueces, although Coahuila and Texas appear to have encroached

upon Tamaulipas during this period. The first mention by the

Texans of the Eio Grande as a boundary was made during the

Fredonian war. The suggestion of that river as a boundary came

from Houston before the treaty of Velasco, which treat^y, however,

did not definitely state the boundary line. Before the declaration

of boundary by the Texan government, Austin was in doubt con-

cerning the line, but thought that it ought to be the Eio Grande.

He instructed the Texan minister to the United States to that

effect, but stated that smaller limits would be accepted if the Eio

Grande boundary stood in the way of annexation. The Texan

congress declared the boundary at the Eio Grande soon after. The

suggestion was made in 1837 by Jackson that Texas should claim

California. Texan independence was recognized the same year,

and in July Texas planned an ofl'ensive war against Mexico. In

August a change in the views of Texan statesmen took place ;
Texas

appeared anxious for annexation and was willing to sacrifice the

land as far as the Nueces to accomplish it. In 1838 and 1839

the Texan diplomats at Washington were in favor of an expansion

of territory to the Pacific, but the home government entertained

no such view. In 1839, the question of annexation having been

dropped for the time being, the Texan government bent its efforts

upon securing the assistance of the United States to act as medi-

ator in securing the recognition of Texan independence by Mexico,

with the boundary at the Eio Grande. In the same year and in

1840 Texas made unsuccessful attempts to negotiate with the Mex-

*Adams, British Interests and Aetivities in Texas, 67-68.

^Garrison, Westward Extension, 107-108.
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ican government directly. Difficulties beset the Lamar adminis-

tration, Hamilton's negotiations for a loan having failed, and the

treaty with England not being ratified at this time. Such was the

situation when the Texan Santa Pe expedition was sent out.
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SOME HISTOKTCAL ACTIVITIES OF THE TEXAS
LIBKAEY AND HISTOEICAL COMMISSION

E. W. WIisTKLER

I. BRIEF HISTORY OF THE BILL CREATING THE COMMISSION"

The Texas State Historical Association was organized March 2,

1897. During the session of the legislature in 1899 a bill was in-

trncluced having for its object the creation of a Texas Historical

Commission. The Conmiission was to consist of the Commissioner

of Agriculture, Insurance, Statistics and History, who was ex offi-

cio State Librarian at that time, and of two other persons,.mem-
bers of the Texas State Historical Association, to be appointed by

tiie Governor. The name, personnel and functions of this pro-

posed Commission indicate clearly where it originated. The bill

passed the senate, but died on the calendar in the house because it

was not looked after by those who had it in hand.

The State Federation of Women's Literary Clubs was organized

May 13, 1897. This new organization inaugurated an enthusiastic

campaign for libraries. A glance at the date of opening in a list

of Texas public libraries illustrates this fact. The president of

the Federation in her annual address in April, 1899, in reviewing

the year's work, said, ''The leading interest of our federation year

has been the work for libraries." The special library committee

gave an excellent account of its work, and concluded its report

with the statement that it hoped that the movement so auspiciously

begun would "grow and spread until our grand state shall be

so permeated as to compel favorable legislation, and Texas shall

lead the other states in the liberaJity of her library laws."

The increase in the number of libraries in this State led to the

organization of the Texas Library Association on June 9, 1902.

The number of library workers was still too small to maintain an

organization, so it drew generously for its support and member-
ship upon the women's clubs. In turn it provided the library

movement begun and carried on by the clubs with a number of

trained leaders and indefatigable workers.

A bill to create a State Library Commission was introduced in
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the legislature in 1903. The proposed commission was to consist

of five members appointed by the Grovernor. The Commission had

charge of library extension only; there was to be no connection be-

tween it and the State Library. The bill failed to pass. Two
years later the same bill was again introduced. However, it had

been changed so as to extend the Commission's control over the

State Library. This bill also failed to pass. In 1907, a bill

much more carefully drawn but along the lines of that of 1905,

was introduced. To the provisions of this bill was added the leg-

islative reference section, and to the five appointive members were

added two ex officio members—the superintendent of public in-

struction and the president of the University of Texas. Owing to

peculiar conditions in the legislature, this bill failed to pass. The
bill introduced in 1909 resembled that of 1907 in all its provisions,

but changed the title to Texas Library and Historical Commis-

sion, reduced the appointive members to three, and substituted the

professor of history in the University of Texas for the president

of that institution. This readjustment in the name and member-
ship of the commission was in thorough accord with the provi-

sions already embodied in the bill, and in the opinion of some

helped the passage of the measure in no small degree. The law

went into effect March 19, 1909.

II. DUTIES OF THE COMMISSION"

The duties of the Texas Library and Historical Commission
may be briefly summarized as follows:

1. To control and administer the State Library and to main-

tain therein a legislative reference section "for the use and infor-

mation of the members of the legislature, the heads of the several

state departments, and such other citizens as may desire to consult

the same."

2. To conduct library extension work. "The commission shall

give advice to such persons as contemplate the establishment of

public libraries in regard to such matters as the maintenance of

public libraries, selection of books, cataloguing and library man-
agement. The commission shall have conducted librarv institutes,

and encourage library associations."

3. To perform the functions of a department of archives and
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history. Tlie commission is directed by law "to collect materials

relating to the history of Texas and the adjoining states, to pre-

serve, classify and piil)lish the manuscript archives and snch other

matters as it may deem proper, to diifiise laiowledge in regard to

the history of Texas, to encourage liistorical work and research,

[and] to mark historic sites and houses and secure their preserva-

tion."

As it is with the duties of the commission enumerated under

the last sub-division that this paper concerns itself, it may not be

out of place to go someMd:at into the details of the provisions of

the law relating thereto. The various materials which the com-

mission is authorized to collect may be acquired by purchase, 2:ift,

exchange, transfer, or on deposit. Acting under the direction of

tlie commission the state librarian shall

collect [1] all manuscript records relating to the history of Texas
now in the hands of private individuals . . . [He] shall en-

deavor to procure from Mexico the original archives which have
been removed from Texas and relate to the history and settlement

thereof, and in case he can not procure the originals, he shall en-

deavor to procure authentic copies thereof. In like manner he
shall procure the originals or authentic copies of manuscripts pre-

served in other archives beyond the limits of the State, in so far

as said manuscripts relate to the history of Texas. [2] He shall

seek diligently to procure a copy of every book, pamphlet, map or

other printed matter giving valuable information concerning this

State. [3] He shall endeavor to complete the files of the early

Texas newspapers noAv in the State Library, and he shall cause to

be boimd the current tiles of not less than ten of the leading news-
papers

.
of the State, and the current files of not less than four

leading newspapers of other States, and as many of the county
papers, professional journals, denominational papers, agidcultural

papers, trade journals and other publications of this State as seem
necessary to preserve in the State Library an accurate record of

the history of Texas. [4] He shall collect portraits or photo-

graphs of as many prominent men of Texas as possible. [5] He
shall constantly endeavor to build up an historical museum worthy
of the interesting and important history of this State. [Last but
not least, 6] He shall demand and receive from the officers of

State departments having them in charge, all books, mapc, papers,

^manuscripts, documents, memoranda and data not connected with
or necessarv to the current duties of said officers, relating to the

history of Texas, and carefully classify, catalogue and preserve the

same.
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III. REVIEW OF TME COMMISSION'S WORK

The broad and liberal terms of the law as set forth above have

perhaps excited the curiosity and raised high the expectations of

the reader in regard to what has been accomplished. It is better,

therefore, to remind him at the outset that it is one thing to have

prepared drawings and specifications for a beautiful structure, and

qnite another matter to obtain the money with which to erect the

same. The law ontlines the work to be done by the commission.

The biennial appropriation indicates the resources available for

doing this work. Beference to the last appropriation bill will

show that of necessity only a small portion of the commission's

task could be performed during the past two years.

1. Books.—While it might prove interesting to this audience

to mention some of the books and pamphlets relating to the his-

tory of Texas that Iiave been acquired since March 19, 1909, time

and space forbid. A few of the larger works, bearing more or less

directly on the field of Southwestern history, can be touched upon.

a. Pvblications of the Hakluyt Society, 1848-1906, First

Series, 100 volumes. Second Series, volumes 1-18. These series

embrace the voyages and travels of the great age of discovery

which inaugurated the period of modern history. Columbus,

Cortes, De Soto, and Cabeza de Yaca are some of those whose writ-

ings are included.

b. BilUoteca Hispano-Americana, 1493-1810. For Jose Tcri-

bio Medina. Santiago de Chile, 189S-1907. 7 vols. In this com-

prehensive bibliography of Spanish America the works are listed

in the chronological order of their publication, and in alphabeti-

cal order when there are several publications for the same year.

Each publication is described; the location of some of them in

public libraries is indicated; reference is made to other bibliogra-

phies in which they are included; and an account of the authors

is supplied in some instances. Each volume has an index to the

names of authors, but there is no general index to the set. The
titles listed are distributed as follows:
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Number of
volume.

Date of
publication, Titles listed.

1-449

Years covered by
these titles.

I

TI

III

IV
V

^^I

VII

1898
1900
1900

1901
1903
1902
1907

450-1153
1153-2023
2024-4284
4285-6151
6152-7737

7 738-8481

1493-1600
1601-1650
1651-1700
1701-1767
1768-1810

16. .-1806

1567-1738

It will be observed that volumes six and seven are siippleirien-

tary to the first five volumes.

e. The Soidli. in the Building of tlie Nation. Biehmond, 1909-

1910. 10 volumes. The subtitle of this work is "A histor}' of

the Southern States designed to record the South's part in the

making of the American nation; to portray the character and

genius, to chronicle the achievements and progress and to illus-

trate the life and traditions of the Southern people." The brevity

and large number of subjects treated give the work very much the

character of a cyclopedia. The longer articles on Texas are the

following •}

Texas as a part of Mexico. By C. W. Hutson.

Texas as a Eepnblic. By E. C. Barker.

Texas in the Federal Union. By S. P. Brooks.

Texas in the Confederacy. By C. W. Eamsdell.

Texas in the New Nation. By C. W. Eamsdell.

The State Finances of Texas. By E. T. Miller.

d. Library of Soutliern Literature. Atlanta, 1909. 15 vols.

This work sets itself the task "to represent comprehensively and

in adequate amount the literary life of the Southern people of the

United States." The following Texans have been given space in

this work :^

Amelia E. Barr. By Mrs. Clara Driscoll Sevier.

William A. Chittenden. By John A. Lomax.

"^In the biographical section of this work ( Volume x, page 338) Judge
John H. Eeagaii's name is incorrectly given as "Joseph" H. Reagan.

"Among the inscriptions printed in Volume 14 are those of the Alamo
Monument. Unfortunately, the best known of these inscriptions is in-

correctly quoted : "Thermopylae had her messenger of dea th but the
Alamo had none." The italicised word should be defeat. To make the
error the more glaring, reference is made to Volume VI of The Qtjae-
TERLY, wliere the inscription is correctly given.
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David Crockett. "By James M. Grainger.

Eobert Louis Dabney. By J. Gray McAllister.

Mary Evelyn Moore Davis. By William B. Smith.^

Lafayette Enpert Hamberlin. By P. H. Eager.

Sam Houston. By George P. Garrison.

Mirabeau B. Lamar. Bv A. W. Terrell.

CIarence Ouslev. Bv Rev. William M. Harris.

J. P. Sjolander. By Hilton E. Greer.

Stark Young. By E. A. Law.

2. Newspapers.—The commission has had the pleasure of add-

ing a number of files, or portions of files, of early Texas news-

papers to those already in the State Lil)ra.ry.

a. Telegraph and Texas Register. A bound file of this paper

from June 12, 1837, to August 4, 1S38, was presented by Mrs.

Wells Thompson. The volume is not in as perfect condition as

could be wished: as Mrs. Thompson expressed it, "the book has

gone through all the storms, hurricanes and cyclones of the Mata-

gorda coast."

b. Texas State Gazette. A partial file of this paper for the

period from September 17, 1855, to March 22, 1862, was among
the articles included in Mrs. Thompson's valuable gift. This

paper was published at Austin.

c. New Orleans Weeldy Delia. Included in Mrs. Thompson's
gift there was an almost complete file of this important New Or-

leans paper for the period from October 18, 1847, to February 1,

1862.

d. De Bow's Review. There was among the materials pre-

sented by Mrs. Thompson a fairly complete, unbound file of this

important journal, beginning with January, 1846, and extending

to 1870. "This review was to commerce, manufactures, agricul-

ture, internal improvements, and industrial activity in any line,

what the Soviliern Literary Messenger was to literature, while in

histoiy they met on common ground. Its field was the south, west

and southwest; it undertook to defend their rights, develop their

^In the biographical sketch of Mrs. Davis is found this sentence: "In
1870, at the age of eighteen, she published at Houston her first volume,
'Minding the Gap, and other poems,' which attained much popularity
and passed through several editions." Copies of this volume "Minding
the Gap," etc., in the State Library show that it was first published in
1867.
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resources^ collect and preserve their statistics, and during mucli of

its existence, made these subjects superior to the questions of

national politics."^ IsTo effort will be made to refer to all the

articles on Texas in this review, but it may be well to direct

attention to some of the more important, which have been noted

in this incomplete file:

St. Denis's expedition to Mexico. IT, 215-224.

Early times in Texas. X, 166-175, 413-423.

Life and times of Lafitte. XI, 372-387; XII, 111-113, 222;

XIII, 101-2, 204-5, 422.

Bowie family. XIII, 378-383.

Memucan Hunt. XIII, 416-419, with portrait.

Captain John McHenry. By John Henry Brown. XIV, 46-48.

Captain ITeniT S. Brown. By John Henry Brown. XV, 572-

583.

Thomas J. Eusk. XXIII, 432-437.

Stephen F. Austin. By James H. Bell. XXIV, 114-136.

William S. Oldham. By E. Fontain. XXXVIII, 873-880.

e. Neil Brannfelser Zeitung. A file of this paper, covering the

period from November 25, 1853, to September 20, 1872, was one

of tlie important additions to the early Texas newspapers pub-

lished in German. This paper was edited by Ferdinand J. Lind-

heimer, a scholar who enjoyed international fame as a botanist.

"For twenty years he was editor and publisher of this paper, and

only the infirmities of age compelled him to lay aside his duties.

The Ncu Brannfelser Zeitung was nominally Democratic, but was

really-intended and actually conducted impartially in the interests

of the whole people and the editor was ever fearless in guarding

them against private interest and political graft."^

f. San Antonio Herald. The State Library has had for some

years an incomplete file of the San Antonio Daily Herald. It

covered the following dates:

August 4, 1857, to March 31, 1860.

November 27, 1865, to June 30, 1867.

January 1, 1868, to June 30, 1876.

^Stephen B. Weeks, in Tlie Literature of American History, 322.

^Eighteenth Annual Report of the Missouri Botanical Garden, 139.
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January 1 to June 30, 1S7S.

January 1 to December 31, 1879.

The period of the Civil War is entirely blank in this file. The
State Library has had many inquiries concerning the Herald dur-

ing the war, and many efforts were made to ascertain what be-

came of the missing file. A. C. Gray in his History of the Texas
Press conveys the impression that the Herald was published dur-

ing the war.i An addition to the file of this paper recently made
by the State Library shows that Mr. Gray is in error. It com-
prises the Sa7i Antonio Tri-WeeJdy Herald for the period from
August 29 to November 11, 1865, and the Daily Herald from
November 14, 1865, to December 30, 1866. In Volume I, Num-
ber 1, of the Tri-WeeUy Herald, issued August 39, 1865, appears
the following editorial paragraph:

In putting forth our Tri-Weeldy we are entering upon no un-
tried experiment, we having published in this city a Daily issue
for several years previous to the war, and in point of fact the
first Daily paper^ ever published in this State. The demand for
news in this city has never been so great as at present. This
demand it will be our earnest endeavor to supply. At an early
date the electric telegraph will be completed to this city, and from
that date a complete revolution will have been effected on the
v.'hole subject of news and newspapers. Truly, a new era that will
be, when, through the instrumentality of electricity (now that the
Atlantic has been spanned by the 'cable') the news from two con-
tinents shall be published simultaneously in San Antonio

!

The same paper, in its issue of October 38, 1865, noted the com-
pletion of the telegraph to San Antonio in the following para-

graphs :

It is with no ordinary satisfaction that we announce the com-
pletion of telegraphic communication to tliis city—an event which
took place day before yesterday . . . The office of the line is

located in the Menger Hotel, and is under the management of
our young friend, Mr. Charles Spellman ... He represents
that the line is in full working order to Austin, Houston and Gal-
veston, and through those places to all parts of the United States.

^Comprehensive History of Texas, II, 395, 405.

^The writer of this statement evidently had forgotten that The Morning
Star was published at Houston from April 8, 1839, until about the middle
of 1841 as a daily paper.
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We have made arraDgemexits for the reception and publication

of all news as it reaches Houston, having a special agent there to

forward it over the wires. Should we find our Tri-WeeHy too

slow for the new order of things, we shall resort to a Daily, being
determined to give the News full and fresh.

Within a fortnight the daily made its appearance ; the first issue,

dated November li, 1865, liad the following announcement:

Over seven years ago, the proprietors of the Snn Antonio Herald
commenced the publication of a Daily paper, which was continued
regularly until near the breaking out of the late war. We now
resume that paper . . .

g. Texas New YorVer. The commission has also added to the

newspaper files of the State Library the Texas Neiv Yorlcer for the

period from September, 1870, to August, 1872, and September,

1873. to August, 1874. This is a monthly publication, issued in

New Yoik city, by George H. Sweet, and was "devoted to making

known to the capitalist, merchant, mechanic, and emigrant the

agricultural, horticultural, stock-raising and other latent wealth of

Texas."

3. Afaimscripts.—The additions of manuscript materials dur-

ing the past two years have been important, and have added much
to the State Library's resources in this direction. It will not be

possible to enumerate every manuscript or document. The follow-

ing are the more important:

a. "Notes of Travel made by Geo. H. Sweet, of San Antonio,

Texas, on his trip through Mexico," July 6 to September 16, 1866,

is an interesting manuscript volum.e, 4x7 inches in size and num-
bering 16S pages. It was secured from a bookseller in Brooklyn,

New York.

b. Hutchinson's Diary. The valuable manuscript diarv of

Judge Anderson Hutchinson was obtained from a bookseller in

Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. The diary has been printed in The
Quarterly, XJII, 394-313.

c. Burnley Papers. The State Library has had for many 3rears

a collection of manuscripts called the Burnley Papers. During

the past year an important addition to the collection was made
from an altogether unexpected quarter. A. T. Burnley was loan
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commissioner of tlie Pepnblic of Texas.^ A number of important
original letters, relating to his financial mission were bid in by the
State Library at an auction sale in Js'ew York City.

d. Lost manuscripts recovered. The report of the Commis-
sioner of Agriculture, Insurance, Statistics and History for the
year 1891 contains the following statement:

The Spanish documents in the Archives of Bexar, relating to
the early settlement of Texas, were, by act of the legislahire,
August 25, 1856, translated and transferred, orio-inals and trans-
lations, to the office of the Secretary of State. These napers. con-
sisting of two thousand pages legal cap, appear bv Commissioner
Spajght's report in 1882, to have been lost for a while, then found
and recovered by himself from the legal representative of the
Alexander estate in Austin and restored" to their proper place of
deposit in this department as fixed by law. Some time between
1882 and 1886 these renowned documents, which had engrossed so
large a share of the public attention, to say nothing of ^heir cost
to the treasury, again disappeared from their place of custodv
without notice.

The translations referred to above were discovered bv the State
Librarian among the Spanish Archives of the General Land Office,

and after satisfactory proof was made they were turned over to
the State Library by Commissioner Eobison. A hasty and incom-
plete examination of the Nacogdoches Archives in the State Li-
brary shows that a large per cent of tlie originals from which the
translations were made are preserved in that collection. This dis-
covery furnishes an explanation to what has been a puzzling ques-
tion, namely, why so many documents that one would expect to
find in the Bexar Archives are actually among the ^Nacogdoches
Archives.

e. Eeagan Papers. On February 18th last, the John H.
Eeagan Papers were added to the State Library. An appropria-

tion for their purchase was made by the thirty-first legislatare.

While there has not been made any extensive examination of these

Papers, one is led to expect much material of value relating to

the history and public men of Texas since 1847, the ar proximate
date of Judge Eeagan's entry into public life.

f. The Lamar Papers. The most important addition to the

biographical sketch of A. T. Burnlev was printed in The Ouaeteelt!
XIV, 150-154.

'1
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historical archives of the State Library, however, vi^as the collec-

tion of manuscripts made by President Mirabeau B. Lamar. Their

purchase also was provided for by an act of the thirty-first legis-

lature. Lamar had planned to write a history of Texas, and also

a history of the Austin family ; the collection was made with these

ends in view. Notices of the Lamar Papers have appeared in The

Quarterly, IN, 58 and XTII, 81.

4. Plwnograi-ihic Record.—Governor Colquitt presented to the

State Library the phonographic record of Governor Hogg's address

to the Democratic Legislative Banquet at Dallas, November 6,

1905. This is popularly known as Governor Hogg's last speech.

He was ill when he composed it, and not being allowed to attend

the banquet made u^e of the phonograph to convey his message.

IV. PRINTIIfG THE TEXAS ARCHIVES

The collecting of the materials upon which must be based the

written history of this State is, of course, preliminary to all other

efforts But sufficient ]H-ogress has been made in this preliminary

work, as regards c-ertain portions of our history, to warrant mak-

ing a beginning in the publication of the historical record? of

Texas.

Together with its First Biennial Eeport, the Texas Library and

Historical Commission submitted a copy of the Secret Journals of

the Senate of the first eight congresses of the Eepublic of Texas,

and this is now in press. Plans are under way to follow up this

initial volume with others as rapidly as the materials can l^e pre-

pared and the funds that may be available will permit.

It is believed that such publication will give increased unpetus

to the study of Texas and Southwestern history as it will aug-

ment the opportunities of students. Certainly it will put the

sources of our history in more enduring form and place them be-

yond the chance of total loss that is always present so long as they

are preserved in manuscripts of which there is but one copy.
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LIFE OF A. HOETON AND EAELY SETTLEMENT OF
SAN AUGUSTINE COUNT

ALEXANDER HOETON

I was born in the state of North Carolina the 18th day of April,
1810. My father's name was Julius Horton, my mother's name
was Susannah Purnell. My father moved to the state of Louisiana
in 1818. He died in the month of May, 1818, leaving my mother
with nine helpless children. The names of the children were,
Nancy, Elisabeth, Sarah, Samuel, Sandy or Alexander, Martha,
Wade, Henry, Susan. My mother moved to Texas the first of
January, 1S?4., and settled in San Augustine, then called Ayish
Bayou. There were but a few people then living in the county.
I found James Gaines keeping a ferry on the Sabine Eiver. The
next house was Maximilian's. At the Pato Gaucho Bayou Macon
G. Call [lived]. The next settler was Brian Doughtery [Dough-
erty?], living at the place where EJisha Eoberts formerly lived.

The next place was Nathan Davis's. He lived at the crossing of
the Ayish Bayou, at the place where William Blount now resides,
but the houses were east of the houses where Mr. Blount now
resides. At that place lived John A. Williams. From there
there was no one living until you came to the place where Milton
Garrett lived ; then a man named Fuleher lived [there ?] . And at
or near the Atoyac lived Thomas Spencer. That was about the
number. of inhabitants living in this county the first of January
1834.

But the county from this date began to fill up rapidly. People

^This is the title given by the author to his autobiographical sketch
It IS dated. "San Augustine Oct 18 1891." At that time the writer wasm his eighty-second year. He died January 11, 1894. Though written
so long after the events which they describe, his recollections show little
evidence of being influenced by published accounts, and this apparent
independence naturally increases their value. The sketch is written in a
cheap account book, seven and a half by twelve inches in size. On ac-
count of its recent date, the Editors have not treated it as a document
but have corrected syntax, spelling, punctuation, and paragraphing The
language and style, however, are essentially unchanged. The Editors are
indebted to Miss Katie Daffan for obtaining the sketch from Colonel Hor
ton's daughter, Mrs. L. C. Neale, of San Augustine, with permission to
publish.
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began to make rapid improvements, and all things seemed pros-

perous. Among the early settlers of this count}^ were some of the

noblest men to be found in any county. They were generous, kind,

honest and brave. I will here give the names of many of them.

I will begin with David and Isaac Eenfroe, Elisha Roberts, Donald

McDonald, John Cartwright, Willis Murphy, Philip A. Sublett,

John Chumley, Nathan Davis, Obadiah Hendricks, John Bodine,

John Lout^ (?), Bailey Anderson, Benjamin Thomas, Wily

Thomas, Shedreck Thomas, Thomas Cartwright, Isaac Lindsey,

John G. Love, Martha Lewes and family, George Jones, Acalas

[Achilles] Johnston, Elias K. Davis, Theodore Dorset, John Dor-

set, Benjamin Lindsey, Stephen Prater, Wyatt Hanks, James and

Horatio Hanks, Solomon Miller, Hyram Brown, William Loid

[Loyd?]2 George Teel, Edward Teel, John Sprowl, James

Bridges, Eoss Bridges, Peter Galoway, John McGinnis. These

were the most [of the] earliest settlers of East Texas.

In 18:35 the people began to make rapid improvement, opening

large farms and building cotton gins. This year Elisha Eoberts,

John A. Williams, and John Sprowl each erected cotton gins on

the main road, for at that time there was no one living either

north or south of the old king's highway. In the year 1824 Wil-

liam Quirk built a mill on the Ayish Bayou just above where

Hawke's mill now stands. All things now went on harmoniously

for several years, the county filling up rapidly.

The first trouble we had came in 1827. This was what was

called the Fredonian war. This grew out of a quarrel between

the Mexican citizens of Nacogdoches and Colonel Hayden Edwards.

Colonel Edwards had obtained from the Mexican Government the

right to colonize the county south of the road leading from Nacog-

doches to the Sabine Eiver, and had settled in the town of Nacog-

doches with his family ; but a dispute arose soon between him and

the Mexican citizens in regard to their land matters. These

things were referred to the Mexican authorities, who at once de-

cided in favor of the Mexican citizens, and at once took from

Edwards his colonial grant and gave the colony to Antonio^ de

Zavala. This act aroused Edwards to desperation, and he at once

»0r Laut.

"Or Lord.

^This should be Lorenzo.
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proceeded to the United States and raised a large force of vol-
unteers, marched upon Nacogdoches, and after a short engage-
ment took the town, killing one Mexican and wounding several.
They then raised what they called the Fredonian flag and estab-
lished the Fredonian government. He (Edwards) then called
upon the citizens of Ayish, Sabine, and Teneha or Shelby to join.

This they refused to do, not seeing any cause for a war with
Mexico. This again aroused Edwards to desperation, and he at
once issued a proclamation, giving the citizens a given time to
join him, stating that all who did not do so were to be driven out
of the county, and their property confiscated. In furtherance of
this he sent down to this county about one hundred .men and
stationed them on the road about two miles east of the Ayish
Bayou. This threat, backed by such a force, entirely broke up
the county. Every citizen of this county with the bare exception
of Edward Teel and myself fled across the Sabine, and it did seem
as if all was lost. But at last the comforter came. The evening
before the Fredonians were to carry out their threat, to my great
joy and surprise, who sliould ride up to my mother's but my old
and well-tried friend Stephen Prater? A braver or more honest
man never lived in any county. He had with him about seventy-
five or one hundred Indian warriors, all painted and ready to exe-
cute any order given by Prater. When he rode up to my mother's
house he called me out and said, "not run away yet?" I told him
I had not left, and did not intend to leave. He then said, "are
you willing to join us and fight for your country?" I told him I
was. "Then," said he, "saddle your horse and follow me, for I
intend to take that Fredonian garrison in the morning or die in
the attempt." I at once saddled my horse, shouldered my rifle,

and fell into line. Stephen Prater had only eight white men with
him. The rest of the citizens had gone over Sabine for protection
from the government of the United States. I well remember all

of those he had with him : James Bridges, Sr., James Bridges, Jr.,

Eoss Bridges, Peter Galoway, and John McGinnis, his two sons^
Stephen and Freeman, and A. Horton. He marched that evening
up to within about four hundred yards of the Fredonian force,
dismounted his men, and at daylight in the morning marched them
up near the fortification. After telling them that the place was

'

to be taken by storm but that they were not to fire or kill any one
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unless fired on first he gave the order for a charge. When the

order was given to charge, the Indians raised the v?ar v?hoop, and

it was so terrible that the Fredonians threw down their arms and

begged for quarter, which was at once granted. They were all

disarmed and put under guard. Next day was the day that the

troops were to come down to carry out their threat of confiscation.

As fast as they arrived they were arrested and put under guard,

so that in the course of a few hours we had them all under guard.

When this news reached Nacogdoches Colonel Edwards and the

rest of the party fled to the United States, across the Sabine Elver

at Eichard Haley's crossing, and this was the last of the Fredonian

war. Tliis is a true and correct statement. Though many things

may have been left out or forgotten, what is stated is true and

correct.

All things after this went on smoothly. The Mexican govern-

ment was highly pleased with the part taken by the rimerieans,

and at once appointed officers to extend land titles to the colonists.

The county rapidly filled up with settlers.

In 1832 a civil war broke out in Mexico. President Bustamante

declared in favor of a monarchical form of government, and Gen-

eral Santa Anna in favor of the constitution of 1824. The Ameri-

cans everywhere in Texas took up arms in favor of Santa Anna.

At that time there was a regiment of Mexican soldiers stationed

at Nacogdoches, under the command of Colonel Piedras, who de-

clared in favor of the central government. The people of East

Texas declared in favor of the constitution of 1824, at once flew

to arms, and elected James AV. Bullock commander-in-chief.

James W. Bullock was a well-tried soldier. He had served under

the immortal Jackson in Indian wars, and Avas with him at the

battle of New Orleans. The Texians marched for the town of

Nacogdoches the last of July, 1832, and on the second of August

formed themselves in regular order of battle and demanded the

surrender of the place, or the raising of the Santa Anna flag.

Both of these Colonel Piedras refused to do, sending us word that

he was well prepared and ready to receive us. About 10 o'clock on

the 2d day of August the battle began. The Mexicans meeting us

at the entrance of the town, a furious fight commenced which lasted

all day, the Americans driving them from liouse to house until

they reached the "Sone Hons" [Stone House?]. There they made
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a desperate stand, but they were again driven from there into their

main fortification which was called the '"qiiartell." This ended
the fighting on the 3d of August. August 3 the Americans were
well prepared to commence the fight, but to their surprise they

found that the Mexicans had that night abandoned the town and
had retreated to the west. A call was made for volunteers to

follow them. Seventeen men at once volunteered to go after them,
attacked them at the crossing of the Angelina, and after a con-

siderable fight, in which the Mexicans lost their great cavalry

officer "Museus" [Musquiz?] the Mexican took possession of

John Burst's houses. The Americans then drew ofE and took a

strong position on the road west of the river, intending to ambush
the Mexicans and fight them to the Eio Grande, but after waiting

until late in the day we returned to see what the Mexicans were

doing. To our surprise, on arriving near the house, we saw a

white flag floating from Burst's chimney. We approached the

place with caution, for we had only seventeen men, and Piedras

had an entire regiment, but we approached as near as we thought

prudent, and Piedras and his officers came out and surrendered

themselves as prisoners of war. We then were at a loss to know
what to do with so many prisoners, so we hit upon the following

plan: it was ag-reed that Colonel Piedras and the officers should

be taken back to ISTacogdoches, and that the soldiers should remain

where they were until further orders. On arriving at Kacogdoches
with our prisoners a treaty was made by which Piedras and his

officers were paroled and sent home by the way of New Orleans,

pledging themselves not to take up arms any more during the war
unless fairly exchanged. This was an end to the war of 1832

[in East Texas].

I have forgotten the names of the seventeen men, but I remem-
ber some of them : I will begin with James Carter, Hiram Brown,
John ISToilin, William Loyd, Jack Thompson, George Davis, Hora-
tio Hanks, A. Horton, James Bradshaw, George Jones. The other

names I have forgotten.

When I arrived in Texas in 1824 it was so sparsely settled that

there were no regulations in any legal form. As we had no knowl-

edge of the Mexican laws, we were a law unto ourselves. But as

the country became more thickly settled it became manifest that
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there must be some rule to collect debts and punish crime. The
people agreed to elect a "man whom they called an alcalde, and a

sheriff to execute his orders. The alcalde's power extended to all

civil and criminal cases without regard to the importance of the

cause. Murder, theft, and all other cases, except divorces, came
under his jurisdiction, and as tlie old Texas men and women were
always true and loyal to each other, divorce cases were never

heard of. The alcalde had the power in all cases to call to his

assistance twelve good and lawful citizens when he deemed it

necessary or the parties requested it; and the decision of the

alcalde and twelve men was final. From this no appeal could

be taken, and there was as much justice done then as there is now,
and not half so much grumbling. The first alcalde was Bailey

Anderson, the next was John Sprowl, in 1830 Jacob Garrett was
alcalde, in 18.31 Elisha Eoberts, in 1832 Benjamin Lindsey, in

1833 William McFarland, in 1834 Charles Taylor. I served as

sheriff under Eoberts, Lindsey, McFarland, and Taylor, but the

year of thirty-five called me to the tented field in defence of my
country.

The year 1835 brought about a new order of things. After the

people had fought for Santa Anna in 1832, looking upon him as

the Washington of the day, in 1835 he turned traitor to the Ee-

publican party and declared himself dictator or emperor. He
soon overran all the Mexican states except Texas, which, true to

the principles of 1776, refused to submit to his tyrannical govern-

ment, and thus brought on the war with Mexico. The people

held political meetings everywhere in Texas, and resolved to resist

the tyrant at all hasard. A consultation was called to meet at

San Felipe de Austin to determine what was best. In the mean-
time, the people had flown to arms, had taken Goliad and San
Antonio, and driven the Mexicans out of Texas. When the con-

sultation met they at once closed the land offices, suspended the

civil laws in all cases, and elected Sam Houston commander-in-
chief of the armies of Texas. Houston repaired to the army, but

Travis and Fannin refused to give up the command to Houston,
and he returned home much mortified. This disobedience of

orders led to all the destruction of our armies. Had Fannin and
Travis turned over the command to Houston, those fine armies
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would have been saved.^ Houston had to return and wait until
the meeting of the convention in March, 1836, before he could
get the command, and then it was too late.^ On the assembling
of the convention, among its earliest acts was the election of
Houston to be commander-in-chief, for at the time Travis's letters

were coming every day calling for troops, saying that the Mexican
army was advancing rapidly on him in great force, but that he
would hold the post to the last and would never surrender.

Houston arrived at Gonzales about March 11 with only four
men. Colonel Hockley, Eichfirdson .Scurry, A. Horton, and one
other man. When he reached Gonzales he found the glorious
Edward Burleson there with about four hundred men who had
started to reinforce Travis, but who on reaching there had learned
that Santa Anna had reached San Antonio before them and sur-

rounded the Alamo with a force estimated at from 8,000 to 10,000
men. On Houston's arrival Edward Burleson at once turned over
the command to him, and was himself elected colonel of the first

regiment.

Great anxiety was felt for the Alamo. Spies came in that even-
ing and said that San Antonio was surrounded by a powerful force,

so that they could not approach near enough to see what was its

fate, but that they greatly feared that the town had fallen, as all

firing had ceased. Soon after this Mrs. Dickinson arrived with
her infant daughter and Travis's negro man, and said that every
one had been killed, except herself and child and the negro man.
She further said that Santa Anna with his whole army was not
five miles off, for she had left them at dinner and had come with
a proclamation from Santa Anna offering pardon to all who would
lay down their arms and submit to the government but certain
death to all that were found under arms. This proclamation Gen-
eral Houston read to the men, and then stamped it under his feet,

and shouted, "death to Santa Anna ! down with despotism !" All
the men joined in the shout. But there was no time to be lost,

as the enemy was at the door. After a council of war it was
decided that the troops must fall back. At once orders were given

_

^This is hardly fair to Fannin and Travis. The question of subordina-
tion never arose between Houston and Travis; and Fannin did not behave
badly. See The Quarterly, V, 338-345, especially 341.—Editors of The
Quarterly.

'See The Quarterly, IV, 241, note 1.
;

...
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for the women and children to retreat as fast as possible, and they

were assured that the troops would cover their retreat and defend

them as long as a man was left alive.

The retreat was begun about midnight, the troops following the

citizens. Houston retreated to the Colorado, and sent word to

Fannin to blow up Goliad and join him there, but Fannin refused

to do so and paid no attention to the order.^ Houston remained

there many days, expecting Fannin to come to his assistance.

While waiting there, Houston's army was stronger than it ever

was afterwards. While Houston was expecting Fannin every hour

a man well skilled in the Mexican affairs came into camp and

brought the dreadful news that Fannin's army had been captured,

and all killed after the surrender. This caused great confusion

in the army, and the army was again obliged to fall back, and a

large number of our men had to be furloughed to take care of

their families, which greatly reduced our forces. Houston re-

treated to the Brazos, to San Felipe. There he turned up the

river on the west side, and encamped opposite Groce's Eetreat

between the river and a large lake. Here he remained many days,

sending out his spies in every direction, watching the enemy's

motions. At last the glorious spy Henry Carnes brought the news

that Santa Anna had forced the crossing of the Brazos at Fort

Bend, and was marching on to Harrisburg. Houston at once, by

the assistance of the steamboat Yellow Stone, which was lying at

Groce's, threw his army across the river, and took up the line of

march to Harrisburg which ended in the defeat of the Mexican

army and secured the independence of Texas.

In those dark days all seemed to be lost, as that little army was

all the hope of Texas. If that little army had been defeated, all

would have been lost, for the Indians were on the point of joining

the Mexicans. On my way home after the battle of San Jacinto

I passed many Indians about the Trinity, painted and armed,

awaiting the result of the battle. If it had gone against us, they

would have commenced butchering our helpless women and

children.

When all seemed lost the noble Sidney Sherman came to our

^It should be explained that Fannin's force was divided now, and that
his delay in obeying Houston's order was not due to insubordination, but
to his effort to collect his scattered men.—Editors of The Quaeteklt.
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assistance with a Kentucky regiment, and rendered great and
timely aid, gloriously leading our left wing in the battle of San
Jaeinto. That battle secured the independence of Texas, and laid

the foundation for extending the jurisdiction of the United States

to the Pacific Ocean.

I was a member of the consultation of 1835, and voted for the

declaration of independence at that time. If it had carried, Texas
would have been in much better condition to meet the enemy than
she was in 1836. It would have given us more time to organize

armies, and we would have been better prepared.

I have been with Texas since 1824, served in all her wars, begin-

ning with the Predonian war of 1827, in the war between Santa
Anna and Bustamante in 1832, in the war of 1835-36 between
Santa Anna and the Eepublic of Texas, and in 1839 against the

Cherokee Indians under their great war chief Bowls. I have served

Texas in various ways. I was first sherif! four years, I was presi-

dent of the board of land commissioners in 1838, custom house
collector in 1839, and was mayor of San Augustine; I served you
one term in the legislature, and there has never been a call for

help in the hour of danger that I was not there. I have seen San
Augustine twice broken up and abandoned, first in the Predonian
war in 1827 and again in 1836. But I did not witness the latter

scene, for I was in the army, acting as aid de camp to General
Houston. I have never abandoned my country, though I have had
to encounter many dangers, having come to Texas when only four-

teen years old without father, money, or friends. I received but
a limited education, in fact only what I in a great measure acquired
by my own exertions with a little assistance from my friends. I

am proud to be able to say that I have been always an honest man.
At the -.ge of twentv-seven T was married to Elizabeth Latten,

formerly Elizabeth Cooper, by whom I had tliree children, one son
and two daughters. My oldest child I named Sam Houston Hor-
ton, after my glorious old chief who led me to battle and remained
my best friend through life. Houston Horton is still living; my
two daughters, Elisa and Mary are both dead. I lived with my
wife ten years. In the meantime, I had by honest exertions accu-
mulated a small fortune. But the civil war of my country left

me in my old age penniless, poor; for I had given away a fortune
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in land for negro property which was taken away from me by the

self-righteous people of the North.

[In 1847 Colonel Horton married a second wife, Mary Harrell.

To them were born seven children, Wade W. Horton, Elizabeth

Susan, Lavinia, Emma, Alexander, and Mary. This information

is furnished in an addendum to his own sketch, written by one of

his daughters.]
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MICAJAH AUTEY, A SOLDIEE OP THE ALAMO

ADELE B. LOOSCAN

Near the entrance to Hie Capitol at Austin, there stands a monu-
ment erected by the state of Texas to the memory of the men who
fell in the Alamo. The names thereon engraved are read with
reverential feeling, suggesting as they do a picture of sublime self-

sacrifice, of lives offered up willingly, that "Texas might have
breathing time." These names are arranged in alphabetical order,

and that of Micajah Autry, a native of North Carolina, stands

among the first.

Prom his only daughter, Mrs. Mary Autry Greer, of Beaumont,
Texas, I have learned some incidents of the life and some traits

of the character of this man whose name is ineffaceably traced on
the graven tablet and indelibly written on the pages of Texas his-

tory. Through the courtesy of Judge James L. Autry, his grand-

son, I have had the privilege of reading copies of letters written

by him to his wife Martha, while on his journey from Tennessee
to Texas. I have used such extracts from these as seem best to

describe the men whom he met and the trials and the hardships

which encompassed him, as well as the ardent hope and fervor of

purpose which enabled liim without faltering to persevere through-
out this fateful last jonrney. The muster roll, dated Nacogdoches,
January 14, 1836, and containing for the most part the names of

Tennesseeans, forms a kind of sequel to the last letter written by
Autry to his wife from the same place. The newspaper obituary

published after his death may not be perfectly accurate in all its

details, yet it agrees in its main features with family tradition.

The hastily written note of Nat 0. Smith, without date, portrays

vividly the anxiety which filled the hearts of devoted relatives,

awaiting with mingled hope and dread the news to be gathered

from passengers on the stage coaches. Such documents need little

comment from the compiler; they reflect the character of the times,

and, more forcibly still, the character of the gentleman, the affec-

tionate husband and father, the patriot, soldier, and hero who is

the subject of this sketch.
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Micajah Autry was born near the close of the eighteenth cen-

tury, about 1794 or 1795. Some interesting data are contained

in the following obituary notice, published soon after his death, in

a Korth Carolina newspaper:^

Major Micajah Autry—AVe have received a letter from Ten-
nessee informing us that this gentleman was one of the gallant vol-

unteers who fell at the storming of the Alamo, in San Antonio,
Texas. Tie was a native of Sampson County, in this Sta,te, but
from the age of six years until the year 1823, when he was about
28 years of age, he resided in this County with his father, Mr.
Theophilus Autry. Between the ages of 17 and 18, he volunteered
in Captain Lord's Company, and marched to Wilmington, xf]\&a.

the place was threatened by the British. He afterwards joined the
army at Charleston, and remained in the service until the peace
in the Spring of 1815.^

On his ]-eturn in consequence of bad health, which prevented his

labouring on the farm, he directed his attention to literary pur-

suits, and soon qualified himself for teaching. In 1823 he moved
to HaA^esboro, Tenn. Here he studied law and was admitted to

the bar at Nashville in 1828 or '9. In 1831 he removed to Jack-
son, in the Western District of Tennessee where he practised law
until November last, when he volunteered in tlie cause of Texas.

He met death in the glorious battle of San Antonio, the particulars

of which are too well known to need repetition. He has left a wife
and two children in Tennessee, and his aged father and other rela-

tives in this County.

Mrs. Greer says that after moving to Tennessee her father taught

school, while studying law, and that about the year 1824 he was

united in marriage to Mrs. Martha Wyche Wilkinson, whose maiden

name was Putney. This lady was the widow of Dr. Wilkinson, to

whom she had borne one child, a daughter named Amelia. For

several years the home of Mr. Autry lay within a few miles of

Nashville, near which city was also the home of Andrew Jackson,

"The Hermitage." Here several children were born, of whom
only two, Mary and James L. Autry, grew to maturity. The ac-

count of the removal of the family from Nashville to Jackson is

here given in the words of his daughter, who was old enough to

remember distinctly the incidents of their overland journey.

*Tlie Treaty of Ghent was ratified February 17, 1815.

^Tliis notice is contained in a clipping whicli tlie family lias preserved.
Tliere is no record of tlie name or date of the paper from which it is

taken.
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Mother, Sister, Aunt, my baby brother, his nurse and myself
travelled in the family coach, a handsome affair drawn by two large
bays. Father rode a fme grey horse, and was an agile, graceful
equestrian. The slaves were in two immense wagons, with hoops
covered with cloth, not unlike in appearance the large automobiles
of the present day, and drawn by horses or mules. Although so
young I remember several incidents of the route. One was this:
late one evening father dashed up to the coach, saying to the eoach-
naan, "Drive for your life! We must reach a house some miles
distant. It is said there is a large pack of wolves but a few miles
off !" And as he dashed away to warn the wagoners we heard the
distant howl of the wolves. We reached the house, however, and
were entertained hospitably. The negroes in the wagons always
camped out and cooked their own meals. In a few days more we
reached our destination, the flourishing little town of Jackson. My
father had visited the country some months before, bought several
acres of land in the suburbs on a high liill level at the top for
many feet and built a hewn log house of four large rooms and a
wide hall. Such residences were common throughout the South
in pioneer days and were neat and comfortable.

At Jackson Mr. Autry formed a law partnership with Andrew
L. Martin, a talented attorney of prominence. They had a large

practice, but made the mistake of engaging also in mercantile

business, which proved unsuccessful. In its interest Mr. Autry
made two trips to Philadelphia and New York to purchase stocks

of dry goods, and on one of these occasions heard much talk of

Texas. He determined to visit Texas and determine for himself

its advantages as a place of residence for his family, and in 1835
he set out on his long and fateful journey. Meanwhile Amelia
Wilkinson, Mrs. Autr/s oldest daughter, who had been married
when quite young to Samuel Smith, a wealthy planter, offered to

share her home with her mother and the two little children until

a new home should be prepared for them in Texas. Mr. Smith
kindly guarded their interests, sold their home, furniture, carriage

and horses, and gave work to their slaves.

Autry's letters to his wife tell of his journey. In a letter dated

Memphis, Tennessee, December 7, 1835, he says:

I have taken my passage in the steamboat Pacific and shall leave
in an hour or two. ... I have met in the same boat a number
of acquaintances from Nashville and the District, bound for Te.vas,
among whom are George C. Childress and his brother. Childress
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tliinks the fighting will be over before we get there, and speaks
clieeringly of the prospects. I feel more energy than I ever did
in anything I have undertaken. I am, determined to provide for
yon a home or perish. . . . Fare you all well till yon hear
from me again, perhaps from Natchez. ...

[In a letter written from Nachitoches, December 13, 1835, he
says

:]

_
About 20 minutes ago I landed at this place safely after con-

siderable peril. About 20 men from Tennessee formed our squad
at Memphis, and all landed safely at the mouth of Red River.
Major Eaton and Lady were on board the Pacific, to whom I cup-
pose I was favourably introduced by Mr. Childress, from that how-
ever or from some other reason Gov. Eaton paid me the most
friendly and assiduous attention. . . . T have not met with a
more amiable and agreeable man than the Governor. By his per-
suasion a Major Arnold from Tennessee (a cousin of Gen'l Arn.^ld)
and myself left the rest of our Company at the mouth of Red River
and went down to Orleans for the purpose of learning the true
state of things in Texas as well as which would be tlie'best prob-
able rout. The result was that, the war is still going on favour-
ably to the Texans, but it is thought that Santa Anna will make
a descent with his wliole forces in the Spring, but there will be
soldiers enough of the real grit in Texas by that time to overrun
all Mexico.

The only danger is in starvation, for the impulse to Texas both
as to soldiers and moving families exceeds anything I have ever
known. I have little doubt but that the army will receive ample
supplies from Orleans both of provisions and munitions of war,
as the people of Texas liave formed themselves into something like

a government, which will give them credit in Orleans. I have had
many glowing descriptions of the country by those who have been
there. . . . We have l^etween 400 and 500 miles to foot it to

the seat of government, for we cannot get horses, but we have sworn
allegiance to each other and will got along somehow. . , . The
smallpox has recently broken out here very bad, but I fear the
Tavern bill a great deal worse. Such charges never were heard of

and we have to stay liere probably several days before we can pro-

cure a conveyance for our baggage. I suppose we shall join and
buy a waggon.

Write to me to this place all the letters you send by mail, per-

haps the general intercourse from here to Texas, will enable me to
get them conveniently. Write me in Texas by every private oppor-
tunity, and I will do the same. ... I send this by Mr. Sevier
who promises to put it in the postoffice at Bolivar or Middle-
burg. . . .

P. S. The Company of young men tliat left Jackson before I
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did. passed through here about 20 davs ago. THe mention, thename of Claarles Haskell as having been among hese w^oS 1gone on to "St Antone^' the seat of war.]

_

Pursuing the course of Micajah Autry by means of these letters
It appears that he had not overestimated the difficulties that would
beset his path on the way to Texas. In the last letter received by
his wife he writes as follows

:

My Dear Martha, .

^'^^«g^^««hes, Jany. 13th, 1836.

hJ i^"^ ""n
^"-^ ^''"'^ hardships and privations

but thank God in most excellent health. The very great fat'o-ue
I have suffered has in a degi.c stifled reflection and has been°anadyantag^ to me. I walked from Nacliitoches whence I wrote you

wnl T ? ? ^^'""''S^' «f rain, mud andwater I had remained a few days in St. Augustine when CaptKimble from Clarksvelle, Ten. a lawyer of whom vou may recollect

f r T 'P''^' f™'^ ^^^"^
^^'^^P^^^' «f selectmen, 4 of them lawyers. I .joined them and find them perfect gen-tlemen. We are waiting for a company daily expected from'Co-

himbia. Ten. rinder Col Hill with whom we^ expect to march tohead quarters Washington) 125 miles from here, where we shall
.lom Houston the commander in chief and receive our destination
1 may or may not receive promotion as there are many verv meri-
torious men seeking the same. I have become one of the mostthorough going men you ever heard of. I go the whole Hoff in
the cause of Texas I expect to help them gain their independenceand also to form their civil government, for it is worth riskino-many hves for. Prom what I have seen and learned from others

thrsun
^^'^ ''''^^^''^ ''"'^^^^ warmed by

Be of good cheer Martha I will provide you a sweet home I

1 ..r/''*'^^"'-
^'^'^ ^"^"^ ^^^^^^ ^'-'^ services in the army

and 4444 acres upon condition of settling mv'familv here. Whether
1 shall be able to move you here nest fall or not will depend upon -

the termination of the present contest. Some say that Santa Ana
IS m the field with an immense army and near the confines oflexas others say since the conquest of St. Antonio bv the Texiansand the imprisonment of Genl. Cos and 1100 men of which you

'

have no doubt heard, that Santa Ana has become intimidated for
fear that the Texians will drive the war into his dominions and isnow holding himself in readiness to fly to Europe which latter .

report I am inclined to discredit, what 'is the truth of the matterno one here knows or pretends to know.
Tell Mr. Smith not to think of remaining where he is but to be
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ready to come to this country at the very moment the government

shall be settled, as for a trifle he may procure a possession of land

that will make a fortune for himself, his children and his children's

children of its own increase in value and such a cotton country is

not under the sun. I have just been introduced to Mr. McNiell

a nephew of Mr. S. who is now in this place and appears to be

much of a gentleman. Give my most kind affection to Amelia

and Mr Smith and to my own Dear Mary and James give a thou-

sand tender embraces and for you my Dearest Martha may the

smile of heaven keep you as happy as possible till we meet.

M. Autry.

Tell Brothers J. & S. I have not time to write to them at pres-

ent as Mr. Madding and Sevier by wliom I send this can not wait.

Tell Brother Jack to think of nothing but coming here with us;

that if he knew as much about this country as I already do he

would not be kept from it. Tell him to study law as this will be

the greatest country for that profession as soon as we have a gov-

ernment that ever was known.
M. A.

P. S. We stand guard of nights and night before last was mine

to stand two hours during which the moon rose in all her mildness

but splendor and majesty. With what pleasure did I contemplate

that lovely orb chieflv because I recollected how often you and I

had taken pleasure in standing in the door and contemplating her

together. Indeed I hnagined that you might be looking at her at

the same time. Farewell Dear Martha.
M. A.

P. S. Col. Crockett has Just joined our company.^

The following copy of a muster roll shows some of the com-

panions with whom Autry left Nacogdoches.^

Know all men bv these presents: That I have this day vol-

untarily enlisted myself in the Volunteer Auxiliary Corps, for

and during the term of six months.

And I do solemnlv swear that I will bear true allegiance to the

provisional Government of Texas, or any future Government that

may be hereafter declared, and that I will serve her honestly and

faithfully against all her enemies whatsoever and observe and obey

the orders of the Governor of Texas, the orders and decrees of the

present and future authorities and the orders of the officers ap-

^This letter was addressed to Mrs. Martha W. Autry, Middlebiirg, Harde-

man Cty., Tennessee.

^It is" obtained from a copy in the General Land Office (Muster Eolls

of the War with Mexico, p. 117). The original roll was destroyed by

fire in the burning of the adjutant general's office in 1855.
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pointed over me according to the rnles and regulations for the.
government of the Armies of Texas. "So help me God."

Nacogdoches, January 14tl) 1836.

J^^"^^^-
Age. Eemarks.

fj- I-
iy™b/e 31 Tennessee.

i'^'f'-i
^^''^^^'y 43 Tennessee.

D.niel W. Cloud
, 21 Kentuck^.

W. J. Le^is 38 Pennsylvania.

B.M.Thomas 18 Tennessee.

S\ IJ^S"'''*''''
'^^ Virginia.

Eobert Bowen - 34 Tennessee.
J

.
E. Massie ' 24 Tennessee

Wra. McDowelly 40 Tennessee.'
'I'^'"\P;,I^7noWs 29 Tennessee.
Joseph Bayhss 28 Tennessee.

The above sworn to and subscribed before me, this 14th Jan-
uary, 1836.

John Forbes

1st Judge of the Municipality of Nacogdoches.

It would be very interesting to know how this little party of
patriots marched to San Antonio. But history is as yet silent
upon that point. From a letter written from Bexar on February
11, 1836, by G. B. Jameson we learn that the Texans had on that
date at Bexar one hundred and fifty men, and that Colonels
Crockett and Travis were there, and that Colonel Bowie was in
command of the volunteers. It is probable tliat Autry and his
companions arrived at about the same time as Crockett^, and that
witliin the space of about twenty-five days they had traversed that
wide area of almost uninhabited territory which separated Nacog-
doches from their destination. Did the Tennesseeans do as Major
Autry suggested they might: "Join together and buy a waggon for -

their baggage" and march on foot that long distance, or were they
fortunate enough to get horses ? They had enlisted at Nacogdoches
in the Volunteer Auxiliary Corps for six months and had sworn

^Partly on the evidence of this muster roll the heirs of Autry weregranted a land donation. This name was thought to be a copyist's mis-
for "Autry." The age, "43," does not agree with the statementabove that he was born in 1794 or 1795, but that statement purports togive only an approximate date.

—

Editors of The Quarterly.
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allegiance to the government of Texas and to EACH OTHER.
Right nobly did they keep their word ! The copy of this muster

roll contains the last mention of the devoted band until the names

of all but three of them were inscribed on the imperishable roll of

history as heroes of the Alamo. The interval between January

14 and March 6, 1836, was full of tragedy for them. The long,

tortuous, muddy, often almost impassable trail, called at the time

the "old San Antonio road," no doubt received its heavy toll of

death, and the graves of many brave men lie miknown and un-

marked along its length. Probably the three who did not have the

privilege of dying with their comrades in the Alamo, laid down

their lives bv the roadside, and their sacrifice will remain un-

recorded and unsung.

There is in Mica j ah Autry's family a brief note written by i^Tat

G. Smith to Mrs. Amelia W. Smith, in response to her anxious

inquiries as to the fate of her stepfather. It bears no date, but

was probably written in April or May of 1836. It reads as foUov/s

:

Dear Sister:

In reply to your inquiries, I went to the Tavern as soon as I

understood the stage had arrived with passengers from Texas, and

found Col. Thomas K. Hill of Colum.bia, surrounded by a crowd,

all asking after friends etc. I passed through to him and got an

introduction and asked him if he knew Maj. Autry personally; he

replied he did not. I asked him if he thought he was certainly

killed; he said he had no doubt of it. Mr. Henderson, who accom-

panied Col. Hill, said, there was no doubt of Maj. Autry's death,

he also stated that young Mr. Haskell was certainly killed with

Fanning, and that his brother young Mr. Henderson and Mr. Jones

would both be at home in a few days (there were two young Hen-

dersons). My informant stated they had conversed with a Mrs.

Travis and tlie servants,^ and it all was confirmed. None of them

surrende]-ed they fought to the last.

Yours &c
Nat G. Smith.

The absence of a regular mail service from Texas to the United

States made the arrival of passengers in the stage an event of the

^The reference to Mrs. Travis and the servants is probably a mistake;

it is likely that he means Mrs. Dickinson and Travis's negro servant who
were spared by Santa Anna and brought to the Texans the first authentic

news of the fall of the Alamo.
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utmost importance. Letters were -usiially transmitted by the favor

of passengers, and news from Texas was eagerly awaited at every

town through which they passed. Enmor had preceded any au-

thentic statements as to the result of the battles in which the brave

volunteers had been engaged, and their friends looked forward
hopefully to a possible contradiction of the terrible news so widely

spread.

Mrs. Mary Autry Greer in vnriting her recollections of her father,

and of the relatives with whom her mother and children were living

says

:

We lived with them till the awful news of father's death came
to us one lovely April morning, when snowy white dogwood blos-

soms and the red bud trees spotted the tender green of the forest
that surrounded the house. My little playmate and I were striv-

ing to gather the lovely white and pink flowers by throwing up
sticks for them, when a voice near us said to me: "You must
come to the house. Your father has been killed, and your mother
half dead with the news." Breathless I ran, and was greeted with
choking sobs as she tried to tell me the tragic news. Father's last

letter, (we have it still,) was from Nacogdoches. His companion
en route was the celebrated Tennessee orator, Davy Crockett, who
proved in deeds his famyous motto : "Be sure you are right, then
go ahead!" They fell near each other in the sublime holocaust
of the Alamo. Neither of them, I think, anticipated war, but
instantly volunteered, and were sent by the overland road to the
defence of the Alamo. We all know this incomparable, splendid
deed of heroism. Little knew the bloody Santa Anna that as the
smoke cleared and the ashes of the martyrs were blown hither and
thither the radiant Lone Star arose to its place in the blue sl<y,

and consecrated their memories forever. A few weeks later the
splendid victory of San Jacinto was won by Houston, and his brave
handful of soldiers. My father knew Houston well and voted for
him when he ran for Governor of Tennessee.
My father was of a joyous nature and among my earliest recol-

lections is his singing, in a rich mellow voice, as he ran down the
piazza steps, "Hurrah! Hurrah! For the Good Old North State
Forever !" a song written by Governor Gaston of North Carolina.

Father had a fine ear for music, played well on the violin, and
sketched striking pictures. I think he had taste and aptitude for
art, but neither studied nor prosecuted it. He also wrote poetry,
but I have only one of his little poems.

_
He was a man in word and deed, in action as well as profes-

sion. "Peace to his memory," says his one surviving child, and I
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believe that the millions that naw claim Texas, beautiful Texas,
as home will answer, Amen

!

Micajah Autry left one son, James L. Autry, who became a

colonel in the Confederate arm^y, and was killed in his first battle,

that of Murfreesboro, Tennessee. He was survived by a baby boy,

now Judge James L. Autry, general attorney of the Texas Com-
pany, of Houston, Texas.

Mary, the only surviving child of Micajah Autry, now in her

eighty-fifth year, was married to James Madison Greer on Decem-
ber 28, 1841, and had four sons, all of whom are living, and all

of whom are lawyers. Their names and places of residence are as

follows: James Micajah Greer, of Memphis, Tennessee; Hal

Wyche Greer, Robert Autry Greer, and D. Edward Greer, of Beau-

mont, Texas. With them their mother makes her home. Writing

on August 15, 1910, she says: "God has been good to me in that

none of my descendants have died, even to the fourth generation,

and all are apparently in good health up to this date."

Besides enjoying the distinction of being the daughter of an

Alamo hero, probably the only woman now living who is so dis-

tinguished, she possesses talent of a high order. As a writer of

history and verse, especially verse inspired by patriotic feeling, she

is well known, and has attained prominence of a character that

will endure. On one of the closing pages (984) of the Second

Volume of the Life of Jefferson Davis, "A Memoir, written by his

wife," are to be found some of the finest lines which the grandeur

of Ms character, and the depth of his misfortunes called forth.

They were written by Mrs. Mary A. Greer, then living in Mis-

sissippi, and are a graceful summing up of the causes of his fail-

ure. They also show in admirable form the grasp of mind which

characterizes the writer who was born and trained to love and

admire heroic virtues.
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WILLIAM T. MALONEi

G. A. MeCALL

The siege of the Alamo, its heroic defense, and the massacre of

its valiant defenders are among the most notable events of Texas

history. The incidents of the siege continvie to aronse the most
intense interest among all lovers of gTeat deeds and heroic achieve-

ments. That "Thermopylae had its messenger of defeat but the

Alamo had none" has become the pride not only of Texans, but of

the whole English race as well. That these men, one hundred and
eighty in number, should place themselves in the path of Santa

Anna's army to stay his advance until an opposing force could be

collected shows them to have been quite as devoted to their country

and its preservation as were Leonidas and his Spartan band in the

brave days of old. Any particulars concerning the life and death

of any of the garrison of the Alamo will be of interest to all.

In 1835 there lived near Athens, Georgia, a planter by the name
of Thomas Malone. His family was originally from Virginia.

He had accumulated at this time quite a considerable fortune and
was the father of several children. The oldest of these children,

a young man with dark hair and complexion, was about eighteen

years old, and was named William T. Malone. William was in-

clined to be wild and wayward but his father was a man of strict

habits, looking upon dissipation with no lenient eye. One night

the boy got too much in his cups with some of his convivial com-

panions, and being ashamed to face his father after the spree, he

fled from home, going to New Orleans, Louisiana. His father,

anxious to save him hastened to New Orleans, trying to overtake

him and to beg him to return to his sorrowing mother and family.

When he reached the city his son had already gone, having taken

passage on a boat for Texas. The father returned to the sorrow-

'The facts of this sketch are obtained from the record of the case of
Malone et al. v. Moran et al., number 3644, on file in the district court
of Parker county, Texas. The suit was filed November 4, 1899, and
judgment was rendered April 13, 1901. Information is drawn chiefly
from depositions of Mrs. Frank Malone, who then resided near Memphis,
Tennessee, Ben F. Highsmith, who then lived in Uvalde county, Texas,
and Professor F. P. Madden, who lived in Waco, Texas. All are now dead.
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stricken houseliold and reported his failure. The exact date when
the young man left his home can not be discovered but it appears

to have been some time in the fall or winter of 1835. After Wil-

liam T. Malone had arrived in Texas he wrote one letter to his

mother which family tradition says she carried on her person until

it was worn out.

In the fall of 1835 San Antonio was besieged and in December
it was captured from the Mexicans by a portion of the Texan army
under the command of Colonel Milam. An incomplete muster roll

on file in the General Land Office shows that on November 23

Malone was a member of Captain T. F. L. Parrott's company of

artillery, but whether he was with Milam in the storming of the

Alamo is uncertain.

On the second day after the beginning of the siege of the

Alamo by the Mexicans Colonel Travis sent Ben F. Highsmith to

La Bahia, a distance of more than ninety miles, to Colonel Fannin,

asking for aid. Highsmith says that when he left San Antonio
there was in the Alamo a young man by the name of Bill Malone,

and his description of the young man's person and estimate of

his age correspond with the description given by the family. They
both speak of the young man's having lost the little finger on

his left hand. Highsmith escaped from San Antonio at night,

and carried the message from Travis to Fannin. Fannin was
unable to send aid to Travis, stating that his command was on
foot and without supplies to undertake the expedition. There-

upon Highsmith returned to San Antonio and from a distance saw
that the Alamo was surrounded. He turned back and sought and
found Houston and his army and later participated in the battle

of San Jacinto. The Alamo, after a desperate defense of two

weeks was stormed and all persons within its walls were slain

except the negro man belonging to Colonel Travis, and Mrs. Dick-

inson and her infant child.

After the war was over, the father of young Malone sent an

agent to Texas to learn the fate of his son. This person saw both

the negi'o who had belonged to Travis, and Mrs. Dickinson, and
they both said that there was a young man in the Alamo by the

name of Malone, and Mrs. Dickinson said that she saw him die,

fighting bravely to the last.

It appears that land certificates were issued to the heirs of Wil-
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liam T. Malone for services rendered to the Eepnblic of Texas by

him. These certificates declare that he was killed in the defense

of the Alamo.^ They were taken back or sent back to his mother,

and she declared in her grief that she wonld not have them, for

they were bought with the price of her son^s blood.

The last inexplicable fact remains; notwithstanding that all

these facts appear to be well established, yet the name of William
T. Malone never seems to have been on the original muster rolls

of the men who fought and fell at the Alamo, nor upon the copy

of the rolls that yet remains in the Land Office, nor upon the mon-
ument that perpetuates the names and fame of the heroic dead.

Was his name upon the original muster rolls that were destroyed

in the burning of the Adjutant General's office before the Civil

War?- Was his name casually omitted from the copy of the rolls

that chanced to be preserved from the fire? Or did Malone fight

like Smith of the Wynd "with a free hand, belonging to no com-
pany or clan" ? Did he arrive at the Alamo just in time to enter

its fatal walls? Crockett came to the Alamo almost alone. Did
Malone come in the same way? Mrs. Dickinson says that he had
been there but a short time and belonged to the same mess as her

husband. By some mischance his name has not been preserved

on roll or monument, but let it be placed forever in the historical

records of Texas. Let not the name of the wayward but heroic

young man be forgotten.

^The records of the Land Office show that headright certificate No. 274
for a league and labor of land was issued February 2, 1838, to Elijah
Anderson, assignee of William T. Malone, by the land commissioners of
San Augiistine County in consideration of Malone's having arrived in
Texas previous to the declaration of independence; that bounty warrant
No. 4005 for 1920 acres was issued by the Secretary of War to the heirs
of Malone July 5, 1838, for his services in the Texas Army from Septem-
ber 26, 1835, to March 6, 1836; that donation warrant No. 420 for 640
acres was issued to his heirs by the Secretary of War July 6, 1838, for
his having fallen in the Alamo; and that duplicate No. 29/236 was issued
by the Commissioner of the General Land Office March 29, 1871, in place
of a lost original headright certificate for one-third of a league issued
by the land commissioners of Harris county in the name of Malone. The
date and number of this lost original are not known. The "Lost Book
of Harris," in the Land Office, shows that evidence was furnished the
commissioners of Harris county to the effect that Malone was killed in
the Alamo. The information contained in this note was kindly furnished
by the Commissioner of the General Land Office.

'This fire occurred October 10, 1853.
,

,
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l^OTES AND FEAGMENTS

Major Jonjg- Tyler's "Memorial" Again.—Since publishing

in the October Quarterly the memorial of Major John Tyler,

Jr., to the Texas authorities in 1863,^ I have found that he sub-

sequently published in De Bow's Review,—July, 1864, pp. 1-33,

a rare number—an article entitled "Our Present Confederate

Status, Foreign and Domestic" in which he refers to the exposi-

tion made by himself "fourteen months before"—evidently in the

Riclunond Whig, not in De Bow as I was led to think—of the

diplomatic situation in Europe, and in which he renews the argu-

ment made to the Texas authorities concerning the possibilities of

French intervention on the basis of the Louisiana treaty of 1803.

He quotes here a considerable part of his memorial, evidently in

the belief that the scheme is still feasible. This article makes it

almost certain that this plan to secure intervention was ]\Iajor

Tyler's own, for there is a very evident and direct connection be-

tween the article in the Richm.ond Wl/.ig, the memorial to the

Texas officials in 1863, and the article in De Bow in 1864. More-

over, in the last one Tyler discusses the idea as if he alone were

responsible for it.

This theory is further strengthened l^y the character of another

proposition advanced in his contribution to De Bow. The lively

imagination of the Major had seized upon the mag-nificent possi-

bilities of a bran-ncM^ scheme to save the Confederacy. Drawing

a vivid picture of the jealousy entertained by the middle and

northwestern states for New England, he gravely proposes an alli-

ance or "reconstruction" between these states and those in the Con-

federacy to the end that they should shut the intriguing New Eng-

landers oui in the cold, frustrate the imperial designs of the lead-

ers of the Republican party, and bring about the trial and con-

viction of Lincoln, Seward, et al. for treason to the Constitution.

One is amazed that so acute an observer as Major Tyler mani-

festly was could so far miss the real significance of what he saw.

Charles W. Eamsdell.

'Supra, pp. 129-145.
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Some Memoeial Legislation" by the Thirty-second Legis-

lature—
1. Monument to Stephen F. Austin: Among the first meas-

ures introdnced in the House of Representatives of the Thirty-

second Legislature was a bill by Hon. A. T. McKinney "to pro-

vide for the erection of a monument over the remains of General

Stephen F. Austin, in the State Cemetery at Austin, Texas."^

The bill, carrying an appropriation of $10,000 for this purpose,,

was passed by the Legislature and approved by the Governor.

2. Monument to Mrs. Elizabeth Oroclett: Senators Lattimore

and Ward introduced a bill in the Senate "to provide for the erec-

tion of a monument over the remains of Mrs. Elizabeth Crockett,

the wife of David Crockett, in the cemetery at Acton, Hood
county, Texas." This bill carried an appropriation of $?,000 and
has received the Governor's approval.

The following extracts from Senator Ward's address in support

of this bill give a brief history of the family of David Crockett

after his death at the Alamo

:

Mr. President and Gentlemen of the Senate:

Possibly it may not be out of place for me to explain to this
Senate why I am one of the proponents of this measure, asking for
an appropriation of $2000 for the erection of a suitable monument
to the memory of Mrs. Elizabeth Crockett, the wife of Col. David
Crockett, one of the heroes who sacrificed his life at the Alamo.
I will say that I was a student of Texas history when a schoolboy.
I remember well when I entered Granbury College in the fall of
1880, and it was there I learned that one of Granburv's citizens,

Robert Patton Crockett, was the son of David Crockett. Nat-
urally I felt like making his acquaintance and I found him resid-
ing near the banks of the Brazos river, manager and keeper of the
toll bridge that spans the river, and I would" often visit him, see-
ing that he was ready, and that it was a great pleasure for him to
entertain college boys ; he would relate many incidents of his fath-
ers career as he had learned them when a boy. . . .

It may not be out of place for me to state here some history of
the familv of David Crockett that I obtained from the many talks
that I have had with the son, Robert Patton Crockett, and his chil-
dren, the grandchildren of David Crockett. His grandchildren,
vh.

: Mrs. M. M. Parks and Mrs. T. H. Hiner now reside in Hood
county; Mr. Ashley W. Crockett resides in Glen Rose, Somervell
county, and a granddaughter, Miss Dolly, is married and lives in

^For an account of the removal of the remains of Stephen F. Austin
from Peach Point to the State Cemetery, see page 182 above.
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Oklahoma. Her name I can not call at this time. These grand-
children, like the children of Sam Houston, are modest and have
never asked the State to erect a monument to their heroic ances-

tors, but the proud spirit they have so richly inherited will make
them appreciate the erection of this monument.

David Crockett was married to Miss Elizabeth Patton in Law-
rence county, Tennessee, about the year 1815. Their first child,

Eobert Patton Crockett, was l)orn September 8, 1816, and he is the

father of the children I have just mentioned.
Elizabeth Crockett came to Texas in 1854 with her son, Eobert

Pattoii Crockett, from Gibson county, Tennessee. They located

on the David Crockett headright, a league of land patented to

Elizabeth Crockett by the Eepublic of Texas as the surviving

widow of David Crockett, which was situated between Eucker and
Long Creeks in Johnson (now Hood) county. She lived with her

son, Eobert Patton Crockett, in his rude log cabin in Johnson
county until 1860, when death claimed her. She was buried in

the Acton cemetery on Walnut Creek, some five miles south of

their home, and about six miles east of G-ranbury, and now a mound
and stone slab mark her resting place.

Immediately after the fall of the Alamo in 1836 and the death
of his father, David Crockett, Eobert Patton Crockett left his

home, came to Texas and joined the revolution, remaining in the

service until the Independence of Texas had been secured. He
returned to Tennessee in 1841, where he was married. In 1854,

as I have stated, he moved his family to Texas, bringing his

mother with him, locating at the place I have just mentioned.

Eobert Patton Crockett died in Hood county, September 23, 1889,

aged 73 years and eight days. He was also buried in the same lot

of land in the Acton cemetery.

I have a plat before me showing the present location of the

graves of Elizabeth Crockett, wife of David Crockett, and their

son, Robert Patton Crockett, as they appear in the Acton ceme-
tery. The graves are all in the same lot. The first on the north

is Eobert Patton Crockett, the middle grave is that of his wife,

Matilda Crockett, while the one on the south is Elizabeth Crockett.

Acton is a beautiful little village, and was one of the first settle-

ments west of the Trinity river, settled by people from the differ-

ent Southern States, and here they shared in the u.pbuilding of

that section of our State. But the old settlers have passed over

the river and left behind them the children and grandchildren who
now constitute a citizenship who are proud and patriotic in their

nature, and they, too, will be stimulated in their patriotism to see

erected a monument to the memory of the illustrious dead, who
sleep in the Acton cemetery to await the Eesurrection morn.

. . . E. W. WlNKLEE.
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The Btjtler Papers aud a Supplement to the Austin"

Papers.—Some years ago Colonel Guy M. Bryan, the nephew of

Stephen F. Austin, gave the University of Texas the Austin Papers.

This rich collection contains the history-, as yet un^vritten, of the

Anglo-American colonization of Tesas. Now Mr. Guy M. Bryan,

Jr., of Houston, and Mrs. Emmett L. Perry, of Bay City, have

increased the obligation of the University to their family by
another gift. This consists of certain papers of their gTeat-uncle

which were not included in the former gift, of the papers of Colonel

Anthony Butler, who was charge d'affaires of the United States

at the City of Mexico from 1829 to 1836, and of many rare books,

pamphlets, magazines, newspapers, and clippings which deal with

the history of Texas.

The additional Austin papers are : a bound account book, cover-

ing the years 1825 to 1836, with many of the entries—some of

which are of considerable liistorical and biographical importance

—

in Austin's own writing ; an unboixnd book of about one hundred
pages containing field notes of surveys in Austin's colonies; and
fourteen plats of various portions of Austin's several colonies. The
Butler Papers may be divided roughly into two classes: (1) dip-

lomatic correspondence, and (2) personal papers. In the diplo-

matic correspondence there are many dispatches from the State

Department at Washington, signed by Secretaries Van Buren, Mc-
Lane, and Forsyth; copies of many of Butler's notes to the State

Department; correspondence between Butler and the Mexican
Foreign Office; and finally a number of autograph letters from
President Andrew Jackson to Butler. Most of the diplomatic cor-

respondence is prior to 1834. Copies of substantially all of the

correspondence with the State Department are to be found at

Washington in the department archives and at Mexico in the
records of the American Embassy, and copies of the correspond-

ence between Butler and the Mexican Foreign Office are like-

wise to be had in the Embassy records; but it goes without say-

ing that the possession of autograph copies is of great impor-
tance to the University. Perhaps the most valuable documents
are the letters of President Jackson. There are nineteen of

them, all dealing with the question of the purchase of Texas from
Mexico by the United States. There are copies of some of them in

the Jackson Manuscripts in the Library of Congress, but some of
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them appear to be unique. The personal papers give us many
important glimpses into the history of Texas and of the United

States from 1828 to 1846. Among them are letters from Joel E.

Poinsett, General Zachary Taylor, Lucas Alaman, and from many
interesting Texas characters of whom we do not know too much,

for example Ben Fort Smith and Padre Muldoon. The letters

from Poinsett, of which there are thirteen discuss chiefly general

political news, with some emphasis on the secession of South

Carolina.

Among the books are the original edition of the Laws and de-

crees of Coalmila and Texas (1838), the Journals of the General

Council (1835-1836), the House Journals of the first, second,

third, and fifth congresses of Texas, the Journal and Debates of

the Constitutional Convention of 18Jf5, the Ordinances of the

Secession Convention (1861), thirteen volumes of the Texas Al-

manac, a file of the Proceedings of the Texas Veterans' Association,

and a number of valuable pamphlets. Among the newspapers are

scattering numbers of T]t,e Texas Republican extending from Feb-

ruary to November, 1835, many numbers of The Telegraph and

Texas Register extending from October, 1835, to 1841, some num-

bers of The Brazos Courier for 1840, and of the San Luis Advocate

for 1841. Besides these, there are a great many clippings con-

tainins: historical material. EuGEisrE C. Barker.

Abner S. McDonald.—The letters which follow are from the

Daihj Eastern Argus (of Portland, Maine), December 24, 1910.

They were reprinted by The Dallas News, January 8, 1911, and

their historical value justifies their preservation in The Quar-

terly.

Prison House, Columbia, Texas,

July 19, 1836.

My Dear Brother:

No doubt my long silence caused anxious feelings vnth you and
the balance of my frie:nds at home. My situation has been such
it was utterly impossible for me to give you any information con-

cerning myself. After arriving in this country I joined myself
with the army of Texas and was soon ordered on the frontier of

the country. In this situation I was so unfortxmate as to be taken
prisoner by the Mexican Army with 75 others of my unfortunate
countrymen. Our captors marched us to Goliad, where we found
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a large number of other prisoners that had been taken a few days
previous to our surrender. TTe had not been in this situation many
days before orders arrived for all prisoners at Goliad to be shot,
but through the humanity of the officer commanding this garrison
we (I mean the battalion under the command of W. P. ^Miller)
were spared by his disobeying the above order, while 415 of my
fellow countrvmen were executed at sunrise on Sunday, March .27.

This was an awful day to me; never shall I forget it'or the night
previous. I thought of home, how mv friends would receive the
news of a brother being executed in a strange land as a pirate:
but through the goodness of God I was spared, but was still kept
a prisoner of war until the 19th of May when with 25 others we
made our escape by seizing the guard placed over us and disarming
them. The balance of the prisoners could have escaped also if

they had made the attempt, but poor fellows thev let the oppor-
tunity pass without effecting their object. Where" they now are I
am unable to say, probably made slaves of ere this in Mexico.
After getting clear of danger of the Mexicans we made all possible
speed to the Texan Army, which we labored under a good deal of
discouraging circumstances ; we were ignorant of the situation of
our own army; we also had to pass through a country full of In-
dians that were enemies to us; we were -without arms, without pro-
vision, and were obliged to subsist on grass and nuts that we found
in the woods. We however reached the army on the 2oth of May,
seven days after our escape from the enemies' prison. Thus you
will perceive that a soldier's life is not so pleasant at such times.

After joining the army again I was elected a captain of a vohm-
teer company composed principally of those who made their escape
with me. I was then in a few days ordered to this place to take
charge of Gen. Santa Anna, who is our prisoner. Since having
this important personage entrusted to my keeping I have not had
time to write you or even think of home; such is the excitement
against Gen. Santa Anna the inhabitants of the countn- are deter-
mined that he shall never leave Texas alive ; therefore' it requires
ever}- attention for his safe keeping. Since I have had charge of
him there has been two attempts to kill him, but without success.

I have just received orders to take to the army Gen. Santa Anna,
for a purpose I do not know, but am fearful that it is for no good.
My health is good.

Tour affect. Brother.

Abner S. McDonald.

It will be needless for you to write to me as it vrill be altogether
uncertain where I shall be ordered to, and we also have to depend
upon private conveyance.
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'New [Near?] Columbia, March 11, 1S38.
Bro. John:

Yours and sister Miriam's letters were duly ree'd and with pleas-

ure I hear of the good health of friends at home. I have just

returned from a long and tedious tour to San Antonio de Bexar
witli good health but rather low spirits. I have not had the suc-

cess which I anticipated owing to the false report that the Mexi-
cans were about to make another invasion upon Texas. The same
report has gone its rounds through the papers of the United States

which 3'ou probably have seen. To give you a full account of ray

journey to San Antonio would be more than would justify the con-
tents of one letter. I will therefore give you the most prominent
incidents that occurred. I left this place in Nov. last with $4500
worth of goods, of different kinds for the Mexican trade. I had not
proceeded but six days before I met the above report of the Mexican
invasion. I immediately changed my course for the timberland
where I secreted my goods in the woods and left them in charge
of a part of my men whom I had employed to assist me on my
intended journey. I then mounted my horse in company with two
otlier men for the purpose of ascertaining the correctness of said

report. After scouring the country for nearly two weeks, we could
not gain any information that could be relied upon. I determined
to return back to the place and wait for the event. When I re-

turned to where my goods were secreted what was my surprise to

find that my men that I left to take care of my property had not
only deserted them, but had broken open my trunks and boxes and
stolen some of the most valuable articles I had. It now being
winter, the cold northern winds had driven my oxen into the Bot-

tom and my goods were exposed to all the wet weather which dam-
aged them gi'eatly. What to do I did not know—my goods exposed

and spoiling, my oxen lost in the Bottom, and myself nearly wor-
ried out from fatigue, etc., and about 60 miles from the American
settlement. I however came into the settlement and employed
some teams to take what property I had left back to this place.

My loss will be considerable. I can not tell the amount until

I find sale for balance of my goods which nearly all of them are

damaged more or less. The foundation of the report is this:

About 400 of the Mexican cavalry had come over the Eio Grande
for the purpose of driving off the property of Mexican citizens in

Texas. Thus we see the uncertainty of things in this world ; six

months ago my prospects were good, but now the scale has turned.

I am now determined as soon as I get through with my present

difficulties to quit this roving and speculating business. It is true

if I could have been fortunate enough to have got to San Antonio
with the amount of goods that I had at the time, I could have

returned home to my friends and lived the balance of my days

with ease.
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I attended a^Sabbath schoo] meet a few weeks since at the Capitol

Ppn T?''""
^^as well attended and was addressed byGen_^ Thomas

,7^ Eusk, late commander of Texian Army, and alsoby -Ur. Rouse, Speaker of the House of Representatives/ Both ofthese gentlemen are_ leading characters in Texas and take a very
active part m organizing said scljool. There are also three housesot worship now erecting within the Republic. This speaks vol-nmes in favor of Texas. I believe the day will soon arrive whenwe sha 1 not only have Sabbath schools and houses of worslirb ita population that fears the Lord ^

'

witTi' Z'Tf""" ?r .'"""^'y 0^^^ populationwit in the last six months has more than doubled and business
ot all kinds IS good, but the currency of the country is quite badThe government has commenced paying notes which have takenthe place of bil s m the different banks of the United States, and
consequently all our money at present is government notes

Your alFt Bro.,

Abner S. McDonald.
The Argtis gives the following sketch of Captain McDonald

which the Editors have not verified :

'

"The writer of the letters was a native of Limerick, Maine and
was educated at Limerick Academy. He was but a young 'man
at the time of his career in Texas, the date of his birth being
August 5, 1808, which made him 27 when the first letter was
written. He was well equipped to participate in the martial enter-
pnse of the citizens of Texas for the establishment of a republic
as when he left his native state in quest of fortune he held the
rank of lieutenant colonel of the State Militia, of which his father
was major general.

"The young man served with distinction throughout the entire
war, and, after the restoration of peace and the realization of
lexas ambition to be free and untrammeled he figured promi-
nently m the Republic's affairs, being a member of the Legislature
one of Its jurists and chief executive of his own local community'

The young man continued his connection with the military
'

department of the Republic of Texas, and at the time of his deathm 1842 was m command of a force on the frontier with the rank
ot colonel. His death was accidental, a spent ball which a soldier
had discharged at a steer inflicting a mortal wound in the person
of the unhappy fellow's commander."
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Bibliography of Professor Garrison.—The list of Professor

Garrison's writings published in The Quarterly, XIV, 180-181,

failed to indicate with sufficient definiteness the whereabouts of the

articles on '"Guy Morrison Bryan" and "Richard Montgomery

Swearingen." The first is in The Quarterly, V, 121-136; and

the second is in The Quarterly, VIII, 225-231. To the list

should be added his sketch of General Sam Houston in Library of

Southern Literature, VI, 2561-2564.

Texas Library and Historical Commission.—The personnel

of the Texas Library and Historical Commission now consists of

Mrs Joseph B. Dibrell, Mrs. Joseph D. Sayers, Walter Tips, F.

M Bralley, and Eugene C. Barker. At a meeting held February

2d the Commission organized by electing Dr. Barker, Chairman,

and Mrs. Dibrell, Vice-Chairman. The former stafi of the State

Librar}^ was re-elected.
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BOOK REVIEWS AND NOTICES

British Interests and Activities in Texas, 1838-lSJf6 (The
Albert Shaw Lectures on Diplomatic Histoiy, 1909). By Ephraim
Douglass Adams, Ph. D. (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press
3910. Pp. VIII, 267).^

Confining himself rigidly to the scope of his title, and using
almost exclusively the manuscript materials in the Public Eecord
Office, Professor Adams traces in gi-eat detail the shifting policy
of Great Britain toward the Republic of Texas. Briefly that pol-
icy was this. So long as Palmerston directed the Foreign Office
a steady faith in the destiny of Texas manifested itself in gentle
but persistent pressure upon Mexico to relinquish its claims to
the province, and culminated in November, 1840, in the signature
of a series of treaties by Palmerston and Hamilton (the Texan
plenipotentiary) which gave British recognition to Texas. When
however, the fall of the Melbourne ministry in August, 1841,'

placed Lord Aberdeen in charge of foreign affairs, it might' almost
be said that caprice was substituted for policv in Anglo-Texan
relations. Aberdeen acted as a veritable weather vane, more than
once having two sets of contradictory instructions to his agents
crossing the Atlantic at the same time (see especially p. 184). At
first he reversed Palmerston's policy and encouraged Mexico in
the hope of eventually reconquering Texas, even going the length
of infringing upon strict neutrality in permitting Mexico to equip
two men-of-war in England and enlist officers for them from Her
Majesty's navy. Toward the end of 1842 he began to withdraw
this encouragement; but as late as the close of 1843 he put little
faith in the stability and importance of Texas, or in the rumors
that the United States was seriously contemplating its annexation

'

From this restful confidence that all was right he was rudely
shocked by President Tyler's message of December, 1843, and
stirred to vigorous action. Overtures were made to France' and
accepted by her, for a joint protest against annexation, mlj to be
witliheld as soon as Aberdeen learned from Pakenham, at Wash-

^This review is reprinted from the January number of The AmericanJournal of International Law.
^",vfivan
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ington, of the strength of annexation sentiment in the United

States. From this time on, British efEorts to prevent annexation

were limited to trying to persuade Mexico to recognize Texas on

condition of its remaining independent.

Perhaps uppermost in the minds of most students of the Texas

question who read Professor Adams's book will be a sense of com-

plaisant satisfaction that it leaves our previous conclusions upon

the subject essentially unchanged. Nevertheless, the book is of

distinct importance. Such a study had to be made from the

British archives to settle certain doubts that have heretofore ob-

truded themselves into every examination of the subject; and

Professor Adams has made his study with care. (1) Unques-

tionably one of the strongest motives influencing Northern an-

nexationists was the belief that the United States must take

Texas in order to prevent England from getting it. To what

extent was this belief justified? (2) Equally strong in the South

was the assurance that England wanted Texas, and added thereto

was the fear that she would use her position there to direct a cam-

paign for abolition against the Southern states. To what extent

was° there ground for this fear? Although the author holds no

thesis and does not answer these questions categorically, his book

will nevertheless probably tend to set them finally at rest: (1)

England desired an independent Texas, and at one time Aberdeen

was ready, jointly with France, to prevent annexation by war, if

need be (pp. 159, 168) ; but there is no indication that the idea of

incorporating the territory into the British Empire was ever seri-

ously entertained by either Palmerton or Aberdeen. ( (2) Eng-

land was deeply interested in the abolition of slavery throughout

the world, and Aberdeed did revolve in his mind tentative plans

for effecting abolition in Texas ; but in this procedure he was per-

fectly frank, and nothing is added to the exposition of his motives

as presented in that portion of the Calhoun-Pakenham correspond-

ence published in 1814. This is not to say, however, that there

was no ground for American suspicions of British policy (p. 146).

While resolving these important doubts. Professor Adams raises

anev^ the question of Houston's true attitude toward annexation,

and plainly inclines to the belief that he sincerely desired to main-

tain the independent status of the Eepublic (pp. 131, 132, 135,

151, 161). But the evidence adduced goes equally well to
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strengthen the conventional view that Houston was merely coquet-
ting with England to stimulate the jealousy of the United States.

Of positive errors discoverable by this reviewer there are not
many. But Santa Anna was not president of Mexico "in 1833
and again in 1835" (p. 65, note). He was elected in 1833 for a
term of four years, ending March, 1837. On page 93 we are told
of the "signing" of the Texan treaties in 1842, though what is

meant is that ratifications were then exchanged. There seems to
be some uncertainty concerning the origin of the so-called "Eob-
inson armistice": on page 128 it is correctly said to have been
suggested by J. W. Eobinson, a Texan prisoner in Mexico, but on
page 133 the statement is that "The plan had originated with
Santa Anna." On the same page (133) the date of Elliot's receipt
of Aberdeen's despatch should presumably read "Early in July"
instead of Jime, since it was dated in London on June 3 (see p.

130, note 8). Anson Jones can hardly be said to have been a
"prominent revolutionary leader" (p. 196). And the name of the
French charge to Texas was not "Savigny" (pp. 208, 209, 310,
215), but Saligny. One encounters here and there an apparent
tendency to accept at face value the motives of diplomats as avowed
by themselves, and on page 147 there are signs of a curious faith
that if they do not always tell the truth they ought to. The com-
pact style of the book, devoid of the explanatory matter which no
doubt accompanied the lectures, makes it difficult reading, and
sometimes leads the writer to the statement of important conclu-
sions without revealing the process by which he reached them; for
example, one doubts the assertion on page 159 that "Aberdeen was
ready [in January, 1844] to go the length of a direct prohibition
of annexation in case he found Prance acquiescent," until the evi-

dence for this is later supplied (pp. 168-169) in Murphy's mem-
orandum to Aberdeen of May 31. There is a final chapter of
thirty pages, reprinted from The American Historical Revieiu, on
British interest in the annexation of California.

Eugene C. Barker.

Tlie Austin College Bulletin, October, 1910, Volume II, Num-
ber 13, contains an article on the "Life and Work of Stephen F.
Austin," by L. A. Wright, holder of the Stephen F. Austin Fellow-
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ship in History and Political Science in Austin College. Mr.

Wright has used to advantage such printed material as was avail-

able to him, but he has been hampered for want of the wealth of

manuscript sources that are only to be obtained at Austin. He
somewhat misinterprets Austin in saying that he "conditionally"

advised a declaration of independence on November 29 and De-

cember 3, 1835 (page 37). Such an impression comes naturally

perhaps from that portion of Austin's letter which Brown quotes

{History of Texas, 1, 411-413), but the letter in its entirety shows

that Austin did not believe that the time had yet come for a dec-

laration of independence. In the letter of December 3 he argues

for a categorical declaration in favor of the constitution of 1824.

Two interesting illustrations which the article contains are a pic-

ture of Stephen F. Austin at the age of twelve and a picture of

the Austin coat of arms.

E. C. B.

Hunter's Magazine, devoted to "Frontier History, Border Trag-

edy, and Pioneer Achievement," is edited by John Warren Hunter,

of San Angelo, Texas, and published by Marvin Hunter at Carls-

bad, Texas. The fifth number of Volume I appeared in March.

It promises to perform a useful service for the history of Texas.

The Biennial Eeport of the Commissioner of the General Land
Office, 1908-1910, pp. 21-31, contains a sketch of the land system

of Texas, and a brief account of the history of the Land Office.
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AFFAIES OF THE ASSOCIATION

The fifteenth annual meeting of the Association was held in

Room 33 of the University, Thursday, March 2, 1911. President

A. W. Terrell narrated his recollections of General Sam Houston

and Mr. E. W. Winkler read a paper describing the work of the

Texas Library and Historical Commission during the past two

years. Mr. Winkler's paper is in this number of The Quarterly,

and Judge Terrell's will appear later. Mrs. Adele B. Looscan was

on the program for a paper entitled "The Settlement and Early

History of Harris County," but she was unable to be present at the

meeting. She is writing a history of Harris county, which will

later be published in The Quarterly.

The following officers were elected at the close of the meeting:

President, A. W. Terrell ; Vice-Presidents, Beauregard Bryan, R. L.

Batts, Milton J. Bliem, and Luther W. Clark; Recording Secre-

tary and Librarian, E. C. Barker; Corresponding Secretary and

Treasurer, C. W. Ramsdell; members of the executive council.

Judge J. C. Townes and Mrs. Bride Neill Taylor.

About fifty members were elected. Mr. Charles S. Todd of

Texarkana was elected a life member on account of his gift to the

Association of The South in the Building of the Nation.

At a meeting of the Fellows of the Association Mr, William

Edward Dunn was elected a Fellow, and the following publication

committee was elected: A. W. Terrell {ex officio), E. C. Barker

{ex officio), W. J. Battle, Z. T. Fulmore, and E. W. Winkler.

treasurer's report, march 1, 1910, TO MARCH 1, 1911

Receipts

Membership dues $1,400 16

Sale of Quarterly 24 65

Sale of reprints 36 90

Sale of binding

Interest

Advertising . . .

Miscellaneous .

7 30

198 45

28 00

7 25 $1,732 81

Cash assets as per last report 3,097 75

$4,830 56
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Expenditures \

Printing Quarterly $1,264 28

Binding 70 95

Eeprints 87 17

Eeviews 24 00

Clerical expenses 245 50

Postage 171 05

Stationery 44 25

Commissions 27 00
'

Refund 4 00

Miscellaneous 231 41 $2,169 61

Cash assets March 1, 1911 2,660 95

$4,830 56

Chas. W. Eamsdell,

Acting Treasurer.

H. Y. Benedict,

Auditor.
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